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Cayman Islands
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INVESTOR RELATIONS
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TRXEREEWR
CORPORATE MILESTONE

Established Yunnan Einsun Computer
Vocational Training Station which
was engaged in computer basic
knowledge training and education,
and entered into the private
education industry

BMYIZMERARFTERBEEINN
REFERERABEZNEE BE
EARBHBETHE

1999
2005

Established Yunnan School and was

upgraded from junior college to
undergraduate school in 2011
ERMERBY T R201MFRERFA
BRERBRER

Group headquarter moved to Beijing from

Yunnan
EEABHEEEZELR

Established Guizhou School offering a
three-year junior college program

BMNERKYL BRE=ZFHENRE

2012
2015 2016

Invested in Central China School
and finished the construction of
its new campus in 2016
REETERIR2016FRRH
RE

Invested in Northeast School

RERLER

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEH X EBER AT



Listed on the main board of SEHK
BEBRBEIAERLST

Included as a constituent stock of the Hang
Seng Composite Small Cap Index, Hang
Seng Consumer Goods & Services Index and
MSCI China Small Cap Index for the first
time
BEREMAEEGRENEREBERELEHE
mAE BREXEHROBREMSCHARFEH
NEE B R

Invested in Henan School

RETEER

Included as a constituent stock of Hang Seng Stock
Connect Hong Kong Index, with effect on 5 March
2018
EAANEEBRBEHADRK  R20185F3A5R
X

Cooperation in relation to the Gansu College
and planned the construction of its new
campus

EFERHRERLBETRE

Invested in Guangxi Schools

REBERR

Completion of Northeast School and Henan
School Acquisition

REBRUARTEERI S THK

TERREE®
CORPORATE MILESTONE

Completion of Guangxi Schools and Central China School
Acquisition

EEERUAREDERIZ TEMK

The construction of new campus of Gansu college was
completed within one year and more than 8,000 students
moved in

HEZRAREE - FHBEMRIL LS 000882 £ A5

Further acquisition of minority shareholders’ interests
in Henan School and Guangxi Schools

E-SHBTHERREEERIHURRER

Actively responded to the epidemic situation and
successfully completed the teaching task through
online teaching platform

HMEEHZE BEBRLEBTRERTRBBEEH

Acquisition of Yunnan Vocational School

BEEERRER

Completion of the first simultaneous issuance of
convertible bond(US$ 100 million) and placement
transaction in the Asia-Pacific education sector
EREABHBETEPEHENEERER) + BER
SEAT

Total number of enrolled students of the Schools over
125,600
EREABRKI2568 A
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A
Total revenue
(ABTARE)
(RMB million)
1457.0

+69.6%

859.0

R

2018/2019224F 2019/2020% F
2018/2019 2019/2020
Academic Year ~ Academic Year

% R
Net profit
(BBRTARY)
(RMB million)

482.0

+124.3%

214.9

2018/2019224 2019/202022 4
2018/2019 2019/2020
Academic Year Academic Year

. BRAKRBEETEEBWAURH M s R G

The annual results covered a period of eight months from 1 January 2020 to
31 August 2020. To provide meaningful comparative information, the Group
prepared pro forma financial information covering the twelve-month period
ended 31 August 2020 and 31 August 2019 (the “Pro Forma Period”), and such
pro forma figures are detailed in Page 24 and have not been audited.

EF
Gross profit
(ABTARY)
(RMB million)

616.7

+97.5%

312.3

e

2018/201923 4 2019/20202
2018/2019 2019/2020
Academic Year ~ Academic Year

5 FRE
Net profit attributable to owners of the parent
(BBTARY)
(RMB million)

432.7

+127.4%

e

190.3

2018/2019824F 2019/2020&4F
2018/2019 2019/2020
Academic Year Academic Year

Total revenue included revenue from the principal businesses of the Group, and other income and gains

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEI#imBEEERAR



EREHRES
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENTS

TEFSHREEARAT
China New Higher Education
Group Limited

SEEAIBA EEEERE
HTEE a

Li Xiaoxuan
«"-' .

EHHNZTLRR

AAEBERREZENABDSURREZAEEE
ZE2020F8 A3 HLENFEEBRE -

00 RS HEEERMELAERPNE—F-
EHESERNBALEIET E2BHBINHE
ZAT BMPRBREBHTE  2019-2020082F - &
WHAWRA14.6ET B E69.6% ; BIRFFMH4.8
B BB R124.3% ; BEFEFFREIIE T
B R127.4% - BE10BE  EEERE12.568
A BIEERI07% BEN—F KMABEZKT
EELRLEZ WERETUTAESEHNRE-

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present to the Shareholders the annual
results report of the Group as of 31 August 2020.

The year 2020 is the first year in which China New Higher Education Group
changed its financial year-end date. With the support of the communities and the
hard work of all our staff, we overcame the impact of the epidemic and achieved
total revenue of RMB1.46 billion for the 2019-2020 academic year, representing
a year-on-year increase of 69.6%; net profit of RMB480 million, representing
a year-on-year increase of 124.3%; and net profit attributable to owners of the
parent of RMB430 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 127.4%.
As at the end of October 2020, the student enroliments of the Group reached
125,600, representing a year-on-year increase of 10.7%. In the past year, we
have exceeded the predetermined business targets and achieved the following
Six achievements.
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FTRBESE
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENTS

MEEERERR

EENSEERREER ERBERBES
WHERE TRTEBENEE EREH
HRESTRENEZE - BARMPNELLEY
HMERBEND -Heh EHERPMERE
96% WESBA R ERHBM, HEEMK
MERFNY BER2EARRRE— K@K
REFETULRZAKE BE AEBZH
HERERELEAI1%  HBEL MEZ
1100Z RIEEERRESE He: #H5R500
B RES005E S EE14% s REBEY A SR
HOBERELE SRR EEI000RE
BB E - fIMETERERERER
B5000BHEMAE  HPI0%REEFER -
MHERREMELBERKEIL00A  Ha
T0%RETEER BB EaEEMELEE
AERRINAEERIEHEEINZE

SIGNIFICANT ENHANCEMENT OF QUALITY
EMPLOYMENT

The Group’s high-quality development strategy and teaching reform
based on the Outcome-based Education (OBE) concept overcame the
impact of the epidemic and made good achievements in employment. At
present, the average employment rate of our Schools is over 90%. Among
them, the employment rate of Guangxi Schools reached 96%, which
was reported to the Ministry of Education as a typical case of college
employment in Guangxi Province; the employment rate of Gansu College
was nearly 93%, ranking first in the province’s undergraduate colleges.
The star employment rate, which means graduates with an annual salary
of RMB80,000 or more, taking postgraduate entrance examinations and
entering a provincial key undergraduate university, municipal and above
civil servants, and studying abroad, has increased by 111% as compared
with that for the same period of 2019. The Group has reached in-depth
cooperation with more than 1,100 enterprises such as Huawei and
Alibaba, of which 14% are among the world’s top 500 enterprises and
China’s top 500 enterprises; there are a number of corresponding quality
employment enterprises for each major, and there are more than 1,000
training bases for integration of industry and teaching in each college
and university. For example, there are 5,000 technical staff in Yunnan
Huawei ecosystem, 40% of whom graduated from Yunnan School. The JD
e-commerce operations team in Henan Province has 1,500 staff, 70% of
whom graduated from Henan School. The Group firmly believes that high-
quality employment will provide strong support for its organic growth.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEH X EBER AT



lf-—ﬂéﬁk?ﬂs!?—ﬁ%

y g ™ e 'A—-.

CHEBEBRIREH

RABREHH SHREREER & mRKIE
55218 » I g £2 X fE20204F B B [Design | 2 Bk
R AREBERSER BEEAET -"RE2EKE
CEFRAB=ZRBEANRE RAZHE EX
NZEENRERARB THERERERE
LEERAEEFTEZERELEEFHE =4
EXEAIERER SERMEERS HE
RiEhE BERENARETREERAE
REBRENEHMANSEREINEZEE-
EFERMEBDAEAKEZRENE B
MEBRBEEMASMNEERMESEERER
FEAMIEZERATIE THERI0ZEE
ERBHBAEREES RERSEE &
;’% I&BﬂxEF“FHHFﬁ,W\%ﬁ 1408 7T -
PRIANEEBAEFLIRHREBES
%Eﬁ?%lﬁ?&&aﬁﬁmaﬁﬁﬁo

BT, MERMN" ﬂlﬁiﬁ

M okt St

FRBESE
CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENTS

T BHEW AN BEEFUHEE!

?Eumb um&.md:

EFFECTIVE IMPROVEMENT OF SOCIAL REPUTATION

As of the date of this report, the Group’s schools have won 552 awards
at the national, provincial and municipal levels. Yunnan School was
awarded the Grand Prize of the 2020 International “Design” Global Design
Competition, and was approved to host the 11th China National College
Student “Innovation, Creativity and Entrepreneurship” Challenge, becoming
the first private university in China to host the competition. Henan
School, together with Wuhan University and other famous universities
won the Grand Prize in the National Finals of the 10th China National
College Student “Innovation, Creativity and Entrepreneurship” Challenge.
Teachers and students from the Group’s schools actively participated in
epidemic prevention and control, and their typical stories were highly-
regarded and widely-praised by the national mainstream media and
government departments. The teachers and students from Central China
School used helicopters to transport epidemic prevention materials;
graduates from Guizhou School joined the fifth batch of medical team
of Guizhou Province to support medical treatment in Hubei; more than
700 students from Henan School interned in Wuhan during the epidemic,
and none of them was infected thanks to proper measures; The Group
and its schools donated RMB1.4 million in total during the epidemic and
provided scholarships to the children of anti-epidemic medical personnel,
presenting a good image of the Group for taking social responsibility.

2020 ANNUAL REPORT &
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SEEEMBRBFLRBFE BBELMR
RABWE BEZWEMERR Rt AME
REZEFESRBE2,000BR 2EREA T
TRRB - EFPERTHIREBLENENRER
EONEERFTB2BEFTANED S, &
AERCIEREELHRSRERYRBE
B HEERTENELZE REE2LELE
RBER EEERMARA A B BE
BaAB - B SEEDBFLRBEFED
BENEEERROBEMERIEHEN
RERR RETRBFEESHRIZTIHE-

CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT OF TEACHER-
STUDENT EXPERIENCE

The Group has independently developed a digital service platform, and
learned from Huawei to set up an intranet forum to extensively collect
teachers’ and students’ feedbacks, providing a total of 20 million times
of comprehensive services to improve their experience. Central China
School completed the upgrading of five student apartments; Henan School
built a new sports ground with 26,000 square meters; Guangxi Schools
introduced quality operators to improve the quality of canteen logistics
services; Gansu College created 11 shared areas to improve the student
apartment service experience; and Yunnan School increased investment
to transform 8-person room into 4-person room. At the same time, the
Group used the digital service platform to control the health status of
nearly 130,000 teachers and students of our Schools in real time during
the period of COVID-19, ensuring “zero” occurrence of epidemic liability
accidents.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEI#imBEEERAR
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FRBESE
CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENTS

INCESSANT IMPROVEMENT OF EFFICIENCY OF
SCHOOL OPERATION

The revenue from tuition fees, the adjusted revenue from boarding fees*
and the adjusted income from training and logistics services and other
income** for the year were RMB1.202 billion, RMB128 million, and
RMB152 million respectively, representing a year-on-year increase of
87.5%, 49.1% and 62.1% respectively. The average tuition fee increased
from RMB10,995 to RMB11,475, representing a year-on-year increase of
4.4%. Focusing on the needs of the country and the industry, the Schools
of the Group added 33 popular majors, such as Robotics Engineering,
Health Inspection and Quarantine, Cross-border E-commerce, etc.;
newly added 34 “high-paying employment excellence classes”; obtained
vocational education training quota of 29,000 person-times from the
Government. Central China School and Gansu College are expected to
complete the conversions soon. The Group also successfully recovered
the prepayment on Xinjiang project, eliminating investors’ concerns. In
addition, the Group also acquired minority interests in Henan School
and Guangxi Schools at each of the price-earning ratio of less than 14
times. Both the costs per student and the price-earning ratio of such
acquisitions are lower than that of the first acquisition of equity interest
in each of the projects. Such acquisitions provide strong support for the
quality development of these two schools. The Group’s self-founding and
acquisition in key regions are progressing smoothly, and we will make an
announcement once we have good news.

Adjusted revenue from boarding fees — due to the impact of COVID 19 epidemic, a
total of RMB37.19 million was refunded for boarding fees during the 19/20 academic
year. Boarding fees and revenue from principal businesses are restored data.

Adjusted income from training and logistics services and other income — (1) to restore
the logistics refund of RMB7.02 million of the first eight-month period of 2020 due to
the impact of the epidemic situation; (2) to reduce RMB19.77 million for the reversal
of the provision for the Xinjiang refund of the first eight-month period of 2020; (3) to
reduce the service fee of non consolidated schools in August 2019 by RMB38.43
million.
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VI

PROMINENT ADVANTAGES OF TECHNOLOGICAL
SUPPORT

The Group has entered into cooperation with Aliyun, Hikvision and other
enterprises to establish a safe campus management system. Yunnan
School and Gansu College were listed as models by the Government
and promoted across the province. We have also upgraded our ERP
and BI systems for raising the digital and intelligent level of “teaching,
management, service and security”, effectively enhancing the level
of financial informatization to ensure great investments in teaching,
employment, and students’ experience, which supports our high-quality
development. During the period of COVID-19, the Group turned the crisis
into safety through promoting online education, developing the TronClass,
an online and offline hybrid teaching platform that can accommodate
100,000 persons at the same time, building 4,000 online courses and
completing more than 1.4 million online teaching sessions, with a total
of more than 400 million hits, to realize large-scale teaching of Online-
Merge-Offline (OMO), which will continue to bring down teaching costs of
the Group and improve its teaching quality in the future.

CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT OF ORGANIZATIONAL
CAPACITY

The Group has intensified its efforts in team building and training, with
self-provided training accounting for nearly 90% of the leadership team
of the Schools, laying a solid foundation for the sustainable and quality
development as well as the future acquisition and merger in respect of
the management cadres. The Group has also vigorously promoted process
reengineering with regard to students’ experience and employment quality.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEH X EBER AT
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CONCLUSION

In the past year, particularly noteworthy is that the Group significantly increased
investments in teaching, experience and employment while achieving a strong
revenue growth, with an additional cost of RMB48.4 million. These investments
will strongly support our high-quality development strategy in the future. The
Group believes that only by prioritizing connotation development, insisting on
high-quality development, and building a school with good reputation, the Group
can provide educational services that satisfy the people, and thereby in line
with the spirit of the central government, receive government support and social
recognition, and generate a growth room for future development. As the saying
goes, “it takes ten years to grow trees, but a hundred years to rear people”, the
education is a long-term commitment taking time to cultivate talents. Therefore,
when investing in education industry, it should not pursue short-term returns
and temporary gains only, but should focus on the long-term and stable returns,
which is a special attribute of education.

The Group is committed to operate the education business in a long run,
and will insist on putting students first in terms of their learning, growth,
career development and happiness in life. The Group will continue to increase
investments in education and teaching, unwaveringly upholding high-quality
development, improving the quality of education while maintaining a reasonable
increase in revenue. The Group will implement the two-wheel driven development
strategy of “organic growth + value investment” to create more stable and
sustainable returns for investors.

China New Higher Education Group Limited
Li Xiaoxuan

Chairman

30 November 2020
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BRA =
SCHOOL NETWORK

EEIBER (EFER)
Yunnan Technology and Business University
(Yunnan School)

BEMIBBEZR (EMNER)
Guizhou Technology and Business Institute
(Guizhou School)

KREERSER (RILER)
Harbin Huade University
(Northeast School)

MIERBERERZZER (EHER)
Science and Technology College of Hubei Minzu University
(Central China School)

BEREBXZER CTEHER)
Luoyang Science and Technology Vocational College
(Henan School)

FERREERBEER BEASTMRAEZERBERTER
REAREFHBBEASREMNETR (RBEAER)

Guangxi Yinghua International Occupation College,

Guangxi Qinzhou Yinghua International Occupation and Technology School
and Guangxi Yinghua International Occupation Middle School

(collectively, Guangxi Schools)

BAMNEBEIRERMIESER (HHEZMk)
College of Technology and Engineering
(Gansu College)

BBEHRERNEGRENPIRELEHRERNERERE

The acquisition of Gansu College is still pending approval for change of school sponsor of Gansu College by the MOE

2020 ANNUAL REPORT & 15
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SCHOOLS

YUNNAN SCHOOL (SELF-FOUNDED)

o Founded in 2005 and provides undergraduate education and junior college
education

o The first private undergraduate school in Yunnan Province

o Top 50 National Graduate Employment of the MOE (B 2B B ¥ L M
T {E503&)

o Approved as applied talents training model institute in Yunnan Province in 2019

o The first applied undergraduate university in Yunnan which established University

Edge Computing Network Engineering Research Center

o Won the first award of the Yunnan Duty Appraisal of Employment Target for 10
consecutive years

EMPLOYMENT ACHIEVEMENT HIGHLIGHTS:

One out of every five graduates from Yunnan School is among the network technology
talents in Yunnan Province; and two out of every five technicians in the Yunnan Huawei
ecosystem are students from Yunnan School.

RECENT INVESTMENTS AND ACHIEVEMENTS:

Cooperation with famous enterprises: The school has in-depth cooperation with enterprises.
It cooperates with the Chengdu Operation Center of the JD Group to establish the “JD
College of Industry — Teaching Integration ( FERE @4 Bz ) ”; It also cooperates
with Huawei to establish the “Yunnan Technology and Business University — Joint Training
Base for Talents for Huawei ICT".

Integration of industry and teaching: The school has upgraded and transformed more than
40 existing teaching experimental training rooms. At present, there are a total of 134 basic
laboratories, professional laboratories and training facilities in the school.

Innovation and entrepreneurship: The school emphasizes education on innovation and
entrepreneurship, and constructs a national Entrepreneurship Development Arena — Yunke
Creative Space. In the past two years, the school has won 8 national and 41 provincial
awards in the competitions such as China National College Student “Innovation, Creativity
and Entrepreneurship” Challenge in E-commerce and the “Internet+” Competition. 12
micro and small enterprises founded by college students have been incubated. Yunnan
School was also the first private university hosting the China National College Student
“Innovation, Creativity and Entrepreneurship” Challenge, which was held by Zhejiang
University and other public universities in the past.
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GUIZHOU SCHOOL (SELF-FOUNDED)

o Founded in 2012 and provides junior college education

o The full-time vocational college with the largest enrollment and leading
employment rate in Guizhou Province

. “Outstanding Youth Commando for Epidemic Prevention ({E SRS FRE
B ) " awarded by Guiyang Committee of the Communist Youth League

o The only private college in Guiyang awarded the “Advanced Educational Institution
in Guiyang” in 2019

° The passing rate of nurse qualification examinations for four consecutive years is
higher than the national average level of higher vocational education, and ranking
the top in Guizhou Province

EMPLOYMENT ACHIEVEMENT HIGHLIGHTS:

Guizhou School has trained more than 200 construction talents for SinoHydro Bureau 7
where one out of every six workers of which are graduated from Guizhou School. 100% of
the engineering graduates from colleges in Guizhou Province who have been employed by
SinoHydro Bureau 7 in 2020 are graduates from Guizhou School. Guizhou School has more
than 80 joint-running hospitals in Guizhou Province, achieving full coverage of Guizhou
Province.

RECENT INVESTMENTS AND ACHIEVEMENTS:

Campus Environment: The school improves the campus environment and infrastructure
in multiple dimensions, such as upgrading the canteen, flowerbeds at the main entrance,
classrooms, apartments, maple woods, lecture hall, library, and initiates the construction of
the school gymnasium project.

Teaching Quality: The school has organized the “Wonderful Class” under the Outcomes-
based Education (OBE) concept to further improve the quality of education and teaching.
It has won the first prize in the Second “Keyun Cup” (FZE#F) National Taxation Skills
Competition (Higher Vocational Group).

Professional Skills: three pilot “1+X” projects of the school, namely child care, integrated

business and financial information, and sports marketing consultation and guidance were
approved.
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NORTHEAST SCHOOL (INVESTMENT, COMPLETED IN
DECEMBER 2018)

o First built in 1992, then established as an independent institute in 2004 and
provides undergraduate education

° The earliest private undergraduate university in Heilongjiang Province

o The only national key construction base for the training of qualifications of
middle-level professional teachers in private universities

° Heilongjiang Top 100 Quality Institution

o The first batch of pilot universities for “Campaign of Cultivating Excellent
Engineers” in Heilongjiang Province

o The “1115” Project of Heilongjiang Province’s construction of a strong province
for higher education

o Automobile service engineering major was recommended to participate in the
construction of national first-class majors

RECENT INVESTMENTS AND ACHIEVEMENTS:

Teaching Quality: There are 12 large-scale practice teaching centers on campus, covering
197 laboratories; 97 practice bases off campus; and the transformation of 18 laboratories
which affiliated to modern welding technology training center and electrical engineering
and automation practice center. With the transformation and upgrading of teaching
hardware, in 2020, the Group opened 19 elite classes enrolling new students against nine
majors. More than 60 elite classes have been opened so far with nearly 2,000 students
being educated since its launch.

Specialties: The school and Siemens (China) have built the first joint demonstration center
for intelligent manufacturing technology in Northeast China. The Intelligent Manufacturing
Engineering program was approved and opened for enrollment nationwide, which is the
only undergraduate program in the province.

School-enterprise Cooperation: The school has added 7 new school-enterprise cooperative
enterprises, and signed a PEAP cooperation agreement with Porsche (China) Automobile
Sales Co., Ltd., and opened the Porsche Training Program to teachers. Nearly 20% of our
employed graduates this year are employed by Fortune 500 companies.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEI#imBEEERAR
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CENTRAL CHINA SCHOOL (INVESTMENT, COMPLETED
IN AUGUST 2019)

o Established in 2003 and provides undergraduate and junior college education in
medicine, arts and other subject

o National Advanced Independent College

o A private undergraduate university oriented by application with distinctive
characteristics, well-known in the province and influential in the country

o Obtained the qualification to grant Bachelor of Medicine

o Government entrusted targeted training unit for medical students

EMPLOYMENT ACHIEVEMENT HIGHLIGHTS:

Central China School has more than 300 graduates majoring in electrical engineering and
automation, 120 of whom have joined large state-owned enterprises such as State Grid
Corporation, China Tobacco Corporation, and China Three Gorges Group, accounting for
more than 30% of total graduates majoring in electrical engineering and automation and
ranking among the top colleges in Hubei Province.

RECENT INVESTMENTS AND ACHIEVEMENTS:

Campus Environment: The school has completed the upgrading of five student apartments,
and started the construction of the Student Integrated Service Center, the West Gate and
Landscape Project.

Employment Services: The school is committed to providing high quality employment
services, and ranks first in the province in terms of job satisfaction. The school was named
the advanced collective of college admissions team in Hubei Province and one of the most
popular colleges on the admissions information website of Central China.

School-enterprise Cooperation: The school has expanded cooperation with enterprises
including the signing of agreements with four affiliated hospitals and two teaching
hospitals and the establishment of the Chinasoft International Big Data College ( & Bk &l
MR K 45 2 Px ) with the Chinasoft International Education Technology Group ( &k B
BHEERRER) .
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HENAN SCHOOL (INVESTMENT, COMPLETED IN
OCTOBER 2018)

o Established in 2013 and provides junior college and vocational education

o The only private higher vocational college in Luoyang city, Henan

o Excellent private school in Henan Province

o The National Top 10 E-commerce Educational Institutions

° The first batch of pilot colleges to hold the National E-commerce Skills
Examination

o Vice chairman unit of China Modern Service Industry Vocational Education Group

o National grand prize of the 10th national university student e-commerce

“Innovation, Creativity and Entrepreneurship” challenge

EMPLOYMENT ACHIEVEMENT HIGHLIGHTS:

Henan School has trained more than 4,000 e-commerce talents, more than 1,200 of whom
have joined JD. Seven out of every ten workers in the JD e-commerce operations team in
Henan Province are from Henan School. During the “Double Eleven” sales festival period
from 2015 to 2020, student participation accounted for more than 60% of the e-commerce
sales in Luoyang every year, ranking first in Luoyang for six consecutive years.

RECENT INVESTMENTS AND ACHIEVEMENTS:

Campus Environment: The school is planning to build 15 student apartments and
one U-shaped teaching building etc. The School also newly added shops and campus
transportation vehicles etc.

School-enterprise Cooperation: The school cooperates with a number of well-known
domestic enterprises and cooperates with Alibaba’s Tmall on strategic training base. In
2020, the cumulative sales of students participating in Tmall’s “Double Eleven” reached
RMB2.0 billion.

Experience and Practical Training: The school built 12 new training bases, including a
caravan conversion base which is the first one among universities and colleges in Henan
Province.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEH X EBER AT
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GUANGXI SCHOOLS (INVESTMENT, COMPLETED IN
JANUARY 2019)

° Established in 2005 and provides junior college and vocational education
° Located in the port city of Beibu Gulf Economic Zone

° The only private college in the Qinzhou City

o The most international higher education college in the area

o The first prize of the 8th national university digital art design competition

RECENT INVESTMENTS AND ACHIEVEMENTS:

Campus Environment: The school renovated the student life square, planned a internet-
famous campus restaurant and added container internet-famous check-in points.

Employment Services: The school adopts the “Qiduo.net” employment platform and
establishes cooperation with 162 high quality units. As a result, the employment rate of
the school’s graduates far exceeds that of similar institutions in the same province, and
reported to the Ministry of Education as a typical case of college employment in Guangxi
Province.

Teaching Quality: The school has built 2 high-equipped computer rooms and pre-school

education and other advantageous professional training rooms. The school has determined
the construction of 4 mixed gold courses: pre-school psychology, accounting basis, etc.

2020 ANNUAL REPORT &

21



22

BRA =
SCHOOL NETWORK

HE Bk (RE FE &)
o RIR2004%F - REABHAE

. HEEEBRRMETFLEEN

. HEEEMEARMASEHBRAMKRR

. HEA TR EXENBROER

. EEHBYEBRENHE -

MEARBRR:
HRBRBBN0BEBEERASEREA EREE
AEENEXS BOROTE EERDSEA EHH
BRBAEEAAHEN0% Heh o WAESREEA
B — A RSB A D

MR AR :

RERE BRAPBELE TENRABLEABHEE:
TRAREBEERRRZE-

FLEERIZE 1 2019/20208 F » BRAPIBIEEIR60035 B
MEEZEWIRBE - ZBRUEERAERRLEE  2020F
HREABRERBRERE - BHTHMNABENSR
DNWRER WERAWENAIFTRAIEREPELRIGIXN

REGHE ERFEXEEREINE  ERUEMR A
B EFEBSERTERN FXNEXRENNER
RELERE-

GANSU COLLEGE (INVESTMENT, PENDING CLOSING)

o Established in 2004 and provides undergraduate education

o Recognized as Advanced Unit of Employment in Ordinary Colleges and Universities
in Gansu Province

. The first batch of pilot universities for transformation and development of applied
technology universities in Gansu Province

. The key university supported and developed in the “13th five year plan” of Gansu
Province
o Ranked No. 1 in the number of patents in independent colleges in the province

EMPLOYMENT ACHIEVEMENT HIGHLIGHTS:

Over 200 graduates from Gansu College joined Ston Robot (& A #28 A ), INRS (B
BE#E 28 L) and other domestic industry-leading enterprises, holding research and
development, management and marketing positions, accounting for 50% of the Gansu
Province robotics industry talents and of whom two outstanding alumni founded a national
high-tech enterprise, respectively.

RECENT INVESTMENTS AND ACHIEVEMENTS:

Campus Environment: The school upgrades student apartments, creates 11 student
apartment shared areas, and improves food safety in campus restaurants.

Employment and Entrepreneurship: For the 2019/2020 academic year, the school hosted
nearly 600 job fairs, established more than 30 employment and internship bases. The
school has achieved fruitful results in employment and entrepreneurship. In 2020, the
school ranked first in the employment rate of undergraduate institutions in Gansu province,
surpassing Lanzhou University and other well-known public institutions, and has won 163
awards in innovation and entrepreneurship competitions in the past two years.

School-enterprise Cooperation: The school newly added 25 experimental training rooms to
build new modern laboratories suitable for the development of new science and new liberal
arts such as mechanical design automation and e-commerce.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

the year ended 31 December 2019 are as follows:

The financial results for the eight months ended 31 August 2020 and those for

BZE20205 B ZE2019%F
8H31H 128318
IEN@EAR tHFE

Eight months
ended Year ended
31 August 31 December
2020 2019
(REX) (RREZX)
(Audited) (Audited)
AREBEERT ARYEBER
RMB million RMB million
A Revenue 721.6 1,089.2
HE R Cost of sales (433.0) (546.6)
EF Gross profit 288.6 542.6
Hibug a3 R 1 %5 Other income and gains 74.7 163.1
HERDHHAX Selling and distribution expenses (10.5) (14.0)
THEX Administrative expenses (42.3) (84.9)
Hih & Other expenses (10.5) (27.2)
Bl & AR Finance costs (76.4) (93.8)
EBITDA" EBITDA" 402.5 716.9
R B A 225 A Profit before tax 223.6 485.8
FrEfimx Income tax expense (26.5) (55.5)
B EEFENE Net profit for the period/year 197.1 430.3
BRFENE Net profit attributable to owners of the parent 174.9 386.4

Btat . 2020 7H298 AR B AGETBREELER
H12A31E EXB8AE WS AEBMNE BE
EHRALEERTELEENERBE (BERETES
BH#F)REFE—HK-

Fit FEEERE BH2020FE1 818 £20205F88
SIBENEAAHB H#EAREREMEZEKRSER
FrREBELE B FEIRE B2019F181H 220194
12B31BIE+ =B B HifE -

A BRBADSEANNBE LA FIEHAS WE -BE

RERE REVERCAREEZFEREME
WEEZ#H-

Note:  On 29 July 2020, the Company announced to change its financial year-end date from
31 December to 31 August so as to align the financial year of the Group with the academic
year of the schools operated by the Group in the PRC, which ends in August each year.

As a result, the annual results covered a period of eight months from 1 January 2020 to
31 August 2020. The corresponding comparative amounts shown in consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income covered a period of twelve months from

1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019.

A Profit before tax plus finance costs, income tax expense, depreciation of property, plant and
equipment, investment properties and right-of-use assets, and amortisation of other intangible

assets.
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FEHEBMEBE2020F181H 2202088318 1
NERHBE BREEEERZNLERER  AEE R
SURES E2020%8 8310 I+ =18 B &201958A
SIHETZERANE ((EEHE])NEZ2THE
R(EETER HEZEFZREER) -

The annual results covered a period of eight months from 1 January 2020 to
31 August 2020. To provide meaningful comparative information, the Group
prepared pro forma financial information covering the twelve-month period
ended 31 August 2020 and 31 August 2019 (the “Pro Forma Period”), and such
pro forma figures are detailed in the following table and have not been audited.

BZEZTIBEHLELEE
Year ended
20204 20195
8H31H 8H31H
(BEE) (EZ) =)
31 August 2020 31 August 2019
(Pro forma) (Pro forma) Change
ARBBEERT ARBEBEER
RMB million RMB million
NG Total revenue” 1,457.0 859.0 +69.6%
A Revenue 1,292.4 726.9 +77.8%
HE R A Cost of sales 675.7 414.6 +63.0%
EF Gross profit 616.7 312.3 +97.5%
BR B A1 % A Profit before tax 546.3 240.4 +127.2%
FRFRE Net profit for the year 482.0 214.9 +124.3%
BiaE: 2020F8A31BLL+ZEABEZMBEERBIEN)  Note:  The pro forma financial information for the twelve months ended 31 August 2020 is comprised
H2019F 98 1H £2019F 12831 H (L B 09 BF 7% of (1) the financial results for the period from 1 September 2019 to 31 December 2019,
¥& (B019F 2 F B EEHR2019F1B1BE which derived from the 2019 annual financial results after deduction of the financial results
BATHLMN\ERAMBEER (REER)BEH)R (unaudited) for the eight months from 1 January to 31 August 2019 and (2) the eight-month
QFBEEZE2020F8A3IBIENBR c FEIEE financial results derived from the annual financial results (audited) for the eight months ended
B(RER)NWNERGEEE- 31 August 2020.
2019F8AIAILET AR BEUKERNETEMNR The pro forma financial information for the twelve months ended 31 August 2019 is comprised
20185 F9B1H £2018F 12831 A L BB MBI 75 £ of (1) the financial results for the period from 1 September 2018 to 31 December 2018 (the
& (B BE2018F7A18 22018128310 L BB #Y four-month financial results derived on a proportional basis from the financial results of the
B EETIREFSHNTEERBBESE)RQ period from 1 July 2018 to 31 December 2018) and (2) the financial results (unaudited) for the
H2019F1 818 2019588318 1L\ @ B #9 81 7% eight months from 1 January 2019 to 31 August 2019.
EE(REEZ) °
A BRANREEBTEEBRRAUREMKERE A

Ho

Total revenue included revenue from the principal businesses of the Group, and other income
and gains.
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EEENWEDN
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVENUE

The Group’s revenue was RMB721.6 million for the eight months ended
31 August 2020. The pro forma revenue increased by 77.8% from the pro forma
revenue of RMB726.9 million for the year ended 31 August 2019 to RMB1,292.4
million for the year ended 31 August 2020. This increase was primarily due
to (1) the completion of acquisition of Central China School in the second
half of 2019, (2) the Group’s strategic goal of building “six excellences” has
achieved preliminary results as the number of students as well as tuition fee and
dormitory fee have continued to rise, showing a significant organic growth, and
(3) the Group has responded positively to the national call to expand its higher
vocational education business, which has resulted in faster growth in revenue.

COST OF SALES

The Group’s cost of sales was RMB433.0 million for the eight months ended
31 August 2020. The pro forma cost of sales increased by 63.0% from the pro
forma cost of sales of RMB414.6 million for the year ended 31 August 2019
to RMB675.7 million for the year ended 31 August 2020. The increase was
primarily due to (1) the completion of acquisition of Central China School in
the second half of 2019, (2) an increase in the number of students, and (3) the
Group upholds high quality development and increases investment in teaching,
mainly in upgrading talents, hardware, teaching and systems.

GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

The Group’s gross profit was RMB288.6 million for the eight months ended
31 August 2020. The pro forma gross profit increased by 97.5% from the pro
forma gross profit of RMB312.3 million for the year ended 31 August 2019
to RMB616.7 million for the year ended 31 August 2020, consistent with the
growth of the Group’s business. The pro forma gross profit margin increased
to 47.7% for the year ended 31 August 2020 from 43.0% for the year ended
31 August 2019. The increase in gross profit margin was mainly due to that
the Group has been building best practices optimizing cost mix and improving
management through collectivized school operation management, the growth rate
of revenue was higher than that of cost of sales resulting in the improvement of
the level of gross profit margin.
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OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

The Group’s other income and gains were RMB74.7 million for the eight months
ended 31 August 2020. The pro forma other income and gains increased
by 24.6% from the pro forma other income and gains of RMB132.1 million
for the year ended 31 August 2019 to RMB164.6 million for the year ended
31 August 2020. The increase was primarily attributable to (1) the completion of
acquisitions of Central China School in the second half of 2019, (2) income from
exam training and logistics services, interest income and finance management
income were recorded a considerable increase as compared with those for the
year ended 31 August 2019, and (3) reversal of provision as a result of recovery
of prepayment made for a potential acquisition in Xinjiang.

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses were RMB10.5 million for the eight
months ended 31 August 2020. The pro forma selling and distribution expenses
increased by 60.8% from the pro forma selling and distribution expenses of
RMB10.2 million for the year ended 31 August 2019 to RMB16.4 million for the
year ended 31 August 2020. The expenses account for approximately 1% of the
total revenue, which is generally consistent with historical levels. This increase
was primarily attributable to (1) the completion of acquisition of Central China
School in the second half of 2019, and (2) preventing the business from being
affected by the epidemic, the Group has increased our outreach efforts.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The Group’s administrative expenses were RMB42.3 million for the eight months
ended 31 August 2020. The pro forma administrative expenses increased by
47.3% from the pro forma administrative expenses of RMB60.1 million for the
year ended 31 August 2019 to RMB88.5 million for the year ended 31 August
2020. The administrative expenses of the Group increased at a slower rate
than its cost of sales as it effectively and strictly controlled its administrative
expenses. Such increase was mainly due to the Group’s increased investment
in engaging professionals to provide strategic research and collectivized
management consultancy to the Group and schools.

OTHER EXPENSES

The Group’s other expenses were RMB10.5 million for the eight months ended
31 August 2020. The pro forma other expenses decreased by 63.6% from the
pro forma other expenses of RMB46.2 million for the year ended 31 August
2019 to RMB16.8 million for the year ended 31 August 2020, which was
primarily due to a provision for impairment of RMB31.0 million in pro forma
other expenses for the year ended 31 August 2019 in respect of the prepayment
on Xinjiang project, which was no such costs for the year ended 31 August
2020. Excluding such effect, other expenses increased by 10.5% was due to the
increase in costs incurred from the growth in other income and gains.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBER AT
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EEENWEDN
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCE COSTS

The Group’s finance costs were RMB76.4 million for the eight months ended
31 August 2020. The pro forma finance costs increased by 29.5% from the pro
forma finance costs of RMB87.5 million for the year ended 31 August 2019 to
RMB113.3 million for the year ended 31 August 2020, which was mainly due
to (1) promotion of the acquisition of minority interests in the Henan School and
Guangxi Schools, and (2) an increase in the scale of financing to respond to the
epidemic risks.

EBITDA

The Group’s EBITDA was RMB402.5 million for the eight months ended
31 August 2020. The pro forma EBITDA was RMB821.6 million for the year
ended 31 August 2020, an increase of 83.9% as compared with adjusted
EBITDA of RMB446.7 million for the year ended 31 August 2019, which was
mainly due to (1) the completion of the acquisition of Central China School in the
second half of 2019, (2) strong organic growth of the existing schools, and (3)
our active response to the epidemic and optimization of cost structure to ensure
that a reasonable return to our investors is achieved.

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax was RMB223.6 million for the eight months ended
31 August 2020. The pro forma profit before tax was RMB546.3 million for the
year ended 31 August 2020, as compared to the pro forma profit before tax of
RMB240.4 million for the year ended 31 August 2019, representing an increase
of 127.2%.

NET PROFIT

As a result of the combined effect of income, costs and expenses above, the
Group’s net profit was RMB197.1 million for the eight months ended 31 August
2020. The pro forma net profit was RMB482.0 million for the year ended
31 August 2020, an increase of 124.3% as compared with the pro forma net
profit of RMB214.9 million for the year ended 31 August 2019.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The total capital of the Group, which equals to the aggregate of cash and cash
equivalents plus time deposits and pledged deposits, plus financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, decreased by 4.7% from RMB1,047.3 million as
of 31 December 2019 to RMB998.1 million as of 31 August 2020. The level of
capital reserves remains basically flat.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

For the eight months ended 31 August 2020, the Group’s capital expenditures
were RMB104.8 million, which was primarily used for the construction of our
school buildings, facilities and purchase of equipment and software.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group’s capital commitments were primarily used in the payment of
maintenance and construction of school building, purchase of facilities and
investment in Gansu College. The following table sets out a summary of our
capital commitments as of the dates indicated:

20205 20194
8H31H 12H31H
31 August 31 December
2020 2019
(REZ) (RRE=X)
(Audited) (Audited)
ARBEER ARBEBER
RMB million RMB million
BTN EREE: Contracted but not provided for:
P E T Property, plant and equipment 190.8 140.0
B’E Investments 23.0 43.0
213.8 183.0

BZE2020F8A3MH AEEUHIMEREL/R
STHMNE REREE-

authorized but not contracted for.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBER AT
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EEENWEDN
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INDEBTEDNESS
BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The Group’s bank loans and other borrowings primarily consisted of short-term
working capital loans and long-term project loans for the construction of our
school buildings and facilities. The bank loans and other borrowings amounted
to RMB1,895.8 million as of 31 August 2020, among which HK$387.6 million
was denominated in Hong Kong dollar, while the remaining was denominated in
Renminbi.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of 31 August 2020, the Group did not have any material contingent liabilities,
guarantees or any litigations or claims of material importance, pending or
threatened against any member of the Group.

RATIO OF INTEREST-BEARING DEBT/TOTAL ASSETS

Ratio of interest-bearing debt/total assets equals to the total amount of interest-
bearing bank loans and other borrowings as of 31 August 2020 divided by the
total assets. The Group’s interest-bearing debt/total assets ratio increased from
24.8% as of 31 December 2019 to 32.4% as of 31 August 2020, mainly due to
the acquisition of minority interests in Henan School and Guangxi Schools, and
the increase in the Group’s cash reserves to respond to the COVID-19 epidemic,
resulting in the increase in the scale of interest-bearing debts.

NET RATIO OF INTEREST-BEARING DEBT TO EQUITY
RATIO

Net ratio of interest-bearing debt to equity ratio equals total interest-bearing
bank loans and other borrowings net of total capital divided by total equity as
of 31 August 2020. The Group’s net ratio of interest-bearing debt to equity
ratio increased from 14.9% as of 31 December 2019 to 35.9% as of 31 August
2020, which was primarily attributable to the increase in the scale of interest-
bearing debts.

GEARING RATIO

Gearing ratio equals ratio of interest-bearing debt divided by total equity as of
31 August 2020. Interest-bearing debt includes all interest-bearing bank loans
and other borrowings. The Group’s gearing ratio increased from 50.4% as of
31 December 2019 to 75.7% as of 31 August 2020, mainly due to (1) the
characteristics of the Group’s business, that is, 31 August being before the start
of the new academic year, there is less cash and more debt, and 31 December
being after the start of the academic year with a large inflow of tuition fees,
boarding fees and other cash, and there is more cash and less debt, therefore
the gearing ratio as at 31 August 2020 is higher than that as at 31 December
2019. (2) the Group has increased its cash reserves this year to cope with the
potential uncertainty of the epidemic, resulting in an increase in its interest-
bearing liabilities.
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FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in report, the Group did not have other plans for material
investments and capital assets for the eight months ended 31 August 2020.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

On 8 May 2020, the Group completed acquisition of 45% interests in the school
sponsor of Henan School. On 29 July 2020, the Group completed acquisition
of 39% interests in Songming Xinju, the sole shareholder of the school sponsor
of Guangxi Schools. On 12 June 2020, the Group completed acquisition of
100% interest in Beijing Fangzhi, the sole shareholder of the school sponsor of
Yunnan Vocational School. Upon completion of the aforesaid acquisitions, each
of Henan School, Guangxi Schools and Yunnan Vocational School entered into a
supplemental agreement to the Structured Contracts with Huihuang Company,
Yun Ai Group, the current registered shareholders of Yun Ai Group, to reflect
the change of interest in each of the schools by the Group. Accordingly, each
of Henan School and Guangxi Schools was treated as a 100% consolidated
affiliated entity and 90% consolidated affiliated entity of the Group, respectively,
and Yunnan Vocational School was treated as a subsidiary of the Group. Please
refer to the announcements dated 8 May 2020, 29 July 2020 and 27 August
2020, respectively, for details of the aforesaid acquisitions.

Save as disclosed, there were no other significant investments held by the
Group, no material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint
ventures during the period, nor was there any plan authorized by the Board for
other material investments or additions of capital assets during the eight months
ended 31 August 2020.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT

The functional currency of the Group is RMB and HKD. The majority of the
Group’s revenue and expenditures are denominated in RMB. As at 31 August
2020, certain bank loan and bank balances were denominated in USD and HKD.
The Group currently does not have any foreign currency hedging policies. The
management will continue to pay attention on the Group’s foreign exchange risk
exposure and consider adopting prudent measures as appropriate.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBER AT
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EEENWEDN
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
The pledged assets of the Group as at 31 August 2020 are as follows:

(i) the Group’s buildings, furniture and fixtures and electronic devices with an
aggregate net carrying amount of approximately RMB182,969,000 as at
31 August 2020 (31 December 2019: RMB250,178,000);

(i) the pledge of shares of the Group’s certain subsidiaries;

personal guarantees executed by Mr. Li, a director of the Company, and
Ms. Yang (spouse of Mr. Li);

corporate guarantees executed by the Group and subsidiaries of the
Group, which are controlled by Mr. Li;

(v)  deposits of the Group with an amount of RMB271,796,000 as at
31 August 2020 (31 December 2019: RMB343,000,000);

Guizhou School’s charging right of tuition and boarding fees;

(vi)
(vii)  Guangxi Yinghua International Occupation Middle School’s charging right
of tuition and boarding fees; and

(viii)

HUMAN RESOURCES

As of 31 August 2020, the Group had 7,430 employees (7,147 as of
31 December 2019). As required by the PRC laws and regulations, the Group
participates in various employee social security plans for our employees that
are administered by local governments, including housing, pension, medical
insurance, maternity insurance and unemployment insurance. The Group
maintains a good working relationship with employees, and the Group did not
experience any material labor disputes during the eight months ended 31 August
2020.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS AND
ARRANGEMENTS

As of the date of this annual report, the Group had not entered into any off-
balance sheet transactions.

Yunnan School’s charging right of tuition and boarding fees.
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DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved to make the payment of an interim dividend of
RMB0.042 per Share for the six months ended 30 June 2020. The interim
dividend was declared in Renminbi and paid at HK$0.0471 per Share, and was
paid on 12 October 2020 to the Shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on 17 September 2020.

As interim dividend was declared and paid for the period ended 30 June 2020
which was only two months before the end of the reporting period, the Board
recommends that no dividend be paid for the eight months ended 31 August
2020, and will consider payment of interim dividends for the six months ended
28 February 2021.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the annual general meeting
to be held on Friday, 22 January 2021, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Tuesday, 19 January 2021 to Friday, 22 January 2021, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares will be registered. In
order to be qualified for attending and voting at the annual general meeting,
all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712 — 1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration not later
than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 18 January 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

POSITIONING: THE LEADING HIGHER EDUCATION
GROUP IN THE PRC

1. Collectivized School Operation Practitioner

Established in 2005 and relocated its headquarter to Beijing in 2012, the
Group has now formed a replicable collectivized school operation model
that empowers the development of the Group and its Group members.

2. Propeller of Application-oriented Universities

In 2006, Mr. Li, the chairman of the Board of the Group, was the first to
propose the “Concept of Application-oriented Universities Classification”
in China. In 2013, the Association of Universities (Colleges) of Applied
Science was established, with the Group as one of the initiators and its
vice-chairmanship, and the Group is the only councillorship representing
the private higher education institution. Mr. Li is a deputy to the 13th
National People’s Congress of China and actively offered his advice and
suggestions on education-related policies.

3. Leader of High-quality Employment

The schools of the Group have won the title of the Top 50 National
Employment of the MOE (& 28 2 Bl 7 % T 4E5058 ) , with average
employment rate remaining at above 97%. In 2020, the employment
rates of the Group’s schools have exceeded those of similar schools in a
corresponding province.

4. Pioneer of Cross-regional Layout

Since entering different provinces to operate schools in 2009, the Group
has built up its business in seven provinces in China, including Yunnan,
Guizhou, Hubei, Heilongjiang, Henan, Guangxi and Gansu. Currently, it is
one of the Hong Kong-listed companies with the most widely layout of
schools in China.

) Forerunner of Organic Growth

The Group’s organic growth has been highly competitive, and the Group’s
organic revenue growth rate has been industry-leading over the past three
years. With the continuous improvement of the Group’s teaching quality, a
sustainable and stable organic growth will be maintained in the future.

GROUP STRENGTH

The Group is positioned as a leading higher education group in China, which
has the mission of the Group to “Help Students Become the Best They Can Be”.
The Group has years of experience in private education and has 5 successful
acquisition cases. For 2020/2021 academic year, the total student enroliment
in the 7 self-founded and invested schools exceeds 125,600. The Group has
over 300 undergraduate and junior college majors. As the leader of high-
quality employment, there are over 10,000 cooperating units having high quality
employment partners with the schools.

2020 ANNUAL REPORT &

33



34

=

HE R W E DA

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

.
=
(¥K=E

1.

%&Ekﬁ%%ﬂ%ﬁi%%ﬁ

202020212 F EEEAEREAZBB LR
FiE11%  aHBE1256B A - BRI AEESH
BRBEIENEETT SBEBRTHE
HEREABBE-—FEM- BE=ZF > ER
EABFESEREEII%

2+1RBEXNWE KARRIINOE

SERNERNRINHABRRE SFEALER
B2+ s -

HAFTEH SEIBRBNRIBEDE—-F
BETEREAZRIBRE-SELCLERE
BR2RE RARBRECRYBESE WED
BEROBERABBER-

HHNHE - EERCA D WREIEI B RE (2
ARESR)BEAZIRARE - BRUAS
T RABERERE XESEERRE
BoWBMEEESR mRZX64HME-

%&m%%i@ﬁ ESRHBER

EEMRIBNERIBEEZSTEBSNERTNY
SONBEEMEEARTLE ARESHEY
1MBEE RRAHETETEETEGER
RERSBITRZ NEENEEEER1Y%,
EHFRERN—FHENTEBREZRFRR
W EREAALBTIEEMNER LT
EANFIRERENEE R — - AlEEERE
BEH18% ERENEBEITHRAET AITEMR
FN—FHITEERTHRS REKE- [
B AEATRENTERR Bar— WS
BIENT6% BFEBRLELTmHEQAAH
BRIRITEZ— -

BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS

1.

THE STUDENT ENROLLMENTS INCREASED BY 11%
WITH A STRONG ORGANIC GROWTH

The Group’s student enroliment for 2020/2021 academic year increased
by nearly 11% year-on-year, the total student enroliments are over
125,600. At present, the Group’s enrollment expansion in higher
vocational education is still in progress, and the total number of the
Group’s enrolled students will be further increased after the completion
of the higher vocational education enrollment expansion. The compound
annual growth rate of the student enrollment was 32.3% in the past three
years.

WITH THE 2 + 1 ROBUST ACQUISITIONS, THE
GROUP ACQUIRED ADDITIONAL INTERESTS IN
ITS EXISTING SCHOOLS AND THEN MADE AN
EXTERNAL ACQUISITION

The Group adopted the acquisition strategy of internal first followed by
external, and has completed the 2 + 1 acquisitions this year.

Internally, the Group completed further acquisition of minority interests
in Henan School and Guangxi Schools in May and July, respectively.
The significant collectivized management advantage has improved post-
investment operations and financial performance. The price-earning ratio
of such acquisitions were lower than that of the initial acquisitions of
equity interests in such schools.

Externally, the Group acquired interests in a training institution, Yunnan
Vocational School in June, expanded the scale of training income,
realized revenue diversification, improved students’ professional skills,
and supported high-quality development strategies. The valuation of such
acquisition was attractive, with a price-earning ratio of 6.4 times.

COMPLETED FINANCING OF US$130 MILLION WITH
SUFFICIENT CAPITAL RESERVE

In September, the Group completed the issuance of US$100 million of
convertible bonds and approximately US$30 million of top-up placement,
with a total financing amount of approximately US$130 million, making
it the first simultaneous issuance of convertible bond and placement
transaction in the Asia-Pacific education sector. The convertible bond has a
coupon rate of only 1%, which is the lowest among non-investment grade
one-year convertible bonds and one of the lowest coupon rates among
Hong Kong-listed education companies that have issued convertible bonds
so far. The convertible bond has a conversion premium rate of 18%,
which is the highest premium level for a one-year convertible bond issue
in the past two years under the same issuance conditions. At the same
time, the discount rate for the top-up placement was low, representing
approximately 7.76% discount to the closing price of the Shares of the
Company of the previous date, which was one of the lowest discounts
among Hong Kong-listed education companies of the year.
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4. ACTIVELY RESPOND TO THE EPIDEMIC, THE
ONLINE TEACHING PLATFORM RECEIVED NEARLY
400 MILLION HITS

During the epidemic period, the Group arranged online teaching according
to the original teaching plan and the original class schedule, and fully
completed the teaching work for the spring semester, realizing the
principle of “delay backing to school, no delay in teaching and learning”.

The online teaching platform cooperates fully with AliCloud, which can
carry 100,000 concurrent visits and accommodate all students’ online
learning at the same time, and the number of courses built on the online
teaching platform is nearly 4,000.

HIGH GROWTH OF STUDENT ENROLLMENTS AND
AVERAGE TUITION FEE

For the academic year of 2020/2021, the schools of the Group had achieved
new record high in terms of the number of students enrolled. This is an
encouraging result, which demonstrated the strength and reputation of the
schools and also showed their relatively strong competitiveness in the region
which it operates.

The schools of the Group include Yunnan School, Guizhou School, Central China
School, Northeast School, Henan School and Guangxi Schools, all of which
have been consolidated into its accounts. The Group invested in Gansu College
(together with the aforesaid schools, “All Schools”).

The total number of students enrolled of All Schools increased to 125,692 in the
2020/2021 academic year, representing an increase of approximately 10.7% as
compared to 113,507 announced in October 2019, which is attributable to the
continuing strong organic growth. At present, the Group’s enrollment expansion
in higher vocational education is still in progress, and the total number of the
Group’s enrolled students will be further increased after the completion of the
higher vocational education enrollment expansion.

For the 2020/2021 academic year, the average tuition fee for All Schools
increased to RMB11,475, representing an increase of 4.4% as compared to
RMB10,995 announced in October 2019. The quality of the Group’s teaching
continues to improve and there is considerable room for the increase in future
tuition fee.

From the 2017/2018 academic year to the 2020/2021 academic year, the

Group’s total number of students increased at a compound rate of 32.3% over
the three-year period.
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FEEREREABRFHEERANETERE
EEEETERSEERR NEERBY EX
BANERRUHERMBELNNRT -

The increase in the Group’s total number of enrolled students and average
tuition fee is mainly attributable to high quality development and strong organic
growth of the Group’s schools and high recognition by both students and their
parents on the Group’s capability in high quality school management.

ERE AR B i
Number of Enrolled Students
Academic Year '@

BR Schools 2020/2021 2019/2020
EFER Yunnan School 33,380 30,658
EMNER Guizhou School 19,276 17,308
RILER Northeast School 9,788 9,258
EHER Central China School 12,802 10,764
STFEER Henan School 27,837 27,008
B ER Guangxi Schools 13,382 10,273
et Total 116,465 105,269
HE & e Gansu College "ot 9,227 8,238
#at Total 125, 692 113,507
(1) HEERN2019FIA N TERAREERRELERE- (1) Gansu College completed the campus construction and relocation of students in September

BEHRERNESREBMABEREHRERN
BRERE-

2 EBF-HRASFIAIBRG HBFANBER.

BRI
CHmEDHERRE

EERNEHED NEBRRBEEREINER
FH O TERNIERRSIE BEEKDSEER

2019. The acquisition of Gansu College is still pending approval for change of school sponsor
of Gansu College by the MOE.

2) An academic year generally starts from 1 September of each year to 31 August of the following
year.

DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY
TWO-WHEEL DRIVEN GROWTH STRATEGY

The Group maintains an “Organic Growth + Value Investment” two-wheel driven
growth strategy to build internal and external growth engines, and continues to
drive high-speed growth.
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ORGANIC GROWTH

The Group promotes organic growth by implementing the “Quality, Grow and
Light” strategy of “Quality improvement, revenue growth and light assets”.

“Quality improvement” represents that the Group will continue to improve the
quality in teaching, employment, management and services.

The Group diversifies revenue to achieve the sustainable performance growth of
“revenue growth”.

1. Increase revenue from principal businesses: to raise the revenue from
tuition fees and boarding fees by focusing on raising tuition fees of
outstanding majors and boarding fees.

2. Increase revenue from non-principal businesses: to expand value-
added services to students or specified groups and give priority to
exploit potential resources in campuses to expand revenue from logistics
commerce, training, and integration of industry and teaching.

The Group is also carrying out “light assets” mode aiming for scientific
classification of asset inventories, perfect management of demand, use, input
and income of each type of assets through exploring innovative business models,
reducing required investment and improving return on assets.

VALUE INVESTMENT

As a practitioner in cross-region operation, the Group commenced operating
schools in various provinces since 2009 and the network of school has covered
seven provinces and gained years of experience in self-found and investments
of schools. The Group has presciently acquired 5 higher education institutions
at acquisition costs which are much lower than the average market rate, and
completed the integration of these schools with its experience in centralized
management. Recently, the Group has completed further the acquisition of
minority interests in Henan School and Guangxi Schools, for which the Group
accumulated extensive, multi-level and multi-location acquisition experience, and
the integration effect of the acquisitions is obvious. The centralized management
and operations of the Group have consolidated its financial strength and, with
its sufficient capital reserves, it has provided a strong support for the Group’s
external expansion.

OVERALL STRATEGIC GOALS OF “SIX EXCELLENCES”

The Group takes the “Six Excellences” as the overall strategic goals, including
excellent school operation efficiency, excellent employment quality, excellent
students’ experience, excellent campus environment, excellent technological
support and excellent organizational capacity. During the period, the Group made
breakthroughs in employment quality, students’ experience, campus environment
and government-subsidized training.
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APPLICATION-ORIENTED EDUCATION

In response to the national call, the Group provides modern vocational education
services and cultivates high-quality technical and skilled talents who are capable
of applying and serving the regional development.

1.

OBE teaching model reform

The Group integrates the international Outcome-Based Education (OBE)
teaching model to practice application-oriented talent training, promote
teaching reform, and improve teaching quality.

School-enterprise “dual” education

All majors are matched with corresponding employment units. For
example, the medical and nursing majors have been cooperated with
more than 150 hospitals; the e-commerce majors have been cooperated
with Alibaba, Tmall, JD, Suning and other large e-commerce companies;
the Group newly launched 34 high-paying freshmen classes during the
year, cooperating relationship were formed with Huawei, Adobe, Chinasoft
International, Tedu and other enterprises.

Focus on the establishment of majors of new medicine, new liberal arts
and new engineering stream

The Group added 33 new majors in this academic year, including: health
inspection and quarantine, drug operation and management, traditional
Chinese medicine rehabilitation technology, rehabilitation therapy, new
energy vehicle technology, virtual reality application technology, robotics
engineering, tea science, cross-border e-commerce, etc.

Over 1,000 training bases for integration of industry and teaching

Central China School cooperated with Huiyi Ophthalmology Hospital ( £
HHER A2 %) and Huiyi Hospital of Rheumatic Diseases (£ & & 7 28
&5 EREEPT) to establish Science and Technology College of Hubei
Minzu University Affiliated Ophthalmology Hospital and Affiliated Hospital
of Rheumatic Diseases.
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HIGH LEVEL OF EMPLOYMENT

Mr. Li, Chairman of the Group, made the “ Recommendations on Employment of
Graduates from Colleges to Cope with the Impact of the Epidemic ( B8 7 K& &t
REZEMETEREBLEERETITIEMNERE) ) at the Third Session of the
13th National People’s Congress (NPC), which was listed by the General Office
of the NPC Standing Committee as one of the key supervisory recommendations
under the theme of “Strengthening Employment Priority Policies, Stabilizing
Employment and Protecting People’s Livelihood”.

1. Star Employment

The star employment rate increased by 111% as compared with that for
the same period of 2019 (definition of star employment: graduates with
an annual salary of RMB80,000 or more, taking postgraduate entrance
examinations and entering a provincial key undergraduate university,
municipal and above civil servants, and studying abroad).

2. Employment Rate

As at mid-November, the average employment rate of various schools of
the Group exceeded that of similar schools in a corresponding province,
of which the employment rate of Guangxi Schools exceeded 95%, leading
the province’s institutions.

3. In-depth Cooperation with Famous Enterprises

The Group has in-depth cooperation with more than 1,100 famous
enterprises, among them, there are 1.39% of Fortune 500 companies and
12.62% of China 500 companies, including Huawei, Adobe, JD, Alibaba
and Ernst & Young, etc. The key directions of cooperation include: 1) order
cooperation model — creating 34 high-paying employment excellence
classes for freshmen; 2) the mode of rotating the learning and work
experience; 3) internship model; 4) attracting investment and building
industry college model, etc.

4. “Qiduo.net” Employment Platform

Through the “Qiduo.net” employment platform, the Group has provided
online training, guidance, recruitment and other employment services for
students. Schools of the Group had held nearly 830 online and offline
job fairs through the “Qiduo.net”, continuing to improve the quality of
employment.

o8 Graduate Entrepreneurial Stories Reported by CCTV

Yin Qifeng, a graduate of the Group, was featured in CCTV's “Science and
Technology” as innovating a mixed culture model for Yunnan indigenous
fish, and his company has become the largest farming base for the rare
indigenous fish, Anabarilius grahami ( fi§’R &) , in Yunnan Province.
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EXPANSION OF GOVERNMENT-SUBSIDIZED TRAINING

The Group actively responds to the call of the government and seizes the
opportunity to provide vocational skills training services for the public,
contributing to the “employment support” and increasing revenue diversification.
At present, the Group has been granted a training quota of 29,300 persons and
provided government-subsidized training to the community for more than 6,000
persons. At the same time, the government subsidized training programs of each
school are gradually being applied and approved.

With the recent acquisition of Yunnan Vocational School, the Group has
supplemented its project qualifications and industry experience, quickly
integrated resources and strengthened its capabilities to make a breakthrough
in the field of government-subsidized training, and simultaneously established
specialized institutions (School of Continuing Education and School of Vocational
Education) in various universities to select and assign professional talents, and
opened up a new runway to increase revenue based on the existing student
training business. By 2020, over 4,000 student fees will have been paid to
Yunnan Vocational School and it's approved as one of the first batch of training
sites for the new national profession of “Internet Marketing Professional”.

ACHIEVEMENTS OF VALUE INVESTMENT

According to the market environment and its own actual development, the
Group has established a development strategy with “organic growth + value
investment”. In terms of value investment, based on the acquisition principal of
internal first followed by external, the Group holds the strategy of first integrating
its existing schools, and subsequently supplementing by excellent external
acquisitions. Recently, the Group further acquired minority interests in Henan
School and Guangxi Schools. In addition, the Group acquired Yunnan Vocational
School in June to expand its training revenue scale and diversify its revenue.

Acquisition of interests in Henan School

On 8 May 2020, Beijing Daai Gaoxue, a wholly owned subsidiary of Yun Ai Group,
entered into a share transfer agreement, pursuant to which Beijing Daai Gaoxue
agreed to acquire 45% equity interest in Henan Rongyu, the school sponsor of
Henan School, from Rongrui Shangyu Company and Rongyaojia Company. Beijing
Daai Gaoxue held 100% equity interest in Henan Rongyu upon completion of the
acquisition,

This acquisition was carried out by taking into the following factors: first, the
source of students and potential economic growth in Henan Province; second,
the post-investment management capability and profitability of the school have
been significantly improved under the renovation and upgrading of the Group’s
management, and upon the completion of the acquisition, the Group will fully
leverage on the strength in collectivized school operation and the operational
capability and profitability of the school will be further improved; third, the
valuation of the acquisition is reasonable. Both the costs per student and the
price-earning ratio of such acquisition are lower than that of the acquisition of
55% equity interest in Henan Ronyu on 8 October 2018 by Beijing Daai Gaoxue.
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Acquisition of interests in Guangxi Schools

On 29 July 2020, Daai Education acquired 39% equity interest of Songming
Xinju, the sole shareholder of the Guangxi Schools Sponsor, from Greenwoods
Jia Xin Rui Xuan for a consideration of RMB152 million. Upon completion of such
acquisition, Songming Xinju became owned as to 90% by Daai Education and as
to 10% by Mr. Li Jianchun.

This acquisition was carried out by taking into the following factors: first, the
potential to increase gross student enrollment rate and the regional advantage
of covering the countries within the Association of Southeast Asian Nations of
Guangxi Province; second, the Guangxi Schools are the only private universities
in the region; third, the post-investment management capability and profitability
of the schools have been significantly improved under the renovation and
upgrading of the Group’s management, and upon the completion of the
acquisition, the Group will fully leverage on the strength in collectivized school
operation, and the operational capability and profitability of the schools will be
further improved; fourth, the valuation of the acquisition is reasonable. Taking
into account the expanding enrollment in vocational high schools, both the costs
per student and the price-earning ratio of such acquisition are lower than that
of the acquisition of 51% equity interest in Songming Xinju by the Group on
14 September 2018.

Acquisition of Yunnan Vocational School

The government has provided the policy support for the subsidized vocational
skills training. The Action Plan for Upgrading Vocational Skills (2019-2021) ( <&
EREEIRF1TE 75 E(2019-20214F ) ) ) proposes to carry out various
subsidized vocational skills training for more than 50 million persons from 2019
to 2021, and the proportion of highly-skilled talents to skilled labour will reach
over 30% by the end of 2021.

In order to expand the scale of training revenue, in the first half of 2020,
the Group acquired Yunnan Vocational School, which is a diversified lifelong
vocational education and training institution integrating accounting training, IT
training, adult commissioned training and other training services. The price-
earning ratio of the acquisition was only 6.4 times, which was more cost-
effective in the sector.

Leveraging the channel resources of the Group’s colleges and universities,
Yunnan Vocational School utilizes the existing classrooms, teaching equipment,
campuses and online platforms of the Group’s schools to open up a new channel
while maintaining its existing training for students enrolled, so as to expand its
off-campus training.
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PROSPECTS

IMPLEMENTATION OF THE “TWO-WHEEL DRIVEN”
BUSINESS STRATEGY

The Company will continue to implement the two-wheel driven development
strategy of “organic growth + value investment”: internally, it provides high
quality services with competitive prices; externally, it carries out value investment
by acquiring or self-founding colleges in areas with large growth potential.
The Group will intensify its value investment to promote the implementation of
the “Two-wheel Driven” business strategy and thereby achieve the “inclusive
symbiosis with organic growth and value investment”.

ORGANIC GROWTH

Over the past three years, the Group has maintained a leading organic growth
rate in the industry and still has plenty of room for growth. In the future, on
the one hand, the Group will further improve the employment quality, enhance
students’ experience and improve the campus environment to strengthen
revenue from its main business; on the other hand, the Group will continue
to exploit potential resources in campuses to expand revenue from logistics
commerce, examination and training, and integration of industry and teaching
and other non-principal businesses. Meanwhile, the Group will fully leverage
on its advantage in terms of collectivized school operation to integrate newly
acquired schools, unleash the potentials and improve operational efficiency and
profitability.

GROWTH FROM VALUE INVESTMENT

In terms of growth from value investment, the Group will continue to focus on
higher education, adhere to its value investment philosophy, carry on its “robust
acquisition + self-founding” to expand its school reach in areas with low gross
enroliment rates, various sources of students, and huge future development
potential. In the future, the Group will focus on the national strategies of “the
coordinated development of the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei Region, the development of
the Yangtze River Economic Belt, the construction of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macao Greater Bay Area and the construction of an economic circle covering
the western cities of Chengdu and Chongqing”, accelerating the layout of the
above-mentioned key regions to tie in with the national economic development
and support education to serve the local economy. Meanwhile, the Group will
promote the self-founding and acquisition. In the future, we initially plan to self-
found or acquire one to two schools yearly.
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INVESTMENT HIGHLIGHTS

THE GROUP CONTINUES TO BENEFIT FROM
FAVOURABLE INDUSTRY POLICIES

The Group continues to benefit from favorable industry policies, including:
expansion of higher vocational education by million, expansion of enroliment for
top-up programmes, for junior college to bachelor degree transfer programmes,
promotion of government-subsidized vocational skills training, and active
encouragement of private higher education. The Group upholds application-
oriented education and will continue to implement the direction of application-
oriented education and continue to benefit from favourable policies.

CONTINUED STRONG ORGANIC GROWTH AND
MAINTAINING INDUSTRY LEADERSHIP

The Group has a leading position in organic growth rate in the industry. In the
past three years, the Group’s organic revenue growth rate has maintained a
leading position in the industry. For 2020/2021 academic year, the average
tuition fee for all schools is RMB11,475, which is much lower than the market
average. At the same time, as compared to the Group’s schools, Central China
School and Gansu College have more room for growth in average tuition fee than
Northeast School and Yunnan School. Henan School and Guangxi Schools also
have more growth room in average tuition fee than Guizhou School. The Group
insists on pursuing high quality development with competitive prices and high
quality, and will continue to achieve strong growth in organic revenue in the
future.

STRONG COLLECTIVIZED MANAGEMENT CAPABILITY

At present, the number of enrolled students is over 125,600, ranking third
among the PRC higher education sector in the Hong Kong stock market. In
the 2020/2021 academic year, the Group’s total number of enrolled students
and average tuition fees increased by more than 15% year-on-year in terms of
organic growth rate. Meanwhile, the Group has demonstrated a strong post-
investment management capability, and the post-investment net profit of the
acquired schools increased significantly.

ROBUST VALUE INVESTMENT STRATEGY

The Group presciently invested in 5 colleges and universities before and after
the listing, generating significant first-mover advantage, with average acquisition
cost per student being far lower than current market price. In 2020, the Group
will steadily implement its strategy by acquiring further minority equity in Henan
School and Guangxi Schools at a cost much lower than the current market
price and has accumulated extensive acquisition experience and restarted the
evaluation of potential external acquisition projects. In the future, the Group will
promote both self-founding and acquisitions, and initially plans to self-found or
acquire one to two schools yearly in the future.
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CONTINUE TO IMPROVE WITH HIGH QUALITY, WITH
HUGE ROOM FOR VALUATION IMPROVEMENT

With the proven development strategy of “organic growth + value investment”,
the Group is leading the industry in terms of organic growth rate, accelerating
the evaluation of investment targets, and pushing forward the “Two-wheel
Driven” business strategy, which will continue to improve the performance in the
future with high quality.

MINIMISING THE IMPACT OF NOVEL CORONAVIRUS
(COVID-19) IN A TIMELY MANNER

In response to the COVID-19 epidemic, the Group responded quickly and
deployed rigorously to ensure the safety of teachers and students. The Group
and its schools have adopted a series of preventive measures, including
strengthening disinfection and cleaning of campuses and timely declaration of
the health conditions of teachers and students, and all teachers and students
have not been involved in any outbreak-related incidents. At the same time,
the Group implemented online education platform to provide teaching services,
and such online teaching is made in accordance with the originally determined
teaching plan and starting time, thus fully completing the teaching mission of
the spring semester.

At present, the epidemic has been effectively controlled in Mainland China.
Teachers and students of all schools had gone successively back to their
respective campus starting in May, and some of schools had provided
supplementary lessons during the summer holiday. For the new academic year of
2020/21, all schools of the Group have commenced school term in September
and October.

In view of the effective actions taken by the Group to mitigate such risks, except
for the one-off refund of accommodation fees to students in accordance with the
relevant guidelines issued by the competent education authorities in the PRC,
and rental waiver to certain canteen and shop tenants, the operating results
and financial performance of the Group have not been materially and adversely
affected by the COVID-19 epidemic and the Group has maintained steady and
sustainable growth in its business. The Group will continue to closely monitor the
development of the epidemic, continuously assess the potential impact and strive
to minimize such risk.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EDUCATION POLICY TREND

FURTHER EXPANSION OF HIGHER VOCATIONAL
EDUCATION BY 2.0 MILLION DURING THIS YEAR AND
THE NEXT

Following the expansion of higher vocational education by 1.0 million in 2019,
the 2020 Government Work Report further proposed an additional expansion
of 2.0 million student enrollments at higher vocational colleges this year and
the next, together with the previously announced expansion of postgraduate
and junior college to bachelor degree transfer programmes, demonstrating the
recognition of the past achievements in talent cultivation in higher vocational
education. The higher vocational education has played a more important role in
the process of future economic and social development.

GOVERNMENT-SUBSIDIZED VOCATIONAL SKILLS
TRAINING

The 2020 Government Work Report proposes to subsidize training to stabilize job
market, with an aim to achieve more than 35 million person-times of vocational
skills training this year and the next, which is a further enhancement measure
to enable more workers to develop skills and get good jobs, following the Action
Plan for Upgrading Vocational Skills (2019-2021) ( {BEZE+AEIEATEHH
2 (2019-20214 ) ) ) released in May 2019.

ACCELERATING THE CONVERSION OF INDEPENDENT
COLLEGES INTO INDEPENDENTLY ORGANIZED PRIVATE
UNDERGRADUATE UNIVERSITIES

In May 2020, the Ministry of Education issued the Implementation Plan for
Accelerating the Conversion of Independent Colleges ( B8 bk #E 3 38 57
ElRERT/EMNERSZE) ), which provided that independent colleges
are required to develop a work plan for the conversion by the end of 2020,
while promoting a number of independent colleges to achieve the conversion.
In the plan, it is particularly specified that for those independent colleges
having the established school operation agreement, a clear delineation of rights
and obligations between the school operation entities, the school operation
conditions to meet the undergraduate universities establishment standards, they
are permitted to convert into an independently organized private undergraduate
universities.
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PROPERTY IS PERMITTED TO BE PLEDGED AS
COLLATERAL, LOOSENING THE FINANCING CHANNELS
FOR FOR-PROFIT PRIVATE SCHOOLS

On 28 May 2020, the Civil Code of the People’s Republic of China ( {FRZE A
EHFMBEIEEE) ) was approved at the Third Session of the 13th National
People’s Congress, according to which, profit-making legal persons, including
schools, may pledge their own property as collateral. Compared to the current
provisions of the Guarantee Law ( {¥&4R5%) ), the Civil Code has made
an adjustment to the issue of property pledge by distinguishing the different
attributes of legal persons on a practical basis. For private education, a mortgage
can be placed on educational facilities of for-profit schools, which means that
the financing channels of for-profit private schools are expanded, and this will
play an important role in promoting the development of private schools and
private education.

VOCATIONAL EDUCATION CONTINUES TO ENJOY THE
FAVOURABLE ENROLLMENT POLICY

On 16 September 2020, the Ministry of Education and other eight departments
issued the Notice on Circulation of the “Action Plan for Vocational Education
Teaching Improvement (2020-2023)" ( (B X H BEIRE B ETH T2
(2020-2023% ) » ) . Such action plan formulated 10 tasks and 27 initiatives
for the implementation of the “Proposals for Implementing Vocational Education
Reform” ( (BAEHBEHEZRASER) ), in which it is clearly provided that
there is no restriction on the proportion of middle-grade graduates enrolled for
higher vocational colleges, the moderate expansion of the enroliment plan for
junior college to bachelor degree transfer programmes is permitted, encouraging
social persons such as retired military, laid-off workers, migrant workers
and qualified farmers to enrol for higher vocational colleges and exempting
them from cultural examinations, and encouraging joint enroliment by higher
vocational colleges and those enterprises integrating industry and education.
These measures show that the State supports the enrollment of vocational
education in many ways, and the vocational education will continue to enjoy
the favourable enrollment policy. This will promote the continuous growth in the
number of students in vocational colleges, thus further consolidating the position
of vocational education in the national education system.

FAVOURABLE POLICIES TO FACILITATE THE
DEVELOPMENT OF PRIVATE EDUCATION

In November 2020, the Ministry of Education published an article proposing
that 1. local governments should enjoy greater autonomy in the administration
of private educational services, and that they could set the registration time
and taxes for for-profit and non-profit schools according to the actual situation,
instead of taking the centralized administration mode. 2. legal connected
transactions are permitted. 3. private education is actively encouraged and tax
concessions and other supports are provided for profit-earning private schools.
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RECENT DEVELOPMENTS OF REGULATORY
FRAMEWORK

()

Classified Registration

According to the Several Opinions of the State Council on Encouraging
Social Power to Set up Education to Promote the Healthy Development of
Private Education (29 December 2016), a classification registration and
management system shall be applicable to private schools, and private
school sponsors can choose to run non-profit or for-profit private schools.
The revised Laws for Promoting Private Education of the PRC (implemented
on 1 September 2017) also promulgated the same provisions.

According to the Implemental Rules on Private School Registration
(30 December 2016), if an existing private school chooses to register
as a non-profit private school, it should modify its article of association,
continue to run the school and complete new registration procedures in
accordance with relevant laws. If it chooses to register as a for-profit
private school, it should conduct financial settlement, clarify the ownership
of school land, school premises, school accumulation, and pay related
taxes and fees, obtain a new permit in running a school, re-register and
continue the operations for education.

In order to further implement the above requirements, government and
relevant competent departments in region where the Group runs schools
have successively issued supporting measures, including (1) Notice of the
Five Departments including Education Department of Yunnan Province on
Steady and Orderly Promotion of Classified Registration and Management
of Private Schools (12 June 2019); (2) Implementation Opinions issued
by the People’s Government of Guizhou Province on Supporting and
Regulating Social Forces to Set up Education to Promote the Healthy
Development of Private Education (3 August 2018), Measures for the
Implementation of Classified Examination and Approval of Registration
and Supervision and Management of Private Schools in Guizhou Province
(Trial) (11 June 2019); (3) Implementation Opinions issued by Heilongjiang
Province on Encouraging Social Powers to Set up Education to Promote
the Healthy Development of Private Education, Measures for the
Implementation of Classified Registration of Private Schools in Heilongjiang
Province, and Measures for the Supervision and Administration of for-
profit Private Schools in Heilongjiang Province (26 February 2019);
(4) Implementation Opinions of the People’s Government of Gansu
Province on Further Promoting the Healthy Development of Private
Education (8 November 2017), Measures for the Implementation of
Classified Registration of Private Schools in Gansu Province (15 November
2018); (5) Implementation Opinions issued by the People’s Government
of Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region on Encouraging Social Powers
to Set up Education to Promote the Healthy Development of Private
Education (2 July 2018), Measures for the Implementation of Classified
Registration of Private Schools in Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region
(10 October 2018), Measures for the Implementation of Supervision and
Administration offor-profit Private Schools in Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous
Region (16 October 2018); (6) Implementation Opinions issued by the
People’s Government of Hubei Province on Encouraging Social Powers to
Set up Education to Promote the Healthy Development of Private Education
(20 December 2017); (7) Implementation Opinions issued by the People’s
Government of Henan Province on Encouraging Social Powers to Set
up Education to Promote the Healthy Development of Private Education
(2 February 2018).
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The above local regulations provide a framework procedure for the
classification and registration of existing private schools in relevant
provinces as for-profit private schools or non-profit private schools, but
do not further specify the process of classification and registration, for
example, (1) the specific procedures for a school to be registered as
a for-profit or non-profit school, and (2) the various preferential taxes
and land use policies that can be enjoyed by for-profit and non-profit
schools. As of the date of this report, the Company has not commenced
the process of classification and registration for schools under the Group.
Since there are certain uncertainties in the interpretation and application
of the above requirements, the uncertainties are in respect of when the
private schools under the Group can complete the classified registration,
whether the relevant taxes and fees will need to be paid in accordance
with local supporting rules in the process of classified registration in the
future, and what supporting policies provided by government regarding tax
and land use they will enjoy.

The MOJ Draft for Comments

On 10 August 2018, the Ministry of Justice issued the Regulations for the
Implementation of the Law on the Promotion of Private Education of the
People’s Republic of China (Revised Draft) (the Draft for Examination and
Approval) ( (REARAFNBERPBBERELZERES (BFTE
%) (XFER) ) ) (the “M0J Draft for Comments”), to solicit public
opinions.

If the MOJ Draft for Comments is approved in the current manner
and takes effect, and if our mode of running a school is identified as
centralized school management mode and our Structured Contracts is
identified as “contractual agreements” according to Article 12 of the MOJ
Draft for Comments, we may need to register the subordinate private
colleges and universities as for-profit private schools. In addition, as we
can no longer acquire or control non-profit private schools by means
of franchising or contractual agreements, our acquisition scope may be
limited, this provision may have an impact on our expansion strategy.
In addition, our Structured Contracts may be treated as connected
transactions.

However, there are still uncertainties as to whether the MOJ Draft
for Comments will be adopted in its current form and how it will be
interpreted and implemented. We cannot predict with confidence the
impact of the laws or regulations related to the implementation of the
Private Education Promotion Law of the PRC on our business, financial
condition and results of operations (if any) in the future at this stage.

As confirmed by our PRC Legal Advisors, the Company hereby informs the
Shareholders and investors that the MOJ Draft for Comments is still in the
negotiation stage and has not been issued or implemented in China. The
Company will continue to follow up the development of the MOJ Draft for
Comments and relevant laws and regulations.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Foreign Investment Law

The Foreign Investment Law of the PRC ( {FF#E A R A MBI E R
&%) ) (“Foreign Investment Law”) approved by the National People’s
Congress on 15 March 2019 has been implemented since 1 January
2020, and has become the basic law for foreign investment in China.
According to this law, existing foreign-invested enterprises may maintain
their existing organization structure within five years from the effective
date of the Foreign Investment Law. On 26 December 2019, the State
Council issued the Implementation Regulations of the Foreign Investment
Law of the PRC (“Implementation Regulations”), which also came into
effect on 1 January 2020, aiming to implement the legislative principles
and purposes of the Foreign Investment Law.

The Foreign Investment Law clearly specifies three forms of foreign
investment, but neither the Foreign Investment Law nor the Implementing
Regulations explicitly stipulate contractual agreements as a form of
foreign investment. As confirmed by our PRC legal advisors, as the Foreign
Investment Law and Implementation Regulations do not define contractual
agreements as a form of foreign investment, if future laws, administrative
regulations,and regulations of the State Council do not include contractual
agreements as a form of foreign investment, the Structured Contracts as
a whole and the agreements constituting the Structured Contracts will
not be affected, and will continue to be legally valid, effective and binding
on the parties. However, if future laws, administrative regulations, and
regulations of the State Council stipulate contractual agreements as one
of the ways of foreign investment, the Group may need to take relevant
measures in accordance with the requirements of the laws, regulations
and regulations of the State Council at that time. There will be uncertainty
as to whether we can complete these measures in a timely manner or at
all. Failure to take appropriate measures in a timely manner to address
any of the compliance requirements in the above provisions may have a
significant effect on our current group structure, corporate governance
and business operations.

As of the date of this report, the Company’s operations have not been
affected by the Foreign Investment Law.

The Board will continue to monitor any updates regarding the foreign

investment and seek guidance from our PRC Legal Advisors to ensure that
the Company meets all relevant laws and regulations in China.
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(V)

Independent Colleges Conversions

In May 2020, the Ministry of Education issued the “Implementation Plan
on Accelerating Promotion of the Independent Colleges Conversions”
(CEARMREEBIZBHREXRITENERSEY ), which
requires making the independent colleges conversions as the top priority
of the establishment of universities, and actively creating conditions
to promote the completion of conversions. By the end of 2020, all
independent colleges shall formulate the conversions work plans, and
at the same time promote certain independent colleges to complete
their conversions. For the independent colleges conversions, it shall
perform financial settlement procedures, amend and perfect the articles
of association in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Private
Education Promotion Law, and then submit an application to the provincial
education administrative department upon the approval of the independent
college’s board of directors (board of management), and after reviewed by
experts in the province, publicity and other procedures, it will be reported
by the provincial people’s government to the Ministry of Education for
approval.

As of the date of this report, the conversion of Gansu College and Central
China School of the Group is in smooth progress.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (Z=Z &) , aged 46, the founder of the Group. He was
appointed as a Director of the Company on 8 July 2016. He is the chairman
of the Board. Mr. Li has more than 20 years of experience in education and is
responsible for the overall management and strategic development of the Group.

The following table shows the key working experience of Mr. Li:

& A B
Period Company Position
19994 Z£2004%F £ 3 1k =)
1999 to 2004 Training Station Director
2005 ERS EXEHE e
2005 to present Yun Ai Group Chairman
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As a director of the Training Station from 1999 to 2004, Mr. Li was in charge of
the daily operation and management of the Training Station, overall management
and strategic development of the Training Station, as well as decision-making on
significant operational and administrative matters.

Mr. Li became the first vice president of the China Private Education Association*
in March 2010, a council member of the 6th China Higher Education Association*
in August 2012, a member of the standing committee of the 11th Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference Yunnan Province* in January 2013,
a member of the 11th Committee of the All-China Youth Federation* in August
2010 and a member of the Thirteenth National People’s Congress of People’s
Republic of China in February 2018. He is currently the vice chairman of the
Association of Universities (Colleges) of Applied Science, the vice chairman of
the China Education Development Strategy Association, the vice chairman of the
Chinese Association for Non-Government Education and the managing director of
China Vocational Education Society.

Mr. Li completed his undergraduate studies in administrative management at
the Army Officer Academy of PLA (FFE] A R M E B EFR) |, the PRC,
in June 2008, and subsequently obtained the qualification as senior economist
in October 2009. Mr. Li was subsequently awarded a master degree in business
administration from Nankai University (B8 A28 ) | the PRC, in June 2010.

Mr. Zhao Shuai (#4E) , aged 40, joined the Group in April 2004, and was
appointed as the chief executive officer and an executive Director of the
Company on 19 August 2016. Mr. Zhao has more than 16 years of experience
in education and is responsible for setting annual operational targets and
day-to-day management.
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The following table shows the key working experience of Mr. Zhao:

B AT B AEREMR
Period Company Position Roles and responsibilities
200454 B Z2008F8 A ERHER BEEMT BERE

April 2004 to August 2008

20085F9H 2014534

September 2008 to March 2014

201454 A £2015%4A

April 2014 to April 2015

201555 22016534

May 2015 to March 2016

2016F3AES

March 2016 to present

Yunnan School

EHER

Yunnan School

EERE

Y

Yun Ai Group

BEMER

Guizhou School

EEKE

Y

Yun Ai Group

Student recruitment director

LR

Associate dean

TH AR AR AR IR

General manager of
administration department

HITR &

Executive dean

BRARE

Senior president

In charge of student
recruitment

BERE -THNEHS

%

In charge of student
recruitment, administrative
and logistics matters

EERB RHNERS
it}

In charge of procurement,
logistics and infrastructures

EEEEMEMKER .
THERHEMT IBZ%?T%
In charge of management and
strategic development,
staff recruitment and other
administrative matters

B EEE AR
BR

In charge of management and
strategic development

HAEERIBFI2EMESREEMEL - B Mr. Zhao obtained the qualification as senior economist in December 2013. He

04F7RERFTEHEREI KEMM T EEIL was awarded a bachelor degree in Mechanical Engineering Automation from

BBy RR2017FcRESEMAREHRME TR Kunming University of Science and Technology ( 2 BA¥E T K2 ) | the PRC, in

L& July 2004, and in June 2017 awarded a master degree in software engineering
at Jilin University ( 5k K &)
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Ms. Shen Chunmei, aged 37, joined the Group as vice president in early 2020
and was appointed as an executive Director of the Company on 27 August
2020. She has over 10 years of professional experience in investor relations
management, initial public offering, fundraising, merger and acquisition, strategic
consulting and international financial media of companies listed in Hong Kong
and the United States, as well as internationally renowned strategic consulting
firm.

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Shen was the director of corporate finance
and investor relations of TCL Electronics Holdings Limited, a company listed
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 1070), taking up the overall
responsibility of its capital market related matters. From 2016 to 2018,
Ms. Shen was the head of strategic communications of Grab Holdings Inc., a
multinational technology company offering ride-hailing transport services and
payment solutions based in Singapore, during which she participated in and
assisted with its series G financing of USD 2.5 billion which is the largest single
financing transaction in the history of Southeast Asia at that time. From 2015
to 2016, Ms. Shen was the investor relations director of Xinyuan Real Estate
Co., Ltd., a top 100 real estate company in China and listed on the New York
Stock Exchange (stock code: XIN). From 2012 to 2015, Ms. Shen was a director
at FTI Consulting, one of the largest financial consulting firms in the world and
headquartered in the United States, leading projects relating to initial public
offering and investor relations consulting of Chinese companies seeking a listing
in Hong Kong and the United States. In 2014, she led the team to win the Sabre
Awards (Global Campaign of the Year). From 2009 to 2012, Ms. Shen was the
investor relations manager at Feihe International, Inc. (now known as China
Feihe Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code:
6186)).

Ms. Shen received her bachelor’s degree from University of Leeds in the

United Kingdom in 2005. She also received her master’s degree in business
administration from University of Aberdeen in the United Kingdom in 2006.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson (BB {E15) , aged 54, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on 20 March 2017.
Mr. Kwong has more than 10 years of experience in corporate finance and
equity capital markets in Asia. Mr. Kwong is an executive Director of China Metal
Resources Utilization Limited (stock code: 1636), in charge of its corporate and
strategic development. Mr. Kwong was the president of Gushan Environmental
Energy Limited, a company whose American depositary shares were listed on
the New York Stock Exchange from December 2007 to October 2012. He is
also an independent non executive director of Shunfeng International Clean
Energy Limited (stock code: 1165) since 16 July 2014, C.banner International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1028) since 26 August 2011, China Outfitters
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1146) since 8 June 2011 and Koolearn Technology
Holding Limited (stock code: 1797) since 15 March 2019, all of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since 13 July 2011, 23 September
2011, 9 December 2011 and 28 March 2019, respectively. Prior to joining
Gushan Environmental Energy Limited in 2006, he was the managing director
of investment banking and he held the position as the head of Hong Kong and
China equity capital markets at CLSA Equity Capital Markets Limited from March
2004 to July 2006. Mr. Kwong was a director from 2002 to 2003, and the
general manager of the corporate finance department from 1997 to 2003 for
Cazenove Asia Limited. After graduating from University of Cambridge, England
with a bachelor’s degree in Arts in 1987, he qualified as a chartered accountant
in the United Kingdom in 1990. Mr. Kwong is currently an associate member of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Hu Jianbo (#H#% ) , aged 56, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 22 December 2017. Mr. Hu has
over 20 years of experience in the education industry. He received his bachelor
degree in engineering from Northwest Institute of Architecture and Engineering*
(FAEEETEEPR), now known as Chang’an University* (R & K
) in July 1984, and his executive master degree in business administration
from China Europe International Business School* ( &t Bl f® T 5 &2k )
in September 2007. From July 1984 to July 1992, Mr. Hu worked at Xi’an
University* (7822 K28) | now known as Xi'an University of Art and Science*
(FZXIEEPFR) , as a teacher. From July 1992 to July 1996, Mr. Hu served
as the vice chairman of the board of Xi’an International University* ( 78 % 4b
EEPT) . From June 2014 to June 2017, Mr. Hu served as an independent
director of Ginwa Enterprise (Group) Inc.* (£ % () RMHAERD
Al) , a listed company on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600080).
Since July 1997, Mr. Hu has been the dean and chairman of the board of Xi’an
Eurasia University* (78 Z @322 Fx ) . He is currently the vice chairman of
Chinese Association for Non-Government Education* (‘hEERMHEH =)
and the vice chairman of 21st Century Education Research Institute* (21142
HEWRR) .
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Mr. Chan Tung Hoi (BR& ), aged 51, was appointed as an independent
non-exective Director on 26 August 2019. He holds a bachelor’s degree in
Economics from Jinan University. He is currently the chairman of the board of
directors of Soar Industries Limited (B BEEZXERATEER) and the
chairman of the board of directors of BC International Investment Ltd. ( & JI|
BMEREERATEER) . He served in the Yunnan Provincial Committee
of CPPCC(ERM A BB ZE) during 2013 to 2018, served as the Vice
Chairman of the Yunnan Province Youth United Association (Z & & & B
EERIEFE) from 2010 to 2018 as well as the chairman founder of the
Hongkong-Yunnan-Macau-Taiwan Youth Exchange Association (Z8B & & &£
TFRAREEE) in 2010. He is currently the chairman of The Y. Elites Association
(FEBBHRSEIEE), the Vice President of the Yunnan Chinese Overseas
Friendship Association (EREINEEEZ R R ) , a CPPCC of the Yunnan
Province (ZF & Bl ¥ Z ) and the Supervisor of the Association of Hong
Kong Of Macau Members of CPPCC In Yunnan Province Ltd. ( E 75 & B 738
BEZEMEEEER) .

Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter, aged 51, is currently an independent non-executive
director of the Company. Dr. Pang received his master degree in business
administration from University of Western Sydney in 1999. He also obtained
a degree of doctor of philosophy in business administration from Shanghai
University of Finance and Economics in 2010 as well as a postdoctorate from
University of Oxford in 2015. He is a fellowship member of CPA Australia,
and fellowship member of the Financial Services Institute of Australasia, and
a member of the expert committee of the research group in the Institute of
Finance of the Development Research Center of the State Council ( Bl %5 B 2%
BHEFLEHMMAEFIEREZEE), and has been a council member of
the Guangdong Council for Investment and Development (Foshan, Guangdong)
(ERERERERESL (EER f1L)) since 2017, Dr. Pang has over
twenty years of experience in banking, financial and consulting industry and has
served in senior management positions in various renowned financial institutions.
From 1993 to 1998, he was the head of the settlement department of Dresdner
Bank (Hong Kong). From 1998 to 2003, he worked in Northeast Asia region
of the Standard Chartered Bank. From 2003 to 2005, he served as the senior
manager in BearingPoint Management Consulting (formerly KPMG Management
Consulting) (Beijing). He was the head of operation design and development
of Dah Sing Financial Group (Hong Kong) from 2005 to 2006. From 2006 to
2014, he served as the partner of global financial market in China in Deloitte
Management Consulting (Beijing). He then served as leading partner of financial
business in China for Roland Berger Strategic Consulting (Beijing) from 2014
to 2016. He was the external senior advisor to Zhangjiakou Financial Holding
Group (Zhangjiakou, Beijing) from 2016 to 2018, and he was an independent
director at Metropolitan Bank (China) from 2017 to 2018, and now be re-invited
by the bank from Aug 2020 and to be chairing their Related Party Transactions
Control Committee. During late 2018, he was also the general manager headed
the group risk projects and governance management department of Citic Bank
(International). He was the Partner, Head of Financial Service Practice in China
and Beijing Office Head of YCP Solidiance Strategy and Management Consultant
from October 2019 to June 2020. He is the founder and currently the director of
Liquid Gold Development Strategy Co., Ltd. (BB R EMK AR L T) .
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Liu Libin, aged 51, joined the Group as secretary of the party committee
in January 2018. He has over 20 years of experience in management in the
education industry.

Prior to joining the Group, from March 2014 to December 2017, Mr. Liu served
as deputy secretary of the Education Work Committee of Beijing Chaoyang
District Committee of the Committee Party of China. From December 2009
to February 2012, he served as deputy director of Beijing Chaoyang District
Education Committee.

Mr. Liu graduated from Southwest Normal University in June 1992 with a
bachelor’'s degree in mathematics education, and he obtained a master’s degree
in business administration from Hope International University in June 2003.
He received his PhD in education economics and management from Peking
University in January 2017.

Ms. Sun Lu, aged 50, joined the Group as the chief financial officer in April
2019. She has over twenty years of experience in banking, commercial and
financing industry and had served in various senior management positions in a
renowned financial institution.

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Sun worked in Huaxia Bank, being a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange since 2003 (stock code: 600015). She
was the general manager at the trade and financing department head office
from May 2018 to March 2019. From December 2014 to May 2018, she was
the deputy general manager of the international business department head
office, and the general manager and chief representative of the Hong Kong
representative office. From May 2009 to December 2014, she was the director
of the internationalization office and deputy general manager of the development
and research department head office. She was also the chief financial officer
and deputy chief executive officer of the credit card centre head office, and a
member of the management committee from June 2006 to May 2009.

Ms. Sun graduated from Tianjin University of Finance and Economics in June
1993, with a Bachelor Degree in International Finance, and obtained a Master
Degree in Money and Banking from Tianjin University of Finance and Economics
in June 1998.
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Mr. Teng Jingnan, aged 39, joined the Group as the chief investment officer
in August 2018. He has more than 10 years of extensive experience in the
institutions.

Prior to joining the Group, from January 2011 to August 2018, Mr. Teng served
as secretary of the Secretariat of the General Office of the Central Committee of
the China Association for Promoting Democracy. From August 2004 to December
2010, he held his position at the Research Office of the Central Committee of
the China Association for Promoting Democracy.

Mr. Teng graduated from Nanjing Agricultural University in August 2004 with
a bachelor’s degree in international economics and trade. He attended the
Postgraduate Course on the United Front Theory organized by the Central
Institute of Socialism from August 2008 to August 2010. Currently, he is studying
for a master’s degree in agricultural and forestry economics and management at
Nanjing Agricultural University.

Mr. Ji Qizuo, aged 36, joined the Group in April 2007 and was appointed as a
senior vice president of the Company in November 2019.

The following table sets out the main work experience of Mr. Ji:

B NG 3 7%
Period Company Position
200743 Z20155108 EMER B HES BAHNEANR BENR LREZEIER AL

From April 2007 to Yunnan School

October 2015

BEAT
Enchang Company

2015 11BES
Since November 2015

20165983 £20185%7AH ERER
From September 2016 to Central China School
July 2018

B 2R
Guangxi Schools

201858 H 201943 A
From August 2018
to March 2019

2018588 £20195F 108
4 B
From August 2018 to Headquarters of China New

October 2019

201911 B ES
Since November 2019 China New Higher Education

Group Limited

TEFSHEEBRQT

TEFSHEERRIF

BEBEER LZER REZEX -EEPOLEME FE
RLERE -BEER -REPE - -BRE
Successively served as: counselor, deputy head of student service sector,
head of dormitory management office, deputy head of the discipline
inspection office, director of the discipline supervision office, secretary
of the discipline inspection commission, secretary of school’s youth
league committee, director of examination and training center, director
of employment center, director of student department, assistant principal
and vice principal.

EER

Chairman

EER

Chairman

EER

Chairman

B

Vice president

Higher Education Group Limited

SEEE= 1
Senior vice president
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Mr. Ji graduated from the Information Engineering University of the People’s
Liberation Army in December 2007 and obtained a degree in information
technology application and management.

Ms. Liu Fengming ( 2I/E B8) , aged 49, joined the Group in September 2002,
She was was appointed as a vice president of the Company on 19 August 2016
and was appointed as a senior vice president on 4 December 2020.

The following table shows the key working experience of Ms. Liu:

HE A B %
Period Company Position
2002998 £2003F 108 1% 3k BERBAEEE

September 2002 to October 2003

20035108 22005518
October 2003 to January 2005

200551 A E201143 A
January 2005 to March 2011

20115 3A £2015F9A
March 2011 to September 2015

2015598 E20165F7 A
September 2015 to July 2016

2016F7RZES
July 2016 to present

201658 A £2020F 128
August 2016 to December 2020

2020F12A &S
December 2020 to present

Training Station

HEERKR
Zhuan Xiu School

ZHER
Yunnan School

HEER
Zhuan Xiu School

tREa
Beijing Lianhe

EEEE
Yun Ai Group

TENESHEEERAA
China New Higher Education Group Limited

TEHNESHEEERAT
China New Higher Education Group Limited

Teacher and director of
education research office

HEBEERBERE
Director of education department
and vice principal

&Ik &

Associate dean

B &

Dean

B
General manager

sk

BB
Vice president

BREBE
Senior Vice president

B Z L R2000F1N2ABEFEEEAZBERIEGE
HEELTEN RR2017F12RESEREIRESE
BREBETESH LT EM - HR2012EF11BEER
EMECESREERMBEIEZEENES
REBENERK > L R2013F10B BEFEE S REE
BERBRITIEZESHERIREER -

Ms. Liu was awarded a master degree in business administration from Yunnan
University (2R K2 ) | the PRC, in December 2009, and awarded a doctor
degree in in management science and engineering at Kunming University of
Science and Technology ( £BE ¥ T KE) in December 2017. She obtained
the qualification as senior economist from Yunnan Township Enterprise Senior
Professional and Technical Position Evaluation Committee* ( E /g & 4R 8 (b £
SRBEEHMEBBTIEZES) in November 2012 and the qualification
as associate professor from Yunnan Higher Education Institution Professor and
Associate Professor Evaluation Committee* ( E & & R 2 212 &l H#%
FEZESE) in October 2013.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Group is Ms. Wong Wai Ling.

Ms. Wong Wai Ling (E£%) , aged 40, was appointed as a joint company
secretary on 19 August 2016. She has over 10 years of experience in providing
company secretarial services in Hong Kong. Ms. Wong is the vice president of
SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited and is responsible for
assisting listed companies in professional company secretarial work. Prior to
joining SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited, she worked in
a corporate service provider and the company secretarial department of an
international accounting firm. Ms. Wong has been awarded a Bachelor of Arts
degree in Marketing and Public Relations from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University and Master of Corporate Governance degree from The Open University
of Hong Kong. Ms. Wong is an associate of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators in the United Kingdom).
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The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the Reporting Period.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

As at the date of this annual report, the Group (i) operated Yunnan School and
Guizhou School; (i) completed the acquisitions of Central China School, Henan
School, Northeast School and Guangxi Schools; and (iii) invested in higher
education institution in the PRC, namely Gansu College. Analysis of the principal
activities of the Group during the eight months ended 31 August 2020 is set out
in the note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 August 2020 are
set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the eight months ended 31 August 2020 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 137 of this annual report.

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved to make the payment of an interim dividend of
RMB0.042 per Share for the six months ended 30 June 2020. The interim
dividend was declared in Renminbi and paid at HK$0.0471 per Share, and was
paid on 12 October 2020 to the Shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on 17 September 2020.

As interim dividend was declared and paid for the period ended 30 June 2020
which was only two months before the end of the reporting period, the Board
recommends that no dividend be paid for the eight months ended 31 August
2020, and will consider payment of interim dividends for the six months ended
28 February 2021.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Please refer to the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis —
Business Review” of this annual report.
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FUTURE DEVELOPMENT
ORGANIC GROWTH + VALUE INVESTMENT

The Group maintains an “Organic Growth + Value Investment” two-wheel driven
growth strategy to build internal and external growth engines, and continues
to drive high-speed growth. Internally, the Group provides high quality services
with competitive prices. Externally, the Group carries out value investment by
acquiring or self-founding colleges in areas with large growth potential. The
Group will intensify its value investment to promote the implementation of
the “Two-wheel Driven” business strategy in future and thereby achieve the
“inclusive symbiosis with organic growth and value investment”.

CONTINUE TO STRENGTHEN OUR MARKET POSITION
AND ENHANCE OUR REPUTATION.

We believe that the reputation of a school is one of the most important criteria
students would normally consider when selecting a university. To increase our
enrollment and expand our business, we intend to continue to enhance our
market position in the higher education industry in the PRC. We believe that
our high graduate employment rates and comprehensive curriculums with
diversified offerings of practical courses distinguish us from our competitors and
make us attractive to potential applicants. We plan to design new courses and
adjust our existing courses to continue to best reflect evolving market trends
and meet the demands of employers. We intend to continue and expand our
market research to better understand employer preferences and student needs.
Specifically, we plan to collaborate with well-established online recruitment
platforms to conduct data analysis in order to further deepen our understanding
of market demand and employment statistics, and with third-party organizations
to analyze nationwide employment data relating to students in those majors
that we offer. We also plan to obtain relevant data from social security agencies
to understand employer hiring needs and from local government education
departments to understand employment rates of university graduates to gain a
comprehensive and objective understanding of the market demand and supply of
university graduates. In addition, we plan to gather human resources plans from
corporations and career plans from our students, and provide career planning
and job placement counselling services to our students in order to find the most
suitable position for them. We plan to further enhance our reputation among
well-known companies and other potential employers, establish long-term
collaborative relationships with them, and create employment opportunities for
our students.
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We plan to promote the Schools and programs through both online and offline
media. Specifically, we intend to arrange for periodic reports on our major school
activities through media. We plan to continue to promote the Schools online
where appropriate. We believe that these promotional activities may help raise
our profile among the general population and enhance our reputation among
parents and students.

CONTINUE TO ATTRACT, INCENTIVIZE AND RETAIN
TALENTED TEACHERS AND SUPPORT THEIR
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT.

The quality of our education services largely depends on our teachers. We
intend to continue to attract, incentivize and retain talented teachers and build a
first-rate faculty team. To this end, we plan to recruit well-recognized technical
experts, experienced business administrators and other highly skilled persons to
teach in the Schools on either a full time or a part time basis. We will continue
to apply stringent standards in our recruitment of teachers.

FURTHER EXPAND OUR EDUCATIONAL SERVICE
OFFERINGS TO CAPTURE GROWTH OPPORTUNITIES.

We plan to continue to expand and diversify our course offerings in response to
industry trends and market demand, including establishing new major offerings
based on market developments.

CONSTRUCT ADDITIONAL WORKPLACE SIMULATION
TRAINING STUDIOS AND FURTHER IMPROVE THE
SCHOOL FACILITIES.

We believe that we can distinguish ourselves from our competitors by our ability
to offer our students opportunities to develop practical skills and knowledge,
which we believe help them to secure employment upon graduation and succeed
in their careers.

ENHANCE OUR PROFITABILITY BY OPTIMIZING OUR
SOURCES OF REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME.

The tuition fees and boarding fees we charge are a significant factor affecting
our profitability. We believe that we are able to maintain the current tuition
rates and raise the tuition rates charged by the Schools where appropriate as
our brand awareness and market recognition have grown. In addition, we retain
discretion to adjust the tuition rates charged by the Schools, and the Schools are
only required to make a filing with relevant authorities regarding proposed tuition
fee adjustments but are not subject to approval requirements or any pre-set
fee limits. Historically, we have kept our tuition rates at levels we believe are
competitive in order to attract more students and thereby increase our student
enrollment and market share. As we have established a strong reputation for
providing quality education to our students, we believe we are in a position
to optimize our pricing without compromising our reputation and our ability
to attract and retain students. In addition, we plan to diversify our sources of
revenue and other income.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBER AT



TERRRFEERR
AAAETBEARRTITREREREATEE:

(1)

B EBEXBORR m ™
gﬂ%ﬁﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%%

EARTEEALNSSHEREE KMAMERE
BEMEMEREEMTHERZIESR K&
R BERSEENHBEAE-RMRS &K
PR DBAERRRENTEANEERRK
MEMERNEE-

A RAELEOBETRE RANERED
BERIREE - PEERMBRN @A
FEBREFEEGRBZFZT L -WEMAEM
—FFEREZE-SIRSHBERBEAR
RARBNDSHNEE AFEZELERIN
EREFAXUESHRT D RANEL  BER
MEREBEXBAERINERFTALE R
MERBLEFIAREREBERAZE
IR R A BE MRS B MAERE AN Wk
EHEMANER MBERAREEREEL
BEARNEE-

RMWLEHREEEMIRARR
AEDNEER S ERARER
ERERESEERERE-

EMRERKBNEEASTERXRMBAIEE
IHBREERZZ —HE2017F 2018%F -
201912831 B I F & » LK 202058H31H
ENEA EEpFMEMSELEERK
AN EERI91.9% > 91.3% ~ 90.4% LA }293.0% * &
BEMLMFGRMBD AWM BMARBHMAREE
AUEBIHERNEER BT BEEKTH#
BERRSEMERKENEER HTEE
KFE -BEERAELERZR HESEBEK
FoAFERMELESIRESE2ELTEE T
BMEARFBHRMEUEBEEBDNKTERZE
EMHNEBERSIFERBERMER - BEER
REERSIFERBERMER

EETEHRS
REPORT OF DIRECTORS

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties for the Company include the followings:

(1) OUR BUSINESS IS HEAVILY DEPENDENT ON THE
MARKET RECOGNITION OF THE BRAND AND
REPUTATION OF EACH OF THE SCHOOLS.

We are a leading private higher education group in China. We believe that
each of the Schools has gained wide recognition in the region where it is
located and continues to attract students and qualified teaching staff. We
believe that our success is heavily dependent on the market recognition of

the brand and the reputation of each of the Schools.

However, we cannot assure you that our marketing efforts will be
successful or sufficient in further promoting the Schools’ brands or in
helping us to remain competitive. If any of the Schools is unable to further
enhance its reputation and increase market awareness of its programs and
services, or if it is required to incur additional promotional expenses in
order to remain competitive, our business, financial condition and results
of operations may be materially and adversely affected. If the Schools are
unable to maintain or sustain their brand reputation and recognition, they
may also be unable to maintain or increase student enrollment, which may
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and

results of operations.

(2) OUR BUSINESS AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
DEPEND ON THE LEVEL OF TUITION FEES AND
BOARDING FEES WE ARE ABLE TO CHARGE AND
OUR ABILITY TO MAINTAIN AND RAISE TUITION
AND BOARDING FEES.

One of the most significant factors affecting our profitability is the tuition
fees we charge at the Schools. For the years ended 31 December 2017,
2018, 2019 and for the eight months ended 31 August 2020, tuition fees
constituted 91.9%, 91.3%, 90.4% and 93.0% of our total revenue from
continuing operations, respectively, while boarding fees accounted for the
remainder. there can be no assurance that we will be able to maintain or
raise the tuition and/or boarding fee levels we charge at the Schools in
the future at the same levels as historically, or at all, or even if we are
able to maintain or raise tuition fees or boarding fees, we cannot assure
you that we will be able to attract prospective students to apply for the
Schools at such increased fee rates at the same levels as historically, or

at all.
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OUR BUSINESS AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
DEPEND ON THE NUMBER OF STUDENTS WE
MAY ADMIT, WHICH IN TURN IS SUBJECT TO THE
ADMISSION QUOTAS APPROVED BY RELEVANT
EDUCATION AUTHORITIES AND LIMITED BY THE
CAPACITY OF THE SCHOOL FACILITIES.

Each year the education authorities specify a quota for the number of new
students each of the Schools may admit, which is subject to adjustment
by the education authorities. The number of students we may admit at
each of the Schools is therefore subject to the quota set by the local
education authorities on a year by year basis, as adjusted by the education
authorities. The maximum number of new students each of the Schools
may admit each year is therefore beyond our control. To the best of the
Directors’ knowledge, to determine the admission quota to be granted
to each school, the local education authorities take into account factors
including the number of students enrolled and number of applications
received by the school, quality of education, social recognition and
reputation of the school and the overall regional economic and educational
conditions and policies. In addition, the number of students we are able to
admit at each of the Schools is also constrained by the education facilities
and number of beds for students of the Schools, which are limited in
space and size.

ADVERSE CHANGES IN THE PRC ECONOMIC,
POLITICAL AND SOCIAL CONDITIONS AS WELL
AS LAWS AND GOVERNMENT POLICIES, MAY
MATERIALLY AND ADVERSELY AFFECT OUR
BUSINESS, FINANCIAL CONDITION, RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS AND GROWTH PROSPECTS.

The economic, political and social conditions in the PRC differ from
those in more developed countries in many respects, including structure,
government involvement, level of development, growth rate, control of
foreign exchange, capital reinvestment, allocation of resources, rate of
inflation and trade balance position. Before the adoption of its reform and
opening up policies in 1978, the PRC was primarily a planned economy.

In recent years, the PRC government has been reforming the PRC
economic system and government structure. For example, the PRC
government has implemented economic reform and measures emphasizing
the utilization of market forces in the development of the PRC economy
in the past four decades. These reforms have resulted in significant
economic growth and social prospects. Economic reform measures,
however, may be adjusted, modified or applied inconsistently from industry
to industry or across different regions of the country.
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We cannot predict whether the resulting changes will have any adverse
effect on our current or future business, financial condition or results
of operations. Despite these economic reforms and measures, the PRC
government continues to play a significant role in regulating industrial
development, allocation of natural and other resources, production, pricing
and management of currency, and there can be no assurance that the
PRC government will continue to pursue a policy of economic reform or
that the direction of reform will continue to be market friendly.

RECENT DEVELOPMENT TO LEGAL FRAMEWORK

For details, please refer to section headed “Recent Developments of
Regulatory Framework” in Management Discussion and Analysis of this
annual report.

ENVIRONMENT, HEALTH AND SAFETY

The business of the Group is not in violation of the applicable PRC Environmental
laws and regulations in any material aspects.

The Group is dedicated to protecting the health and safety of the students. The
Group has on-site medical staff or health care personnel at each of the schools
the Group operates to handle routine medical situations involving students. In
certain serious and emergency medical situations, the Group promptly sends the
students to local hospitals for treatment. With respect to school safety, the Group
engaged a qualified property management company to provide property security
services at the Group’s school premises.

As far as the Board and management of the Company are aware, the Group has
complied in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group. During the
Reporting Period, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s results, assets and liabilities for the last four financial
years are set out on pages 244 to 245 “Financial Summary” of this annual
report. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
MAJOR CUSTOMERS

For the eight months ended 31 August 2020, the Group’s customers primarily
consist of the Group’s students. For the eight months ended 31 August 2020,
the Group’s five largest customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s
revenue and the Group did not have any single customer who accounted for
more than 5% of the Group’s revenue.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS

For the eight months ended 31 August 2020, the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for 44.5% of the Group’s total purchases and the Group’s single
largest supplier accounted for 23.1% of the Group’s total purchases.

As at the date of this annual report, none of the Directors or any of their close
associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the Company) had any
interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship with
its employees, suppliers and customers to meet its immediate and long-term
goals. The Group maintains a good relationship with employees, suppliers and
customers. During the Reporting Period, there was no material and significant
dispute between the Group and its employees, suppliers and/or customers.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during
the Reporting Period are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 141 to 142 of this annual report and note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 August 2020, the Company’s reserve available for distribution was
RMB96,000 (as at 31 December 2019: RMB49,546,000).

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 August
2020 are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company as at the date of this annual report are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. Zhao Shuai
Ms. Shen Chunmei (appointed on 27 August 2020)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson
Mr. Hu Jianbo

Mr. Chan Tung Hoi

Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter

In accordance with article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, one-third of the
Directors shall retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting
and shall then be eligible for re-election. Accordingly, Mr. Li Xiaoxuan and
Mr. Hu Jianbo shall retire by rotation, and being eligible, have offered themselves
for re-election at the proposed annual general meeting (the “AGM”").

In accordance with article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, Ms. Shen Chunmei
shall hold office until the AGM of the Company and, being eligible, will offer
herself for re-election.

Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the AGM will be set out in the circular
to the Shareholders.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Company are
set out on pages 51 to 58 of this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the independent non-executive
Directors and the Company considers such Directors to be independent since
their appointment and remain so as of the date of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transaction” and otherwise disclosed in this annual report, no Director or
its connected entity (within the meaning of section 486 of the Companies
Ordinance) had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to the business of the Group to which
the Company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during
the Reporting Period.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transaction” in this annual report, none of the Controlling Shareholder or any
of its connected entity (within the meaning of section 486 of the Companies
Ordinance) had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to the business of the Group to which
the Company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during
the Reporting Period.

No contract of significance for the provision of services to the Company or any
of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries by the Controlling Shareholder of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was entered into during the Reporting Period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the Reporting Period.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

A remuneration committee was set up for reviewing the Group’s emolument
policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior management
of the Group, having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual
performance of the Directors and senior management and comparable market
practices.

The Directors and senior management may also receive options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme. For further details of the Share Option Scheme,
please refer to page V-33 of the Prospectus “Share Option Scheme”.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, and five highest paid individuals
during the Reporting Period are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the consolidated

financial statements.

None of the Directors waived any emoluments during the Reporting Period.
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RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme of the Company are set
out in note 3 and 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 August 2020, the interests and short positions of the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which have been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions
of the SFQ), or which were recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules

were as follows:

) AREQATNEFE: () LONG POSITION IN THE COMPANY:

RS RNNEY ¢

B

H®E 56 kg R#HEE BAL

Approximate

percentage of

Capacity/Nature of shareholding in

Name interest Number of Shares the Company

ke U SEHEIEEEREZEREA 751,465,225 48.76%
Mr. Li™ Interest in a controlled corporation

and Beneficial Owner 751,465,225 48.76%

HE R ERZBEEA 1,087,500 0.07%

Zhao Shuai® Beneficial owner 1,087,500 0.07%

BEEC ERBEEA 224,000 0.01%

Kwong Wai Sun Wilson® Beneficial owner 224,000 0.01%

k= BEREEA 210,100 0.01%

Hu Jianbo® Beneficial owner 210,100 0.01%

PR &80 BEREEA 169,200 0.01%

Chan Tung Hoi® Beneficial owner 169,200 0.01%

Ea 3 BEREEA 169,200 0.01%

Pang Tsz Kit Peter® Beneficial owner 169,200 0.01%

RERO ERERA 350,000 0.02%

Shen Chunmei® Beneficial owner 350,000 0.02%
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Mgk

Z= 5t 4 2 Aspire Education ManagementHy M — R 3R -
1Lt 18 4% 1R £ ¥ & Aspire Education Managementffr 5 ig 2
B9 HE 25 o 2= %5 4 33 8 Aspire Education Technology 61.48%
B 15 B Bk 1% ¥ 18 & % 8 Aspire Education Technology it
¥ 1% 19 W9 RE 25 o 2= 55 4 355 Aspire Education Consulting
79.19% M 17 - B It %% %% 1R % ¥ B Aspire Education
Consultingfr R AW EZE T EEWRBITHED B
M2018F9A3H ~2019F 108218 &2020FE7 8238
£ F E#9709,3001% ~ 122,9001% }.620,30010 B8 IR
T B [E H B 1T #91,452, 500 IR0 A A o

A EEWR BITHED B R20185F108268 2019
F4H81H 2019%F108218 K2020F7A23B BT &
#9680,50015 ~ 14,4005 ~ 72,7001 K% 148,90047 B B%
FEB TR m H 24T H91,016,500 R R B EZ -

BEEEEHRBITHED BINR2018F108268 »
20194818 ~2019%F 10821 H k20207230 &%
F H #9114,4001% ~ 57,20012 ~ 12,1003 % 40,3001% &
PREER TT RS0 H 3 1T AV224, 000R IR0 M E A RE 2 o

BB EEBITBITED B HR2018F10826H
20194818 ~2019F10821H k20207230 %
F H #9114,40012 ~ 57,2007 ~ 8,70017 % 29,8007 i B%
FEB AR HEITH210,100RRD P AR -

REBEEWRBTHED BIMN2019F108218 K
202057 B 238 2 F H #9135,6001) & 33,6001 B8 AR #&
BATRE A H 31T RY169,2008 R 3 R B RS o

TIHEERBATES BIR2019F108218 &
202057 B 238 £ T H #9135,60010 33,60017 &5 IR £
BT R H 3 THY169,200 R IR R EE B fERS ©

BHEBZTHEBABITENR2020F7A2BRFEN
350,00017 i A% #E & 1] B 18 H 2% 17 #9350,0008% A% 12
FEERER -

Note:

(1)

Mr. Li is the sole shareholder of Aspire Education Management and he is therefore deemed to
be interested in the Shares held by Aspire Education Management. Mr. Li holds 61.48% shares
in Aspire Education Technology and he is therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held
by Aspire Education Technology. Mr. Li holds 79.19% shares in Aspire Education Consulting
and he is therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Aspire Education Consulting.
Mr. Li is deemed to be interested in 1,452,500 Shares which may be issued to him upon
exercise of the 709,300, 122,900 and 620,300 share options granted to him on 3 September
2018, 21 October 2019 and 23 July 2020 respectively.

Mr. Zhao Shuai is deemed to be interested in 1,016,500 Shares which may be issued to him
upon exercise of the 680,500, 114,400, 72,700 and 148,900 share options granted to him on
26 October 2018, 1 April 2019, 21 October 2019 and 23 July 2020, respectively.

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson is deemed to be interested in 224,000 Shares which may be issued
to him upon exercise of the 114,400, 57,200,12,100 and 40,300 share options granted to him
on 26 October 2018, 1 April 2019, 21 October 2019 and 23 July 2020, respectively.

Mr. Hu Jianbo is deemed to be interested in 210,100 Shares which may be issued to him
upon exercise of the 114,400, 57,200, 8,700 and 29,800 share options granted to him on
26 October 2018, 1 April 2019, 21 October 2019 and 23 July 2020 respectively.

Mr. Chan Tung Hoi is deemed to be interested in 169,200 Shares which may be issued to him
upon exercise of the 135,600 and 33,600 share options granted to him on 21 October 2019
and 23 July 2020, respectively .

Mr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter is deemed to be interested in 169,200 Shares which may be issued to
him upon exercise of the 135,600 and 33,600 share options granted to him on 21 October
2019 and 23 July 2020, respectively.

Ms. Shen Chunmei is deemed to be interested in 350,000 Shares which may be issued to her
upon exercise of the 350,000 share options granted to her on 23 July 2020.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBER AT
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(I) LONG POSITION IN ASSOCIATED CORPORATION:

EEKH Yun Ai Group
iR S NN
o B A B RE B4
% & B EEMHE WEE Aokt
Approximate
Amount of percentage of
Capacity/ registered share shareholding
Name Nature of interest capital in the Company
TREN TEAEEER AR® T 70.8305%
24,720,523
Mr. Li Interest in a controlled corporation RMB 70.8305%
24,720,523
MEET - Note 1:

BREREEZ (HERE ABEE - BERE
REXAEREEZIENEEZE@NRE A58
55.3041% ; RN EBAEREREREESEED
X (AREE) [LEAE)REEEEEMEF
MEX BHEREEEEI5526%NWRIEEETFS

BfEE

BT EE I 2020831 MEBET
ARPABRBTHRAERAQ T EEMBE LE
(EERBERPEGHEXVI) WRHD - HEIR
HREEZD BENERABRERERSZRBEE
RBIEXVIBETR BB ANERQARE R
HEZIAS (BEREZSRBEKRIERAEK
NEEREREEENEZERALR) HEELTR
BREERESRHEKRAESETRENZTHA
HEZEAR NRBEELESAUBINE AR RE
R ERRAE -

ESREROEERNER

BRAFHEMBIAREEN REEHE[ £ 2
ARAEEAMBARBRET LEANRE SEST
BBRWBAARAREMNAMEXERZROUE
BEIESANZ ESEESRHEETMEBRNICHE
UT 22 EREARBRDAREAHEMEZE
BRCESNES BN TEEMEEETR -

Pursuant to the Equity Transfers, (i) each of the Chengxin Investment, Daai Partnership,
Huihuang Investment and Mr. Li transferred their equity interest in Yun Ai Group, totaling
approximately 55.3041%; and (ii) Shanghai Taifu Xiangyi Equity Investment Fund Limited
Partnership (“Shanghai Taifu”) transferred 15.5265% of its equity interest in Yun Ai Group, to

Songming Dexue with reference to the registered capital of Yun Ai Group contributed.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 August 2020, none of the Directors or the
chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any interest or
short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company
or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFQ) that
was required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the
SF0), or required to be recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock

Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the Reporting
Period was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, and none
of the Directors or any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 were
granted any right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the Company
or any other body corporate or had exercised any such right.
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TERRABOREEBRGNESR
-}

202058 B3R REBRA  BRALQFAR
BRESRBEMRGFEBRREFELMATE
UITAT (EFESEIARARSTRAB)RR
DREBER G P EERERE SR E R EXVE
F2RBIDHMXABOARARENERZRAR

LR L LR

I

S

() W&
= &

S

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 August 2020, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the following
persons (other than being a Director or chief executive of the Company) had
interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFQ as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to section 336 of the SFO:

(I) INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN OUR
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY:

RAEQXTNEFR Long position in the Company
AL
% RE #8149
wESEB B My BHOHEE Aot
Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in
Name Capacity/Nature of interest Number of Shares the Company
Aspire Education Management @ EEBA 518,852,625 33.67%
Aspire Education Management @ Beneficial owner 518,852,625 33.67%
Aspire Education Technology @ EEBA 175,160,100 11.37%
Aspire Education Technology @ Beneficial owner 175,160,100 11.37%
THEEN SZESEEERR 751,465,225 48.76%
ERERA
Mr. Li @ Interest in a controlled corporation 751,465,225 48.76%
and Beneficial owner
LR E RRGZIERER 90,877,017 5.90%
FEGEEES
UBS Group AG Security interest in Shares/Interest 90,877,017 5.90%

in a controlled corporation

Bt :

(1) Z=5 4% ZAspire Education Managementfy M
— B3R o A MR & % F Aspire Education
ManagementPfr 35 B% 12 Y RE 22 ©

Z= 4 4 $3 /5 Aspire Education Technology#961.48%
B% 3 0 B Lt 1% #5817 A& ¥ B Aspire Education
Technology T 35 B 17 B9 4 2% o

Z 5t 4 45 8 Aspire Education Consulting#979.19%

B 0 E M4 318 B % B Aspire Education
Consulting T 13 B2 17 19 fE 25 ©

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED

Notes:

(1) Mr. Li is the sole shareholder of Aspire Education Management and he is therefore
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Aspire Education Management.

Mr. Li holds 61.48% shares in Aspire Education Technology and he is therefore deemed
to be interested in the Shares held by Aspire Education Technology.

Mr. Li holds 79.19% shares in Aspire Education Consulting and he is therefore deemed
to be interested in the Shares held by Aspire Education Consulting.

TEHSHEEERATF
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(1) LONG POSITION IN ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS:

REEEENETRE Long position in Yun Ai Group
EBEES
o B A SERRE
maE/ EB B EEMHE W& BB
Approximate
percentage of
Amount of shareholding
Name Capacity/Nature of interest registered capital in Yun Ai Group
SHERO BERERA ARY 70.8305%
24,720,5237T
Songming Dexue Beneficial owner RMB24.720523 70.8305%
million
B ERBEEA AR 20.0568%
7,000,0007T
Pai Dui Pai Beneficial owner RMB7 million 20.0568%
Hat - Note:
(1) RIEREEE (i)%ﬁi%’?ﬁiﬁ CAEEE -EBE (1) Pursuant to the Equity Transfers, (i) each of the Chengxin Investment, Daai Partnership,

RERFAEEHERENESEENRE
MBI H955.3041% s RV EBAESRBESE
EFfEEMER BEREE £ ME155265%
MR EEET S HEE.

Huihuang Investment and Mr. Li transferred their equity interest in Yun Ai Group,
totaling approximately 55.3041%; and (ii) Shanghai Taifu transferred 15.5265% of its
equity interest in Yun Ai Group, to Songming Dexue with reference to the registered
capital of Yun Ai Group contributed.

RERHATANER Long position in Haxuan Company
SR e
= it B AR AR RAE
wmEEB B EEME W& BRBESE
Approximate
percentage of
Amount of shareholding in
Name Capacity/Nature of interest registered capital Haxuan Company
BENT BEREEA AR 26.09%
31,308,0007T
Ningde Company Beneficial owner RMB31.308 26.09%
million

B E TR B E I 202058 A31H  EE I A 40
EFERMAL (EHFESHAQ2ARBTHAER)
REAIAAFHEROGTHEEREESRHE
RBIEXVER 2R FEID D BAFIHBENERS AR
RIBEE SR EEG F336K BB T REZIKATE
HETSMANERS AR -

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 August 2020, the Directors were not aware of
any persons (who were not Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had
an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein.
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BT S

AT ER2017FE38208 (THRMBH D RMBR
BB EERAERALTRERKAQITEEEA
BRENKS WHBFSEABERYEAEERED
WER R/ IR ESBENERA TER LR
SIRBERUEMA RN B ELEFTEEREERNE
B EERIRIMSNBEER SHEEEEANR
REERREAEBNESE ERIAXDZEERKA
THEEER BHIRTHRAE(EZETX)M
S AEAEERSI RBRELHLEEREBTEN
AR SR BESBENTEGTER-

RERATBREQAEEEARELRANETEY
TES - £B FEETHR -EE EEREUBM
WEMES (TTTHRAR] EFAREREAE -EF
ERIARBES AHATLIEEETAXE QAR
EE2BIRBIENAL (TEED s )AEEE
ARELARANESHREES (BEEBYFATE
) OFREBEARELCANEEIBEERRE ()
AAEEEARELRAHEERIMBHHERS
AKEEMKEQARANEF BB XBHaE
B omEE AR REINR (BAKEE
ARERAREERT AR - FABRIAEMERE
Uz BH BXHIEHMBRBENEAREE (0
EX@EOBRMAEEMALIHNBHEEA RNHEATS
HEANRXBEEMESSEETESC2EBRE
SEMALT (ERATRIEERALD)

HATEREBEREFERAEREMHE M B
FRENFEEREMITEZRTHNESRAOEE
ERHFAEEBEELTHBNES EITRMI0% (B
143,110,000 B 12 T B & E 24 A 7 AriX & 8 58 Bt
BREETEMITEEFRITHNRNG) HERFERAE
HIE BT 9 #9.29% °

BMEQEM-SATREBRE REFTENME
AR2EAMEARTRERTEATHNBERERMR
TRETRITINROLBEBAQNTATKHE#RIT
BRAI% i@ LMEERATERBRE 8
RETHEBEEZERBREER (BEZA) L12(8
AERTRERTZAERALHNMERBRE (&2
BETE CEHERERTENBRE) M RT
EETFRTIHNROAEHABBERTRONI% &
EBEREACRRERRAS LETHE MZE
ERMALTRHEHEZBREA(NSERALTRABFE
AL RIEBBA)ARERR-

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme on 20 March 2017
(“Adoption Date”) for the purpose of giving the eligible persons an opportunity
to have a personal stake in the Company and help motivate them to optimize
their future contributions to the Group and/or to reward them for their past
contributions, to attract and retain or otherwise maintain on-going relationships
with such eligible persons who are significant to and/or whose contributions are
or will be beneficial to the performance, growth or success of the Group, and
additionally in the case of executives (as defined below), to enable the Group to
attract and retain individuals with experience and ability and/or to reward them
for their past contributions.

Eligible persons include (a) any executive director of, manager of, or other
employee holding an executive, managerial, supervisory or similar position in
any member of the Group (“Executive”), any proposed employee, any full-time or
part-time employee, or a person for the time being seconded to work full-time or
part-time for any member of the Group (“Employee”); (b) a director or proposed
director (including an independent non-executive director) of any member of
the Group; (c) a direct or indirect shareholder of any member of the Group; (d)
a supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group; (e) a customer,
consultant, business or joint venture partner, franchisee, contractor, agent or
representative of any member of the Group; (f) a person or entity that provides
design, research, development or other support or any advisory, consultancy,
professional or other services to any member of the Group; (g) an associate of
any of the persons referred to in paragraphs (a) to (f) above; and (h) any person
involved in the business affairs of the Company whom our Board determines to
be appropriate to participate in the Share Option Scheme (the person referred
above are the “Eligible Persons”).

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes
of the Group shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at
the Listing Date, which is 143,110,000 Shares excluding Shares which may
fall to be issued upon the exercise of the over-allotment option granted by the
Company, representing approximately 9.29% of the issued shares as at the date
of this annual report.

No option may be granted to any one person such that the total number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of options granted and to be
granted to that person in any 12-month period exceeds 1% of the Company’s
issued share capital from time to time. Where any further grant of options to
such an Eligible Person would result in the Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options granted and to be granted to such eligible person
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such further grant representing in aggregate
over 1% of the Shares in issue, such further grant shall be separately approved
by the Shareholders in general meeting with such eligible person and his close
associates (or his associates if such eligible person is a connected person)
abstaining from voting.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBER AT



EZeERERMAEBETIFABRAEOHES
SUERENBEEENEASERALIRERNE
R LRABERBESS REBEBRES K
FEENBENRD (ERXBHORDAREBHX
FEERON - FHAUAELTEFHBEN) -

REESSVEETNEEGRARKE (BEER
BRENSEE TEIHMBRNOERRMESE)
REREBETETEANLBESBERENZEN
R-MERETETEANRRATBEREREME

mER

BERATTRENEHNEABRRNEARLE
RENEN ETTEBRESIAERHERRE
MBRLBRE-ZLOANREHEAIERATAEMNE
REZEN 2R DTFEREYAHPRBANBHER
ZHEEARRAEXSEENENENEREE
HWHBRORAEIAR  BRIUAQATHUWHRABTO0
BLER (EAREBRENNKE) N MBRE
REFCERHAKSERATEMNL ER-

FABEERENIBEEARESENREAH
BRER (RARRFABREBREZINRM4H)
PREPFEE HRBEFIEERUAT=ZEFNR
BE (QROEE ORENBHEBRFAEAE
ERENBROWTE ROBEEWN A HAGEE
XA (ERR LR RORBEXMERAKER
HFIIRHE -

BREFTASEEANDERG ZAETI0FRNE
BMREY HETBRENEZBRE EBERE
BN EMAEHATEEBEBRAEROIRE
Mo EE AR T E B RITENZIMBERES
A MREN LA EBRETERRT RRZATE
TE-BRESE 2T FHBR2027F3A19R
[Eim - RAFHRAPEANAETHEAR -

AIREHE A D 3 % AE15,545,32019 14 R 1T FE BB
BRE(CERZREENRTE) HERCBHITROZ
1.009% °

B E2020F8A3HBIENEREBE AAAKXREZ
FEEREz2LAFEA ARKYG,933,000T B1F
PHARFESREE(FTEEEERESTHRA
E)VERECEBEAREIIAIOTRARYE
4,941,591 7T ©
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The Board shall be entitled at any time within 10 years from the Adoption Date
to offer the grant of an option to any eligible person as the Board may in its
absolute discretion select to subscribe at the subscription price for such number
of Shares as the Board may (subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme)
determine (provided the same shall be a board lot for dealing in the Shares on
the Stock Exchange or an integral multiple thereof).

Subject to such terms and conditions as the Board may determine (including
such terms and conditions in relation to their vesting, exercise or otherwise),
there is no minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be
exercised and no performance target which need to be achieved by the grantee
before the Option can be exercised.

An offer of the grant of an option shall remain open for acceptance by the
eligible person concerned for a period of 28 days from the offer date provided
that no such grant of an option may be accepted after the expiry of the effective
period of the Share Option Scheme. An option shall be deemed to have been
granted and accepted by the eligible person and to have taken effect when the
duplicate offer letter comprising acceptance of the offer of the option duly signed
by the grantee together with a remittance in favor of the Company of HK$1.00
by way of consideration for the grant thereof is received by the Company on
or before the date upon which an offer of an option must be accepted by the
relevant eligible person, being a date no later than 28 days after the offer date.

The subscription price in respect of any particular option shall be such price
as the Board may in its absolute discretion determine at the time of grant of
the relevant option (and shall be stated in the letter containing the offer of the
grant of the option) but the subscription price shall not be less than whichever
is the highest of: (a) the nominal value of a Share; (b) the closing price of a
Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer date;
and (c) the average closing price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the 5 business days (as defined in the Listing Rules)
immediately preceding the offer date.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years
from the date on which it becomes unconditional, after which no further options
will be granted or offered but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall
remain in force and effect in all other respects. All options granted prior to such
expiry and not then exercised shall continue to be valid and exercisable subject
to and in accordance with the Share Option Scheme. The remaining life of the
share option scheme, which will expire on 19 March 2027, is approximately 6
years and four months from the date of this annual report.

During the Reporting Period, the Company had 15,545,320 outstanding share
options (granted but not yet exercised), representing 1.009%% of the issued
shares.

The fair value of all the share options granted by the Company during the
eight months ended 31 August 2020 was RMB6,933,000, comprising of
RMB1,991,409 and RMB4,941,591, being the value of the share options granted
to the Directors and employees (excluding directors and chief executives)
respectively.
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B E20205F8831BIENE B AR - R IEHE IS Details of the movement of share options granted under the Share Option

EREMNERESEBFBOT Scheme for the eight months ended 31 August 2020 are as follows:
SRR #2020% R2020F
BROKE BHAKTE 1A1R THH 8A31R
SRALER R A8 (Br) (Bx) HMATE  KEEEE AHEETE  HH/AX B RITE
Closing price
immediately Granted Exercised
Exercise price  before the date  Outstanding at during the during the  Canceled/Lapsed  Outstanding at
Category of participants Date of grant” per share (HK§) ~ of grant (HKS) 1 January 2020 Period Period  during the Period 31 August 2020
Bz
Directors
=40 201859A3A 5.9 543 709,300 - - - 709,300
Li Xiaoxuan 3 September 2018
2019810821H N N 122,900 - - - 122,900

21 October 2019

2020578238 5.33 5.33 = 620,300 = S 620,300
23 July 2020
iRl 2018510826 A 4,202 3.950 680,500 S = S 680,500
Zhao Shuai 26 October 2018
201954518 3.64 3,64 114,400 S = S 114,400
1 April 2019
201910A21R 311 3.11 72,700 S = S 72,700

21 October 2019

2020578238 5.33 5.33 = 148,900 = S 148,900
23 July 2020
BES 202078238 533 5.33 = 350,000 = S 350,000
Shen Chunmei 23 July 2020
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SER 2020 2020
BROEE BHAKTE 1B1H rHE 8A31H
SHEATER R A (Bx) (B7x) MATE  KEEEE AHEEGE  HH/&X R
Closing price
immediately Granted Exercised
Exercise price  before the date  Outstanding at during the during the  Canceled/Lapsed  Outstanding at
Category of participants Date of grant” per share (HK§) ~ of grant (HKS) 1 January 2020 Period Period  during the Period 31 August 2020
BER 2018510826 B 4.202 3.950 114,400 - - - 114,400
Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 26 October 2018
20194810 3.64 3.64 57,200 - - - 57,200
1 April 2019
2019F10A21H 3N 3N 12,100 - S S 12,100
21 October 2019
2020F78238 533 533 - 40,300 - - 40,300
23 July 2020
HEK 2018510826 B 4.202 3.950 114,400 - - - 114,400
Hu Jian Bo 26 October 2018
2019F481H 3.64 3.64 57,200 - - - 57,200
1 April 2019
2019%10821A 31 3N 8,700 - - - 8,700
21 October 2019
2020F78238 533 533 - 29,800 - - 29,800
23 July 2020
AR 2019108218 311 311 135,600 - - - 135,600
Pang Tsz Kit Peter 21 October 2019
2020E7R 238 533 533 - 33,600 - - 33,600
23 July 2020
R&E 2019F10A21H 31 3N 135,600 - - - 135,600
Chan Tung Hoi 21 October 2019
2020E7R 238 533 533 - 33,600 - - 33,600
23 July 2020
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SERH 2020 2020
BRITEE BHEAUTE 1B1H THH 8A31H
SHEATER R A () (B7x) MATE  KEEEE AHEEGE  HH/&X R
Closing price
immediately Granted Exercised
Exercise price  before the date  Outstanding at during the during the  Canceled/Lapsed  Outstanding at
Category of participants Date of grant” per share (HK§) ~ of grant (HKS) 1 January 2020 Period Period  during the Period 31 August 2020
TH 2018F10A26H 4.202 3.950 240,250 S S S 240,250
*Ding Yu 26 October 2018
"EXR 201810826 4.202 3.950 57,200 - - - 57,200
“*Wong Man Chung Francis 26 October 2018
k&
Employee
EE 20185107 26A 4.202 3.950 5,202,400 - 59,680 1,017,700 4,125,020
Employee 26 October 2018
2018F11A28 4320 4320 87,700 - - 54,200 33,500
2 November 2018
2019F481H 3.64 3.64 2,860,000 - 15,750 463,500 2,380,750
1 April 2019
2019F10A21H 3N 3N 2,285,600 S S 241,400 2,044,200
21 October 2019
2020F78238 533 533 - 3,110,700 - 37,800 3,072,900
23 July 2020
BgTotal 13,068,150 4,367,200 75,430 1,814,600 15,545,320

* 201954830 BT E S
* JA2019F12H6HEBRMIES

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBER AT

* Ceased to be a director on 30 April 2019

> Ceased to be a director on 6 December 2019
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Notes:
FR2018FOAEBFEHENBEREMS ZEBERE () For share options granted on 3 September 2018, all of them are with the same exercise period
HEEBHETHER BEEERB HBHEZE2023F98 commencing from the relevant vesting date and ending on 2 September 2023:
2B 1E:
BIREZ
BREFS
Percentage of
HEAMH the share options
Vesting date to be vested
2019 9A3H 50%
3 September 2019
202098 3H 30%
3 September 2020
2021 9A3H 20%
3 September 2021
FR2018F10A260B REMNBEREMS ZEBR For share options granted on 26 October 2018, the exercise period commencing from the
EEEHEBRAPEEARAPZITESR JROT relevant vesting date and ending are shown as follows:
719,692,100/ BB IR #E & = - 52,_726,3001535\%)35% (8 Among the 19,692,100 share options, 5,726,300 share options (including 343,200 share
E’T‘Efiﬂﬁﬂl 234?:,200@555&7% S %NEEZKMAOOQ options granted to Zhao Shuai, 114,400 share options granted to Kwong Wai Sun Wilson,
BB B #E ~ SRR 2 114,40010 B8 IR A& - T H)*2480,500 114,400 share options granted to Hu Jianbo, 480,500 share options granted to Ding Yu* and
MEREREXR 21144000 BRE)BZUT 114,400 share options granted to Wong Man Chung Francis**) shall be subject to a vesting
B PR IR period as followings:
BFHEBE2
BREGS L
Percentage of
HEAH #RAH Share Options
Vesting Date Ending Date to be vested
201953818 2023%10H25H 50%
1 March 2019 25 October 2023 50%
2020538108 2023F10H25H 30%
1 March 2020 25 October 2023 30%
202153818 2023108250 20%
1 March 2021 25 October 2023 20%
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719,692,10017 BE IR #EE # » 1,319,100 BB R & (&
FER FH#EAD 213730010 BB IR R T B+ 222,90017 B8
IR R BRI 2114400 BE IR #E) BZ LA T 55 8 &

Among the 19,692,100 share options, 1,319,100 share options (including 137,300 share
options granted to Zhao Shuai and 22,900 share options granted to Ding Yu* and 114,400
share options granted to Chen Shuo**) shall be subject to a vesting period as followings:

80

PR BR -
KBFEEZ
BREBASLL
Percentage of
HEAWH “RAH Share Options
Vesting Date Ending Date to be vested
2019%F9A3H 2023%F10H25H 50%
3 September 2019 25 October 2023
2020F9A3H 2023%F10H25H 30%
3 September 2020 25 October 2023
20214 9A3H 2023%F10H25H 20%

3 September 2021

7419,692,10017 B8 BR # & = » 600,00010 B BR #& (B2 35
R F AN 2200,000 B IRE) BZUTREH R

25 October 2023

granted to Zhao Shuai) shall be subject to a vesting period as follows:

R :
BFEEZ
BREBASLL
Percentage of
HEAMH “RAH share options
Vesting date Ending date to be vested
2019%F9A3H 2023%F10A25H 20%
3 September 2019 25 October 2023
2020F9A3H 2023%F10H25H 20%
3 September 2020 25 October 2023
2021%9A3H 2023%F10H25H 20%
3 September 2021 25 October 2023
20229F9A3H 2023%F10H25A 20%
3 September 2022 25 October 2023
2023F6A3H 2023%10H25A 20%
3 June 2023 25 October 2023

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBER AT
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719,692,100/ BB IR #E & 1 » 12,000,00010 BB PR & Among the 19,692,100 share options, 12,000,000 share options shall be subject to a vesting
ZLUTHRBERR (LB BRESEERN) : period as follows (Such part of the share option has lapsed):
BFHEEZ
BRETS L
Percentage of
HEAWH #RAH Share Options
Vesting date Ending date to be vested
2019%F9H11 R 2023108258 20%

11 September 2019

2020F9811H
11 September 2020

20214 9A11H
11 September 2021

20224F9A11H
11 September 2022

2023F6H11H
11 June 2023

FIeR46, 700D BIREAZUT HBBAMBRR

25 October 2023

2023F10H25H
25 October 2023

2023108250
25 October 2023

2023%F10H25H
25 October 2023

2023%F10H25H
25 October 2023

20%

20%

20%

20%

The remaining 46,700 share options shall be subject to a vesting period as follows:

KTFHEEZ
BRERS

Percentage of

HEAW #RBH Share Options
Vesting date Ending date to be vested
20195108268 2023%10H25H 50%

26 October 2019

20206108268
26 October 2020

20218108268
26 October 2021

25 October 2023

2023%10H25H
25 October 2023

2023%10H25H
25 October 2023

FR2018F1TAHBRENEREMS ZEBREHVEE ()

METES BEESEEAHEE2023F11A18 1L

30%

20%

For share options granted on 2 November 2018, all of them are with the same exercise period
commencing from the relevant vesting date and ending on 1 November 2023:

FEAS
Vesting date

BFEEZ
BREBTSLL
Percentage of

the share options

to be vested

2019611828
2 November 2019

2020%11 8208
2 November 2020

202111828
2 November 2021

50%

30%

20%
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(4) FR2019F4B1ERENBREMS ZEBEREHBEE (¢

For share options granted on 1 April 2019, all of them are with the same exercise period

METES BEESEE AL E2024F3A310 1L commencing from the relevant vesting date and ending on 31 March 2024
BTEEZ
EBRERSL
Percentage of
KEAH the share options
Vesting date to be vested
202054818 50%
1 April 2020
20214810 30%
1 April 2021
2022% 4818 20%
1 April 2022
(5) FA019F 102V HBRENBEREMS ZEBREHE (6 For share options granted on 21 October 2019, all of them are with the same exercise period
EHRRBTESR BEEREERPEE20245F108208 Lk commencing from the relevant vesting date and ending on 20 October 2024:
BIREZ
BRETS L
Percentage of
HEAMN the share options
Vesting date to be vested
2020108218 30%
21 October 2020
20215108218 30%
21 October 2021
20225108218 40%

21 October 2022

(6) BMR2020F7A23ARENBRENS  ZEBREHYEE 6

For share options granted on 23 July 2020, all of them are with the same exercise period

MHETEE BEREE A BRER2025F7H228 1L commencing from the relevant vesting date and ending on 22 July 2025:
BFHEEZ
BREAS L
Percentage of
KEAWH the share options
Vesting date to be vested
20205F10 8218 30%
21 October 2020
2022 7H23H 30%
23 July 2022
2023% 78238 40%
23 July 2023
* 2019430 H EEBHEES * Ceased to be a director on 30 April 2019
** 2019126 HEEBHEES x> Ceased to be a director on 6 December 2019

BREXFIESN  RBEHBAMERRH T8 AMSHEBUEME  Save as disclosed above, no share option was granted, exercised, lapsed, or cancelled for the Reporting
1T B8 MR A o Period.

BREAGREBTESHRNERETREBEZR A ATHE- Exercise of the share options is conditional upon the achievement of certain performance targets during
the relevant exercise period.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this annual
report, during the eight months ended 31 August 2020, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had entered into (i) any agreement that will or may result
in the Company issuing Shares; or (ii) any agreement requiring the Company to
enter into any agreement specified in (i).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(1) ISSUE OF U.S.$100,000,000 CONVERTIBLE BONDS
DUE 2021

On 16 September 2020, Goldensep Investment Company Limited, a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as the issuer, the Company,
as the guarantor, and Credit Suisse (Hong Kong) Limited, as the sole
lead manager entered into a convertible bonds subscription agreement,
pursuant to which, the issuer agreed to issue 1.0% guaranteed convertible
bonds due 2021, the Company agreed to guarantee payment of all sums
payable by the issuer in accordance with the terms and conditions in
relation to such convertible bonds, and the sole lead manager agreed
to subscribe and pay for, or to procure subscribers to subscribe and
pay for, the convertible bonds in the aggregate principal amount of
U.5.$100,000,000 at an initial conversion price of HK$6.313 per Share
(subject to adjustments), representing (i) approximately 8.84% premium
over the closing price of the Shares as quoted on the Stock Exchange on
16 September 2020 (being the last trading day on which the convertible
bonds subscription agreement was signed); and (ii) approximately 14.57%
premium over the five-day average closing price of the Shares over the
five consecutive trading days up to and including 16 September 2020.

Assuming full conversion of the convertible bonds at the initial conversion
price of HK$6.313 per Share, the convertible bonds will be convertible into
approximately 122,764,137 Shares (subject to adjustments), representing
approximately 7.96% of the then issued share capital of the Company
and approximately 7.38% of the issued share capital of the Company as
enlarged by the issue of all conversion shares but before the completion
of the subscription. The conversion shares will be allotted and issued by
the Company pursuant to the general mandate. The conversion shares,
upon issue, will rank pari passu in all respects with the Shares then in
issue on the relevant registration date.
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BROTURRESNAERERE (ROKRA
ERAXRB)NBVEEERT -KAAAHEAR
TUBRESNETAEREFTREIERE
(A BEHE) (@ MARBERNVEEENY (b)
BEWBHER LHEARKER IR
HETHMBE RoO—RATARE-

BITTE R20205F9830B e BT AT IR &
HEREISEHNART BEAE2020F9817BH

BEREROREAERFIABH
i 12

7202098168 » A2 & » Aspire Education
Management (1EBE R ) R AN IBERTHHA
PIT(EEREREBE)ITIBEERIABEHZ
Bt GRERERSEHES £44,000,0008% M
Aspire Education Management A& W R 14 F &~
PRABEBEBIRBEA BEEASREER
25.357%8 7T © 1R & — AR X % » Aspire Education
Management 2R E BAQAGAREUER
5.353% JT 2% 744,000,000 R DE R 7 - B E&E (B
() BRAD 202059 816 B F£ B 32 BT AT 3R] UR
MESRS80E TITENT.76% ; (i) BHR
2020F9B 16 (BEZB)AIRER(G) BE
BERXZBEBIAAARFEHRTESRYS5.51
BT EL2.90% 5 K (i) R 202069816
B(EBEZB)ARETI) BEERSHE
GRFTFTSRF IR T ES R N5.48/8 TITE
#2.37% o

MERAEARAQRAARERERTRAEAY
2.85% URMEADNBEIABEEREANE %
TRAN278% (BREREBTABERORLE
BROEZBREHBEEIN B2020F9817TE EER
BEEERIL  AQATEHTRALESF
(BREITEETRARESEHBRABEER))

The net proceeds from the issue of the convertible bonds, after deduction
of commission and expenses, were approximately U.S.$99 million. The
Company intended to use the estimated net proceeds from the issue of the
convertible bonds primarily for, among others, (a) further investments in
existing schools to improve quality and efficiency; (b) potential acquisitions
of new schools, especially in the Greater-bay, Sichuan-Chongging and
certain other areas; and (c) general corporate purposes.

The issuance was completed on 30 September 2020. Details of the
issuance of convertible bonds are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 17 September 2020.

PLACING OF EXISTING SHARES AND TOP-UP
SUBSCRIPTION OF NEW SHARES

On 16 September 2020, the Company, Aspire Education Management,
as the seller, and The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch, as the
placing agent entered into a placing and subscription agreement, pursuant
to which, the placing agent agreed to place a total of 44,000,000 placing
shares at a price of HK$5.35 per Share owned by Aspire Education
Management to not less than six independent placees and Aspire
Education Management agreed to subscribe for, and the Company agreed
to issue, the 44,000,000 subscription shares at HK$5.35 per Share
under the general mandate. The placing price represented (i) a discount
of approximately 7.76% to the closing price of HK$5.80 per Share as
quoted on the Stock Exchange on 16 September 2020; (i) a discount
of approximately 2.90% to the average closing price of approximately
HK$5.51 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the last five
(5) consecutive trading days prior to and including 16 September 2020;
and (iii) a discount of approximately 2.37% to the average closing price
of approximately HK$5.48 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange
for the last ten (10) consecutive trading days prior to and including
16 September 2020.

The placing shares represented approximately 2.85% of the then issued
share capital of the Company and approximately 2.78% of the issued
share capital of the Company as enlarged by the subscription (assuming
that there is no change in the issued share capital of the Company from
on 17 September 2020 to the completion of the subscription (including no
convertible bonds are converted into ordinary shares) save for the issue of
the subscription shares and the placing shares are placed in full).

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBER AT
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The net proceeds from the subscription were approximately HK$232.79
million. The Company intended to use the estimated net proceeds of the
subscription primarily for (a) further investments in existing schools to
improve quality and efficiency; (b) potential acquisitions of new schools,
especially in the Greater-bay, Sichuan-Chongging and certain other areas;
and (c) general corporate purposes.

Such top-up placing was completed and accordingly 44,000,000
subscription shares were allotted and issued by the Company to Aspire
Education Management on 25 September 2020.

Details of the top-up placing are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 17 September 2020.

Details of the use of the proceeds from the issue of convertible bonds and
subscription are set out below:

EEREH REBEEH
FrBRmEFE (202011 830H) (720205118308 )
AR¥ (BETT) AR% (BBR) AR (BT

Utilized amount Unutilized amount

Net proceeds (at 30 November 2020) (at 30 November 2020)
A& Purpose RMB (million) RMB (million) RMB (million)
() MABEBERMBLEEM () investments in existing schools to
i lity and effici
N o ) |mprovle qualygh efficiency . 510 -
(i) BEWBHER (i) Potential acquisitions of new schools =
(i) — AR AT (iii) general corporate purposes 35.0
848.8 86.2 762.6

* BRITHBRBRESNETIEREFTELENE
BB ETT R2020FE1M BB ZETHLAR
MEZREE NHAAR®I2EE T ML
RBEEBEZAAIEREBEFHENB228HE
BT 202011 B30 2B T A ARBER
EE . ANBARMIVVIEET - BITTHRR
BEHXRRBEECIEREBEFHREGHEBAR
#848.8E B T ©

The estimated net proceeds from the issue of convertible bonds were approximately
US$99 million, equaling to approximately RMB651.2 million at the exchange rate
of US$ to RMB as at 30 November 2020. The estimated net proceeds from the
subscription amounted to approximately HK$232.8 million, equaling to approximately
RMB197.6 million at the exchange rate of HK$ to RMB as at 30 November 2020. The
total of the net proceeds from the issue of the convertible bonds and the subscription
amounted to RMB848.8 million.

2020 ANNUAL REPORT &

85



86

EETEHRS
REPORT OF DIRECTORS

E%Mﬁﬁgﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁ

7201954 898 » XA F] ~ Aspire Education Technology
(tEBEH) ZHERKRCLSA Limited (EBESKIE)
FUBRERRBERZ Bt BRERERZERER
B3 57TEBTHNERBTDRANBE L AR ARE
Aspire Education Technology#E & #9& +£110,000,0008%
B & B 19 + ™ Aspire Education Technology[a] Z 288 » &
AARRERE —REEDEH#7110,000,000
BRBRGO EXAERBRM37ET (RO
REHZAHREBEIFTAHRKTESRER$3.93%8
TUITEEX0.2%) cRBEEFE (NKREA -RAKH
Y)EERABERMONILE T - WMERMBEALR
AERCBITRANT6% RERBEEEEKE
KARDBEITRANTA4%

RIBEEERIEFEEAIIIEEB T -AQ T
BEABESEATTSEREFREIEZAREERS
BR—BEE£EABR - ZLABEEFRESTECD TH
AR R T E R2019%F4 817 H @ Aspire Education
Technology3% 17110,000,000 A% 52 B& AR 19 ©

FERERAERERENAARFRUT

USE OF PROCEEDS BROUGHT FORWARD FROM
FUNDRAISING ACTIVITIES IN PREVIOUS FINANCIAL
YEARS

On 9 April 2019, the Company, Aspire Education Technology, as the vendor,
Mr. Li and CLSA Limited, as the placing agent entered into a placing and
subscription agreement, pursuant to which, the placing agent agreed to place a
total of 110,000,000 placing shares at a price of HK$3.57 per Share owned by
Aspire Education Technology to not less than six independent placees and Aspire
Education Technology agreed to subscribe for, and the Company agreed to issue,
the 110,000,000 subscription shares at HK$3.57 per Share (representing a
discount of approximately 9.2% to the closing price of HK$3.93 per Share as
quoted on the Stock Exchange on the date of the subscription agreement) to the
vendor under the general mandate. (The net subscription price, after deducting
such fees, costs and expenses, was therefore approximately HK$3.539 per
subscription share). The placing shares represented approximately 7.69% of
the then issued share capital of the Company and approximately 7.14% of the
issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by the subscription.

The net proceeds from the subscription were HK$389.3 million. The Company
intended to use the estimated net proceeds of the subscription primarily for debt
repayment and general corporate purposes. Such top-up placing was completed
and accordingly 110,000,000 subscription shares were issued by the Company
to Aspire Education Technology on 17 April 2019.

A detailed breakdown and description of the proceeds and the purposes for
which the proceeds are used are as follow:

REBZ2020F EBAeH ABASH
ERBHE 8A3IAL (A2020%F (120205
REAEN FERERE NEABRLE 8A31R) 8A31A)
RERs AR (BER) AR (BEBR) AR (EER) AR¥(BER)
Amount utilized
Intended during the eight Utilized amount  Unutilized amount
percentage months ended (at 31 August (at 31 August
to total amount Net proceeds 31 August 2020 2020) 2020)
A& Purpose of net proceeds RMB (million) RMB (million) RMB (million) RMB (million)
) HEXRDARMELER (i) improve the financing structure of
BEADAET the Company and to repay certain
HREEEH outstanding loans of
the Company 25.71% 100.1 - 100.1 -
iy BEESR-REERS (i) working capital and general
corporate purposes 74.29% 289.2 12.9 289.2 -
() AREERE (a) formation of a smart campus 150.3 - 150.3 -
b RIBIE (b) formation of training rooms 80.2 = 80.2 =
() REHEZIR (c) provision of trainings for
BAIBERREFD teachers and formation of
professional development
centers 30.1 12.9 30.1 -
O Et-REERE (d) other general corporate
purposes 28.6 = 28.6 =
389.3 129 389.3 -
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the eight months ended
31 August 2020.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige the Company to offer new
Shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

NON-COMPETITION
BEIJING LIANHE

Please refer to the section headed “Relationship with our Controlling
Shareholders” in the Prospectus for the business scope of Beijing Lianhe and
the reason to exclude Beijing Lianhe out of the Group. In order to safeguard
the interests of our Company in respect of the future business opportunities in
Beijing Lianhe and against potential competition, we have adopted measures
including options to acquire Beijing Lianhe, right of first refusal and right of
selling request.

As at the date of this annual report, Beijing Lianhe has obtained the business
license for the expanded business scope, the value-added telecommunications
business operating license and radio and TV program production and business
operating license. Considering that Beijing Lianhe is gradually carrying out online
education business after obtaining the licenses, the Directors (including the
independent non-executive Directors) consider it plans to acquire Beijing Lianhe
when and as appropriate in the future.

2020 ANNUAL REPORT &

87



88

EETEHRS
REPORT OF DIRECTORS

ERRRZFHEFEE

BEoh - 20175638200 - EBRRER A A QX B R & F]
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REABBA(XEEEAHRELRRNMN FEE
EIEEETRHEAIAREFNAL BRIQF
(A BE)ETHNSRETME AR TEFRFER
SEEAREQRANEBBREFNES  ANE
THEAESEIRBEAFTE (EZBRT T AR
R-EBA REA EERAEMSH)ZSEK-

BUFBTESHER RECERNERRRMER
B UHAERQERRREEARSERBEREH
B2EHETIRFRE ROERBRRERREERS
HELEREEMNREERB - BUFYUTES
Fa RBERSHEIRFRENRACERZSE
BIRHT

EERBERBNERS
RBEMY EEAREFANBRABERER
AEBEBEERMERFIRTERFNOEME
BRRNZLEH R AR

BERX S
REEMMREESFERAN RELTRAE

VYAZ - LTHAKER AL ABEALTETHR
SREARATERRERERS

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING OF THE
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

In addition, the Controlling Shareholders have entered into the Deed of
Non-competition on 20 March 2017 in favour of the Company, pursuant to
which our Controlling Shareholders have jointly and severally and irrevocably
undertaken with the Company (for itself and for the benefit of its subsidiaries)
that it or he would not, and would procure that its or his associates (except any
members of the Group) would not, during the restricted period set out below,
directly or indirectly, either on its or his own account or in conjunction with or on
behalf of any person, firm or company, among other things, carry on, participate
or be interested or engaged in or hold (in each case whether as a shareholder,
partner, agent, employee or otherwise) any business which is or may be in
competition with the business of any member of the Group from time to time.

The independent non-executive Directors confirmed that they have reviewed
the declarations made by the Controlling Shareholders and noted that (a) the
Controlling Shareholders declared that they had fully complied with the Deed
of Non-competition throughout the Reporting Period; and (b) no new competing
business was reported by the Controlling Shareholders throughout the Reporting
Period. The independent non-executive Directors were satisfied that the terms
of the Deed of Non-Competition had been duly complied with and enforced
throughout the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or their respective associates
had engaged in or had any interest in any business which competes or is likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Period and till the date of this annual report, the following
transactions carried out by the Group and the connected persons of the Company
constituted non-exempt continuing connected transactions of the Company
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rule:

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBER AT
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STRUCTURED CONTRACTS

A.

Background and Overview

We currently conduct our private higher education business, secondary
vocational education business and senior secondary education business
through the PRC Operating Schools in the PRC as PRC laws and
regulations generally restrict foreign ownership in the private education
industry in the PRC. The PRC laws and regulations currently restrict the
operation of higher education institutions, secondary vocational education
business and senior secondary education business to Sino-foreign
cooperation ownership, in addition to imposing qualification requirements
on the foreign owners. We do not hold any sponsor’s interest in the PRC
Operating Schools. The Structured Contracts, through which we obtain
control over and derive the economic benefits from the PRC Operating
Schools, have been narrowly tailored to achieve our business purpose and
minimize the potential conflict with relevant PRC laws and regulations. We
had entered into the Structured Contracts for the PRC Operating Schools
and expect to enter into structured contracts for the schools to be newly
established or invested in, the terms and conditions of which shall be the
same as the Structured Contracts in all material aspects.

In order to comply with the PRC laws and regulations while availing
ourselves of international capital markets and maintaining effective
control over all of our operations, on 8 September 2016, 8 October 2018,
10 December 2018, 11 January 2019 and 26 August 2019, respectively,
our wholly-owned subsidiary, Huihuang Company, entered into various
agreements that constitute the Existing Structured Contracts with, among
others, the Existing PRC Operating Schools and the Existing School
Sponsors, under which all economic benefits arising from the business of
the Existing PRC Operating Schools and the Existing School Sponsors held
directly or indirectly by Yun Ai Group are transferred to Huihuang Company
to the extent permitted under the PRC laws and regulations by means
of service fees payable by the Existing PRC Operating Schools and the
Existing School Sponsors to Huihuang Company. Although the Registered
Shareholders are not consolidated as part of the Group, they are parties
to certain agreements which constitute the Structured Contracts to ensure
that the shareholders’ rights of Yun Ai Group are actually controlled by
Huihuang Company.

The Existing Structured Contracts were amended due to equity transfers
between certain then Registered Shareholders which took place on
26 August 2019 and 6 December 2019. The Existing Structured
Contracts were terminated and a series of agreements comprising of the
New Structured Contracts were entered into between New Registered
Shareholders, the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities, Huihuang
Company and Yun Ai Group. The terms and conditions of the New
Structured Contracts are substantially the same as those under the
Existing Structured Contracts. The New Structured Contracts were further
amended by various supplemental agreements due to the acquisition of
interest in new schools by the Group on 8 May 2020, 29 July 2020 and
27 August 2020, respectively.

Please refer to the section headed “Structured Contracts” in the
Prospectus, as well as the announcements of the Company dated
8 October 2018, 10 December 2018, 11 January 2019, 26 August 2019,
6 December 2019, 8 May 2020, 29 July 2020 and 27 August 2020 for
details.
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Development During the Year
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New Structured Contracts and First Supplemental Agreement to the
New Structured Contracts

On 26 August 2019, equity transfer agreements were entered into
between certain then Registered Shareholders and Songming Dexue,
and accordingly, the Existing Structured Contracts were terminated
and the New Structured Contracts were entered into. Immediately
upon completion of such transfer, the New Registered Shareholders,
the PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities, Huihuang Company and
Yun Ai Group entered into a series of agreements to establish the
New Structured Contracts. The terms and conditions of the New
Structured Contracts are substantially the same as those under the
Existing Structured Contracts. Details of the principal terms of the
New Structured Contracts are set out in the section headed “The
New Structured Contracts” in the announcement of the Company
dated 26 August 2019.

On 6 December 2019, pursuant to an equity transfer agreement
entered between Shanghai Taifu and Songming Dexue, a
supplemental agreement to the New Structured Contracts was
entered into between Pai Dui Pai, Ba Mu Pu, Songming Dexue,
Zhongyi Company, Shanghai Taifu and Huihuang Company, pursuant
to which, among other things, all the rights and obligations
attached to Shanghai Taifu's equity interests in Yun Ai Group would
be transferred to Songming Dexue. Save as the principal terms
disclosed in the announcement of the company dated 6 December
2019, the clauses of the New Structured Contracts remained
unchanged.

Second Supplemental Agreement to the New Structured Contracts

During the Reporting Period, the Group completed further
acquisition of 45% interest in the school sponsor of Henan School.
Upon completion of the acquisition, the school sponsor of Henan
School, Henan School and Beijing Daai Gaoxue entered into a
supplemental agreement to the New Structured Contracts with
Huihuang Company, Yun Ai Group, the then Registered Shareholders,
to reflect the change of equity interest in the school sponsor of
Henan School.
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Third Supplemental Agreement to the New Structured Contracts

During the Reporting Period, the Group completed further
acquisition of 39% interest in Songming Xinju, the sole shareholder
of the school sponsor of Guangxi Schools. Upon completion of the
acquisition, Daai Education, Songming Xinju, the school sponsor of
Guangxi Schools and Guangxi Schools entered into a supplemental
agreement to the New Structured Contracts with Huihuang
Company, Yun Ai Group, the then Registered Shareholders, to
reflect the change of equity interest in Songming Xinju, the sole
shareholder of the school sponsor of Guangxi Schools.

Fourth Supplemental Agreement to the New Structured Contracts

During the Reporting Period, the Group completed acquisition
of 100% interest in Beijing Fangzhi, the sole shareholder of the
school sponsor of Yunnan Vocational School. Upon completion of
the acquisition, Songming Gaoxue, Beijing Fangzhi, the school
sponsor of Yunnan Vocational School, Yunnan Vocational School
and the newly appointed director of the Yunnan Vocational School
entered into a supplemental agreement with Huihuang Company,
Yun Ai Group, and the then Registered Shareholders, to reflect the
acquisition of the Yunnan Vocational School.
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The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of economic benefits
from the PRC Operating Schools and/or the School Sponsors to the Group

=R stipulated under the New Structured Contracts:
IN/NS|
The Company
100% SR i
v 4 :
BN 3O | SERE !
n N 1
Huihuang Company Registered shareholders 1 (4)0)
A ! i |
nt iee 100% | 7 :
HEIREHEER
PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities
EERENEESERESERE
denotes direct legal and beneficial ownership in the equity interest
----- EBEBMEY
denotes Structured Contracts
Hrat - Notes:
1. TRRBEE - 1. Payment of service fees.
2. RUBREMEEREEBERE - 2. Provision of exclusive technical and management consultancy services.
3. WERTHEEERN DRI ERENR 3. Exclusive call option to acquire all or part of the School sponsors’ interest in the PRC
EREGRERERENZTRNLOREZS Operating Schools and all or part equity interest in the School Sponsors.
R
4, ERENEZARTHETHEESRNE 4. Entrustment of school sponsors’ rights in the PRC Operating Schools by the School
REPWERER - Sponsors.
o8 FEHEEERESZARTFTHEPEZEER 5 Entrustment of directors’ rights in the PRC Operating Schools by directors of the PRC
RNESERN BREERESE- Operating Schools including directors’ powers of attorney.
6. ZABRTFTRENER BERRREESE- 6. Entrust of Shareholders’ right including Shareholders’ power of attorney.
7. EERREHBEENEEEENRE- 7. Pledge of equity interest by the Registered Shareholders of their equity interest in Yun
Ai Group.
8. BEAFRDNEESERMEN- 8. Provision of loans by Huihuang Company to Yun Ai Group.
9. REFEEZELZR AXRNERNERR 9. According to PRC laws and regulations, entities and individuals who establish private

BA-—MREERERE I MEEEAIR
MR-

BEAFEHAY TEEMEERBETER
EHREMEAERATEBESN S
BEHERBNTEALEERNGESHB X
BEARKEER-

schools are commonly referred to as “school sponsors” instead of “owners” or
“shareholders”.

As of the date of this annual report, we have not encountered any
interference or encumbrance from any governing bodies in our plan to
adopt the New Structured Contracts and the consolidated financial results
of the PRC Operating Schools which engage in higher education service,
are consolidated to those of the Group.
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Summary of the Material Terms of the New Structured Contracts

A description of each of the specific agreements that comprise the New
Structured Contracts is set out below.

(7)

Business Cooperation Agreement (2019)

Pursuant to the Business Cooperation Agreement (2019), Huihuang
Company shall provide technical services, management support and
consulting services necessary for the private education business,
and in return, the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities shall
make payments accordingly.

To ensure the due performance of the New Structured Contracts,
each of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities agreed to
comply, and procure any of its subsidiaries to comply with, and the
New Registered Shareholders agreed to procure the Existing PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities to comply with the obligations as
prescribed under the Business Cooperation Agreement (2019) set
forth as follows:

(@  to carry out its private education operations in a prudent
and efficient manner in accordance with good financial and
business standards while maintaining the asset value of the
Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities and the quality
and standard of private education;

(b)  to prepare school development plans and annual working
plans in accordance with the instructions of Huihuang
Company;

(c)  to carry out its private education activities and other relevant
business under the assistance of Huihuang Company;

(d)  to carry out and manage its daily operations and financial
management in accordance with the recommendations,
advice, principles and other instructions of Huihuang
Company;

(e)  to execute and act upon the recommendations of Huihuang
Company in terms of employment and removal of senior
management and staff;

() to adopt the advice, guidance and plans given by Huihuang
Company in relation to their respective strategic development;
and

()  to carry out its business operations and renew and maintain
its respective necessary licenses.
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In addition, pursuant to the Business Cooperation Agreement
(2019),

(@)

Mr. Li undertakes to Huihuang Company that, in the event
of death, loss of or restriction on capacity, divorce or other
circumstances which may affect the exercise of his direct or
indirect equity interest in the New Registered Shareholders,
he shall have made all necessary arrangement and sign
all necessary documents such that his/their respective
successor, guardian, spouse, and any other person which may
as a result of the above events obtain the equity interest or
relevant rights shall not prejudice or hinder the enforcement
of the New Structured Contracts;

the New Registered Shareholders undertake to Huihuang
Company that, in the event of a merger and subdivision of
the New Registered Shareholders, presentation by the New
Registered Shareholders or the New Registered Shareholders
being presented any application for winding up, liquidation,
winding up restructuring or reconciliation, dissolution and
liquidation of the New Registered Shareholders pursuant
to an order, application for involuntary dissolution of the
New Registered Shareholders or other reasons, or other
circumstances which may affect the New Registered
Shareholders in exercising its direct or indirect interest in Yun
Ai Group, they shall have made all necessary arrangement
and sign all necessary documents such that the successor,
administrator, liquidation committee and any other person
which may as a result of the above events obtain the direct
or indirect interest or relevant rights in Yun Ai Group shall not
prejudice or hinder the enforcement of the New Structured
Contracts;
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the New Registered Shareholders undertake that, in the
event of the dissolution or liquidation of the Existing PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities, (i) Huihuang Company
shall have the right to exercise all school sponsor’s right
on behalf of the Existing School Sponsors/shareholders’
rights on the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities
(except for the Existing PRC Operating Schools); (i) Existing
PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities and/or Existing School
Sponsors and/or the shareholders or sponsors of the Existing
PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities shall transfer all assets
received or receivable in its capacity as school sponsor of
each of the Existing PRC Operating Schools/as shareholders
of each of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities
(except for the Existing PRC Operating Schools) as a result of
the dissolution or liquidation of the Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities to Huihuang Company or other persons
designated by us at nil consideration, and instruct all of the
Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities to transfer such
assets directly to Huihuang Company before such dissolution
or liquidation; (iii) if consideration is required for such
transfer under the then applicable PRC laws, the Existing
PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities and/or the shareholders
or sponsors of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated
Entities shall compensate Huihuang Company or the person
as designated by us the amount and guarantee that Huihuang
Company or other persons as designated by us does not
suffer any loss; and

the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities agreed that,
without the prior written consent of Huihuang Company,
the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities shall not
declare or pay to the New Registered Shareholders any
school-running balances ( ¥ E2 &5 #%) or other interest or
benefit. In the event that the New Registered Shareholders
receive any school-running balances ( ¥ £2 4562 ) or other
interest or benefit, the New Registered Shareholders shall
unconditionally and without compensation transfer such
amount to Huihuang Company.
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Exclusive Technical Service and Management Consultancy
Agreement (2019)

Pursuant to the Exclusive Technical Service and Management
Consultancy Agreement (2019), Huihuang Company agreed
to provide exclusive technical services to the Existing PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities, including but not limited to, (a)
design, development, update and maintenance of software for
computer and mobile devices; (b) design, development, update and
maintenance of webpages and websites necessary for the education
activities of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities; (c)
design, development, update and maintenance of management
information systems necessary for the education activities of
the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities; (d) provision of
other technical support necessary for the education activities of
the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities; (e) provision of
technical consulting services; (f) provision of technical training; (g)
engaging technical staff to provide on-site technical support; and
(h) providing other technical services reasonably requested by the
Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities.

Furthermore, Huihuang Company agreed to provide exclusive
management consultancy services to the Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities, including but not limited to, (a) design of
curriculum; (b) preparation, selection and/or recommendation of
course materials; (c) provision of teacher and staff recruitment and
training support and services; (d) provision of student recruitment
support and services; (e) provision of public relation services; (f)
preparation of long term strategic development plans and annual
working plans; (g) development of financial management systems
and recommendation and optimization on annual budget; (h)
advising on design of internal structures and internal management;
(i) provision of management and consultancy training; (j) conduct
of market research; (k) preparation of market development plan; (1)
building of marketing network; and (m) providing other management
technical services reasonably requested by the Existing PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities.

In consideration of the technical and management consultancy
services provided by Huihuang Company, each of the Existing PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities agreed to pay Huihuang Company
a service fee equal to an agreed percentage of their respective
amount of surplus from operations (after deducting all costs,
expenses, taxes, losses from the previous year (if required by the
law) and the legally compulsory development fund of the respective
school (if required by the law)). The compulsory development fund
is included as statutory surplus reserve at the Group’s level and
retained at schools’ level. Huihuang Company has the right (but
not the obligation) to adjust the amount of such service fee by
reference to the actual services provided and the actual business
operations and needs of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated
Entities, provided that any adjusted amount shall not exceed the
amount mentioned above. The Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated
Entities do not have any right to make any such adjustment.
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Exclusive Call Option Agreement (2019)

Under the Exclusive Call Option Agreement (2019), the New
Registered Shareholders have irrevocably granted Huihuang
Company or its designated purchaser the right to purchase all or
part of the school sponsor’s interest of the Existing School Sponsors
in the Existing PRC Operating Schools and equity interest in the
Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities (except for the Existing
PRC Operating Schools) (“Equity Call Option”). The purchase price
payable by Huihuang Company in respect of the transfer of such
school sponsor’s interest or equity interest upon exercise of the
Equity Call Option shall be the lowest price permitted under the
PRC laws and regulations. Huihuang Company or its designated
purchaser shall have the right to purchase such proportion of the
school sponsor’s interest of the Existing PRC Operating Schools
and/or equity interest in the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated
Entities (except for the Existing PRC Operating Schools) as it
decides at any time.

School Sponsors’ and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement
(2019)

Pursuant to the School Sponsors’ and Directors’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement (2019), the Existing School Sponsors have irrevocably
authorized and entrusted Huihuang Company to exercise all its
rights as school sponsor of each of the Existing PRC Operating
Schools to the extent permitted by PRC laws. These rights include,
but are not limited to: (a) the right to appoint and/or elect directors
or council members of the schools; (b) the right to appoint and/or
elect supervisors of the schools; (c) the right to understand the
operation and financial situation of the schools; (d) the right to
review the resolutions and records of the board of directors and
financial statements and reports of the schools; (e) the right to
obtain school-running balances as school sponsor of the schools
in accordance with the laws and the articles of association of each
school; (f) the right to acquire residue assets upon liquidation of the
schools in accordance with the laws and the articles of association
of each school; (g) the right to transfer school sponsors’ interest
in accordance with the laws; and (h) other school sponsor’s rights
pursuant to applicable PRC laws and regulations and the articles of
association of each school as amended from time to time.
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Pursuant to the School Sponsors’ and Directors’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement, each of the directors of each school (the “Appointees”)
has irrevocably authorized and entrusted Huihuang Company to
exercise all his/her rights as directors of the Existing PRC Operating
Schools as appointed by the Existing School Sponsors and to the
extent permitted by PRC laws. These rights include, but are not
limited to: (a) the right to attend meetings of the board of directors
as representative of the directors appointed by the Existing School
Sponsors; (b) the right to exercise voting rights in respect of all
matters discussed and resolved at the board meeting of each of the
Existing PRC Operating Schools; (c) the right to propose to convene
interim board meetings of each of the Existing PRC Operating
Schools; (d) the right to sign all board minutes, board resolutions
and other legal documents which the directors appointed by the
Existing School Sponsors have authority to sign in his/her capacity
as directors of the Existing PRC Operating Schools; (e) the right
to instruct the legal representative and financial and business
responsible persons of the Existing PRC Operating Schools to act
in accordance with the instruction of Huihuang Company; (f) the
right to exercise all other rights and voting rights of directors as
prescribed under the articles of association of the Existing PRC
Operating Schools; (g) the right to handle the legal procedures of
registration, approval and licensing of the Existing PRC Operating
Schools, as the case may be at the education department,
the department of civil affairs or other government regulatory
departments; and (h) other directors’ rights pursuant to applicable
PRC laws and regulations and the articles of association of the
Existing PRC Operating Schools as amended from time to time.

School Sponsors’ Powers of Attorney (2019)

Pursuant to the School Sponsors’ Powers of Attorney (2019)
executed by the Existing School Sponsors in favor of Huihuang
Company, the Existing School Sponsors authorized and appointed
Huihuang Company (none of whom is a director of any of the
Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities and therefore does
not give rise to any conflicts of interest), as its agent to act on its
behalf to exercise or delegate the exercise of all its rights as school
sponsor of each of the Existing PRC Operating Schools.

Huihuang Company shall have the right to further delegate the
rights so delegated to the directors of Huihuang Company or
other designated person. The Existing School Sponsors irrevocably
agreed that the authorization appointment in the School Sponsor’s
Powers of Attorney shall not be invalid, prejudiced or otherwise
adversely affected by reason of the Existing School Sponsors’
subdivision, merger, winding up, consolidation, liquidation or other
similar events. The School Sponsors’ Power of Attorney (2019) shall
constitute a part and incorporate terms of the School Sponsors’ and
Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement (2019).
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Directors’” Powers of Attorney (2019)

Pursuant to the Directors’ Powers of Attorney (2019) executed by
each of the Appointees in favor of Huihuang Company, each of the
Appointees authorized and appointed Huihuang Company (none of
whom is a director of any of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated
Entities and therefore does not give rise to any conflicts of interest),
as his/her agent to act on his/her behalf to exercise or delegate
the exercise of all of his/her rights as directors of the Existing PRC
Operating Schools.

Huihuang Company shall have the right to further delegate the
rights so delegated to the directors of Huihuang Company or other
designated person. Each of the Appointees irrevocably agreed that
the authorization appointment in the Directors’ Powers of Attorney
(2019) shall not be invalid, prejudiced or otherwise adversely
affected by reason of his/her loss of or restriction on capacity,
death or other similar events. The Directors’ Power of Attorney
(2019) shall constitute a part and incorporate terms of the School
Sponsors’ and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement (2019).

Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement (2019)

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement
(2019), each of the New Registered Shareholders, Yun Ai Group,
Daai Shuren, Songming Xinju and Beijing Daai Gaoxue has
irrevocably authorized and entrusted Huihuang Company to exercise
all of his/their respective rights as shareholders of the Existing
School Sponsors (together, “the Relevant Subsidiaries”) to the
extent permitted by the PRC laws. These rights include, but are
not limited to: (a) the right to attend shareholders’ meetings of the
Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case may be; (b) the right to exercise
voting rights in respect of all matters discussed and resolved at
the shareholders’ meeting of the Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case
may be; (c) the right to appoint directors or legal representative
of the Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case may be; (d) the right
to propose to convene interim shareholders’ meetings of the
Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case may be; (e) the right to sign all
shareholders’ resolutions and other legal documents which the New
Registered Shareholders and Yun Ai Group have authority to sign in
his or their capacity as shareholders of the Relevant Subsidiaries,
as the case may be; (f) the right to instruct the directors and legal
representative of the Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case may be to
act in accordance with the instruction of Huihuang Company; (g) the
right to exercise all other rights and voting rights of shareholders
as prescribed under the articles of association of the Relevant
Subsidiaries, as the case may be; (h) the right to handle the legal
procedures of registration, approval and licensing of the Relevant
Subsidiaries, as the case may be at the education department,
the department of civil affairs or other government regulatory
departments; and (i) other shareholders’ rights pursuant to
applicable PRC laws and regulations and the articles of association
of the Relevant Subsidiaries as amended from time to time.
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In addition, each of the New Registered Shareholders, Yun Ai
Group, Daai Shuren, Songming Xinju and Beijing Daai Gaoxue
has irrevocably agreed that (i) Huihuang Company may delegate
its rights under the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement
(2019) to the directors of Huihuang Company or its designated
person, without prior notice to or approval by the New Registered
Shareholders and Yun Ai Group; and (ii) any person as successor
of civil rights of Huihuang Company or liquidator by reason of
subdivision, merger, liquidation of Huihuang Company or other
circumstances shall have authority to replace Huihuang Company
to exercise all rights under the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement (2019).

Shareholders’ Powers of Attorney (2019)

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Powers of Attorney (2019) executed
by each of the New Registered Shareholders, Yun Ai Group,
Daai Shuren, Songming Xinju and Beijing Daai Gaoxue in favor
of Huihuang Company, each of them authorized and appointed
Huihuang Company, as his or their agent to act on his or their
behalf to exercise or delegate the exercise of all his or their rights
as shareholders of the Relevant Subsidiaries.

Huihuang Company shall have the right to further delegate the
rights so delegated to its directors or other designated person. Each
of the New Registered Shareholders, Yun Ai Group, Daai Shuren,
Songming Xinju and Beijing Daai Gaoxue irrevocably agreed that the
authorization appointment in the Shareholders’ Powers of Attorney
(2019) shall not be invalid, prejudiced or otherwise adversely
affected by reason of his/her loss of or restriction on capacity, death
or other similar events. The Shareholders’ Power of Attorney (2019)
shall constitute a part and incorporate terms of the Shareholders’
Rights Entrustment Agreement (2019).

Spouse Undertakings (2019)

Pursuant to the Spouse Undertakings (2019), the spouse of Mr. Li
has irrevocably undertaken that:

(@)  the spouse has full knowledge of and has consented to the
entering into of the New Structured Contracts by Mr. Li,
and in particular, the arrangement as set out in the New
Structured Contracts in relation to the restrictions imposed on
the direct or indirect equity interest in Yun Ai Group, pledge
or transfer the direct or indirect equity interest in Yun Ai
Group, or the disposal of the direct or indirect equity interest
in Yun Ai Group in any other forms;

(b)  the spouse has not participated, is not participating and shall
not in the future participate in the operation, management,
liquidation, dissolution and other matters in relation to the
Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities;

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBER AT
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(c)  the spouse authorizes Mr. Li or his authorized person to
execute all necessary documents and perform all necessary
procedures from time to time for and on behalf of the
spouse in relation to the spouse’s equity interest in Yun Ai
Group (direct or indirect) in order to safeguard the interest
of Huihuang Company under the New Structured Contracts
and give effect to the fundamental purposes thereunder, and
confirms and agrees to all such documents and procedures;

(d) any undertaking, confirmation, consent and authorization
under the Spouse Undertakings (2019) shall not be revoked,
prejudiced, invalidated or otherwise adversely affected by
any increase, decrease, consolidation or other similar events
relating to the direct or indirect equity interest in Yun Ai
Group;

(e) any undertaking, confirmation, consent and authorization
under the Spouse Undertakings (2019) shall not be revoked,
prejudiced, invalidated or otherwise adversely affected by
death, loss of or restriction on capacity of the spouse, divorce
or other similar events;

() all undertakings, confirmations, consents and authorizations
under the Spouse Undertakings (2019) shall continue to be
valid and binding until otherwise terminated by both Huihuang
Company and the spouse of Mr. Li in writing; and

()  The Spouse Undertakings shall have the same term as and
incorporate the terms of the Business Cooperation Agreement
(2019).

Equity Pledge Agreement (2019)

Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement (2019), each of the New
Registered Shareholders unconditionally and irrevocably pledged
and granted first priority security interests over all of its equity
interest in Yun Ai Group together with all related rights thereto
to Huihuang Company as security for performance of the New
Structured Contracts and all direct, indirect or consequential
damages and foreseeable loss of interest incurred by Huihuang
Company as a result of any event of default on the part of the New
Registered Shareholders, or each of the Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities and all expenses incurred by Huihuang Company
as a result of enforcement of the obligations of the New Registered
Shareholders and/or each of the Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities under the New Structured Contracts (the “Secured
Indebtedness”).
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Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement (2019), without the
prior written consent of Huihuang Company, the New Registered
Shareholders shall not transfer the equity interest or create further
pledge or encumbrance over the pledged equity interest. Any
unauthorized transfer shall be invalid, and the proceeds of any
transfer of the equity interest shall be first used in the payment
of the Secured Indebtedness or deposited to such third party as
agreed to by Huihuang Company. The New Registered Shareholders
also waived any pre-emptive rights upon enforcement and agreed
to any transfer of the pledged equity pursuant to the equity pledge
agreement.

The pledges under the Equity Pledge Agreement were registered
with the relevant Administration for Market Regulation of the PRC
on 2 September 2019 and 2 January 2020 and became effective
on the same date of the registration of the pledge.

Loan Agreement (2019)

Pursuant to the Loan Agreement (2019), Huihuang Company agreed
to provide interest-free loans to Yun Ai Group in accordance with
the PRC laws and regulations and Yun Ai Group agreed to utilize
the proceeds of such loans to contribute as capital of the Existing
PRC Operating Schools in its capacity as school sponsor or the
shareholder of the school sponsors of the Schools in accordance
with our instructions. Both parties agree that all such capital
contribution will be directly settled by Huihuang Company on behalf
of Yun Ai Group.

The terms of the Loan Agreement (2019) shall continue until all
interest of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities are
transferred to Huihuang Company or its designee and/or the
Company or designee of the Company and the registration process
required thereafter has been completed with the relevant local
authorities.

Each loan to be granted under the Loan Agreement (2019) will be for
an infinite term until termination at the sole discretion of Huihuang
Company. The loan will become due and payable upon Huihuang
Company’s demand under any of the following circumstances: (i)
a bankruptcy application, bankruptcy reorganization or bankruptcy
settlement has been filed by or against Yun Ai Group, (ii) a
winding-up or liquidation application has been filed by or against Yun
Ai Group, (iii) Yun Ai Group becoming insolvent or incurring any other
significant personal debt which may affect its ability to repay the
loan under the Loan Agreement (2019), (iv) Huihuang Company or its
designee exercising in full its option to purchase all the Existing PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities interests to the extent permitted by
PRC laws and regulations, or (v) any of the Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities commits any breach of any obligations under
the New Structured Contracts, or any warranties provided by any
of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities under the New
Structured Contracts is proved incorrect or inaccurate. As advised
by the PRC Legal Advisors, interest-free loans granted by Huihuang
Company to Yun Ai Group is not in violation of the applicable PRC
laws and regulations.
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Business Activities of the PRC Operating Schools and the School
Sponsors

The PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities of the Group are Yunnan School,
Guizhou School, Henan School, Northeast School, Guangxi Schools, Central
China School, their respective school sponsors, and other schools and
other investment holding companies which were consolidated to the Group
by virtue of the Structured Contracts, as amended from time to time. Their
business activities are primarily engaged in higher education services. All
of the School Sponsors are investment holding companies.

Significance and financial contributions of the PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities to the Group

Pursuant to the New Structured Contracts and the various supplemental
agreements in relation thereto, the Group obtains control over and derives
the economic benefits from the PRC Operating Schools and the School
Sponsors. The table below sets out the financial contribution of the PRC
Operating Schools and the School Sponsors to the Group:

HAEEMWEEMR  Significances and financial
contribution to the Group

BB E R

HAEAEENEZ R BB E M

Significances and financial contribution to the Group
N # R EE#E
Revenue Net profit Total Assets
HZE20205 B ZE2020F 720204
8H31H 8H31H 8AH31H

I8 A B SIAN DR

For the For the As of

eight months ended  eight months ended
31 August 2020 31 August 2020

31 August 2020

100% 143% 86%

HEBUESNBUAREE

TREF KRB ZE2020F8 8318 EN\E A B ™
TEHEEERRERBREMSRAGOBA ;
RWEELAE BERAREESRENEG
BUESAREEEENZHRRBESALR
SENBMBERE:

Revenue and assets involved in the New Structured Contracts

The table below sets out (i) revenue; and (ii) total assets involved in the
PRC Operating Schools and the School Sponsors for the eight months
ended 31 August 2020, which would be consolidated into the Group’s
financial statements pursuant to the New Structural Contracts and the
various supplemental agreements in relation thereto:

WA EE

Revenue Assets

AR T AR

RMB RMB

FEZEEERREREYE  PRC Operating Schools and School Sponsors 721,644,462 5,144,083,662
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Regulatory Framework

1.

Higher Education

Pursuant to Special Administrative Measures for Access of Foreign
Investment (Negative List) (2020 Edition) (the “Negative List”), the
provision of higher education in the PRC falls within the “restricted”
category. In particular, the Negative List explicitly restricts higher
education to Sino-foreign cooperation, which means the foreign
investor shall be an educational institution and shall operate higher
education in the PRC through cooperation with a PRC educational
institution in compliance with the Sino-Foreign Regulation. In
addition, the Negative List also provides that the domestic party
shall play a dominant role in the Sino-foreign cooperation, meaning
that (a) the principal or other chief executive officer of the schools
shall be a PRC national; and (b) the representatives of the domestic
party shall account for no less than half of the total members of the
board of directors, the executive council or the joint administration
committee of the Sino-foreign cooperative educational institution
(the “Foreign Control Restriction”). We had fully complied with the
Foreign Control Restriction in respect of the PRC Operating Schools
on the basis that (a) the principals and the chief executive officers
of the aforementioned schools are all PRC nationals; and (b) all the
members of the board of directors are PRC nationals.

In relation to the interpretation of Sino-foreign cooperation,
pursuant to the Sino-Foreign Regulation and its Implementation
Regulations, if we were to apply for any of the Schools to be
reorganized as a Sino-foreign joint venture private school for PRC
students (a “Sino-Foreign Joint Venture Private School”), the foreign
investor in the Sino-Foreign Joint Venture Private School must be a
foreign educational institution with relevant qualification and high
quality education (the “Qualification Requirement”). Furthermore,
pursuant to the Implementation Opinions, the foreign portion of
the total investment in a Sino-Foreign Joint Venture Private School
should be below 50% (the “Foreign Ownership Restriction”) and the
establishment of these schools is subject to approval of education
authorities at the provincial or national level.

Our PRC legal advisors have advised that as of the date of this
annual report, there are no implementing measures or specific
guidance on the Qualification Requirement in accordance with
the existing PRC laws and regulations and therefore it is currently
uncertain as to what specific criteria must be met by a foreign
investor (such as length of experience and form and extent of
ownership in the foreign jurisdiction) in order to demonstrate to
the relevant educational authority that it meets the Qualification
Requirement. Accordingly, as a matter of policy, due to the lack of
implementing measures or specific guidance on the Sino-Foreign
Regulation and its Implementation Regulations, including the
Qualification Requirement, the relevant education authorities will not
accept an application to convert the PRC Operating Schools or the
schools to be newly established or invested by us into Sino-Foreign
Joint Venture Private Schools.
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Plan to Comply with the Qualification Requirement

The foreign investor in a Sino-foreign joint venture private school
must be a foreign educational institution with relevant qualification
and high quality of education (the “Qualification Requirement”).
Foreign portion of the total investment in a Sino-foreign joint
venture private school should be below 50% and the establishment
of these schools is subject to approval of education authorities
at the provincial or national level. We are committed to working
towards meeting the Qualification Requirement. We have adopted
a specific plan and had taken concrete steps which the Company
believes are meaningful endeavors to demonstrate compliance with
the Qualification Requirement.

As advised by the Company’s PRC legal advisors, there have
been no updates to the implementation rules in relation to the
Qualification Requirement since the Listing Date and up to the date
of this annual report.

Please also refer to the section headed “Structured Contracts”
in the Prospectus and the annual report for the year ended
31 December 2018 for the Group’s efforts and actions undertaken
to comply with the Qualification Requirement. As of the date of this
report, we are still waiting for approval from the BPPE to establish
the new school in the State of California.

Recent Development

For details, please refer to section headed “Recent Developments of
Regulatory Framework” in Management Discussion and Analysis of
this annual report.
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Risks associated with the arrangements and the actions taken to
mitigate the risks

We entered into a series of agreements in which our wholly-owned
subsidiary, Huihuang Company receives economic benefits from the PRC
Operating Schools pursuant to relevant clauses under the agreements.

Foreign investment in the education industry in China is extensively
regulated and subject to numerous restrictions. We have been and are
expected to continue to be dependent on the New Structured Contracts to
operate our education business.

If the New Structured Contracts that establish the structure for operating
our China business are found to be in violation of any PRC laws or
regulations in the future or fail to obtain or maintain any of the required
permits or approvals, the relevant PRC regulatory authorities, including the
MOE, which regulates the education industry, would have broad discretion
in dealing with such violations, including:

revoking the business and operating licenses of our PRC
subsidiaries;

° discontinuing or restricting the operations of any related-party
transactions among our PRC subsidiaries;

° imposing fines or other requirements with which we or our PRC
subsidiaries may not be able to comply;

o requiring us to restructure our operations in such a way as to
compel us to establish new entities, re-apply for the necessary
licenses or relocate our businesses, staff and assets;

o imposing additional conditions or requirements with which we may
not be able to comply; or

o restricting the use of proceeds from our additional public offering or
financing to finance our business and operations in China.

If any of the above penalties are imposed on us, our business, financial
condition and results of operations may be materially and adversely
affected.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBER AT
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The Group has adopted the following measures to ensure the effective
operation of the Group with the implementation of the New Structured
Contracts and our compliance with the New Structured Contracts:

(@)

major issues arising from the implementation and compliance with
the New Structured Contracts or any regulatory enquiries from
government authorities will be submitted to our Board, if necessary,
for review and discussion on an occurrence basis;

our Board will review the overall performance of and compliance
with the New Structured Contracts at least once a year;

the Company will disclose the overall performance and compliance
with the New Structured Contracts in its annual reports and interim
reports to update the Shareholders and potential investors;

the Company will engage external legal advisors or other
professional advisors, if necessary, to assist the Board to review
the implementation of the New Structured Contracts, review the
legal compliance of Huihuang Company and the PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities to deal with specific issues or matters arising
from the New Structured Contracts.

In addition, notwithstanding that our executive Director, Mr. Li is also the
sole shareholder of Songming Dexue, we believe that our Directors are
able to perform their roles in the Group independently and the Group is
capable of managing its business independently after the Listing under
the following measures:

@)

the decision-making mechanism of the Board as set out in the
Articles includes provisions to avoid conflict of interest by providing,
amongst other things, that in the event of conflict of interest in such
contract or arrangement which is material, a Director shall declare
the nature of his or her interest at the earliest meeting of the Board
at which it is practicable for him or her to do so, and if he or she
is to be regarded as having material interest in any contracts or
arrangements, such Director shall abstain from voting and not be
counted in the quorum;

each of our Directors is aware of his fiduciary duties as a Director

which requires, amongst other things, that he acts for the benefits
and in the best interests of the Group;
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(c) we have appointed four independent non-executive Directors,
comprising over one-third of our Board, to provide a balance of
the number of interested and independent Directors with a view to
promoting the interests of the Company and our Shareholders as a
whole; and

(d)  we will disclose in our announcements, circulars, annual and interim
reports in accordance with the requirements under the Listing Rules
regarding decisions on matters reviewed by our Board (including
independent non-executive Directors) relating to any business or
interest of each Director and his associates that competes or may
compete with the business of the Group and any other conflicts of
interest which any such person has or may have with the Group.

Material changes

On 26 August 2019, pursuant to termination of the Existing Structured
Contracts, a series of agreements comprising of the New Structured
Contracts were entered into between the New Registered Shareholders,
the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities and Huihuang Company.

On 6 December 2019, a supplemental agreement to the New Structured
Contracts was entered into among Pai Dui Pai, Ba Mu Pu, Songming
Dexue, Zhongyi Company, Shanghai Taifu and Huihuang Company,
pursuant to which, among other things, all the rights and obligations
attached to Shanghai Taifu’s equity interests in Yun Ai Group will be
transferred to Songming Dexue (the “First Supplemental Agreement”).

On 8 May 2020, the school sponsor of Henan School, Henan School and
Beijing Daai Gaoxue entered into a supplemental agreement to the New
Structured Contracts with Huihuang Company, Yun Ai Group, the then
Registered Shareholders, to reflect the change of equity interest in the
school sponsor of Henan School (the “Second Supplemental Agreement”).

On 29 July 2020, Daai Education, Songming Xinju, the school sponsor
of Guangxi Schools and Guangxi Schools entered into a supplemental
agreement to the New Structured Contracts with Huihuang Company, Yun
Ai Group, the then Registered Shareholders, to reflect the change of equity
interest in Songming Xinju, the sole shareholder of the school sponsor of
Guangxi Schools (the “Third Supplemental Agreement”).

On 27 August 2020, Songming Gaoxue, Beijing Fangzhi, the school
sponsor of Yunnan Vocational School, Yunnan Vocational School and the
newly appointed director of the Yunnan Vocational School entered into a
supplemental agreement with Huihuang Company, Yun Ai Group, and the
registered shareholders of Yun Ai Group, to reflect the acquisition of the
Yunnan Vocational School (the “Fourth Supplemental Agreement”).

Save as the principal terms of the First Supplemental Agreement, the
Second Supplemental Agreement, the Third Supplemental Agreement and
the Fourth Supplemental Agreement, the clauses of the New Structured
Contracts remained unchanged.
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Unwinding of the Structured Contracts

As of the date of this annual report, there has not been any unwinding
of any Structured Contracts, nor has there been any failure to unwind
any Structured Contracts when the restrictions that led to the adoption of
the Structured Contracts are removed. For more details, please refer to
the section headed “Structured Contracts — Operation of the Structured
Contracts — Termination of the Structured Contracts” of the Prospectus
and the section headed “Unwinding of the New Structured Contracts” of
the announcement of the Company dated 26 August 2019. In the event
that the PRC regulatory environment changes and all of the Qualification
Requirement, the Foreign Ownership Restriction and the Foreign Control
Restriction are removed (and assuming there are no other changes in the
relevant PRC laws and regulations), Huihuang Company will exercise the
Equity Call Option in full to unwind the contractual arrangements so that
the Company will be able to directly operate the schools without using
the Structured Contracts, as permitted by the applicable PRC laws and
regulations at the relevant time.

Confirmation of independent non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the aforesaid
Structured Contracts and confirmed that, during the relevant financial
year:

(i) the Structured Contracts have been entered into in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the Group;

(i) the Structured Contracts are on normal commercial terms; and

(i) the Structured Contracts have been entered into in accordance with
relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

Confirmation of auditor of the Company

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to report on the
Group’s Continuing Connected Transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The auditor of the Company has performed certain pre-determined audit
procedures regarding the Structured Contracts and confirmed that:

() the transactions carried out during the eight months ended
31 August 2020 have been entered into in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Structured Contracts, and have been
operated so that the profit generated by the PRC Operating Schools
and the School Sponsors have been substantially retained by the
Group;
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no dividends or other distributions have been made by the PRC
Operating Schools and the School Sponsors to the holders of its
school sponsor’s interest which are not otherwise subsequently
assigned or transferred to the Group, and

(i

(i) the Structured Contracts and if any, any new contracts entered into,
renewed or reproduced between the Group and the PRC Operating
Entities and the School Sponsors during the relevant financial period
are fair and reasonable, or advantageous, so far as the Group is

concerned and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

PROVISION OF ONLINE EDUCATION TECHNOLOGY
SERVICE BY BEIJING LIANHE

In light of the previous quality online education technology service provided by
Beijing Lianhe Open Education Technology Co., Ltd. ( 3t S B A B BH%
BBR/AF)) (“Beijing Lianhe”) to the Group and to reinforce the online education
of the Group, on 27 August 2020, Beijing Lianhe, which is indirectly owned as
to 90% by Mr. Li and 10% by Ms. Yang, and Huihuang Company entered into
the Beijing Lianhe Online Education Technology Service Cooperation Agreement
pursuant to which Beijing Lianhe agreed to provide the following online education
technology services to the Group to support its establishment, operation and
maintenance of Tronclass Online Education Platform (43 iR £ & 2 B F
&) for a consideration of RMB3.17 million: (i) Beijing Lianhe shall establish a
designated project group and designate specific staff for the implementation of
the Tronclass Online Education Platform project, and provide timely update to the
Group on the project progress; (i) Beijing Lianhe shall assist the Group in the
expansion and operation of its online education platform; (iii) Beijing Lianhe shall
assist the Group in the establishment of its knowledge resources center, the
establishment of its online education courses including their design, recording,
editing and uploading, as well as the normal operation and continuous upgrade
of such online education courses; (iv) Beijing Lianhe shall keep record of
statistics on the students’ use of the online education courses, and shall provide
suggestions based on analysis of such statistics so as to improve the Group’s
management of its online education courses; (v) Beijing Lianhe shall assist the
Group to improve its online examination system, including its exam questions
management, exam management and exam results management; and (vi) Beijing
Lianhe shall provide other relevant services to the Group which are helpful to
fasten the establishment of Tronclass Online Education Platform and improve its
online education quality.
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The consideration was determined through arm’s length negotiation on normal
commercial terms between Beijing Lianhe and the Group with reference to the
market price of similar online education technology services provided by other
Independent Third Parties at the relevant time. The term of the agreement shall
be from 1 September 2020 to 31 January 2021. Upon expiry of the term and
subject to mutual agreement between the parties, the term of the agreement
may be extended with a supplemental agreement to be entered into between the
parties.

As at the date of the agreement, Beijing Lianhe was indirectly owned as to 90%
by Mr. Li, a controlling shareholder and an executive Director of the Company,
and therefore was a connected person of the Company pursuant to Rules
14A.07 (4) and 14A.12(1)(c) of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the transaction
contemplated under the Beijing Lianhe Online Education Technology Service
Cooperation Agreement constituted a connected transaction for the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

As all the applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio) calculated
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for the transaction contemplated under
the Beijing Lianhe Online Education Technology Service Cooperation Agreement,
both on a standalone basis and on an aggregated basis, were less than 5% as
at the date of the agreement, such transaction constitutes a non-fully exempted
connected transaction which is exempted from the circular and shareholders’
approval requirements but is subject to the reporting and announcement
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, as of the date of this annual report, the
Company had no connected transactions which fell to be disclosed in accordance
with the provisions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in relation to the
disclosure of connected transactions.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions entered into by the Group during the
eight months ended 31 August 2020 are set out in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements.

None of these related party transactions constitutes a connected transaction as
defined under the Listing Rules that is required to be disclosed, except for those
described above in the paragraphs headed “Connected Transactions”, in respect
of which the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules have been complied with.
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DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the charitable and other donations made by the
Group amounted to RMB1,980,138.

SIGNIFICANT LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

During the eight months ended 31 August 2020, the Company was not engaged
in any litigation or arbitration of material importance and no litigation or claim
of material importance is known to the Directors to be pending or threatening
against the Company.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the eight months ended 31 August 2020 and up to the date of this
annual report, the Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Company.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to article 164(1) of the Articles of Association, the Directors, secretary
and other officers and every auditor for the time being of the Company and
the liquidator or trustees (if any) for the time being acting in relation to any
of the affairs of the Company and every one of them, and every one of their
heirs, executors and administrators, shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them,
their or any of their heirs, executors or administrators, shall or may incur or
sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices or
trusts; and none of them shall be answerable for the acts, receipts, neglects or
defaults of the other or others of them or for joining in any receipts for the sake
of conformity, or for any bankers or other persons with whom any moneys or
effects belonging to the Company shall or may be lodged or deposited for safe
custody, or for insufficiency or deficiency of any security upon which any moneys
of or belonging to the Company shall be placed out on or invested, or for any
other loss, misfortune or damage which may happen in the execution of their
respective offices or trusts, or in relation thereto; PROVIDED THAT this indemnity
shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may
attach to any of said persons.

IMPORTANT EVENTS SINCE THE YEAR END

The important events occurred since the eight months ended 31 August 2020
are disclosed in note 39 of the consolidated financial statements.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) has reviewed and
discussed with the management in relation to the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Company, the internal controls and financial report
matters, and the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance. The
annual results has been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance practices. Information on the corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages
114 to 130 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued shares,
the prescribed minimum percentage of public float approved by the Stock
Exchange and permitted under the Listing Rules, was held by the public at all
times during the Reporting Period and as at the date of this report.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young was appointed as the auditor for the eight months ended
31 August 2020. The accompanying financial statements prepared in accordance
with HKFRSs have been audited by Ernst & Young.

Ernst & Young shall retire at the AGM and, being eligible, will offer itself for
re-appointment. A resolution for the reappointment of Ernst & Young as auditor
will be proposed at the AGM.

RECOMMENDATION TO CONSULT PROFESSIONAL TAX
ADVICE

If the Shareholders of the Company are not sure about the tax effect on the
purchase, holding, sale, trading or exercise of any rights attached to the relevant
shares of the Company, they are recommended to consult independent experts
for advice.

On behalf of the Board
Li Xiaoxuan

Chairman

China, 30 November 2020
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to the establishment of good corporate governance
practices and procedures with a view to being a transparent and responsible
organization which is open and accountable to the Shareholders. The Board
strives for adhering to the principles of corporate governance and has adopted
sound corporate governance practices to meet the legal and commercial
standards, focusing on areas such as internal control, fair disclosure and
accountability to all Shareholders to ensure the transparency and accountability
of all operations of the Company. The Company believes that effective corporate
governance is an essential factor to create more value for its Shareholders. The
Board will continue to review and improve the corporate governance practices of
the Group from time to time to ensure that the Group is led by an effective Board
in order to optimize return for Shareholders.

During the eight months ended 31 August 2020, the Company has complied with
the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The overall management of the Company’s operation is vested to the Board.

The Board takes overall responsibility to oversee all major matters of the Group,
including the formulation and approval of all policy matters, overall strategic
development of the Group, monitoring and controlling the Group’s operation
and financial performance, internal control and risk management systems, and
monitoring of the performance of the senior management. The Directors have to
make decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the Company
are delegated to the chief executive officer (Mr. Zhao Shuai) and the senior
management of the Company. The delegated functions and work tasks are
periodically reviewed by the Board.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises seven Directors,
consisting of three executive Directors, Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (the chairman of the
Board), Mr. Zhao Shuai (the chief executive officer) and Ms. Shen Chunmei, and
four independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Hu Jianbo, Mr. Kwong
Wai Sun Wilson, Mr. Chan Tung Hoi and Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter. During the eight
months ended 31 August 2020, all Directors have given sufficient time and
attention to affairs of the Group. Each executive Director is suitably qualified
for his/her position, and has sufficient experience to hold the position so as to
carry out his/her duties effectively and efficiently. Biographical information of the
Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographic Details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this annual report.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there is no other financial, business or
family relationship among the members of the Board.

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has complied with Rule
3.10(1) of the Listing Rules to appoint at least three independent non-executive
Directors. In addition, at least one independent non-executive Director possesses
appropriate professional accounting qualifications or financial management
expertise in accordance with Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules and the Company
has appointed four independent non-executive Directors representing more than
one-third of the Board and is in compliance with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

1.

Purpose

1.1

The purpose of this policy is to set out the approach to achieve
diversity on the Board.

Policy statement

2.1

2.2

With a view of achieving a sustainable and balanced development,
the Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives and its sustainable development.

In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been
considered from a wide range of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service,
and any other factors that the Board may consider relevant and
applicable from time to time. All Board appointments will be based
on meritocracy and shall be taken full account of the benefits of
diversity on the Board when considering candidates.

Measurable objectives

3.1

The selection of candidates will be based on the Group’s
Nomination Policy and will take into account the Board Diversity
Policy. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board, having due
regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board and the needs of
the Board without focusing on a single diversity aspect.

Review and Monitor

41

4.2

The Nomination Committee will review this policy in due course to
ensure its effectiveness. The Nomination Committee will discuss
any required amendments to this policy and propose amendments
for approval by the Board.

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of
this policy, including reviewing the composition of the board of
directors at least once a year, taking into account the benefits of all
relevant levels of diversity, and following this policy when making
recommendations for director appointments. The Nomination
Committee will also ensure that board diversity is part of evaluating
the effectiveness of the board.

Disclosure of this policy

5.1

5.2

This policy is published on the Group’s website (www.xingaojiao.
com).

A summary of this policy, together with any measurable objectives/
specific diversification objectives (if any) and progress made
to implement this policy, will be disclosed in the “Corporate
Governance Report” in the annual report of the Group.
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NOMINATION POLICY

1.

Purpose

1.1

1.2

The Committee shall nominate suitable candidates to the Board
and advise the Board on the appointment of directors and the
succession plan of directors.

This policy sets out the main selection criteria and principles used
by the Committee in making any relevant recommendations.

Selection criteria

2.1

2.2

The Committee considers, include (but are not limited to)
the following factors when assessing candidates, and makes
recommendations on the appointment of any proposed candidate
to the Board or re-appointment of any existing member(s) of the
Board:

(@  Integrity;

(b)  Achievements, experience and reputation in China’s private
education industry and other related industries;

(c)  Commitment in respect of sufficient time, interests and
attention to the business of the Company;

(d)  Diversification of the Board in all aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service;

(e)  the ability to assist and support management and to make a
significant contribution to the success of the Company; and

(@) any other relevant factors as determined by the Committee or
the Board from time to time.

The appointment of any proposed candidate to the Board or
reappointment of any existing member(s) of the Board shall be
made in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association and
other applicable rules and regulations.
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Nomination process

3.1 Board members are invited to nominate candidates, if any, for
consideration by the Committee. The Committee may also nominate
candidates for their consideration, and the Secretary of the
Committee will then meet.

3.2 For the appointment of any proposed candidate to the Board, the
Nomination Committee shall undertake adequate due diligence
in respect of such candidate and make recommendations for the
Board’s consideration and approval.

3.3 For the re-appointment of any existing member(s) of the Board,
the Nomination Committee shall make recommendations to the
Board for its consideration and recommendation, for the proposed
candidates to stand for re-election at a general meeting.

3.4 For the procedures for shareholders to nominate any candidate
for election as a director, please refer to the “PROCEDURES FOR
SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING AND PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS'
MEETING” published in the annual report of the Company.

3.5 The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to its
recommendation of candidates to stand for election at a general
meeting.

Approval and review of this policy

Any future amendments to this policy must be reviewed and approved by
the Nomination Committee and submitted to the Board for approval.
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MODEL CODE

The Company has also adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 of the
Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the
Directors in March 2017. Having made specific enquiry with all Directors of
the Company, all Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code regarding directors’ securities transactions
during the eight months ended 31 August 2020.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Since their appointments, independent non-executive Directors have played a
significant role in the Board by bringing their independent judgment at the Board
meeting and scrutinizing the Group’s performance. Their views carry significant
weight in the Board’s decision, in particular, they bring an impartial view to bear
on issues of the Group’s strategy, performance and control. All independent
non-executive Directors possess extensive academic, professional and industry
expertise and management experience and have provided their professional
advices to the Board. The independent non-executive Directors provide
independent advice on the Group’s business strategy, results and management
so that all interests of Shareholders can be taken into account, and the interests
of the Company and its Shareholders can be protected.

The Board has four independent non-executive Directors with two of them,
Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson and Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter, possessing appropriate
professional accounting qualifications and financial management expertise in
compliance with the requirements set out in Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Company has received confirmations of independence from each of the
existing independent non-executive Directors in accordance with Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. Based on the contents of such confirmations, the Company
considers that all the independent non-executive Directors are independent and
that they have met the specific independence guidelines as set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

There is no change in information of Directors which is required to be disclosed
in this annual report pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) and 13.51B(1) of the Listing
Rules.
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TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

All Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities. Any newly
appointed Director would receive an induction package covering the Group’s
operations, businesses, governance policies and the statutory regulatory
obligations and responsibilities of a director of a listed company. The Directors
have been informed of the requirement under code provision A.6.5 of the
Corporate Governance Code regarding continuous professional development.
According to the records maintained by the Company, the current Directors
received the following training with an emphasis on the roles, functions and
duties of a director of a listed company in compliance with the new requirement
of the Corporate Governance Code on continuous professional development for
the eight months ended 31 August 2020:

RER/BREG gt /0% EER
BAIR LR E R HitE R

Corporate Governance/Updates on
Laws, Rules and Regulations

Accounting/Financial/Management or
Other Professional Skills

HEBE,/ HEBE/

AN k= B R HHRE

Attend Attend

Read Seminars/ Read Seminars/

EENR Name of Directors materials Briefings materials Briefings

BITES Executive Directors

TEHEE Mr. Li Xiaoxuan y y Y y

P e Mr. Zhao Shuai y y Y y

RESLZL (R2020F Ms. Shen Chunmei y y Y Y

8A2THEZ ) (appointed on 27 August 2020)
BUFHTES Independent non-executive
Directors

BREELE Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson y y Y y

HEREE Mr. Hu Jianbo y Y Y Y

RE&BEE Mr. Chan Tung Hoi y y Y y

TrHREL Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter y y Y Y
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DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has arranged appropriate
insurance cover in respect of potential legal actions against its Directors and
officers.

MEETINGS

The Board meets to discuss the overall strategy as well as the operation and
financial performance of the Group from time to time. Directors may participate
either in person or through electronic means of communications.

The Board will convene the board meetings at least four times a year.

The Board commits that once any Board meeting is held, it will ensure that all
Directors will be provided with relevant materials relating to the matters brought
before the meetings. They will have separate and independent access to the
senior management and the company secretary of the Company at all time and
may seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense. Where
queries are raised by Directors, steps would be taken to respond as promptly
and fully as possible. All Directors will have the opportunity to include matters in
the agenda for Board meetings. Notices of at least 14 days of Board meetings
will be given to the Directors and Board procedures comply with the Articles, as
well as relevant rules and regulations.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board committee meetings are/will be
recorded in sufficient detail to include the matters considered by the Board and
the Board committees and the decisions reached, including any concerns raised
by the directors.

Draft minutes of each Board meeting and Board committee meeting are/will be
sent to the directors for comments within a reasonable time after the date on
which the meeting is held.
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The individual attendance record of each Director at the meetings of the Board
and the general meetings during the eight months ended 31 August 2020 is set
out below:

HEBEEg HEBRER

BERH RERE

Attendance/ Attendance/

Number of Number of

EENR Name of Directors Board Meeting(s)  General Meeting(s)

HBTES Executive Directors

T AL Mr. Li Xiaoxuan 6/6 11

RN & Mr. Zhao Shuai 6/6 11

MEMLZL Ms. Shen Chunmei (appointed on 27 August 2020) = =

(2020827 EZ1E)

BIUFHITES Independent non-executive Directors

BREELE Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 6/6 1/1

BRI 4 Mr. Hu Jianbo 6/6 1/1

PR&GEE Mr. Chan Tung Hoi 6/6 11

TrEEL Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter 6/6 1/1

* HREERTPEANLENESREERI4RBREEE
AFZe s -HAtERBEREEBRBE L
EREALERRARS

ZT EBEREBRES

REMZLIEBEZERYUTES  H20206F8A27H
AR

As the 14-day quarantine policy is implementated in Hong Kong and mainland China due to the
COVID-19 epidemic, Mr. Li Xiaoxuan, Mr. Zhao Shuan and Mr. Hu Jianbo attended the general
meeting via video conference.

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF
DIRECTORS

Ms. Shen Chunmei was appointed as an executive Director with effect from
27 August 2020.
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Save as disclosed above, for the eight months ended 31 August 2020, there is
no change in information of directors and chief executives of the Company.

Each of Mr. Li Xiaoxuan, Mr. Zhao Shuai and Ms. Shen Chunmei, being the
executive Directors of the Company has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a specific term of three years. The service contract of
Mr. Li Xiaoxuan and Mr. Zhao Shuai commencing from the Listing Date and the
service contract of Ms. Shen Chunmei commencing from 27 August 2020, will
automatically continue thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either party on the other, which notice shall not expire
until after the fixed term.

Each of Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson, Mr. Hu Jianbo, Mr. Chan Tung Hoi and
Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter, being the independent non-executive Director of the
Company, has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for an
initial fixed term of one year commencing from the Listing Date, 22 December
2017, 26 August 2019 and 26 August 2019 respectively and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
by served by the independent non-executive Director to our Company or with
immediate effect following the notice in writing served by our Company to the
independent non-executive Director.

The above service contracts are subject to the retirement of directors by rotation
and re-election at an annual general meeting at least once every three years in
accordance with the Articles.

The Articles provide that any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy in the Board shall hold office until the first general meeting of the
Company after his/her appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting, and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of
the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Details of the remuneration by band of the members of the Board and senior
management of the Company, whose biographies are set out on pages 51 to 58
of this annual report, for the eight months ended 31 August 2020.

FEE (AR®T)

Remuneration band (RMB)

AE

Number of individual
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The Board has established (i) audit committee, (i) remuneration committee;
and (iii) nomination committee, with defined terms of reference. The terms
of reference of the board committees which explain their respective role and
the authority delegated to them by the Board are available on the website of
the Company at www.xingaojiao.com and the website of the Stock Exchange
at www.hkexnews.hk. The board committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able
to seek independent professional advice and other assistance in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee pursuant to a resolution of the
Directors passed on 20 March 2017. The primary duties of the audit committee
are to make recommendation to the Board on the appointment and removal of
external auditors, review the financial statements and material advice in respect
of financial reporting, and oversee the risk management and internal control
systems of the Company. Their composition and written terms of reference are
in line with the Corporate Governance Code. As of the date of this annual report,
the audit committee comprises of three members, namely, three independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. Hu Jianbo, Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson and Dr. Pang
Tsz Kit Peter, Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson is the chairman of the audit committee.

The Group’s unaudited financial results for the six months ended 30 June 2020
and the audited financial results for the eight months ended 31 August 2020
have been reviewed by the audit committee, which was of the opinion that the
preparation of the relevant financial statements complied with the applicable
accounting standards and requirements and that adequate disclosure has been
made. The audit committee has also reviewed the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group, and selection and appointment of the external
auditors. In addition, the audit committee reviewed the internal control of the
Group and oversaw the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group during the eight months end 31 August 2020.
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During the eight months ended 31 August 2020, 2 meetings were held by the
audit committee. The individual record of each member of the audit committee
at the meetings of the audit committee is set out below:

HERE

£ZE®

BRI

Attendance/

Number of

Committee

EEHR Name of Director Meeting(s)
BEEEE Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 2/2
HEEEE Mr. Hu Jianbo 2/2
¥ EHRIEL Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter 2/2

FNEES
ARDABBER017FEIB20BERLFMEE S I 5T
VEARESEE FNZESNETEREANAE
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a remuneration committee on 20 March 2017 with
written terms of reference. The primary duties of the remuneration committee
to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of all
executive Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments (including any compensation payable for loss
or termination of their office or appointment), and make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors. Their composition and
written terms of reference are in line with the Corporate Governance Code. As of
the date of this annual report, the remuneration committee comprises of three
members, namely, Mr. Li Xiaoxuan, an executive Director, and two independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. Hu Jianbo and Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson.
Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson is the chairman of the remuneration committee.

During the eight months ended 31 August 2020, the remuneration committee
reviewed the remuneration packages of the Directors and the senior
management.
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During the eight months ended 31 August 2020, 2 meetings were held by
the remuneration committee. The individual record of each member of the
remuneration committee at the meeting of the remuneration committee is set out
below:

HEXE,

ZEg

EEXE

Attendance/

Number of

Committee

EEHR Name of Director Meeting(s)

BEEEE Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 2/2

ZEEEE Mr. Li Xiaoxuan 2/2

R EE Mr. Hu Jianbo 2/2
REZES NOMINATION COMMITTEE

AABBER2017FIABERLIRBREES 5]
VEORESZE -REZEENTERSEATHE
NESEMER BEERAR TRZEEREZA
HBUMREREADESSHESENESAE
URARFEREATL A -YEEENESTAER
BEESRHEEEZEN REEZEETERSH
HEEBREZEA BEEFRAEERE ZELR-
REEBETENLCRRBAEINEERK - A
ZEENARKREABEZEFTELEESATE
BRXHWRE - BEXFEHRA - BEREZEEH=ZBK
BAKR —RBYTESTZHEERMBBILIE
BITEESRELBAERBEGEEE -TZH A4 A
RBELZEGXRE-

HE2020F8R3HENBR - REZESC M
EEENRB - RAEREAN-

The Company established a nomination committee on 30 March 2017 with
written terms of reference. The primary duties of the nomination committee are
to review the structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular basis
and to recommend to the Board the suitable candidates for directors after
consideration of the nominees’ independence and quality in order to ensure
the fairness and transparency of all nominations. In identifying suitable director
candidates and making such recommendations to the Board, the nomination
committee would also take into account various aspects of a candidate, including
but not limited to his/her education background, professional experience,
experience with the relevant industry and past directorships. Their composition
and written terms of reference are in line with the Corporate Governance Code.
As of the date of this annual report, the nomination committee comprises
of three members, namely, Mr. Li Xiaoxuan, an executive Director, and two
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Chan Tung Hoi and Mr. Kwong Wai Sun
Wilson. Mr. Li Xiaoxuan is the chairman of the nomination committee.

The nomination committee reviewed the structure, size and composition of the
Board, during the eight months ended 31 August 2020.
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During the eight months ended 31 August 2020, 2 meetings were held by the
nomination committee. The individual record of each member of the nomination
committee at the meetings of the nomination committee is set out below:

HERE

£ZE®

BRI

Attendance/

Number of

Committee

EEHR Name of Directors Meeting(s)
EE 0 Mr. Li Xiaoxuan 2/2
BEELEE Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 2/2
REL\FEE Mr. Chan Tung Hoi 2/2

NEME

ARANAAMERERRZT HEEHBHRN
FEREERSREEBENEEFE] —#H-&
ERZTYEBHNELMRAEIMRZRE-BH
BLTRAEIMFZHAE BEERLLE[MALD
AER RBEHE CHREXELAREHEBESE
FHSFEZARLMNEEI - EREAQATNE
ERBARYTESHESZ L

Bt %5 BR 3R

EEE R ERVBERVBRMNXSETEER
RARARAEEBAMRFENNBRER  ZF
BHEBERLOFRAEBRRARBRAEKE L
REZHENYBERRE RERRERE-EEEY
THAEZEBRUREAEESBEECENRIBRE
REFANBEHRBERNENERTAPERE -

ARATIBRBEM L KETHEBA AR TR
RNEFHRAFR(BULBMKRE] 6

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is Ms. Wong Wai Ling, whose biography
details are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” in this annual report. Ms. Wong Wai Ling has been
informed of the requirement of the Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. Ms. Wong Wai
Ling has informed the Company that she has taken at least 15 hours of training
covering corporate governance and accounting matters per annum during the
Reporting Period to comply with the requirements under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules. Her primary contact person of the Company is Ms. Shen Chunmei, an
executive Director.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board, supported by the chief financial officer and the finance department,
is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements of the Company
and the Group for each financial year which shall give a true and fair view
of the financial position, performance and cash flow of the Company and its
subsidiaries for that period. The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of Ernst & Young, the Company’s external auditor, on the
financial statements are set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s
Report” in this annual report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The audit committee of the Board is responsible for making recommendation to
the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the authorized
external auditors and to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement
of the external auditors, and any questions of resignation or dismissal of the
external auditors. The Company engages Ernst & Young as its external auditor.
Details of the fees paid/payable to Ernst & Young during the eight months ended
31 August 2020 are as follows.

AREBT T

RMB’000

ZE AR Audit services 4,500
I E R Non-audit services =
4,500

EERMBHRRNEML

EEEERVUAQNTEE2020F8831BLENEAR
KB FE SRR o

EEENESERULKBENEEREN UEES
SRAUREITFRENYBERAMERETHE
B HMUEETHE - EEEONESS2RBNER
HARBER RARASHAEESH-

2 B K BB 4

AEENREBREERABEF RGN EERESR
B-ERIPB BEREFEH Y EEREBN
K BMRVYBERVWITEERETERERER
REREEREEAR URREBASENEE -Z
ZRBRETERE (MIFHKR) REENEBEREN
Rk MEAERERTEEEANAERARIBXE
HEEMFBENRB - ESETARAHLIEE
EREERAPEFHNRAGENERETURTHES
BEEEENYEE - R BERZESETEEER
Kt AEENABEERABEHN RS -BLD
AHEAFHAH AQA KA THRBERRER
UHEMTHAEETEARAEENERERRABE
LES A

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the eight months ended 31 August 2020.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and information as
are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed assessment of the
financial and other information put before them for approval. The management
provides all members of the board with monthly updates on the Company’s
performance, positions and prospects.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are featured with a
defined management structure with limits of authority and well-rounded policies
and procedures, and are designed to facilitate effective and efficient operations,
to ensure reliability of financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws
and regulations, to identify and manage potential risks, and to safeguard assets
of the Group. Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The Board
also recognises its overall responsibility for the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness on an ongoing basis.
In addition, the audit committee also has the responsibility for reviewing and
assessing the Group’s risk management and internal control systems. From the
Listing Date to the date of this annual report, the Company has adopted the
following policies and procedures and taken the following measures to improve
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group.
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In order to ensure the effectiveness of our risk management and internal
control system, the Company has established various management and
control procedures a (“Risk Management and Internal Control Procedures”) for
identifying, evaluating, and managing the significant risks associated with the
achievement of its operational objectives. The Company will conduct complete
the Risk Management and Internal Control Procedures with scientific analysis and
assessment, to recognize potential risk points. By virtue of the Risk Management
and Internal Control Procedures, the senior management of the Group reviews
and evaluates the internal control process, monitors any risk factors on a regular
basis, and reports to the Board on any findings and measures taken to address
such variances and identified risks. The Board, with the assistance of the senior
management of the Company, also conducts regular management meetings and
on-site inspections to check and monitor the potential risks associated with the
business operation and financial management of the Group.

With the integration of the real situation of the Company and various applicable
laws and regulations, the management of the Company can act in concert
to develop solutions towards the risks, to organize the business operation
systematically, and to monitor and mitigate possible risks. The Company also
requires all staff of the Group to comply with certain internal risk management
and internal control standards, and together build a regulatory environment
of risk control and standardized operation. In addition, the Company has also
established policies and procedures with clear segregation of duties applicable
to certain operating units to ensure the effectiveness of risk management
and internal controls. The day-to-day operation is also entrusted to the
individual department or school, which is accountable for its own conduct and
performance, and is required to strictly adhere to the policies set by the Board
or the audit committee. This process is subject to continuous improvement.

Meanwhile, with the assistance of the professional auditor, the audit committee
will supervise the Company’s revenue and expenditure for the financial and
economic activities, to further strengthen the functions of risk management, to
ensure the effective implementation of risk management and internal control
system and the Company’s standardized operation and healthy development. In
order to comply with the relevant requirements under the Corporate Governance
Code in relation to the corporate risk management and internal controls, the
Company has established an internal audit department for the purposes of
simultaneous updates between the corporate governance and the Code on
Corporate Governance and continuously improving the effectiveness of the
Company’s risk management and internal controls.

The Company has provided inside information training courses to the Directors
and senior management of the Company to ensure that all relevant facts and
circumstances that may have material effect on the share price of the Company
is assessed in a timely manner and that any material information which
comes to the knowledge of any one or more officers of the Group be promptly
identified, assessed and, if appropriate, escalated for the attention of the Board
to determine whether a disclosure is required.
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The Board acknowledges its responsibility to ensure that sound and effective
internal control systems are maintained so as to safeguard the Group’s assets
and the interest of the Shareholders. The Board has developed its systems of
internal control and risk management and is also responsible for reviewing and
maintaining an adequate internal control system to safeguard the interests of the
shareholders and the assets of the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Board, with the assistance of the audit
committee, has conducted review of the risk management and internal control
and considered the risk management and internal control systems of the
Company are adequate and being implemented effectively. Such review covered
all material controls, financial, compliance and operational controls as well as
risk management mechanisms.

The Board, with the assistance of the audit committee, has also reviewed
and was satisfied with the adequacy of the Company’s resources, the staff's
qualifications and experience, the training courses and the related budgets in
accounting, internal review and financial reporting functions.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING AND PUTTING
FORWARD PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

Pursuant to the Article 58 of the Articles, any one or more member(s) of the
Company (“Shareholder(s)”) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board of the Company by mail at 25/F, Tower A, Global
Trade Center, No. 36 North 3rd Ring East Road, Dongcheng District, Beijing, the
PRC, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting
shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

PROCEDURES BY WHICH ENQUIRIES MAY BE PUT TO
THE BOARD

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by addressing
them to the Board of Directors of the Company (Board of Directors) by mail at
25/F, Tower A, Global Trade Center, No. 36 North 3rd Ring East Road, Dongcheng
District, Beijing, the PRC or by email ir@xingaojiao.com. The investor relations
department of the Company is responsible for forwarding communications
relating to matters within the Board’s direct responsibilities to the Board and
communications relating to ordinary business matters, such as suggestions and
inquiries, to the chief executive officer of the Company.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has adopted the Memorandum and the Articles on 20 March 2017,
which has been effective since 20 March 2017 and the Listing Date, respectively.
There has been no significant change in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the eight months ended 31 August 2020.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognizes the importance of maintaining clear, timely and effective
communication with the Shareholders of the Company and investors. Therefore,
the Group is committed to maintaining a high degree of transparency to ensure
the investors and the shareholders of the Company receiving accurate, clear,
comprehensive and timely information of the Group by the publication of annual
reports, announcements and circular. The Company also publishes all corporate
correspondence on the Company’s website at www.xingaojiao.com. The Board
and senior management of the Company maintain regular dialogues with
institutional investors and analysts from time to time to keep them informed
of the Group’s strategy, operations, management and plans. Members of the
Board and the Board committees will attend the annual general meeting of the
Company and answer questions raised during the meeting. Separate resolutions
would be proposed at the general meeting on each substantially separate issue.

The chairman of the general meetings of the Company would explain the
procedures for conducting poll before putting a resolution to vote. The results of
the voting by poll will be declared at the meeting and published on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has approved and adopted a dividend policy on 29 March 2019.
In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend
amount, the Board shall take into account, among others, the financial results
of the Group, the general financial conditions of the Group, cash flow, capital
requirements and surplus of the Group and the interests of the shareholders
of the Company. The dividend policy adopted by the Board is intended for the
Company to maintain adequate cash reserves to meet its capital requirements,
fund its future growth and enhance shareholder value when dividends are
recommended.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the shareholders of
China New Higher Education Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China New Higher
Education Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 137 to 243, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 August 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the period then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 August 2020, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
period then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided
in that context.
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EECBITAREREM B F#E5HH5#FA We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities

AENEF-—HPRANEME BEELEERE

for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report,

BRNEFT- At EEMNETEFEHTELEDES  including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the

EHRAMBERREANERRARMETIEMA  performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks

BF - BEENEBFEF(BREABEELUTEEMH  of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of

THER)INER HEZSHMEMSS T HFI|RARE our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters

REGFTERRMTER below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

Key audit matter
BREENSBE

Income Tax

Vi xA

As set out in note 11 to the financial statements, according to the
Implementation Rules for the Law for Promoting Private Education, private
schools for which the school sponsors do not require reasonable returns
are eligible to enjoy the same preferential tax treatments as public schools.
The preferential tax treatment polices applicable to private schools
requiring reasonable returns are to be separately formulated by the relevant
authorities under the State Council.

BB R RMEFIAE RIE (FPEARENBRIBERE
EERGA)  SEREPRETFTERSERHRNRHEREERE
THARERERNRKERSFE -EABR TEEBEIMES
THREEARERCEORRPIERNBREESFERE -

No corporate income tax was provided on the income from the provision
of formal education services by Yunnan School, Guizhou School, Northeast
School, Guangxi Schools and Central China School (the “PRC Private
Schools”). In accordance with the historical tax returns filed to the relevant
tax authorities and the tax compliance confirmations obtained therefrom,
the PRC Private Schools did not pay corporate income tax for the income
from formal educational services and has enjoyed the preferential tax
treatment since their establishment. As a result, no income tax expense was
recognised for the income from the provision of formal educational services
by the PRC Private Schools during the period.
EXETEANEEER EMNER RILER BEEERRES
BR(TPERPERDRHEBEHERBEAASHBAGTIREE
AR - REBTOEEREKBEARINBIMATERBREESR
AR EHERNSHRESRER TERHERLIRMNEEHK
ERBMBBMABMNECEMESH BERZLUAR—BEZEHK
EESBE-AI RBRITERTFERNEREUEZERE RE
B ABRRMEBHRMAZ-

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
EENETNNEERRETSE

The audit procedures included the following:
B RFEEUATRIE:

° Discussed with management to evaluate their
interpretation of the tax laws and their assessment of
the tax obligations of the schools operated by the Group
for the current period,;

HEEEBENR TAREEBLINMERAEY
BEEELXAHEKSEERNMAREHENTM;

° Evaluated management’s assessment on the application
of preferential tax or applicable tax rate to the
respective schools;

T EEEHSERERAEERERGERAB R
B ST

° Examined the historical tax filing returns filed to the
relevant tax authorities;
BEEOMERABBEBERINWBEMNT PR,
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Key audit matter
BREENEE

Income Tax

Ve xA

There were significant judgements involved in management’s analysis and
assessment, such as the assessment on the possible outcome of the tax
provision based on historical experiences and interpretation of the relevant
tax laws and regulations in respect of the preferential tax treatment enjoyed
by the PRC Private Schools.
EEENINMRFIGEIRERHE HINREREL LRI
BREENTERER UREBRTERREREZENHINEERSF
BHMEERERERNERE-

Information about the income tax was disclosed in Note 3 Summary of
significant accounting policies — Income tax and Note 11 /ncome tax to the
financial statements.
FEFSHENENEERNY B RRNAEAS T HEME AT
EHRMENAEH -

Revenue Recognition

WA RER

Revenue mainly comprised the tuition fees and boarding fees from students,
and these fees are collected through the official payment channels at
the beginning of each academic year. Students’ identity and applicable
program are registered with the relevant education authorities. Tuition and
boarding fees are calculated by reference to number of students and the
annual fee of applicable program for the academic year, and is recognized
proportionately over the relevant period of the applicable program. For the
portion of tuition and boarding fees received from students but not earned
is recorded as deferred revenue. Given the significant amount and volume
of transactions and the risk of overstatement of revenue, we considered it a
key audit matter.

BRAFTERELEZERAIBEAN ZZERARZEFHBE
EREAXNRENR -BXEMNEAREARECRERHKAE
ERER -ZBERABENZSRZEFNELYERBEARE
NWEEFE TR ERREEEAREREAEIANR 2 W/E &
ARARNELEEERFTEEBOHTABELERA-ZEETZHN
SHREEEARSARANAR EEREAERETEE.

Information about the revenue recognition was disclosed in Note 3 Summary
of significant accounting policies — Revenue recognition and Note 6
Revenue, other income and gains to the financial statements.
FRABRABRINERNEBEN BBRRMIIEA ST HRHE -
WAEZRMTTOMA - Eftt i 725 R 18 75 °
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEENENNMEEBRENSER

° Discussed with the Group’s external PRC legal
advisors to understand their view with respect to the
interpretation of the existing applicable laws which
would have impact on the applicable tax on the
respective schools; and
HEEBENFENIBEZEBRNR THREKS
HRTERZENBEBNERY 25 rEaY
BEERNEABEEERE R

° Assessed the eligibility of the preferential tax treatment
of schools with the assistance of our internal tax
specialist by reviewing the applicable tax laws and
regulations, any new policies or rules, and historical
tax returns filed to assess if the management’s
understanding and interpretation could be supported.
EEMPIABREEINHST BREEE
ANBRBEERER EAHBEERRAUR
EENELSRBCH THERNBEKREERS
BEK UFLRETHEAEEENEMR RSB
o

Our audit procedures included understanding the basis of
revenue recognition and the overall transaction process and
procedures adopted by the management; and we tested
management’s key internal controls in relation to revenue
receipts process made through the official payment channels.
On a sampling basis, we reviewed and checked the relevant
supporting documentation including the student payment
records, official student records registered with the relevant
education authorities, and the payment remittance receipts
of tuition and boarding fees. In addition, we recalculated the
amount of deferred revenue and the revenue recognized in the
period. We also checked the related disclosures.
EENETEFER TREEERMANKARIE
EREEAXZBEREF - EETRERARERES
REBIXNEENBRANBERBRASEZETRA-F
SHEHEREIEE X (BRELEHETHE KB
BAHERBEETMNEANELETBRINTEERST
BENERKE)ETEHARBE-IIN BEEH
AEEEZWASERREABEINBRA - BEETRE
HEEESE.
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The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other
than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to
do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Qur report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBER AT
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Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Lawrence K.W. Lau.

TG FTEIE AT Ernst & Young
BEEIET Certified Public Accountants
&8 Hong Kong
2020511 A30H 30 November 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020
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wE(AR®T)
-8/ FREF

REVENUE
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gains

Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses

Other expenses

Finance costs

PROFIT BEFORE TAX
Income tax expense

PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD/YEAR

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS
OF THE PARENT

Basic (RMB)

— For profit for the period/year

Diluted (RMB)
— For profit for the period/year

B E2020F HZE2019F
8A31H IEN\EA 12A31ALEFE
Eight months ended Year ended
31 August 2020 31 December 2019
Bt ARMT T ARBT T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
6 721,644 1,089,221
(432,997) (546,582)
288,647 542,639
6 74,678 163,090
(10,476) (13,957)
(42,308) (84,891)
(10,512) (27,208)
7 (76,388) (93,806)
8 223,641 485,867
11 (26,546) (565,513)
197,095 430,354
174,909 386,446
22,186 43,908
197,095 430,354

13
0.11 0.26
0.11 0.26
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PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD/YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)

THAT WILL NOT BE RECLASSIFIED TO PROFIT

OR LOSS IN SUBSEQUENT PERIODS:
Exchange differences on translation of

financial statements

Net other comprehensive income/(l0ss)
that will not be reclassified to profit or
loss in subsequent periods

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)
FOR THE PERIOD/YEAR, NET OF TAX

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE PERIOD/YEAR

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

HZ2020F B ZE2019F
8B31ALENEA 12A3ELEE
Eight months ended Year ended

31 August 2020 31 December 2019
ARMT T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
197,095 430,354
2,696 (12,403)

2,696 (12,403)

2,696 (12,403)
199,791 417,951
177,605 374,043
22,186 43,908
199,791 417,951
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 31 AUGUST 2020
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NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Right-of-use assets

Goodwill

Other intangible assets

Other non-current assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments, other receivables
and other assets

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Pledged deposits

Time deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Other current assets

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Deferred revenue

Other payables and accruals

Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings

Deferred income

Tax payable

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

BraE

Notes

14
15
16(a)
17
18
19

20

21
22
22
22

23
24

25
26

202058 A31H
31 August 2020

2019%12H31H
31 December 2019

ARBTR AR®ETR
RMB’000 RMB’000
3,100,669 3,089,932
213,693 210,292
467,968 477,036
241,732 225,379
23,479 21,223
671,507 825,766
4,719,048 4,849,628
139,510 104,004
118,041 =
271,796 380,832
= 107,500
608,234 559,007
= 394
1,137,581 1,151,737
274,029 725,363
1,019,916 645,379
728,004 698,877
9,185 10,622
26,799 44,259
2,057,933 2,124,500
(920,352) (972,763)
3,798,696 3,876,865
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202058 A31H 2019512 H31H
31 August 2020 31 December 2019

et AR¥ET T AR¥T T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
ERBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
FERBITREMMER Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings 25 1,167,794 787,952
EE W = Deferred income 26 32,589 35,698
ELEFREEE Deferred tax liabilities 27 95,588 101,559
IRBEEETE Total non-current liabilities 1,295,971 925,209
EEFE Net assets 2,502,725 2,951,656
= EQUITY
BRAEEAELES Equity attributable to owners of the parent
i Share capital 28 1,056 1,056
K] Reserves 30 2,319,069 2,484,475
2,320,125 2,485,531
FERER Non-controlling interests 182,600 466,125
4 RE 2 Total equity 2,502,725 2,951,656
Li Xiao Xuan Zhao Shuai
=2 #H Bh
Director Director
EE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020
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HEBEERERSF00EH31E L NELGHH
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

H Z2020F B ZE2019F
8B31ALENEA 12A31BLEFE
Eight months ended Year ended
31 August 2020 31 December 2019
B AR T ARET T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
REeEZHRENE CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
BR B4 A1 % R Profit before tax 223,641 485,867
MUTSEFE: Adjustments for:

il & YA Finance costs 7 76,388 93,806

F B = Interest income 6 (9,837) (10,169)

EAFEFABEDN Other interest income from financial

SPRMEEEEMN assets at fair value through

HaF 2 WA profit or loss 6 (1,746) (1,582)
HEWME BERSEE Loss on disposal of items of property,

HEEE plant and equipment 8 134 581
L ERN Y] Depreciation of items of property,

EEITE plant and equipment 14 81,947 111,991
REMERNITE Depreciation of investment properties 15 3,555 4,365
FTREESENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 16 12,733 13,957
BT %65 B 42 85 Amortisation of government grants 26 (6,876) (18,467)
HibhEmp EE#E Amortisation of other intangible assets 18 4,237 6,892
FEATFRIE - HAth UK Impairment allowance of prepayments,

FEMEE J'Xfﬁﬁéﬁ other receivables and other assets 8 2,094 2,171
REBEMNFIEZRE Reversal of impairment allowance of

BB prepayment on investments 8 (19,774) =
DIRR R T 2 B AR R X2 Equity-settled share option expense 29 1,843 4,450
368,339 693,862

FEAFIE HMERRER (Increase)/decrease in prepayments,

HapEE (Em),md other receivables and other assets (31,114 126,167
HREBEERD Decrease in other current assets 394 4,671
HihENREBEREFER Increase/(decrease) in other payables

#in CE) and accruals 153,829 (152,808)
EFEWA CGRLA),/#hn (Decrease)/increase in deferred revenue (451,674) 147,911
REERELERS Cash generated from operations 39,774 819,803

2 U Fl B Interest received 9,837 13,523

2B H Income tax paid (4,085) (2,417)
RETHAERESRETFHE Net cash flows from operating activities 45,526 830,909
RETBMARSRE CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES
BEVX BMERRKREEB Purchases of items of property,

plant and equipment (131,018) (338,471)
HEWE- r%&&1ﬁlﬁ B Proceeds from disposal of items of

P8 IE property, plant and equipment 3,383 1,324
A+ b EE Prepaid land lease payments (43,138) (43,877)
CWEYE BMENREBBEH Receipt of government grants for

Tk 5 7 B property, plant and equipment 2,330 10,442
NEHMEEEE Additions to other intangible assets (5,172) (8,867)
UL BB B A B Acquisition of subsidiaries 31 (37,573) 82,584
(BE) HEBEMER (Purchase)/disposal of wealth

management products (118,041) 51,179
HEEBEMRMERE Proceeds from disposal of

wealth management products 1,746 1,582
?ﬁﬁ@ﬁ%ﬁ(lﬁiﬁ‘ 4 Decrease in payables for investment (30,000) =
REBNRERD () Decrease/(increase) in prepayment

for investments 75,658 (252,020)
REFEMSREBERE Recovery of prepayment for investments 136,792 =
EEFRRL () Decrease/(increase) in time deposits 107,500 (107,500)
RETBFABREREFE Net cash flows used in investing activities (37,533) (603,624)
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FEEHE R E R BE00F8831H L\
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

REEEAE, (FTA)
IE % /)ILE
BITROABNRIE
BMHETHEZ
FIERITREMMER
EERTREMER
HERENETERLD
2R

WS IR
2FRE
BEBERELD (M)

mMEFTBME (FA)
Iﬁ.ﬁulbz /?gﬁ

ReERBETEEWEBMFHR
B/ ENRERAEEEY

SEERSENTE  FH

B/ FRAERALZEY

RERREEEUERDN

RERRITEER
REESRERIBER=EA
A By B R E B E R

GEMBRARFRNES
RESZEY

GERERERATINRE
RREEEY

CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issues of shares

Share issue expenses

New bank and other borrowings

Repayment of bank and other borrowings

Principal portion of lease payments

Interest paid

Acquisition of non-controlling interests

Dividends paid

Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits

Net cash flows from/(used in)
financing activities

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of period/year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF PERIOD/YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances

Non-pledged time deposits with
original maturity of less than
three months when acquired

Cash and cash equivalents as stated
in the consolidated statement of
financial position

Cash and cash equivalents as stated
in the consolidated statement of
cash flows

B Z20205F BZE2019%F
8H31IHLENEA 128318 L EE

Eight months ended Year ended

31 August 2020 31 December 2019

Bt ARBT T ARBT T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
276 335,594

= (2,879)

979,023 852,841

(579,107) (724,460)

(5,790) (7,297)

(51,139) (71,845)

(297,000) -

(114,041) (82,671)

109,036 (317,298)

41,258 (18,015)

49,251 209,270

559,007 349,630

(24) 107

608,234 559,007

560,734 559,007

22 47,500 =
22 608,234 559,007
22 608,234 559,007
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

ARIER

AT R2016F7ASHRIBEBHEHES QAR E
HMEZBEREERA AR AR A E M
5 E #h ik B Cricket Square » Hutchins Drive, P.0.Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands °
KATRI7TFIR B ERBEKERZFE
BRAR ([HERAT]) ER L

RABAB—FRREZRATD B XAFR

EMBAR (GBI AEEDEREHEA
RANE ([HEDREEHRBBERE -

BARHEQRNER
ADAEEHBADHENT

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands on 8 July 2016.
The registered office address of the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.0. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands. The
Company was listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 19 April 2017.

The Company is an investment holding company. During the period, the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) were
principally engaged in rendering private education services in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC").

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

A

=L WERAMREBLE

Place and date of

incorporation/registration

Name and operation

AEAEBEGEREERARA 201658 H5H

(Mggasl) HE/ RER
Tibet Daai Huihuang Information 5 August 2016,
and Technology Co., Ltd. * PRC/Mainland China

("Huihuang Company”) ***

EHERAHARE 200558198
SEERAT HE/ HER
Yunnan Einsun Education 19 May 2005,
Investment Group Co., Ltd. * PRC/Mainland China
EEIHER 2005F8A11H
(TEEER]) HE/ RER
Yunnan Technology and Business University 11 August 2005,
(“Yunnan School”) * PRC/Mainland China
EMNIEBEZR 2012 7A3A
(TEMNER]) HE/ RER
Guizhou Technology and Business Institute 3 July 2012,
(“Guizhou School”) * PRC/Mainland China

ERTLE/ NN
HEftRAEE EEREEDL TEED
Nominal value of issued Percentage of equity
ordinary/registered interest attributable
share capital to the Company Principal activities
;3 &
Direct Indirect

1,000,000% 7t 100% REFEMRERE

(T£xl) LSS
United States dollar - 100% Rendering of technical and
(“USD") 1,000,000 management consultancy
Services
ARB(TARY]) - 100% REZR
34,900,9597T
Renminbi (‘RMB”) - 100% Investment holding
34,900,959
AR ®16,000,0007 - 100% REHERH
RMB16,000,000 - 100% Rendering of education
Services
AR #1,000,0007T - 100% REHERH
RMB1,000,000 - 100% Rendering of education
Services
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1. ARER (&) 1.
FERHBATMER (&)
ADATEESMBATEBOT : (&)

CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:
(continued)

146

HEMAYL R BROTER/ N
% BERAAREELH HEftRAEE EERERS L TEED
Place and date of Nominal value of issued Percentage of equity
incorporation/registration ordinary/registered interest attributable
Name and operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
H# LE:3
Direct Indirect
TREREHBEREBREME LT 20126108168 A R #300,000,0007C - 100% REZR
HE HEIR
Beijing Aiyinsheng Education 16 October 2012, RMB300,000,000 - 100% Investment holding
Investment Co., Ltd. * PRC/Mainland China
REBEERER 2003F5A 228 AR#21,372,0007 - 7391%" REHEF RSB
(TRILER]) HE/ RERY
Harbin Huade University 22 May 2003, RMB21,372,000 S 73.91%* Rendering of education
(“Northeast School”) * PRC/Mainland China services
REREBELR 2013%F 78198 AR ®10,000,0007 - 100% REHBRY
(DTEER]) HE/ RERY
Luoyang Science and Technology 19 July 2013, RMB10,000,000 S 100% Rendering of education
Vocational College (*Henan School”) * PRC/Mainland China services
ERREARBESR 20065F1H20R AR #33,000,0007 - 90%* REHFRS
(TERER]) HE/ RERY
Guangxi Yinghua International Occupation 20 January 2006 RMB33,000,000 - 90%™* Rendering of education
College (“Guangxi Schools”) * PRC/Mainland China services
ERREARBESR 2006548108 A K #5,000,0007 - 9% REHFRS
WEHE (TERER]) HE/ RERY
Guangxi Yinghua International Occupation 10 April 2006 RMB5,000,000 - 90%™* Rendering of education
Middle School (*Guangxi Schools”) * PRC/Mainland China services
ERAMRERREE 2009108268 A K #5,000,0007 - 9% REHFRS
2R ([BEEER]) HE/ RERY
Guangxi Qinzhou Yinghua International 26 October 2009 RMB5,000,000 - 90%™* Rendering of education

Occupation and Technology School
(“Guangxi Schools”) *

PRC/Mainland China

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBER AT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

ATRER (&) 1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
BAMBLATNER (&) INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

AABEEMBATFEBOT : (F) Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(continued)

ML R BRTER/ NN
% BERAAREELH HEftRAEE EERERS L TEEH
Place and date of Nominal value of issued Percentage of equity
incorporation/registration ordinary/registered interest attributable
Name and operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
B LE:3
Direct Indirect
HIEREAEREER 201051818 A R #3,000,0007 - 100% REHBERE
(TERER]) HE/ RERY
Science and Technology College of 1 January 2010 RMB3,000,000 - 100% Rendering of education
Hubei Minzu University PRC/Mainland China services
(“Central China School”) *
ETZRAREHEEABRAA 2017F7H26R AR #147,992 4327C - 100% REZR
HE HEIR
Beijing Daai Education Consulting 26 July 2017, RMB147,992,432 S 100% Investment holding
Co., Ltd. * PRC/Mainland China
HERBHABRNERRAA 2017F8A11H A R #300,000,0007C - 100% REZR
HE HEIR
Gansu Lanbo Education Technology 11 August 2017, RMB300,000,000 - 100% Investment holding
Co., Ltd. * PRC/Mainland China
EHERANREBER 2011F12A318 AR #5,000,0007T - 100% REHERH
(TEMBEZER]) HE/ RERY
Yunnan Einsun Science and Technology 31 December 2011, RMB5,000,000 S 100% Rendering of education
College (“Yunnan Vocational School”) * PRC/Mainland China services

HRZSQARALEEZZEANESRIER BRI
ZRNFANEXEBBHALRDEEBE AN NEH
EEBEMA-

The English names of these companies represent the best effort made by the
management of the Company to directly translate the Chinese names as the companies
do not register any official English names.

" RLEZRREFESRAADAFZEME QR HH
BLE ARAQBHREEERHE Bt ERKH
BRR AR

Northeast School and Guangxi Schools are subsidiaries of non-wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company and, accordingly, are accounted for as subsidiaries by
virtue of the Company’s control over them.

BEARREPELAEIMABIETHEELE - Huihuang Company is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under PRC law.

A AEEEBYE=TWEEETHERE During the period, the Group acquired Yunnan Vocational School from
R-WHENE - DTEBEART BRI independent third parties. Further details of the acquisition are included in
310 note 31 to the financial statements.

ERIPESIATEFEHANEEIBEX
FEEBEEFEIEBIZ2ARANMEL
A-EZRARUHEMAWBRAANFELE
BHREBR TR

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion
of the directors, principally affected the results for the period or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

2.1

ZENBRRDBBEEBEAMAS ([FB
MO ) BANEBMBREEN ([F
BMBHREER ] BEREEBMBREE
Bl -BBEER ([BBEHEL]) REE)
REBARGIRBURE B D ARSI B
BRAERR - BBRRDBRBEELXAEM
RHE(BRATEFENEVERRIN) &S
MBREAARB 25 BEREHBEHEIN
FREBENREREINTAH-

REBMN2020E8R31BEERBEFEFHEA
FE #5920,352,0007T (20195128318 : AR ¥
972,763,0007T) °

ENFRBEERRN RAGEFEEAREHS
ERETHESENREYBERK &S
EEEZEAEENREABDESTRRER
HUAMERE-

REBRALENRERAN ESEMEE
EREIRARARYBECINHEEZEE
THYBREE - AHEASETREEENE
ARBESHE AEECEAREMBH
BREEHRTEEUERNIMNMBERE-

At EERR BERECEEERRMBR
RA/EBE-MASERERSEEELE A
AEHBARUMBAEEEEZETREESHE:
DR AEHENEMHMEEFLREE-
ZERABNSETERRRYBRERA -

BN A A B R2020F 7 B29H I B D EFT
Mmoo ARARAEENTBREELEBRHE
H12A31HMB8A31H  LERE BB K
FEAEAREAEEETPRELCENERDY
BFE (SF8ALEZR) —H -Hit  AE5tHH
E 2202051818 £2020F8831B M NE A
HE -GEERREMEAVRER GEER
BHR SEESRERREBEWIEMET
HARFELL B € 28R E2019F1 810 2201956
12A31THM+ =M@ B 89’ - (A itk 77 B AR R
BB S EEZMEELE -

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. The financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, except for wealth management products
which has been measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in RMB and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

The Group recorded net current liabilities of RMB920,352,000 as at
31 August 2020 (31 December 2019: RMB972,763,000).

In view of the net current liabilities position, the directors have given
careful consideration to the future liquidity and performance of the Group
and its available sources of finance in assessing whether the Group will
have sufficient financial resources to continue as a going concern.

Having considered the cash inflow from operations, the Directors are
satisfied that the Group is able to meet in full its financial obligations as
they fall due for the foreseeable future. To mitigate any liquidity issues that
might be faced by the Group, the Group has obtained adequate banking
facilities from reputable financial institutions to meet its obligations as and
when they fall due.

Accordingly, the Directors are of the opinion that it is appropriate to
prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. Should the
Group be unable to operate as a going concern, adjustments would
have to be made to write down the value of assets to their recoverable
amounts, and to provide for any further liabilities which might arise.
The effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in the financial
statements.

As set out in the announcement of the Company issued on 29 July 2020,
the financial year end date of the Company and the Group has been
changed from 31 December to 31 August to align the financial year end
date of the Group with the academic year of the schools operated by
the Group in the PRC, which ends in August each year. Accordingly, the
current accounting period covers a period of eight months from 1 January
2020 to 31 August 2020. The corresponding comparative amounts shown
for the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity, consolidated
statement of cash flows and related notes cover a period of twelve months
from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019 are therefore not entirely
comparable with those of the current period.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBER AT
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21 REEE (&) 2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

meaRE
GREVERREBFALIAREMBEATF (K
BIAREE]) B ZE20205F88318 1L \E B #
BEBRR-MBEARNEALRAEERBEE
HHER (BREFBLER) BEXAEEER
SHREHENWERTEMAETEE RN
ERSEREEAREK  LEEENEH
HEREHERWEND (NS AEEHAIBRED
FTEREHENEBTHINREERN) L
LR BESEFIE-

EXANAEERBEETIRREHRI KRS
HHORAFEUERN EFXHHEHEREHERY
REHSINELR FAEESZEMAHEE
EEMBERL B85

(@) HEREHFHMRABBEEENGNZ
B

b)) HMEWZHELNER R
) AKEEMRREREBERRE

MEARNMBRREAERNQAT-—BNE
ABRER-RENERR -MERARMNE
AHRAEEESESES BB ARERE
THEFTAGEREEZEHELKLERS
ko

BEakHEtEZERENEEARSOEBR
REESRANETARFERER  BIE
HEREEHFERESEBMESR -A5E
BRELARABRZSENABEERLAMBE
EHEE EZ WRE BAXRREREHR
REREEEE-

HEERBEREREXAEN=RZEFEER
Z—ARZEHBEL AEESEHFML
HEBEMRRES - R-—BNEQXRNE
ERERSY (WEXEEHE) DELAER
PN L

MAEBAEZEHHBATWESE L
LtBRR)ZHBARNEE (BEBHEIRE
B, (VEMIFEREZVREME: Ri)FTA
EHENEMNELEZ4, TR WEREN
AEE; (MEARBEREN D FE R(i)Pr
EAUYRERBERNTARBERNEM LA
EREMEEIKNEERNANEEEWGAER
BNEFTEEERSEBE TN (WEAR)
EENASEEHELENBEEREENE
FRANEEER-

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the eight months ended 31 August 2020. A subsidiary is an entity
(including a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the
voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

(@ the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change in the ownership interest
of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets
(including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying
amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (i) the fair value of any investment retained and
(iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities.
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22 B BERREESS 2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
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DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first time for
the current period’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions (early
adopted)
Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Definition of Material
HKAS 8

The nature and impact of the revised HKFRSs are described below:

(@ Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional guidance
on the definition of a business. The amendments clarify that
for an integrated set of activities and assets to be considered a
business, it must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive
process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create
output. A business can exist without including all of the inputs and
processes needed to create outputs. The amendments remove the
assessment of whether market participants are capable of acquiring
the business and continue to produce outputs. Instead, the focus
is on whether acquired inputs and acquired substantive processes
together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
amendments have also narrowed the definition of outputs to focus
on goods or services provided to customers, investment income or
other income from ordinary activities. Furthermore, the amendments
provide guidance to assess whether an acquired process is
substantive and introduce an optional fair value concentration test
to permit a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The Group has applied the
amendments prospectively to transactions or other events that
occurred on or after 1 January 2020. The amendments did not have
any impact on the financial position and performance of the Group.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBER AT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 address the
effects of interbank offered rate reform on financial reporting.
The amendments provide temporary reliefs which enable hedge
accounting to continue during the period of uncertainty before the
replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark. In addition, the
amendments require companies to provide additional information
to investors about their hedging relationships which are directly
affected by these uncertainties. The amendments did not have any
impact on the financial position and performance of the Group as
the Group does not have any interest rate hedge relationships.

Amendment to HKFRS 16 provides a practical expedient for
lessees to elect not to apply lease modification accounting for
rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the covid-19
pandemic. The practical expedient applies only to rent concessions
occurring as a direct consequence of the covid-19 pandemic
and only if () the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the same as, or less
than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the
change; (i) any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2021; and (iii) there is no
substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease. The
amendment is effective retrospectively for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 June 2020 with earlier application permitted. During
the period ended 31 August 2020, no payment for the leases of
the Group’s office buildings has been reduced or waived by the
lessors as a result of the covid-19 pandemic and there are no other
changes to the terms of the leases.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new definition of
material. The new definition states that information is material
if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. The amendments clarify that materiality will depend on
the nature or magnitude of information. The amendments did not
have any impact on the Group’s interim condensed consolidated
financial information.
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2.3

152

BEHERRERNEBIBBER

AEBET BN BERRPEAUT S EME
i AREMBHET RAEETERMBRELER -

EBUBEREER
B0 RBBETER
E88 2R AR (20115F)

EBEER S0
BRI BREERFI5R
BERUBREERESR
BERUHREERFSR
REBHEREEL
ER[APA SRS

BB BREEREIN
P2 HE

BB ERE163

AR
EBETEREIH
A HE

BEMBRELENEITH

BREERE IR
PALHES

BEMBREER
FARZBAR

ERNBHREER
EVE A HEN
ERNBHREER
20185 Z2020F
BHzFEIE

s e o o

REERABELTAA
EATZHHAELE
AR

HELENE - FORE

BB ZAER 2 1R

WE BERRKE: BTH
B2 TSR B
BEAH-BITENZ
B2

REE#

TEBRBAH TG
BE

EREHHEEHEEY
BHEEREIHHIH

REEH’

BB BHEEAER
BEB B & ERFIT
REBETERE115
ZIEET A

B2021F 1A B2 BN EEBHBEN
B022F 1A B2 AR BNEEHRBEN
H2023F 1 A1 B2 BN FEERBEN
MARBERFENBH BARA

B RSEARERE

HA ) R R 3R H

BIrEHAEEARTERRRRZEREKX

= 48
oE°

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs, that
have been issued but are not yet effective, in the financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to HKAS 39,

HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKAS 16
Amendments to HKAS 37
HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKFRS 4

Amendments to HKFRS 17

Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle

& w o o

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture*

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase
27

Reference to the Conceptual Framework?®

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract?

Insurance Contracts®

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current®

Extension of the Temporary Exemption
from Applying HKFRS 9°

Insurance Contracts’

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9 and
HKAS 412

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

These standards are not expected to have a material impact on the
Group in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future

transactions.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.
The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair
value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects to measure the non-controlling interests at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of
non-controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related
costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is measured at its acquisition date fair value and any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration
classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of
the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for non-controlling
interests and any fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower
than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test
of goodwill as at 31 August. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL
(CONTINUED)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (group of cash generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an
impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill
is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group
of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is
included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances
is measured based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and
the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group measures its wealth management products at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the
asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for
the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value
of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising
the use of unobservable inputs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (CONTINUED)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in
the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level

input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — Dbased on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on
a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than financial assets, investment
properties and non-current assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s
or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
(CONTINUED)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether
there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of
that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of
such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which
it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case
the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with
the relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

RELATED PARTIES

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and
that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iiy  is a member of the key management personnel of the Group
or of a parent of the Group;

or
(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:
(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;
(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

(il the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third
party;
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)
(b)  (Continued)

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viiiy the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group or
to the parent of the Group.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
DEPRECIATION

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
When an item of property, plant and equipment is classified as held for
sale or when it is part of a disposal group classified as held for sale, it
is not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment
are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such
parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
DEPRECIATION (CONTINUED)

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the cost of
each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

Buildings 1.9% t0 12.1%
Leasehold improvements 10% to 37.5%
Motor vehicles 19.4%
Furniture and fixtures 12.1%

Electronic devices 19.4% to 32.3%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values,
useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially
recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under construction, which
is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost
comprises the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs
on related borrowed funds during the period of construction. Construction
in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for use.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including the
leasehold property held as a right-of-use asset which would otherwise
meet the definition of an investment property) held to earn rental income
and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in
the ordinary course of business. Such properties are measured initially
at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and provision for any impairment in value. Depreciation is
calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of an investment
property to its residual value over its estimated useful life of 50 years or
over the remaining lease term.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised in the asset’s carrying amount only
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the costs of the item can be measured reliably;
otherwise, the expenditures are recognised in profit or loss in the year in
which they are incurred.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified as
property, plant and equipment, and its carrying amount at the date of
reclassification becomes its cost for accounting purposes. If an item of
property, plant and equipment becomes an investment property because
its use has changed, the transfer does not change the carrying amount of
the property transferred, nor does it change the cost of that property for
measurement or disclosure purposes.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year of the
retirement or disposal.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN GOODWILL)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition
at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination
is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Software

Purchased software is stated at cost less any impairment losses and
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of five
years.

Client relationship

Client relationship acquired through the acquisition of a subsidiary is
stated at cost less any impairment losses and amortised on the straight-
line basis over its estimated useful life of five years.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

3. EXRENHEME (&) 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
BILEE (BHEKRM) (&) INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN GOODWILL)
(CONTINUED)
iff 3 B A Research and development costs
FEMBERATEERREBERNR Al research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as
incurred.
HEFEREEMEENBEZEEAREERE Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised
HRNEERNMEENTRETLEE UHE and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the technical
AHE HEREENZE RIS MNE feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for
Azt E EENMEERREERNR use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset,
BEREHERUEKEBE I BB St how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability of
EHEHENREIZBERT T8ELXRLER resources to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the
B - REFEHERENERBEHREIR expenditure during the development. Product development expenditure
EERHERX- which does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.
HE Leases
AEBREHARBERILEEARTAZES The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
HE-HENALRREMATFE—RERD contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
REHERNEEFERANERN BIZE85 conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
REEHE- time in exchange for consideration.
AEBEEREHEA Group as a lessee
AEBHAEHE (HEHHEHERRKERE The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all
ERERMNENE-—HBARTFERE - KK leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The
ERAVEEEUAELHBEERE MEHRE Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-
EERFAEBEEENER - use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.
@ FHEZE (@) Right-of-use assets
FAEEENTEEMB A BER (ENE Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
BHEEAMHERR) - FRAEEERK of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available
ABEMBFHEREMRESEEG for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
E UHREMNEHRF=EHEESELR accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
B FHEEENRABECHER A for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use
EEBLE CELE2VBREERAL assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial
MRS BN A EHEE S TR direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
EWRzEMNEERE-FAREER commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-
HERRREEMTIFAFHRER use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
(UREEBE)AIRBESENENT : of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:
HE T 504 Leasehold land 50 years
WAEYE 2BAFE Office premises 2 to 4 years
HEEEENEEREHREETX If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the end
EEIZAAARMITHEBERERE I of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase
ERFHEENRTTUFEAFEHRTE- option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of
the asset.
CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEIF =8 EEARATE



EXSEHHRRME (&)

BREE (BEKRMD) (&)

AEBEREEA (K)

()

()

HEEE

REERKB A UEEHAELNE
ENERERA/BEEG-HENR
BREEENR (SEEEHENE)RME
fEWEERBRE  BURREE B A
RP A BHEEREUARBHRERRE
BEERTXANER-HERETEE
AEESERETENBERERNT
EERMERAEHIARREAEBETE
RIEEZERER AEALALAEXNNE
e NBURREBRA RN 2HEERK
BEERBRNANEHIIRFNHE
NERBX -

RAEHERENREER AREAER
FEafETsEE wAKERAESE
MAr AN EEERNRTE -RAR
A& HEEESHENEMRRAE
BB 3 E A AEREMRD - 1t
Sho B EAER (BNEEE - BER
HE2F (fINESILEZNEEFEHY
AREEFRBEZCL)ANBENRRE
ENEERTILNEE)AEHTEM
ERENREE

AEENEEREH AT ERITREM®
Bk e
ERHEE

AEESEPHERRRREAE TR
ERBMLOEMENEHRES (NAHEE
e BB AR B2EARUT I
EfEeREEERENESE) - EHHE
ENHEREEHHARERERIR
XHie

Bf %% 3R & MY 5F B Z202058 8310 1L\ A B B

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN GOODWILL)
(CONTINUED)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

()

()

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the
lease at the present value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments
of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects
the Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a
change to future lease payments resulting from a change in an
index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to purchase
the underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its
short-term leases of staff dormitories and office premises (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). Lease
payments on short-term leases are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN GOODWILL)
(CONTINUED)

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when
there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an operating
lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each component on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for on
a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in other income
and gains in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over
the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as other income in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for as
finance leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is classified as a
finance lease or operating lease with reference to the right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to
which the Group applies the on-balance sheet recognition exemption, the
Group classifies the sublease as an operating lease.

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the
financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s
business model for managing them. The Group initially measures a
financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(CONTINUED)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised
cost, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held
within the aforementioned business models are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on
the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(CONTINUED)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)

This category includes wealth management products which the Group
had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through other
comprehensive income. Interest income from wealth management
products classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
is also recognised as other income in the statement of profit or loss.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of
a group of similar financial assets) is primary derecognised (i.e. removed
from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the
asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows
in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an
asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and
to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the
assets. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount
of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group
could be required to repay.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”)
for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs
are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective
interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there
has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing
of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-
looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when
there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash
flows.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets
which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting
date (but that are not purchased or originated credit-
impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For contract assets that do not contain a significant financing component
or when the Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group applies the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach,
the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors
and the economic environment.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and

borrowings, or payables as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include other payables and interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follow:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included
in finance costs in profit or loss.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability
is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised
in profit or loss.

OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and short
term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
and have a short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term
deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as
to use.

INCOME TAX

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to
items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss,
either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to
be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the year, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences,
except:

o where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend
either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods in
which the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred
income account and is released to the statement of profit or loss over the
expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

REVENUE RECOGNITION
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of
services is transferred to the customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the
amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will be entitled
in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained
until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount
of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

REVENUE RECOGNITION (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the
customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the
discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception. When the
contract contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised
under the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the
promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price is
not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component, using
the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

Tuition and boarding fees received from college are generally paid in
advance prior to the beginning of each academic year, and are initially
recorded as contract liabilities. Tuition and boarding fees are recognised
proportionately over the relevant period of the applicable program. The
portion of tuition and boarding payments received from students but not
recognised is recorded as a contract liability and is reflected as a current
liability as such amount represents revenue that the Group expects to earn
within one year. The academic year of the Group’s colleges is generally
from September to June of the following year.

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the period
between the transfer of the promised services to the customer and
payment by the customer exceeds one year. As a consequence, the Group
does not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value of money.

Other income

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms.

Service income is recognised at the point in time when the services are
rendered.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument
or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.

2020 ANNUAL REPORT &

171



172

B 78 #] &k Mt 5F B ZE2020FE8 8310 1E/\(B A B
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

EXSEHHRRME (&)

BHNEE

AEBERHBERNRBAN BREER
MARBAREH (UREERE)  EER
BHNRE-EXAKERBENETRRE (B
HEEERIRBNENEEREEF) &
HEEBRIB/WA-

URGOHAERNARK

AAARE-EBRESE SEQHEEAE
ERDEBFLHEMNESERSRERMHR
BEEK-AEEREES (BEES)EURD
RERIMNNFELSXRBEHH Bt RS
REBRBESRBMKRATANNKE ([UER
BENZS]) -

R2002F1MA7THEARBELHEESETUER
HENIZZREA DIZ2BRRREAHNBL
FHEHFAEZAFERIEGHEMKAZE
AEAEE HE-—DPHEBRIRTBEHRERM
529 o

LU 5 B YR 5 B9 Bk A 22 [E] A8 FE 48 hn 9 18
BOEANE/ARBEEEBTHHER
BEERAMXER -THEBRYA  RE®RSE
MABIANUESEFENRZRFAREI K
REBHCERBIRAEEAHEREER
BHRATASENZEMGS -EX-—HH
NEBSRNNRIERSE RRREY
KR EINRFRAEE-

BEERBABRHABNATFER TSR RR
BREDSERGRE  BEXRBBREEANA
EMETHERALEEHEELABEBNRAT
EHENREMTHN—BD -mHERIKMN
EREBHAFERRR-ZBRFAHTER
HERSEZ RNV EMEMIRERRR IR
R -BRIERSHERB R REREE B
AIFRBRHERBNATFEFRR LS
ERRBENRE -

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the Group
transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised
as revenue when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers
control of the related goods or services to the customer).

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute
to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees (including directors)
of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services as consideration for equity
instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants after
7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value at the date
at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external
valuer using a binomial model, further details of which are given in note
29 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee benefit
expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the
end of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to
which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit
to the statement of profit or loss for a period represents the movement in
the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that
period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account
when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of
the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value.
Any other conditions attached to an award, but without an associated
service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-
vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to
an immediate expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or
performance conditions.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance
and/or service conditions have not been met, no expense is recognised.
Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the transactions
are treated as vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum
an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified, if the
original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised
for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based
payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the
date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested
on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for the
award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where non-
vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or the employee
are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it
is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share
dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Pension scheme

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Mainland
China are required to participate in a central pension scheme managed by
the local municipal government. The subsidiaries are required to contribute
a certain percentage of the payroll costs to the central pension scheme.
The Group has no obligation for the payment of retirement benefits beyond
the annual contributions. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of
such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in
connection with the borrowing of funds.

DIVIDENDS

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the
shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed
in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the
Company’s memorandum and articles of association grant the directors
the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and
declared.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

These financial statements are presented in RMB because the Group’s
principal operations are carried out in Mainland China. The functional
currency of the Company and certain subsidiaries incorporated outside
Mainland China is Hong Kong dollar (“HKD”) and the functional currency
of the subsidiaries established in Mainland China is RMB, which is the
currency of the primary economic environment in which those entities
operate. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

FOREIGN CURRENCIES (CONTINUED)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of
the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with
the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item
(i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date of
initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the
Group determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are currencies
other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB at the exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their statements of profit
or loss are translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates
for the period.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal
of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair
value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising
on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the closing rate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about
these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or
liabilities affected in the future.

JUDGEMENTS

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management
has made the following judgements, apart from those involving
estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Contractual arrangements

Certain subsidiaries are engaged in the provision of education services,
which falls in the scope of “Catalogue of Restricted Foreign Investment
Industries”. Foreign investors are prohibited to invest in such business.

The Group exercises control over these subsidiaries and enjoys all
economic benefits of certain subsidiaries through the Structured
Contracts.

The Group considers that it controls these subsidiaries, notwithstanding
the fact that it does not hold direct equity interest in the certain
subsidiaries, as it has power over the financial and operating policies of
the certain subsidiaries and receives substantially all of the economic
benefits from the business activities of the certain subsidiaries through
the Structured Contracts. Accordingly, the certain subsidiaries have been
accounted for subsidiaries during the period.

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment
property portfolio. The Group has determined, based on an evaluation of
the terms and conditions of the arrangements, such as the lease term not
constituting a major part of the economic life of the commercial property
and the present value of the minimum lease payments not amounting
to substantially all the fair value of the commercial property, that it
retains all the significant risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
these properties which are leased out and accounts for the contracts as
operating leases.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBER AT



EXEsHE R AR (&)

H e (&)

EEAFEZAERERGNCHENRRE
KA

AEEBFTYATHAEREAILEERNA
EEN-AEESERABHUFNMRETE
EEREASRLEAN BT HEZEEH
FREEBSENEARETEEANLAL
ZHEBEE-RAKASR HHRAKET
FTEHZEASHIBREZ (MHBHEEE
EETEABEERBEHAEAEHNIR)
WHEETE(RATE)BEBRRLLEE
N AEEEEHRFEHEHES-

REMKXRAANEZTE

AEERHAENERETBRRENE LB
MEBHE T ER - REWEEFERN
HER/RABEZNE Al REBEBT
ERBBYINAEHMBEEZNEEETR
BeREBHAENEECBRREYEX KL
ME-—FDFERNESRAE Herd o
RELEESHEERIBMBHTH -MESF
BLrAUBYHEIREMEBES X2 5 H
- AAREEERZEMRDERARK HZE
B AEBLLE MAFLEESHESE R
FRBRITHR 2L FREKR BIMESHE
REYE - EEBC T E B RME LA U
BETARRERREAEEMREUAEZDE
TRINEREMEZERK -

Fr&®i
REAAREBIRRP RORR B F R E K
LHEAEERGAMREHBEERBERBE M
BWRABMEEFRESH - BB MEF AT
KB LA REEERREEEL —RIH
H-ASETREAEZHENMEEHRE
RERBERAGARNAE ZEHEEEE
HEYERAELEHNBANHENX

Bf %% 3R & MY 5F B Z202058 8310 1L\ A B B

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Significant judgement in determining the lease term of contracts with
renewal options

The Group has several lease contracts that include extension and
termination options. The Group applies judgement in evaluating whether
or not to exercise the option to renew or terminate the lease. That is,
it considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it
to exercise either the renewal or termination. After the commencement
date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event
or change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its
ability to exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to terminate
(e.g., construction of significant leasehold improvements or significant
customisation to the leased asset).

Classification between investment properties and owner-occupied
properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment
property, and has developed criteria in making that judgement. Investment
property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or
both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a property generates cash
flows largely independently of the other assets held by the Group. Some
properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation and another portion that is held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. If these
portions could be sold separately or leased out separately under a finance
lease, the Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions could
not be sold separately, the property is an investment property only if an
insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an
individual property basis to determine whether ancillary services are so
significant that a property does not qualify as an investment property.

Income tax

Significant judgement is required in interpreting the relevant tax rules and
regulations so as to determine whether the Group is subject to corporate
income tax in respect of income from the provision of formal educational
services. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may
involve a series of judgements about future events. New information
may become available that causes the Group to change its judgement
regarding the adequacy of the tax liabilities. Such changes to tax liabilities
will impact the tax expense in the period that such determination is made.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the period/year, that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value
in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future
cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 August 2020 was RMB241,732,000
(31 December 2019: RMB225,379,000). Further details are given in note
17.

Provision for expected credit losses on other receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for other receivables.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings that have
similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed
default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical
credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast conditions are expected to deteriorate over the next year which
can lead to an increased number of defaults in the education sector, the
historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default
rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate.
The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and
forecast of conditions may also not be representative of a student’s actual
default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s other
receivables is disclosed in note 20 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a lease,
and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure
lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have
to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-
use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects
what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation when no
observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter
into financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect
the terms and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not
in the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR
using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available
and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the
subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all
non-financial assets (including the right-of-use assets) at the end of each
reporting period. Non-financial assets are tested for impairment when
there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of
its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation
of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data from
binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets
or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating
unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Useful lives and residual values of items of property, plant and
equipment

In determining the useful lives and residual values of items of property,
plant and equipment, the Group has to consider various factors, such
as technical or commercial obsolescence arising from changes or
improvements in the production and provision of services, or from a
change in the market demand for the product or service output of the
asset, expected usage of the asset, expected physical wear and tear, care
and maintenance of the asset, and legal or similar limits on the use of
the asset. The estimation of the useful life of the asset is based on the
experience of the Group with similar assets that are used in a similar
way. Additional depreciation is made if the estimated useful lives and/or
residual values of items of property, plant and equipment are different
from previous estimation. Useful lives and residual values are reviewed
at the end of each year based on changes in circumstances. Further
details of the property, plant and equipment are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of education services in
the PRC.

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments requires operating segments to be identified
on the basis of internal reporting about components of the Group that
are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker in order
to allocate resources to segments and to assess their performance. The
information reported to the directors of the Company, who are the chief
operating decision-makers, for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of performance, does not contain discrete operating segment
financial information and the directors reviewed the financial results of the
Group as a whole. Therefore, no further information about the operating
segment is presented.

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

During the period, the Group operated within one geographical location
because all of its revenue was generated in the PRC and all of its long-
term assets/capital expenditures were located/incurred in the PRC.
Accordingly, no geographical segment information is presented.

INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR CUSTOMERS

No revenue from sales to a single customer amounted to 10% or more of
the total revenue of the Group during the period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

H E2020F B ZE2019F
8H31H 12H31H
IE\E B IEEE
Eight months ended Year ended
31 August 2020 31 December 2019
AR®ET T AREEF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
REEZFAEHZEA Revenue from contracts with customers
=3 Tuition fees 670,817 984,266
FEE Boarding fees 50,827 104,955
721,644 1,089,221
REEFEHZHA REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
i WADEESR (i)  Disaggregated revenue information
EHZE20205F HZE2019F
8H31H 12H31H
IEN\E B IEFEE
Eight months ended Year ended
31 August 2020 31 December 2019
ARET T AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
REESE Type of services
HE R Education services 721,644 1,089,221
& 5 Geographical markets
R A i Mainland China 721,644 1,089,221
LON AL Timing of revenue recognition
b5 B R B W R A RS Services transferred over time 721,644 1,089,221
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

6. WA Htlkzmkigs (F)
REEFSHZWA (&)
i)y WADEESR (&)

TRITRAREPERINVNBAS
BoREeHECRREBATFAELER

6.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(CONTINUED)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
(CONTINUED)

(i)  Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised in the
current reporting period that were included in the deferred revenue

A at the beginning of the reporting period:
B E20205F B ZE2019%F
8H31H 12H31H
IEN{E A IEEE
Eight months ended Year ended
31 August 2020 31 December 2019
AR®ET T AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
STAREEAEZWR AL Revenue recognised that was included
EERUWA in deferred revenue at the beginning of
the reporting period:

BER®E Education services 725,363 472,928

iy BHES (i)  Performance obligations

BHEBRBBERHHEER B2
NEBEBVRABEREEFANEN -

B ZE8A31H 12B318 P WEFtE
HNEBK(REXNABLIEXR)INIZE

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services
are rendered and tuition and boarding fees are generally paid in
advance prior to the beginning of each academic year.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at

REEOT: 31 August/31 December are as follows:
2020 20195
2020 2019
ARET T AR®T T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
FEHERABBRANSE: Amounts expected to be recognised
as revenue:
—F R Within one year 274,029 725,363
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6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(CONTINUED)
REEFEFEH WA (EF) REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
(CONTINUED)
iy BHHER®(F) (i)  Performance obligations (Continued)
H E2020F HZE2019F
8H31H 12A31H
IENEA IEEE
Eight months ended Year ended
31 August 2020 31 December 2019
ARET T AR¥ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
Hb g R i 5 Other income and gains
BR 75 U &= Service income 7,596 70,936
SBITRE WA Bank interest income 9,837 10,169
BAFEFTAEZNESBEE  Other interest income from financial assets
EENEMARBEWA at fair value through profit or loss 1,746 1,582
REVERLEHYIEEN Gross rental income from investment
HWHRESUWA property operating leases:
HtMAENK  BFEE TS Other lease payments,
including fixed payments 26,039 47,008
B/ B Government grants 6,876 18,467
Z8 = Catering income - 12,715
WERERE () Reversal of impairment allowance (note(i)) 19,774 =
Hith Others 2,810 2,213
74,678 163,090
FEEn) - WA R T REE2020F88318 Lk Note (i) As announced by the Company during the period ended 31 August 2020,

HERNFAM NREBCKRIEES
WEFEMEABEIEER ([HE
BR]) WR2020F4F R FHF
S A@EBE B RERERT
ELHEARM136,792,000tE B H
KANBESFBEILHAQFERUKE -
AU E %S 58 A K %136,792,000
nTE AEEEIAMESBBARE
11,201,000t D RFEAREBAR
#£147,993,000c H R K MBS EEA
S #5136,792,0007T A Z 58 - It & @
ARV BEEFRREARY
30,975,0007T - & B & £20204 8 A 31
BIEHEARAREREFREOERAE
f i 2% B A R #519,774,0007T ©

the Group has terminated its proposed acquisition of Xinjiang Institute of
Finance and Economics (“Xinjiang School”), and entered into a settlement
agreement with the counterparties in April 2020, pursuant to which an amount
of RMB136,792,000 was mutually agreed as the final settlement sum and
duly received by the Company during the period. With the receipts of the
settlement sum of RMB136,792,000, the Group recognised a write-off amount
of RMB11,201,000 being the differential of the original prepayment amount
of RMB147,993,000 and the final settlement sum of RMB136,792,000, and
reversed the provision of impairment allowance as previously recognised at
RMB30,975,000, that resulted in a net reversal of impairment allowance as
other income of RMB19,774,000 during the period ended 31 August 2020.
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7. BERAK

BMERETHOT :

7. FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

RITERREMBERFE
HESEBEFNE

I FmAFEFABREN
TREBENNERAXRAE
B BRI B

HZE2020%F BZE2019%F

8H31H 12A31H

IENEA LtFE

Eight months ended Year ended

31 August 2020 31 December 2019

ARET AREET T

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest on bank loans and other loans 75,983 106,313

Interest on lease liabilities 405 575
Total interest expense on financial liabilities not

at fair value through profit or loss 76,388 106,888

Less: Interest capitalised - (13,082)

76,388 93,806
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BR %1 A% F 8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX
AEBEBBRBRABANDENR, (5T BT The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
BIEBEN:

EERFNBEX (TEFEES K Employee benefit expense (excluding

RETHAEH M
(B1a29) ) :
TERFS
DR EX Y ZBRERX
RAKE B
(EREMERETE)

ME BERKBINE

REVMEFRE
EREEENE
HERLEE#E

ik AL €

R MBUTH B

A AHEREHEZ
HEMIEA

2 B Bl 7 B
AT R B W
SNEERR FE
AR At EYRER
HitEERERE
BORERMNFBBRERE

HEWE -BER
REBEENER

HZE2020%F BZE2019%F
8H31H 12831H
IENEA LtFE
Eight months ended Year ended
31 August 2020 31 December 2019
BraE ARMET T AR®ET T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
directors’ and chief executive’s
remuneration (note 9)):
Wages and salaries 271,119 326,606
Equity-settled share option expense 1,770 2,855
Pension scheme contributions
(defined contribution scheme) 8,182 22,432
281,071 351,893
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 14 81,947 111,991
Depreciation of investment properties 15 3,555 4,365
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 16(a) 12,733 13,957
Amortisation of other intangible assets 18 4,237 6,892
Rental income 6 (26,039) (47,008)
Government grants released (6,876) (18,467)
Lease payments not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities 16(c) 101 1,766
Auditor’s remuneration 4,500 4,500
Bank interest income 6 (9,837) (10,169)
Foreign exchange differences, net 1,985 2,377
Impairment allowance of prepayments,
other receivables and other assets 2,094 2,171
Reversal of impairment allowance of
prepayment on investments 6 (19,774) -
Loss on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment 134 581
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9. EERBSTHAEHMH 9.

RIEEHARR - FEBLQIEMIZEE383(1)(@) (b)*(c)
FEOERUR AR (BBEESFZER) REIE
BB ECHREERGESTHAEHFMW
T:

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the period, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

H E2020F B ZE2019F

8H31H 128318

IEN@EA IEEE

Eight months ended Year ended

31 August 2020 31 December 2019

ARET T AREET T

RMB’000 RMB’'000

e Fees 726 1,004
H {th 3R BN - Other emoluments:

HFe EMREBEYEN Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 1,023 1,173

RIBMABIEA Performance related bonuses 1,009 1,120

DRREL Tz BRERX Equity-settled share option expense 720 1,595

EBREFTEIMHEK Pension scheme contributions 73 112

3,551 5,004

RER - BETESRREDAEEREERE
MBEARANBRESIERBRE &
BE-SPHFBHRNYBRRMF0 -ZFH
BRENAFERREABNEE DREBH
WEBZR PRI Mt AR BB R
ANEHEERELINESRESTRALR
e -

During the period, certain directors were granted share options, in respect
of their services to the Group, under the share option scheme of the
Company, further details of which are set out in note 29 to the financial
statements. The fair value of such options, which has been recognised in
the statement of profit or loss over the vesting period, was determined as
at the date of grant and the amount included in the financial statements
for the current period is included in the above directors’ and chief
executive’s remuneration disclosures.
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EERBESTHAEHM (&) 9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

A BAFBITESE (A) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
NE  FAXNFBEIFATEENE The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the
EWMT: period/year were as follows:

BZ202058A318 LNEA
Eight months ended 31 August 2020

§¢& 2ER ZENHBZz HAREXG2 Bike

me BENEAN A BRERX sTEIMR o
Salaries,

allowances Performance Equity-settled Pension

and benefits related share option scheme
Fees in kind bonuses expense contributions Total
AR¥TR ARET R AR¥TT AR¥T R AR®T T AR®TR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

BEELE Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 212 - - 40 - 252

WEREE Mr. Hu Jianbo 160 - - 37 - 197

BREBgEE Mr. Chan Tung Hoi 177 - - 52 - 229

wTHEL Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter 177 - - 52 - 229

726 - - 181 - 907
BHEN019FE 1283 LEE
Year ended 31 December 2019
E =4 ZEHBz UREXAZ RikE
ik ENEF A BRERX HE L Foh
Salaries,
allowances Performance Equity-settled Pension
and benefits related share option scheme
Fees in kind honuses expense contributions Total
ARBF T ARBT ARBF R ARBTRT AR%TR ARBF T
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

BEXREE Mr. Wong Man Chung Francis 302 = = = = 302

BEELE Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 272 - - 101 - 373

HERLE Mr. Hu Jianbo 240 - - 101 - 341

REBEE Mr. Chan Tung Hoi 9 - - 14 - 109

TrREL Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter 95 = = 14 = 109

1,004 - - 230 - 1,234
R BMEENEBYFATESHNEM There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-
AN (20195 1 &) o executive directors during the period (2019: Nil).
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9.

EERRSTRAEHM (&)

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

(B) HMITESE (B) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
HZ2020F8A31ALNEA
Eight months ended 31 August 2020
He 2ER REHBz AREXG2 Bk
ik BENEAN A BRERX sTEIHM st
Salaries,
allowances Performance Equity-settled Pension
and benefits related share option scheme
Fees in kind bonuses expense contributions Total
ARBT R ARBT T ARBT T ARBT T ARBTTT ARBT R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BITES Executive directors
3 Mr. Li * - 667 667 313 36 1,683
WA EE Mr. Zhao Shuai - 333 333 222 36 924
HERZL™ Ms. Shen Chunmei ** - 23 9 4 1 37
- 1,023 1,009 539 73 2,644
BHEN19F 1283 LFE
Year ended 31 December 2019
‘ & 28K ZEHBz UREXAZ Rk
ik ENEAF AL BREBRX SRR @t
Salaries,
allowances Performance Equity-settled Pension
and benefits related share option scheme
Fees in kind honuses expense contributions Total
ARBF AR¥ET TR ARBFR ARBF ARBTT ARBF T
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
BTES Executive directors
Th4E Mr. Li = 572 572 806 54 2,004
AL A Mr. Zhao Shuai - 441 441 559 54 1,495
THEXE Mr. Ding Yu - 160 107 - 4 271
- 1,173 1,120 1,365 12 3,770

* FREREADDYTES EFSX
o

* AEBZTR020F8827EEEEA
ARABHITES

B TEZHEFEESHIRSTHRA
ENRJEERRETHE -

Mr. Li, who acts as an executive director of the Company, is also the chairman
of the Board.

Ms. Shen Chunmei was appointed as an executive director of the Company on
27 August 2020.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the period included two directors
(2019: two directors), details of whose remuneration are set out in note
9 above. Details of the remuneration for the period of remaining three
(2019: three) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

H E2020F B ZE2019F

8H31H 12H31H

IENEA IEEE

Eight months ended Year ended

31 August 2020 31 December 2019

ARET T AR¥T T

RMB’000 RMB’'000

HE RMREYEA Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 1,733 4,286
RIBHEBIEA Performance related bonuses 933 2,046
DR EL 2 ERERX Equity-settled share option expense 666 1,118
BIREFHEIHR Pension scheme contributions 108 116
3,440 7,566

FMAFUTHENFESRIRSTEHA The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
ENESHFNEEHBEWNT employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as
follows:
EEHE
Number of employees
B ZE20205F B ZE2019%F
8H31H 128318
IENEA IEFE
Eight months ended Year ended
31 August 2020 31 December 2019
500,001 Jt £1,000,00078 J© HKD500,001 to HKD1,000,000 1 -
1,000,001 JT £1,500,00058 JT HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 1 -
1,500,001 JT £2,000,00058 JT HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 1 1
2,500,001 7T £3,000,0005% JT HKD2,500,001 to HKD3,000,000 - 1
3,500,001 7T £4,000,0005% JT HKD3,500,001 to HKD4,000,000 - 1
3 3

2020 ANNUAL REPORT &

189



190

Bt %% 3R & M 5% B Z=202058 8310 1L /\{B B 2

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

10, 2R EHEMES (&)

11.
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B (TBREGADNERRAE BRER
ERECERFEEHR IUTZZHBWER
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (CONTINUED)

11.

During the period and in 2019, share options were granted to the non-
director and non-chief executive highest paid employees in respect of
their services to the Group, further details of which are included in the
disclosures in note 29 to the financial statements. The fair value of such
options, which has been recognised in the statement of profit or loss over
the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant and the amount
included in the financial statements for the current period is included in
the above non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees’
remuneration disclosures.

INCOME TAX

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands and accordingly is not subject to income tax.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group had
no assessable profits derived from or earned in Hong Kong during the
period.

According to relevant provisions of Implementation Rules for the Law for
Promoting Private Education (the “Implementation Rules”), private schools,
whether requiring reasonable returns or not, may enjoy a preferential tax
treatment. The Implementation Rules provide that the private schools for
which the sponsors do not require reasonable returns/schools are elected
as to be not-for-profit schools are eligible to enjoy the same preferential
tax treatment as public schools, and relevant authorities under the State
Council may introduce preferential tax treatments and related policies
applicable to private schools requiring reasonable returns. To date,
however, no separate policies, regulations or rules have been introduced
by the authorities in this regard. In accordance with the historical tax
returns filed to the relevant tax authorities and the confirmation obtained
therefrom previously, the PRC Private Schools have historically enjoyed
the preferential tax treatment since their establishment. There was no
corporate income tax imposed on the income from the provision of formal
educational services of the schools of the Group. As a result, no income
tax expense was recognised for the income from the provision of formal
educational services by the PRC Private Schools during the period. The
PRC Private Schools have not yet elected to be for-profit or not-for-
profit schools. According to the relevant in-charge tax bureau, since the
relevant tax policy for schools that have not yet elected to be for-profit
or not-for-profit is not yet announced and if the school nature has not
yet been changed, the schools could follow previous corporate income
tax exemption treatment for income from provision of formal educational
services.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

11.

INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

The non-academic education services provided by the schools are subject
to corporate income tax at a rate of 25%.

According to the Circular on Issues Concerning Tax Policies for In-depth
Implementation of Western Development Strategies, certain qualifying
subsidiaries of the Group that are located in Yunnan, Guizhou, Hubei
Province and Tibet Autonomous Region engaged in encouraged business
are entitled to a preferential corporate income tax rate of 15%. Other
entities of the Group established in Mainland China are subject to
corporate income tax at a rate of 25% on their respective taxable income.

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates
of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

B ZE2020F B ZE2019F
8H31H 12A31H
IENEA HFE
Eight months ended Year ended
31 August 2020 31 December 2019
AR¥T T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
BN HA Current
B FRXH Charge for the period/year 32,697 44,922
EAE (Mfat27) Deferred (note 27) (6,151) 10,591
B EARBXHAE Total tax charge for the period/year 26,546 55,513
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020
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11.

INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the
statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority
of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax
rates, and a reconciliation of the statutory tax rates to the effective tax
rates, are as follows:

HZE2020%F B Z2019%F
8H31H 12H31H
IENEA LLFE
Eight months ended Year ended
31 August 2020 31 December 2019
AR¥T T AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
R B3 Al i A Profit before tax 223,641 485,867
RPBEEB E25%TEWHLIE  Tax at PRC statutory tax rate of 25% 55,910 121,467
BEEMREMEEETH Lower tax rates for specific provinces or
BRI E enacted by local authority (19,227) (13,385)
B EARE )\ZSZ?E HIE A Effect of withholding tax on earnings
BRAzENHREE remitted and anticipated to be remitted
by subsidiaries 7,278 11,644
BARBTUWA Income not subject to tax (125,971) (229,788)
BANFBAX Expenses not deductible for tax 107,660 160,425
CEABTHEREBEER Tax losses utilised from previous periods (4,231) =
RERNHREEER Tax losses and deductible temporary
IR E R ERE differences not recognised 5,127 5,150
EAEEERIETERN Tax charge at the Group's effective rate
MIEXH 26,546 55,513
12. BE 12. DIVIDENDS
B Z2020% B Z2019%F
8H31H 12H831H
IENEA IEFE
Eight months ended Year ended
31 August 2020 31 December 2019
AR¥T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
FH-SRIETERARE0.0425T Interim -RMB0.042 (2019: RMB0.036)
(20195 : AR %0.0367T) per ordinary share 64,726 55,480
EERH-SREBRER Proposed final — Nil (2019: RMB0.032)
(20195 : AR #0.0327T) per ordinary share - 49,315
64,726 104,795
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based on the
profit for the period attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent,
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 1,541,108,486
(2019: 1,509,016,667) in issue during the period.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount is based on the
profit for the period attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent.
The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation
is the number of ordinary shares in issue during the period, as used in the
basic earnings per share calculation, and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no consideration on the
deemed exercise or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into
ordinary shares.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based on:

HZE20205F HZE2019%F
8H31H 12A31H
IENEA LFE
Eight months ended Year ended
31 August 2020 31 December 2019
ARMT T AR®ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
27 Earnings
REREARBERANFTE 2 Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of
BAREBRBRRELSZF the parent used in the basic and
diluted earnings per share calculation 174,909 386,446
®RHHE
Number of shares
B ZE2020%F B ZE2019%F
8H31H 12A31H
IENEAR LEE
Eight months ended Year ended

B 12 Shares
EERERBRIGTEZ

31 August 2020 31 December 2019

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

HFREBTEER in issue during the period/year used
bNE%’:J%z in the basic earnings per share calculation 1,541,108,486 1,509,016,667
HMESE -ZERMEFIE . Effect of dilution — weighted average
8 A% fE number of ordinary shares: Share options 437,462 =G
1,541,545,948 1,509,016,667
* HRARABRTEERENTEESRAER No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share amount presented for
ARBREAN ? HmE MR the year ended 31 December 2019 in respect of a dilution as the exercise prices of the
B Z2019F12831 JJ: FEEINERER Company's outstanding share options were higher than the average market prices for
ERESEMERAE the Company’s shares during the year.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
31 AUGUST 2020

RONF1A1A:
A
ZitihE

REFE

W202051818
BNREFHE
RE
KE-BHEAR
(#it3t)
e
HRGHERE

BREERIR

ERARENE

R2020E8A31E -
ENBRRHE

R2020%E8A31A
B
ZiE

REFE

At 1 January 2020:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

At 1 January 2020, net of

accumulated depreciation

Additions

Acquisition of a subsidiary
(iote 31)

Disposals

Depreciation provided during
the period

Transfers from construction
in progress

Transfer from investment
properties

At 31 August 2020, net of
accumulated depreciation

At 31 August 2020:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

BF REXE RE RER%EE ET%iE EEIR @t
Leasehold Motor Furniture and Electronic Construction
Buildings improvements vehicles fixtures devices in progress Total
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETTR ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
2,812,655 5,050 18,613 251,718 123,179 184,257 3,396,072
(158,045) (1,060) (10,616) (75,979) (60,440) - (306,140)
2,654,610 3,990 7,997 175,739 63,339 184,257 3,089,932
2,654,610 3,990 7,997 175,739 63,339 184,257 3,089,932
16,838 720 134 6,186 9,597 66,044 99,519
- 1,960 23 121 911 - 3,015
- - (3,303) (125) (89) - (3,517)
(42,622) (1,172) (1,302) (23,723) (13,128) - (81,947)
85,816 - - - - (85,816) -
(532) - - - - (5,801) (6,333)
2,714,110 5,498 3,549 158,198 60,630 158,684 3,100,669
2,914,777 7,730 14,376 257,111 126,531 158,684 3,479,869
(200,667) (2,232 (10,827) (99,573) (65,901) - (379,200)
2,714,110 5,498 3,549 158,198 60,630 158,684 3,100,669

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBER AT



14. Y% -BERKE (HF)
20195128 31H

Bf %% 3R & MY 5F B Z202058 8310 1L\ A B B

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
31 DECEMBER 2019

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

R219F1A1A
N
ZitihE

REFE

W201951818

BNREFHE
RE
KEREAR
HE

ENFTRAE
ERAREIR

ERARENE

R2019F 128318

ENRZTE

2019%12A31R8 :

B
ZitHE

REFE

At 1 January 2019;
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

At 1 January 2019, net of
accumulated depreciation

Additions

Acquisition of subsidiaries

Disposals

Depreciation provided during
the year

Transfers from construction
in progress

Transfer from investment
properties

At 31 December 2019, net of
accumulated depreciation

At 31 December 2019
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

BT HEEE " HBEREE EFRE EEIR o
Leasehold Motor Fumiture and Electronic Construction
Buildings improvements vehicles fixtures devices in progress Total
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
1,716,997 5,021 16,877 164,152 83,320 337,660 2,314,027
(100,293) (3,410 (8,244) (50,982) (34,979 - (197,908)
1,616,704 1,611 8,633 103,170 48,341 337,660 2,116,119
1,616,704 1,611 8,633 103,170 48,311 337,660 2,116,119
16,344 3,067 2,128 50,076 31,700 301,818 405,133
604,524 - 1,153 37,221 7448 3,788 654,140
(476) 2 (914) (323) 97) - (1,812)
(657,799) (686) (3,003) (25,042) (25,461) - (111,991)
446,970 - - 10,631 1,408 (459,009) -
28,343 - - - - - 28,343
2,654,610 3,990 7,997 175,739 63,339 184,257 3,089,932
2,812,655 5,050 18,613 261,718 123,179 184,267 3,396,072
(158,045 (1,060) (10,616) (75,979) (60,440) - (306,140)
2,694,610 3,990 7,997 175,739 63,339 184,257 3,089,932

MR2020FE8A31H BREFENBARY
372,492,000 (2019 12HA31H : AR #&
791,852,000C) WE FEFMERBYEFRE

-

A2020F8831H

CEREFENRAAR

182,969,000 (20195128318 : AR
250,178,000t M AEEE TEF KEAKE
BUREFRBCERTFERBITREMME

& (ByaE25) )

At 31 August 2020, the application for the property ownership
certificates for certain buildings with a net book value of approximately
RMB372,492,000 (31 December 2019: RMB791,852,000) was still in
progress.

At 31 August 2020, certain of the Group’s buildings, furniture and fixtures
and electronic devices with a net carrying amount of approximately
RMB182,969,000 (31 December 2019: RMB250,178,000) were pledged
to secure bank and other borrowings (note 25).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

15. WEWE 15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

20204 20194

2020 2019

AR¥ET T AR¥T T

RMB’000 RMB’000

MATBZREE Carrying amount at 1 January 210,292 161,426

BERBEERE Additions from acquisitions — 81,000

#=Ege  (2)EEYE Transfer from/(to) own-occupied property 6,956 (27,769)

B/ FRATHRITE Depreciation provided during the period/year (3,555) (4,365)

M8H31H 12831B ZBRMEE  Carrying amount at 31 August/31 December 213,693 210,292
A8H31H 7128318 : At 31 August/31 December:

S Cost 231,278 224,323

E i Accumulated depreciation (17,585) (14,031)

BREFE Net carrying amount 213,693 210,292

2020 8B31H REMEZAFEMTY
A AR #587,500,0007T (2019128318 : A
S #5513,400,000T) - ZfEEHBYEESE
BEEMET - IBEEMANGRELEGLRE
TIHHME BE2 BUMRERATFEEE
EoGERAEENEEZET - HETLLEY
ENHEEREREOYERINBEREEN
EEMAR - ZAELIHACREETEHR
EREEBTIRZEBR REVWEZLAFE
STEEBREEETERTUBEHARIE (5
=) e

ZREVERBLEHEHETFE=F #
—SHEFBRRYBRRMEF6 -

As at 31 August 2020, the fair value of the investment properties was
estimated to be approximately RMB587,500,000 (31 December 2019:
RMB513,400,000). The valuation was performed by an independent
professionally qualified valuer. Selection criteria of the external valuer
include market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether
professional standards are maintained. The valuation was determined
using the sale comparison approach. Sales prices of comparable
properties in close proximity are adjusted for differences in key attributes
such as property size. The most significant input into this valuation
approach is the price per square metre. The fair value measurement
hierarchy of the investment property requires certain significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3).

The investment properties are leased to third parties under operating
leases, further summary details of which are included in note 16 to the
financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

16. #HE 16.

REBEEREHEA

FEBEAREEREBENEFNEESN
ERAMFH-AMENIRUABETRBEASE L
o B R0FE MREBEZF L W BEE K
BT EREINEARE - EFNEHE
FRACENF-—RAME AKETATEAE
BUSMNTEZROBEBEEE

LEASES
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE

The Group has lease contracts for buildings used in its operations. Lump
sum payments were made upfront to acquire the leased land from the
owners with lease periods of 50 years, and no ongoing payments will be
made under the terms of these land leases. Leases of buildings generally
have lease terms between 2 and 4 years. Generally, the Group is restricted
from assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

(@ CEHEEE (@)  Right-of-use assets
B/ g R AEEFEHAEEERAER The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the
FENT movements during the period/year are as follows:
EfLi
MAZEYE HEME st
Prepaid land
Office premises lease payments Total
ARBT R ARET R ARBT R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
20201 A1R As at 1 January 2020 17,241 459,795 477,036
B Additions 1,706 - 1,706
WEEM B AR (HaE31) Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 37) 2,582 - 2,582
BRERENE Transfers to investment properties - (623) (623)
WEEH Depreciation charge (5,511) (7,222) (12,733)
202068 A31R As at 31 August 2020 16,018 451,950 467,968
A L
MAEYE HEME RENE ok
Office Prepaid land Investment
premises  lease payments properties Total
AR®T R ARETT AR¥T T AR¥ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R2019F1 1R As at 1 January 2019 690 203,930 1,130 205,750
B Additions 22,737 25,154 - 47,891
s BB Bt I A R Acquisition of subsidiaries - 237,926 - 237,926
BEE (B)REWE Transfers from/(to) investment
properties - 556 (1,130) (574)
WEEHR Depreciation charge (6,186) (7,771) = (13,957)
20198128310 As at 31 December 2019 17,241 459,795 - 477,036
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16. HE (&) 16. LEASES (CONTINUED)
TEBERZEABA(E) THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (CONTINUED)
by HEEE (b) Lease liabilities
B/ EREEEECREEE (BEFTE The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under interest-
RITREMER) REBOT : bearing bank and other borrowings) and the movements during the

period/year are as follows:

2020 20194
2020 2019
HEEE HEEE
Lease Liabilities Lease Liabilities
ARET AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
M A1TEZEREE Carrying amount at 1 January 17,260 1,820
wHE New leases 1,706 22,737
KEE— BB AR MARE Additions as a result of acquisition of
a subsidiary 2,582 -
B/ FREEIAFNERETEE  Accretion of interest recognised during
the period/year 405 575
VBN Payments (6,195) (7,872)
A8HA31H 12831H ZBRMEME  Carrying amount at 31 August/31 December 15,758 17,260
DA Analysed into:
BERER > (B aE25) Current portion (note 25) 9,762 7,411
JFEENEAE o (MfEE25) Non-current portion (note 25) 5,996 9,849
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

16. HE (&) 16. LEASES (CONTINUED)
AEBEHAEBEA(EF) THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (CONTINUED)
) REZABRINEVEMEBRBRELT: (c)  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are
as follows:
H E2020F HZE2019F
8H31H 12A31H
IENEA IEEE
Eight months ended Year ended
31 August 2020 31 December 2019
ARET T AR¥ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
HEEERE Interest on lease liabilities 405 575
FREEEZINERA Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 12,733 13,957
SIGHAE RGBT HE Expense relating to short-term leases and
PA2020F8H31H 20194 other leases with remaining lease terms
12A31B Rz AT fEm i ended on or before 31 August 2020/
HtBEBENMEX 31 December 2019 (included in cost of
(GFAHERARITHHAR) sales and administrative expenses) 101 1,766
RERAERRIELE Total amount recognised in profit or loss 13,239 16,298
d HEEBESHRBAERPBERRMHFTI20C) (d)  The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 32(c) to the

WE - financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

16. HE& (&)
AEBEBFESHBEA

AEERBLLEHEZHEEBRERET
BRAMENKRENE (W15 - ZEHEW
BRRBEEREPXFERZRSEBRBERT
TRETEHHEHSAZ - BRAAEERIN
HEWAB ARY26,039,0007T (20195 : A
R #547,008,000T) @ S EE A MK R ERMEE
60

20208 A31H BAAEERBEHAEMAR
ZIAUBECEHENERARBREERE
mT

16. LEASES (CONTINUED)
THE GROUP AS A LESSOR

The Group leases its investment properties (note 15) consisting of several
commercial properties in the schools under operating lease arrangements.
The terms of the leases generally require the tenants to pay security
deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments according to the then
prevailing market conditions. Rental income recognised the Group during
the period was RMB26,039,000 (2019: RMB47,008,000), details of which
are included in note 6 to the financial statements.

At 31 August 2020, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by the
Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating leases with its
tenants are as follows:

202058 H31H 2019512 H31H
31 August 2020 31 December 2019

ARE T ARBTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

—FR Within one year 23,951 47,378
—FUFERFEUR After one year but within two years 18,992 35,048
MEULEB=FUR After two years but within three years 13,714 24,672
=FUEEEFUR After three years but within four years 9,348 16,425
MEL EBRFUR After four years but within five years 4,125 10,702
HEEUE After five years 9,703 17,777
79,833 152,002
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

17. GOODWILL

20191818 :
2N
E2FRE
BREFE

20191 B1E A IR BT RE
WK B A T

20195128318
FA20195F128318 :
AR
2R E

SREFE

20201 A1 A IR BT EE
g — B DA (BaE31)

20208 H31H AR BRE FE
202058 3108 :

A

ZEEE

AREFE

At 1 January 2019:
Cost
Accumulated impairment

Net carrying amount

Cost at 1 January 2019, net of accumulated impairment
Acquisition of subsidiaries

At 31 December 2019

At 31 December 2019:
Cost
Accumulated impairment

Net carrying amount

Cost at 1 January 2020, net of accumulated impairment
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 31)

Cost and net carrying amount at 31 August 2020

At 31 August 2020:
Cost
Accumulated impairment

Net carrying amount

ARBT R
RMB’000

196,114

196,114

196,114
29,265

225,379

225,379

225,379

225,379
16,353

241,732

241,732

241,732
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

17.

e (&)
[k RN S

EREBSHRBNBEDNIBRETIRE
EEEMGETRERR:

s TTHERREELEN

s RUEERREELEN

e ERERREELEN

e ERERREELBEMN IR
e EHBXERREESELEMN-

NMEERESTELEEM

PTRENEERRESELAENCHERTDAE
BARM195364,000t A EBRESESE
BUNTKRESEDIRERSREEERE
NEFHMEREEFENRESRETERUMSE
AEEELIEC AREEBBREF N
HEREBENBEESREZEREA3% (20195
128318 :3%) c 202058 A31REARNE S
TETER 2B AT EE B18.2% (20195128
318 : 18.7%)

REERBEELEN

PEREFRLEBRBESELEENCHEREAR
BARBI000T - FRAEEBERREELE N
WOWESEDNZENSREEEIENT
FHUKBEEREANBSREBAULUFEAE
BftErtEE ANRHEEBLIEHRLE
RENREREZEREAI% (2019F128
31H :3%) e A2020F8 A3 HEBRARBE SR
2TER 2B AT EE 516.6% (2019F 12831
H:17.0%) °

17. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to the
following cash-generating units for impairment testing:

o Henan School cash-generating unit;

o Northeast School cash-generating unit;

o Guangxi Schools cash-generating unit;

o Central China School cash-generating unit; and
o Yunnan Vocational School cash-generating unit.

Henan School cash-generating unit

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the Henan School cash-
generating unit is RMB195,364,000. The recoverable amount of the
Henan School cash-generating unit has been determined based on a value
in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period approved by senior management. The growth
rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of the Henan School unit beyond
the five-year period is 3% (31 December 2019: 3%). The pre-tax discount
rate applied to the cash flow projections as at 31 August 2020 was 18.2%
(31 December 2019: 18.7%).

Northeast School cash-generating unit

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the Northeast School cash-
generating unit is RMB750,000. The recoverable amount of the Northeast
School cash-generating unit has been determined based on a value in
use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period approved by senior management. The growth
rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of the Northeast School unit
beyond the five-year period is 3% (31 December 2019: 3%). The pre-tax
discount rate applied to the cash flow projections as at 31 August 2020
was 16.6% (31 December 2019: 17.0%).
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B E R (&)
REERASELEN

STHREERERRECELENV - HEEREA
B ARE28982000t - EHERREELE
NWTRESEDNRERSREEBREN
TFEHPREERENESRETERUER
EREFELIEE - AREERBEFHER
BEREVEESAREZEREAHI% (2019512
H31H :3%) c 20208 A31HEARE €
FEFER 2B AT T B X 518.0% (20195128
31H 118.1%)

ERERBEETELEM

PTHREEFERRESELEEN 2 HEREDAE
BARM28300T - EPFERREELE N
HAIRESENDRERSHREEEHENE
FHUERERENREREEAUEAE
EBEELIEE - ARNHEBRLIFHERE
REMNBESREZEREH3% (20195128
31H :3%) c A2020F8 A3 HERARE SR
EFER 2B ATITERB18.5% (2019512831
H:18.7%) °

EMBEERBETELEN

PR EEEREERBESCELAENZEHER
HEAARY16352,000c EEBELRE
SEEBENNTRESENRERSRERE
B ENEFHUKEERENESRETRE
BUSEREENELEE - AREERBR
FHEFNREEREVNRESREZERRE
3% 20208 AT HEANBESRERIN 2
BATITERB17.6% °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

17. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)
IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Guangxi Schools cash-generating unit

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the Guangxi Schools cash-
generating unit is RMB28,982,000. The recoverable amount of the
Guangxi Schools cash-generating unit has been determined based on a
value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior management. The
growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of Guangxi Schools unit
beyond the five-year period is 3% (31 December 2019: 3%). The pre-tax
discount rate applied to the cash flow projections as at 31 August 2020
was 18.0% (31 December 2019: 18.1%).

Central China School cash-generating unit

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the Central China School
cash-generating unit is RMB283,000. The recoverable amount of Central
China School cash-generating unit has been determined based on a value
in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period approved by senior management. The growth
rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of Central China School unit
beyond the five-year period is 3% (31 December 2019: 3%). The pre-tax
discount rate applied to the cash flow projections as at 31 August 2020
was 18.5% (31 December 2019: 18.7%).

Yunnan Vocational School cash-generating unit

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the Yunnan Vocational
School cash-generating unit is RMB16,352,000. The recoverable amount
of Yunnan Vocational School cash-generating unit has been determined
based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based
on financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior
management. The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of
Yunnan Vocational School unit beyond the five-year period is 3%. The pre-
tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections as at 31 August
2020 was 17.6%.
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17.

mE ()
mERENE ()
EHREERASEEEM ()

FTE MBS ELEBENR2020F8A31HRK
2019F12AIAMEAEBEERN A5BEFH
ZHRBBR - TXHWLSREEBRETRE
BEMEENRSRERNMKENSEE
BHH:

RERA-FAEHESHEDERELHER
EEBHARTSHNES-

AEEMNR-BEMTHEEEMNENEEN
ERANBEEEEFTFEN —FERNFHEE
ME(RERARREAAA)IRAATEE
& o

BRER-FARREAKRBANER BRR
HEAREVABNRERR D2EERRE
BERFREHETERAREZR 2ETARL
MARAZEBLERUAEAEFAEEEERRK
BE-

REBRZ-REERRDERELEER
EEEYRRTENERMEE -

RERREELEMNTSBERRUREN
EHRTERRABTHEERIIMBER KR
H—2e

EEEETHETWRESRRENEIER
RRAFAEHEE DERREBEABREN
BERFHEEME

ARABNESCHAZREAENS R TRE
B URIANEHZEAZRTFEAANNOT
ENEE ERARSHTEEYAUGE
REeELENTRESENEMEBERN
FRRBELER HESENEENESRH
HIREE-

17. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Yunnan Vocational School cash-generating unit (Continued)

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the above
cash-generating units for 31 August 2020 and 31 December 2019. The
following describes each key assumption on which management has based
its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted revenue — The budgeted sales amounts are based on the
historical data and management’s expectation on the future market.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value assigned
to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross margins achieved
in the year immediately before the budget year, increased for expected
efficiency improvements, and expected market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and reflects
specific risks relating to the relevant unit, which is determined using the
capital asset pricing model with reference to the beta coefficient and debt
ratio of certain publicly listed companies conducting business in the PRC
education industry.

Long term growth rate — The long term growth rate is based on the
historical data and management’s expectation on the future market.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market development of the
cash-generating unit and the discount rates are consistent with external
information sources.

The key assumption on which management has based its determination
of goodwill’s recoverable amount is budgeted sales amounts, which are
dependent on the number of students and unit tuition and boarding fees.

The Directors of the Company have estimated the reasonably possible
changes in those factors and acknowledged that, even if the most
unfavourable possible values were assigned to those factors, the
recoverable amount then calculated, after incorporating any consequential
effects of such assignments on the other variables used to measure the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit, would still exceed its
carrying amount,

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBER AT
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18. Hh\B|EEE 18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
QLS EFBE st
Software  Client relationship Total
ARE T ARE T AR T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
20208 A31H 31 August 2020
FA2020F1 A1H MY R 7K - Cost at 1 January 2020, net of
KAIBR RGT N accumulated amortisation 21,223 = 21,223
nNE Additions 5,291 - 5,291
Wi — BB AR (AaE51) Acquisition of a subsidiary
(note 31) 2 1,200 1,202
st IR 8 Amortisation provided during
the period (4,171) (66) (4,237)
202058 H31H At 31 August 2020 22,345 1,134 23,479
72020 8H31H : At 31 August 2020:
S Cost 43,679 1,200 44,879
HEt#s Accumulated amortisation (21,334) (66) (21,400)
BREFE Net carrying amount 22,345 1,134 23,479
20195128318 31 December 2019
FA2019F1 B1H IR AN - Cost at 1 January 2019, net of
AR R T sH accumulated amortisation 18,531 = 18,531
nNE Additions 8,955 - 8,955
WS B AR Acquisition of subsidiaries 722 = 722
HE Disposals (93) = (93)
FARFHIREHE Amortisation provided during
the year (6,892) - (6,892)
72019128318 At 31 December 2019 21,223 = 21,223
20198128318 : At 31 December 2019:
B AR Cost 38,386 = 38,386
4§ Accumulated amortisation (17,163) = (17,163)
IREFE Net carrying amount 21,223 -~ 21,223
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19.

20.

HttERBEE 19. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS
202058 A31H 2019512 H31H
31 August 2020 31 December 2019
ARMET T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
REBNRIA Prepayment for investments 472,355 696,006
T fF TR R Prepayment for land use rights 172,368 129,177
Hih B EETELTRIE Prepayment for other intangible assets 528 647
ME BERRERNLRIE Prepayment for property, plant and equipment 26,256 30,911
671,507 856,741
BERE Impairment allowance - (30,975)
671,507 825,766
BERARETEREREFTERZEH IR Prepayments mainly represent down payments for investments of a new
school.
ﬁ FRE HMERRER i 20. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER
BE ASSETS
202058 A31H 2019512 H31H
31 August 2020 31 December 2019
ARMET T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
BERER Prepaid expenses 2,100 8,779
B R H A B FIE Advance and other receivables 78,168 46,078
BIER Staff advances 2,408 3,073
ek HAaEWHEERIE Deposits and other miscellaneous receivables 56,834 46,074
139,510 104,004
ZEREARERERKBRERRS. The amounts are interest-free and are not secured with collateral.
EEENRE AT RREERETRES An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
D2 HEEEE -BEXERAETEM provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates
FEEXANTRAEF > ENE I XE (IR are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments
BFEARFIHR) -tEERRMR T H R M with similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type and rating). The
R EEEEEBEURTEEEHTESDY calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of
ERABEEH BRAMRRRRELEMRRTE money and reasonable and supportable information that is available at
BMEEBER X EERM- the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.
CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HE#HSHEEERAT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

20. FEMTRRIE - HAth B FRIE K& H th 20. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER

21,

a2E (&)
TXHMFIAREAREE N2 E R H A IE Y
BB (HA RS R H A 08 WK IR ) £ R 3B
RN EERBER -

202098 H31H

ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the
Group’s tuition and other miscellaneous receivables included in deposits
and other miscellaneous receivables using a provision matrix;

31 AUGUST 2020

[Ft]
b SME 182f B3 3BUE 4N E @zt

Past due

Less than

Current 1 year 1102 years 20 3 years 3todyears  Over4 years Total
BHEEREE Expected credit loss rate - 1.30% 30.30% 72.06% 82.06% 100.00% 17.20%
BEmE(ARETT) Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) - 35,824 3,997 2,895 825 3,680 47,221
BHEEEE (ARBT)  Expected credit losses (RMB'000) - 466 1,211 2,086 677 3,680 8,120

2019%12A31H

31 DECEMBER 2019

Ik

Current

RHEEFRE Expected credit loss rate
BREE(ARETR) Gross carrying amount (RMB'000)
BHEEEE (AR%Tm)  Expected credit losses (RMB'000)

[aFaatd
HPRE 120% PR Rt MERE o

Past due

Less than

1 year 1102 years 2 t0 3 years 310 4 years Over 4 years Total
0.31% 6.64% 44.07% 72,.77% 100.00% 12.61%
35,421 4214 2,759 716 3,784 46,894
110 280 1,216 521 3,784 5911

BAFEFABRENERMEE 21.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

20208 A31H 20195128318
31 August 2020 31 December 2019

ARET T AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
Hik tmBRE ZAFE Other unlisted investments, at fair value 118,041 =

LHEEHREDPEANMBIRTRTHERY
Em BESHNBRERELHRERIAERE
ENE mERHs BEREAFESARS
MEREE-

The above unlisted investments were wealth management products issued

by banks in Mainland China. They were mandatorily classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss as their contractual cash flows
are not solely payments of principal and interest.
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2. BERBEESEYREEBER

22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED

DEPOSITS
20208 H31H 2019128318
31 August 2020 31 December 2019
ARET T AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
RE KRBT ER Cash and bank balances 560,734 559,007
EHEFEREEEBER Time deposits and pledged deposits 319,296 488,332
880,030 1,047,339
A B ERER Less: Pledged deposits (271,796) (380,832)
MREEERIEH Non-pledged time deposits with original

BB=fAz maturity of more than
EIEHEHER three months when acquired = (107,500)
HERBESEEY Cash and cash equivalents 608,234 559,007

RE/ FR REEUARBTENRER
RIT4 A AR ®605,085,0007T (20195128
318 : AR #558,192,0007T) - AR ¥ TEEH
HABRKEMER, -AM REPE HEE
BIEA) RAEE - EERNTEEERE) -
AEBNEBERERENEXZRWRITE
ANREHBREMER-

ROTREBBREBESARTERMNRIFENZ
BRRFE-BEHREHRERONERPRF A
SENNREEFRMEAAER LREB
EHERFRANRFR - RTEHREIEA
ERDERREEIHENTRAGERY
YR AT ©

At the end of the period/year, the cash and bank balances of the Group
denominated in RMB amounted to RMB605,085,000 (31 December
2019: RMB558,192,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under the Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment
of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods depending
on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the
respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged
deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBER AT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

iE W A 23. DEFERRED REVENUE
EHEBHEBOT: Details of contract liabilities are as follows:
202098 H31H 2019%F12H31H
31 August 2020 31 December 2019
ARET T ARBET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
2% Tuition fees 259,206 646,353
TEE Boarding fees 14,823 79,010
EHNEERE Total contract liabilities 274,029 725,363
EHEEEIER R I2 448 FE AR %5 M Uk By 2 Contract liabilities include short-term advances received from students
Y EHER - AEERZEFTHRBAIFEAR in relation to the proportionate service not yet provided. The Group
BENEBRABEE-ZERITENER receives tuition and boarding fees from students in advance prior to
FEEEPEELEIER - BEEREFMER the beginning of each academic year. Tuition and boarding fees are

ERHBERBESER -

recognised proportionately over the relevant period of the applicable
programme. Students are entitled to a refund of the payment in relation to
the proportionate service not yet provided.

20205688318 K20195 128318 &8 & The decrease in contract liabilities in 31 August 2020 and 31 December
BRODETERREZETRAZERAERE 2019 was mainly due to the recognition of tuition and boarding fees over
BTE - the academic year.
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24, HbENFEREGTEH

24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

202058 A31H
31 August 2020

2019128318
31 December 2019

AR¥ET T AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
BEYX BERREN Payables for purchase of property,

P RIE plant and equipment 90,342 127,143
Bt Rt 2R Accrued bonuses and social insurance 107,492 107,888
mE4WEKIBEE B (#752(0)) Miscellaneous expenses received

from students (note (i) 102,387 125,895
re Deposits 35,640 25,024
EREEERRE Payables to cooperative schools 12,656 28,384
ABEANBR Advance from lessee 34,931 44,768
FEA+ B2 4 T M B9 B AT 46 BY Government subsidies payable to
students and teachers 55,286 14,504
BB RE () Consideration payable for acquisitions (note (ij) 289,800 80,000
AR E Dividend payables 64,256 =
Hth FE S 7K IE Other payables 182,429 79,362
&R Accrued expenses 12,244 12,411
TREFELENEIEE Boarding fees refundable to students 32,453 =
1,019,916 645,379
FASRTDERBRATE-REB EXK H The above balances are unsecured and non-interest-bearing. The carrying

REKEBRNEH HEMRERETES

MREEEEAFERES-

mraEa -
REBEXS-

Bati): EBREIECERBWEHEMWE
ST R R E A 9 X B A R #6239,800,000

JC ©

amount of other payables and accruals at the end of the period/year

approximated to their fair value due to their short term maturity.

will be paid out on behalf of students.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBER AT

ERFEDNWRBEELENBEEER & Note (j):  The amount represents the miscellaneous expenses received from students which

Note (ij):  The amount mainly includes consideration payable for the acquisition of non-
controlling interests in Henan School amounting to RMB239,800,000 in accordance
with the acquisition agreement.
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25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

BORROWINGS
2020688318 2019128310
31 August 2020 31 December 2019
BRAE®Y) L) ARETR BRAEMW 5 ARETR
Effective Effective
interest rate (%) Maturity RMB'000 interest rate (%) Maturity RMB'000
B Current
RESE (Hti6n) Lease liabilities (note 16/ 3.82-4.26 2020-2021 9,762 3.82-4.26 2020 7411
BEARTER Bank loans - secured 4.35-6.37, 4.35-5.66,
HIBOR+0.05 2020-2021 123,538 HIBOR+0.05 2020 354,256
REGEABTERN Current portion of long term 4.99-7.20, 4,99-6.65,

MHH2 bank loans - secured HIBOR+2.25 2020-2021 335,377 HIBOR+2.25 2020 203,178
ERBEGERMEEZS  Current portion of other loans - secured 7.28-14.38 2020-2021 263,601 7.28-14.38 2020 138,357
RBBF Transaction costs (4,274) (4,325)

728,004 698,877
FHH Non-current

HEBE (M) Lease liabilities (note 16() 3.82-4.26 2021-2024 5,996 3.82-4.26 2021-2022 9,849

BHARTER Bank loans - secured 4,99-6.65, 4,99-6.65,
HIBOR+2.25 2021-2025 1,058,440 HIBOR+2.25 2021-2024 620,027
ERARMER Other loans - secured 7.28-14.38 2021-2030 110,354 7.28-14.38 2021-2030 167,432
RBBF Transaction costs (6,996) (9,356
1,167,794 787,952
1,895,798 1,486,829
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25. AT ESRITREMER (&) 25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

BOR

ROWINGS (CONTINUED)

2020%E8 H31H 2019128318
31 August 2020 31 December 2019

ARET T AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
2 Analysed into:
EEZERITER: Bank loans repayable:
R—FRARRER Within one year or on demand 454,640 553,109
REZF In the second year 439,516 209,253
RE=ZFZFERHEF In the third to fifth years, inclusive
(BFEEEMSE) 516,865 401,418
BBARF Beyond five years 95,064 =
1,506,085 1,163,780
EEZEEMER: Other borrowings repayable:
R—F R Within one year 273,365 145,768
REZF In the second year 72,509 95,879
RE=ZFZFEF In the third to fifth years, inclusive
(BEEREME) 28,078 59,174
BBhF Beyond five years 15,761 22,228
389,713 323,049
1,895,798 1,486,829
FMERTERREMERB T IS ELEE All of the bank loans and other borrowings are jointly secured and pledged
HIE R by:
() HM2020F8B31HAEEZFT REARE ()  the Group’s buildings, furniture and fixtures and electronic

BURETFRE2ARAFENBAR
#182,969,0007T (2019128310 : A B
#%250,178,00075) (FfsE14) ;

iy BRAEEETHBELTZRAG (ii)

iy ZXRERBEBI L (ZTEE2BB) (iii)
A MEAER (HEES5(0)

devices with an aggregate net carrying amount of approximately
RMB182,969,000 as at 31 August 2020 (31 December 2019:
RMB250,178,000) (note 14);

the pledge of shares of the Group’s certain subsidiaries;

personal guarantees executed by Mr. Li and Ms. Yang Xuging
(spouse of Mr. Li) (note 35 (c));

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBER AT



25. SFEMITREAMER (&)

FREBFNAKEERASEWE QA
BIYNDAER

(iv)

V) AEEBEMIEE A20205F8A8318LHEA
AR #271,796,0007T (20195128318 :
A R #343,000,0007T) ;

Vi) BENBREBEBERIBEERERE

ERREERBELRBPEEER

TEERER R

(vii)

(viii)

EHERZEREIEERERE-

26. IE ZE W &=

Bf %% 3R & MY 5F B Z202058 8310 1L\ A B B

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil)

corporate guarantees executed by the Group and subsidiaries of the
Group, which are controlled by Mr. Li;

deposits of the Group with an amount of RMB271,796,000 as at
31 August 2020 (31 December 2019: RMB343,000,000);
Guizhou School’s charging right of tuition and boarding fees;

Guangxi Yinghua International Occupation Middle School’s charging
right of tuition and boarding fees; and

Yunnan School’s charging right of tuition and boarding fees.

26. DEFERRED INCOME

i ]
NE

W BB X )
WAER

Additions

REFER
- BN ER 2

SEENER AR

At beginning of period/year

Acquisition of subsidiaries
Released to profit or loss

At end of period/year
Less: Current portion

Non-current portion

202058 A31H
31 August 2020

2019128318
31 December 2019

AR T ARBT
RMB’000 RMB’000
46,320 40,776
2,330 10,442

- 13,569

(6,876) (18,467)
41,774 46,320
(9,185) (10,622)
32,589 35,698

IESE W fe wE T A E 518 5 B AT W R Y B
BB -ZERFHBREREENTART
EREHRBARS-

Deferred income represents the government grants received for subsidies
in connection with certain leasehold improvements. These government
grants are released to profit or loss over the expected useful lives of the
relevant assets.
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214

27. IEER1E 27. DEFERRED TAX
B/ ERNELEREEE2EEBNT The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the period/year are as
follows:
20205
2020
WiE— A
NG|
B2
BB DNEERE H At wEt
Fair value
adjustments
arising from
Withholding acquisition
taxes  of a subsidiary Others Total
ARBT T ARBTR AR¥T R AR¥T R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
20201818 At 1 January 2020 5,479 85,811 10,269 101,559
BMASTABERAN Deferred tax credited to the statement
R IE of profit or loss during the period (5,479) (1,296) 624 (6,151)
WEBEE2RE (#f2£371)  Addition from an acquisition (note 37) = 180 = 180
20208 A31H M Gross deferred tax liabilities
ELEREEERSE at 31 August 2020 - 84,695 10,893 95,588
20195
2019
BB LT
EXEZ
minst NEERE Hith Fah
Fair value
adjustments
arising from
Withholding acquisition
taxes of subsidiaries Others Total
AR¥T R ARET R ARBT R ARBT R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
20191818 At 1 January 2019 3,021 46,398 - 49,419
FRFABERAMN Deferred tax credited to the statement
EERIE of profit or loss during the year 2,458 (2,136) 10,269 10,591
WEEBEZARE Addition from acquisitions - 41,549 = 41,549
2019512831 H 1Y Gross deferred tax liabilities
ELEREEERSE at 31 December 2019 5,479 85,811 10,269 101,559
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27. EEBIE (&) 27. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

RIE(PEAREMBEEEMGSEE) K
EAhRIMIERECEOIFTRESRE
TREVER B BIR10% B BB AFENF -ZHAEB
20081 A1H A BE A RK2007F12831
HEBEN -MPERNGRIEREE T E#E
B UHKWHE S RABEBNR B R 5
AEEMS BABERI0% Bt NEH
FEZE R B At B S BB B 2 B B 20085 1
B1AEAMELERAN D RNVEEHMMATBINH -

R2020F8A31H AEBEBIZR TR MWAR
HETHBLAAFEHREARRN 2 HBEIEL
FFEBRAEBEAT (20196128318 ARK
5,479,0007T) BRRZEHBHREBRNSEE
N BERESSBETERNBARREMAR
SERTRENEREAINEREENEFIFEN
FRERELEFE - EERE ZS58TREAE
REEHFBEAARIEELENER B
WHEEMB AT RITEARNSRATELED
REZEHTEF -

FZEER I HCH#E8BE—BREBNK
BAREARRABTATREERERS &
MAAEREREBRE MIERRZE
EHERN20200F8A3EMNELEREBEE A
R #17,124,0007T (20195128318 : AR
16,478,0007T ) °

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax
is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The requirement is
effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is therefore liable
for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from
1 January 2008.

As at 31 August 2020, the Group recognised relevant deferred income
tax liabilities of nil (31 December 2019: RMB5,479,000) on earnings
anticipated to be remitted by certain subsidiaries in the foreseeable
future. Other than the amount recognised in the consolidated financial
statements, deferred tax has not been recognised for withholding taxes for
the earnings expected to be retained by the PRC subsidiaries and not to
be remitted to a foreign investor in the foreseeable future. In the opinion
of the Directors, such remaining earnings will be retained in Mainland
China for the expansion of the Group’s operation, so it is not probable
that these subsidiaries will distribute such remaining earnings in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets amounting to RMB17,124,000 as at 31 August 2020
(31 December 2019: RMB16,478,000) have not been recognised in
respect of the losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been
loss-making for some time and it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the taxable losses can be utilised.
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28. BRA 28. SHARE CAPITAL
i 12 SHARES
202058 A31H 2019512 H31H
31 August 2020 31 December 2019
AR®ET T AR¥ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ERITRHAR: Issued and fully paid:
1,541,175,4308% (20194 : 1,541,175,430 (2019: 1,541,100,000)
1,541,100,000% ) & @ IR ordinary shares 1,056 1,056

RABHRAZSBBAMT

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as follows:

%7 & B k.l &5
Number of shares Amount Amount

TErn AR¥®TRZEE
USD’000  RMB’000 equivalent

gFEm: Registered: 2,000,000,000 200 1,355
ERITRHR: Issued and fully paid:
20191811 At 1 January 2019 1,431,100,000 143 983
BITH R A Issue of new shares 110,000,000 11 73
R2019F128318 K At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020

20201 A1H 1,541,100,000 154 1,056
SITEBRRE (M) Share options exercised (Voes()) 75,430 - =
720208 A31H At 31 August 2020 1,541,175,430 154 1,056

BraEp - 754300 BREFMARBEESEER
4.085%8 TR BB ETE (M EE29) - B3
BITT5430R IR0 MK E KR HE
X)) A ARHE276,0007T c AR EETE
% ARMS2THBEREMEEARR.

B

AABBRETEFBERRETERITHE
REBEENHHRRHMFE29R -

Noes(i). The subscription rights attaching to 75,430 share options were exercised at the
subscription price of HKD4.085 per share (note 29), resulting in the issue of 75,430
shares for a total cash consideration, before expenses, of RMB276,000. An amount
of RMB52 was transferred from the share option reserve to share capital upon the
exercise of the share options.

SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share options
issued under the scheme are included in note 29 to the financial
statements.
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29. B R E 29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

AATFKE —HERESE (58] BERE
AEWAEEEERINEERSHEHERM
RERER - FENECERSHEHECELRD
AEE (BEAEEBYFHATES Hitb
BEERAEEERBRKE 2 HER) - 5T &R
2017F3B20B £ BRFE S ITEBUE R IEET
HHSEZARBRERTF-

RIBFHE BRAATRTWRITEBREN
BEEHEATHERMEERN LT B (B
2017548198 ) R D BB BITIRMHDIN10% © 7£
A+ —EAHE REEREQTINE
EEERSHEHERTIRNBRSEE YR
RAQBEMEECBITROM1% - (EAE
HERENE-—PRHEBEREELERREAE
HEAE o

BYFAQAES THARITERRIAHE
FABEANBEREAEBIFITESS
THE-WIN RFAQXITETERRIAB Y
FUTESHHEHEMBHEANTABERE:
BREADAMEMEBCBHTROMNINIA
B (RERQABDNAEHHBHHOROER)ER
TEERET EEMTEBAR AERRE
BRERKRE EHE -

ETBERENZEVNIREYEHET=TN
BRER THARANERRERREE
ToFBRHBREZTENIHESEE I
R=EZTFRBHERL RRFTERBR
BRENHPEFTLFERFAEERBBTE (U
REERE) -

BRECTEERESZBEE HETEHERU
TZESE: ((A2ARMZEHE: ((RAF
RORBREZNEPEBIAZWHE:
RNA2AFAROREEZNAHAAERS
BEBXMzFEPRHE-

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants of
the Scheme include the Company’s directors, including independent non-
executive directors, other employees of the Group and suppliers of goods
or services to the Group. The Scheme became effective on 20 March
2017 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for
10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted
to be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their
exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at the listing date,
i.e. 19 April 2017. The maximum number of shares issuable under share
options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any 12-month
period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time.
Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject
to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors. In
addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s
shares at the date of grant) in excess of HKD5 million, within any
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a
general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days
from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of HKD1
in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted
is determinable by the directors, and commences after a vesting period
of three to five years and ends on a date which is not later than five
years from the date of offer of the share options or the expiry date of the
Scheme, if earlier.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors, but
may not be less than the highest of (i) the nominal value of the Company’s
shares; (i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares
on the date of offer of the share options; and (i) the average Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of offer.
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29. BRHETE (&) 29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

BRELAETFHFAEARDBREIARRK
BEREZER -

BEADXTR017F3IF208 HM 218 B
2020F R2019F R 2 R EFEBNOT ¢

1) R2019%F481H » 3,480,000 BB R E R
HIRAZEARSRI4BTITEEE
I%WO

2) 20195108218 » 2,810,40010 B8 A% #&
RETHARARSRINBRTITEE

3)  HA20205F7H23H » 4,367,20010 B8 IR #E 4%
B HAZEARSRS.338 TITHEEE
4o

UTHARE FRBREFEERTEZBR

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote

at shareholders’ meetings.

Under the Scheme adopted by the Company on 20 March 2017, details of
share options granted in 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

1) On 1 April 2019, 3,480,000 share options were granted and
accepted by grantees at an exercise price of HKD3.64 per share.

2) On 21 October 2019, 2,810,400 share options were granted and
accepted by grantees at an exercise price of HKD3.11 per share.

3) On 23 July 2020, 4,367,200 share options were granted and
accepted by grantees at an exercise price of HKD5.33 per share.

The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme during

FE: the period/year:
20205 20195
2020 2019
mAEFH BB AR mREFE B
TEE 2R TEE #A
Weighted Weighted
average Number average Number
exercise price of options exercise price of options
BRAET T4 BRERT T4
HKD per share ‘000 HKD per share '000
®1A1H At 1 January 3.931 13,068 4,352 8,195
B/ FRERE Granted during the period/year 5.330 4,367 3.403 6,290
B/ ERBRK Forfeited during the period/year 3.829 (1,815) 4,021 (1,417)
B/ ERCTE Exercised during the period/year 4.085 (75) = =
M8A31E /12A31H At 31 August/31 December 4.323 15,545 3.931 13,068

HRETEFEERERTEAR 2 MEFIR
BAERS8178BT (2019F  WEBEREET
fi) o

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options
exercised during the period was HKD5.817 per share (2019: No share

options were exercised).
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29. BRRHESTE (F&)

RBERREGRTEBREZITEERITE
BT

29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options outstanding
as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2020%F8H31H 31 AUGUST 2020

BREZE THEE
Number of options Exercise price 1T f£ A Exercise period
Sl BRET
’000 HKD per share
354 5.920 2019%9H3H £2023F9H2H 3 September 2019 to 2 September 2023
213 5.920 2020%F9H3H £2023F9H2H 3 September 2020 to 2 September 2023
142 5.920 2021%9H3H £2023F9H2H 3 September 2021 to 2 September 2023
2,112 4202 201943H1H E£2023%F10825H 1 March 2019 to 25 October 2023
990 4202 20204381 H E£2023%F10825H 1 March 2020 to 25 October 2023
671 4202 2021%381HZE2023%F10825H 1 March 2021 to 25 October 2023
591 4202 2019%9H3H F£2023%F10825H 3 September 2019 to 25 October 2023
401 4202 20205F9H3H F2023%F10H25H 3 September 2020 to 25 October 2023
306 4202 20215F9H3H F£2023%F10H25H 3 September 2021 to 25 October 2023
116 4202 2022%F9H3H F2023%F10H25H 3 September 2022 to 25 October 2023
116 4202 2023%F9H3H F2023%F10H25H 3 September 2023 to 25 October 2023
10 4202 2019%F10H26H £2023%F10825H 26 October 2019 to 25 October 2023
11 4202 2020510826 R £2023%F10825H 26 October 2020 to 25 October 2023
7 4202 2021510826 R £2023%F10825H 26 October 2021 to 25 October 2023
17 4320 2019%11H2H £2023F11 818 2 November 2019 to 1 November 2023
10 4320 2020%11H2H £2023%F1181H 2 November 2020 to 1 November 2023
7 4320 2021%11H2H £2023%F1181H 2 November 2021 to 1 November 2023
1,296 3.640 2020%4H1H £202453831H 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2024
788 3.640 20214818 £2024%3H31H 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2024
525 3.640 2022F4H1H £2024%3H31H 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2024
759 3.110 20205%10H21H £2024510H20H 21 October 2020 to 20 October 2024
760 3110 2021510821 H 220245108208 21 October 2021 to 20 October 2024
1,013 3110 2022510H21H 220245108208 21 October 2022 to 20 October 2024
1,299 5.330 202147 H23H £2025%7H22H 23 July 2021 to 22 July 2025
1,299 5.330 202247 H23H £2025%7H22H 23 July 2022 to 22 July 2025
1,732 5.330 2023%F7H23H £2025%7H22H 23 July 2023 to 22 July 2025
15,545
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29. BRAERE (&)
2019%12A31H

29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)
31 DECEMBER 2019

BREHE THEE
Number of options Exercise price  {T{#HA Exercise period
T 1 BRET
'000 HKD per share
709 5.920 2019%F983H £2023F9H2H 3 September 2019 to 2 September 2023
6,409 4.202 2019%3A1H ZE2023F10825H 1 March 2019 to 25 October 2023
88 4320 2019%F11H2H £2023F1181H 2 November 2019 to 1 November 2023
3,089 3.640 2020%F4A1HZE2024%F3831H 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2024
2,773 3110 2020510821 H £2024510820H 21 October 2020 to 20 October 2024
13,068
FRRHZERE LA FES ARKRY6,933,000 The fair value of the share options granted during the year was
T(BRARM1.50T) (2019 AR RMB6,933,000 (RMB1.59 each) (2019: RMB6,101,000, RMB0.97 each),
6,101,000t BRR AR®097L) " HA & of which the Group recognised a share option expense of RMB1,843,000
F2020F8A3MBLENBERERAREERRE (2019: RMB4,450,000) during the eight months ended 31 August 2020.

B RERD X A R #51,843,0007T (20194 : A R#E

4,450,0007T ) °

B/ FARE R AGEEEREZAFED The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the period/
REEABMU-ZEXEXETHT XEE year was estimated as at the date of grant using a binomial model, taking
REBREZGRARGHE - FFAERLXZFA into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were
EEOT: granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

R 22 (%)

B 8 (%)

32 2 B R == (%)
EERESH (F8)

20205 20194

2020 2019

Dividend yield (%) 27 27
Volatility (%) 58 52-53
Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.25 1.29-1.48
Expected life of options (year) & 5
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BREZRFAIERAFHDUEERERKEM
AREE A -—ERURBERZTEENZ
ER-FEHKERRERBEREDRES
BrER UTFT-—ERERER-

AEAFEREEMARTROBREZEM
HAt e

B ITHE 7543010 B IR EE BUAR R T 1T
75,4308 E B A K #IG AR A R #5250 (H0BR
BT A BRI ISHRRM 28 -

RBEHER ADQTRIFEFT B F 15,545,320
BERTECERE-RERAQATDEAMER
R BHTENRITEZERELERK
A 8] 8 1715,545,320 4% R Hh E 18 AR IR 10 K2 BE A
B 751,554,535 5T (FIBREFITRAZAT) ©

&
AEBRAHERBIFENRESERA
SHEVBBRRNGEREEZBRNZS -

EXf#E

FAEENEAFBEAEENE QA RER
ERFAANRARIE - HANTEREARH
MEARKRERESEABRNMIECHER
K(REJEREHREMBRAR HE
BRFEEROAREFNAHESZS) - B
AHNAREAEERBEZT EERAREST
EBAHRMBLARAREERNEEFER

Ao
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29.

30.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The expected life of the options is based on management’s best estimate
and is not necessarily indicative of the exercise patterns that may occur.
The volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is
indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual
outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.

The 75,430 share options exercised during the period resulted in the
issue of 75,430 ordinary shares of the Company and new share capital
of RMB52 (before issue expenses), as further detailed in note 28 to the
financial statements.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 15,545,320 share
options outstanding under the Scheme. The exercise in full of the
outstanding share options would, under the present capital structure of
the Company, result in the issue of 15,545,320 additional ordinary shares
of the Company and additional share capital of US$1,554.53 (before issue
expenses).

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the
current period and prior year are presented in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity of the financial statements.

CAPITAL RESERVE

The capital reserve of the Group represents the capital contributions from
the then equity holders of the Group’s subsidiaries. The additions during
the period represent the injection of additional paid-up capital by the then
equity holders of the Group’s subsidiaries, which were consolidated from
the earliest date presented or since the date when the subsidiaries and/or
businesses first came under the common control of Mr. Li. The deduction
during the period represents the decrease in the Group’s net assets
resulting from the acquisition of equity interests in subsidiaries from Mr. Li
for business combination under common control.
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e (&)
EFEREMBERREE

RETPEARZEZE AQANPEMEQ
FERSERHBRBF D BER A D IRFEBE (
ELHEHABRTENBLARANESEERE) -
ZERBEENVEREME RN —RERR)
ERNVBRES

30.

7l
B

REPEQATNELE AEEETHE QT
EARELE BEXBREERTESS
ZHFEENBRBTEBENNI0%D EZE
EXEWIERMREE EEHEED
HEZBAFEMEARMNS0% £ FE QT E
FEETRANKRRT  BHEEEER
EETEERAN HERNMLENERT
BRREMEARN25% ©

(i)

RETENEREEESR ERGED
BHNRMERASEEERT D R25%
MRS (RETFEARS T ERNEE)
TRERRES - BRESANERN
BEREEIHERBORBAR-

(i

¥%a0f

B ZE2020F8A31H LB R A& B 142020
F6A LUK E AR %38,600,0007T @ /W A 38 L
FoAWNBLLETEERCEESERTRAA
(TERZFENHNEBEZ - LT STEAEH
RECEEEREZABRLA(ERARENN
H-—BR ERRCAZHERAMNEE®
B ([EEBEER)) RERAERZRHEAF
EREER(EHERR]) NERERE-
BREEREERMN LZHE EHRERE
PERRITEEREE - WEFEARE
ABR-BERBCER2020F68 LR X
o

31.

30.

31.

RESERVES (CONTINUED)
STATUTORY AND OTHER SURPLUS RESERVES

Pursuant to the relevant laws in the PRC, the Company’s subsidiaries
in the PRC shall make appropriations from after-tax profit to non-
distributable reserve funds as determined by the boards of directors of the
relevant PRC subsidiaries. These reserves include (i) the general reserve
of the limited liability companies and (ii) the development fund of schools.

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC, certain
subsidiaries of the Group which are domestic enterprises are
required to allocate 10% of their profit after tax, as determined in
accordance with the relevant PRC accounting standards, to their
respective statutory surplus reserves until the reserves reach 50%
of their respective registered capital. Subject to certain restrictions
set out in the Company Law of the PRC, part of the statutory
surplus reserve may be converted to share capital, provided that
the remaining balance after the capitalisation is not less than 25%
of the registered capital.

U)

According to the relevant PRC laws and regulations, private schools
that require reasonable returns are required to appropriate to
the development fund not less than 25% of the net income of
the relevant schools as determined in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles in the PRC. The development
fund is for the construction or maintenance of the schools or the
procurement or upgrade of educational equipment.

BUSINESS COMBINATION

During the period ended 31 August 2020, the Group acquired the entire
interests of Beijing Fangzhi Yuanlue Enterprise Management Co,. Ltd.
(“Beijing Fangzhi”) in June 2020 from two independent third parties at
a total consideration of RMB38,600,000. Beijing Fangzhi was the sole
shareholder of Songming Zhonghe Enterprise Management Consulting
Co., Ltd. (“Songming Zhonghe”), which is the school sponsor of Yunnan
Einsun Science and Technology College (“Yunnan Vocational School”)
and Kunming Einsun Science & Technology Vocational College (“Kunming
Einsun”). Apart from Yunnan Vocational School, there has been no
business operation for Beijing Fangzhi, Songming Zhonghe and Kunming
Einsun. The acquisition was accounted for using the acquisition method.
The purchase consideration was settled in the form of cash in June 2020.

(i
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31. BUSINESS COMBINATION (CONTINUED)

The acquisition is part of the Group’s business strategy to expand into
the training business sector, and Yunnan Vocational School is a vocational
education and training institution, providing accounting, IT and other
training services. For the purpose of acquisition of Yunnan Vocational
School, the Group engaged an external independent appraiser to perform
the valuation with the identification and determination of fair values to be
assigned to the acquiree’s assets and liabilities as at the acquisition date.

YUNNAN VOCATIONAL SCHOOL

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Yunnan
Vocational School as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

AU B B

BRAZATE

Fair value

recognised on

acquisition

iok=d AR®ET T

Notes RMB’000

ME- -BEREE Property, plant and equipment 14 3,015
FEREEE Right-of-use assets 16(3) 2,582
HihBmEEE Other intangible assets 18 1,202
BERBITLER Cash and bank balances 1,027
g 5 EWRFIE Trade receivables 21,404
FERFE-HEtEWEREREMERE  Prepayments, other receivables and other assets 656
EEWA Deferred revenue (340)
HiEAREBERETER Other payables and accruals (4,537)
HEAE Lease liabilities (2,582)
EEHEBEAE Deferred tax liabilities 27 (180)
BAFEFNETRBNEEFEEEEE Total identifiable net assets at fair value 22,247
RS EE Goodwill on acquisition 16,353
BRASEN Satisfied by cash 38,600
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31 ¥%60t (&) 31. BUSINESS COMBINATION (CONTINUED)
EMHEER (&) YUNNAN VOCATIONAL SCHOOL (CONTINUED)
ERACHEBEIEREARBELE 2TERE The goodwill recognised is primarily attributed to the expected business
BHEME HUFEBRER - HECHER synergies arising from the acquisition, which is not separately recognised.
EIEHEELERIKND- The goodwill recognised is not expected to be deductible for income tax

pUrpOSes.
AEERKBEEHFERATHENRNWERE The Group measured the acquired lease liabilities using the present value
FFTECWEBHEERE - FAREERERA of the remaining lease payments at the date of acquisition. The right-of-
EEBNESEME- use assets were measured at an amount equal to the lease liabilities.
BWEHRB AR ZRERESHTNOT An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of subsidiaries
is as follows:
ARET T
RMB’000
EFRENRE Cash consideration paid (38,600)
ElBHE e RIRITER Cash and bank balances acquired 1,027
ReRBESEEYREFETA Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included
RETHFACEESRE in cash flows used in investing activities (37,573)
REFBU KRS ERESE (KEFT) % In accordance with HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations, the
HE]l WEFMSEENSEETE N2 amounts recorded for the acquisition are provisional and are subject to
HE(CWEAEREB—F) MEWMERN adjustments during the measurement period of not exceeding one year
W BHEFAEYER (MANB)FELERME from the acquisition date if new information is obtained about facts and
REZELHTECESENBERNFESR A circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and, if known, would
WEFBERNESET TR have affected the measurement of the amounts recognised as of that
date.
BWEBUR EEBXERIEALREER Since the acquisition, Yunnan Vocational School contributed nil to the
BN REAE B E Z202068H31H IEN Group’s revenue; and recognised loss amounted to RMB679,000 to the
BEMWEE RFEAEEARYG679,0007T Group’s consolidated profit for the eight months ended 31 August 2020.
MAHNEHEEREER AEENHR Had the combination of Yunnan Vocational School taken place at the
WA EARET21,644,000T MAERH beginning of the period, the revenue of the Group for the period would
BHREREE ARE209,149,0007T ° have been RMB721,644,000, and the profit of the Group for the period
would have been RMB209,149,000.
224  CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HE#HSHEEERAR
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2. RERERERMETE 32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
A TEFREXH (A) MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

R AEEREFHEZRHEIRE
AEAREERTEHEEEHEESRE
A R #1,706,0007T & A K #1,706,0007T
(20195 : AR 22,737,000t 2 A R #E
22,737,0007C) °

During the period, the Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities of RMB1,706,000 and RMB1,706,000,
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for buildings (2019:
RMB22,737,000 and RMB22,737,000).

B) METHELZAEBEEH (B) CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
20205 2020
RITREMER HESE &5t
Bank and
other loans Lease liabilities Total
ARBT AR T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
20201 A1RH At 1 January 2020 1,469,569 17,260 1,486,829
MERERECEDH Changes from financing cash flows 410,471 (6,195) 404,276
MHEE New leases - 1,706 1,706
MEXH Interest expense - 405 405
Wi — BB LR ZEm Increase arising from acquisition of
a subsidiary - 2,582 2,582
R2020F8A31H At 31 August 2020 1,880,040 15,758 1,895,798
20195 2019
RITRAMERN HEAE a3t
Bank and
other loans Lease liabilities Total
ARBTR ARBT T ARBT R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
20191818 At 1 January 2019 1,286,847 1,820 1,288,667
MERERECEEH Changes from financing cash flows 173,929 (7,872) 166,057
MHEE New leases - 22,737 22,737
MEZH Interest expense - 575 575
s i — RE B B A B 2 3 N Increase arising from acquisition of
a subsidiary 8,793 - 8,793
2019128318 At 31 December 2019 1,469,569 17,260 1,486,829
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2. FERTRERMEE (&)

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(C) HEMARSRH (C) TOTAL CASH OUTFLOW FOR LEASES
FTARERERCEHBAENER SR The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of cash
HAT flows is as follows:

H E2020F HE2019F
8H31H 12H31H
IEN@EAR IEFE
Eight months ended Year ended
31 August 2020 31 December 2019
AR¥T AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
FTAREEHR Within operating activities 101 1,766
FFAREFEA Within financing activities (6,195) (7,872)
(6,094) (6,106)
33. EEEHA 33. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

RARERTEFREFZAEEEEFBH
TR B 95 R 2R MY RE25 o

i
REBPREMERE U T BRI

34.

34.

Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the Group’s bank loans are
included in note 25 to the financial statements.

COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments as at the end of the
reporting period:

20208 A31H
31 August 2020

2019%12H31H
31 December 2019

AR®ET T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000

EHEREES: L Contracted but not provided for:
ME - BERZE Property, plant and equipment 190,818 140,042
RE Investments 23,000 43,000
213,818 183,042
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

ARREERH RB FR UTEH D
ARERAEEARS NERNBEBT

A BBRBRE
HAEBER
B 5 & 78 AT ZBE
e ¥ EEETRE
BREL+ 25 5 4 (S
AR E
REBRA T B 2 5 4 1R
B) RREZEUBEHRERH M7
B ZRE KRR
%E@E/imﬁ%%ﬁﬁ
u N .

The directors of the Company are of the view that the following parties/
companies are related parties that had transactions or balances with the
Group during the period/year.

(A)

NAME AND RELATIONSHIP

Relationship with the Group
Name of related parties and the Company
Mr. Li
Ms. Yang Xuging
Beijing Lianhe Open Education
Technology Co., Ltd.

Chairman of the Board
Spouse of Mr. Li
Controlled by Mr. Li

IN ADDITION TO THE TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES DISCLOSED ELSEWHERE IN
THESE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, THE GROUP
HAD THE FOLLOWING TRANSACTIONS WITH
RELATED PARTIES DURING THE PERIOD/YEAR:

XNF-EBBAINELE

BEREE
RSB MRE BRI AR 2T Beijing Lianhe Open Education
Technology Co., Ltd.

Online education services fee to a related party

B 220205 B Z2019%F
8H31H 12A31H
IEN@EAR tHFE

Eight months ended Year ended
31 August 2020 31 December 2019
ARMTR ARMT T
RMB’000 RMB'000

2,000 1,500

R 5 RIEA ST HEHE O RRAMIE
T o

HEBRLD 2HEMRS

W RS E AREE T ERTR
HtERHFEEERGREEL T HEE
® e

The transaction was carried out in accordance with the terms and
conditions mutually agreed by the parties involved.

OTHER TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED
PARTIES:

As set out in note 25, certain of the Group’s interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings were jointly guaranteed by Mr. Li and Ms.
Yang Xuging.

2020 ANNUAL REPORT F£# 227



Bt %% 3R & M 5% B Z=202058 8310 1L /\{B B 2
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

3. BEAERZIRE (F) 35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
(CONTINUED)
(D) AEEBFTEEEAENME (D) COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT
PERSONNEL OF THE GROUP:
B E2020F HZE2019F
8H31H 12A31H
IENEA IEFE
Eight months ended Year ended
31 August 2020 31 December 2019
ARET T AR¥ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
EHEERER Short term employee benefits 4,000 11,869
EBIREFHEIHR Contributions to the pension scheme 179 474
DREZFHERERX Equity-settled share option expense 912 3,401

MEEEEAESZINMWEABMEL  Total compensation paid to

key management personnel 5,091 15,744
EBREERFETHAEMENE-—FSFHS Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s emoluments are
B B R R MR o included in note 9 to the financial statements.
36. e T EMNSE 36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
RBEPR SESRIENREANT The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as

at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2020F8 A31H 31 AUGUST 2020
SEEE Financial assets
BATE RE SR A
STABEH STER
CRMEE CREE &t
Financial assets
at fair value Financial
through assets at
profit or loss amortised cost Total
ARE T ARE TR AR¥ TR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
STATEAFE  HAEUFRIE Financial assets included in prepayments,

REMEENERHEE other receivables and other assets = 137,410 137,410
BIEAER Pledged deposits - 271,796 271,796
BREFEARE Prepayment for investments - 472,355 472,355
BeRBEZEEY Cash and cash equivalents - 608,234 608,234
BEATFEGABRN Financial assets at fair value through

cREE profit or loss 118,041 - 118,041

118,041 1,489,795 1,607,836
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6. EMITENDE (F) 36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
(CONTINUED)
2020%F8H318 (&) 31 AUGUST 2020 (CONTINUED)
cRAas Financial liabilities
1% &5
RAGTEN
tREE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
ARE T
RMB’000
SFAEMEMSRERETSERAN Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals
Eal: =K 865,249
SFERITREEMMER Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 1,895,798
2,761,047
2019%F12H31H 31 DECEMBER 2019
EWMEE Financial assets
g ki
A=/
EREE
Financial
assets at
amortised cost
AR¥T T
RMB’000
SFATBARE - HERRER Financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and
HWEENEMEE other assets 95,225
2RI FER Pledged deposits 380,832
BREBMNRIE Prepayment for investments 665,031
E B 17 Time deposits 107,500
BERREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 559,007
1,807,595
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6. EMITENDE (F) 36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
(CONTINUED)
2019%12H31H (&) 31 DECEMBER 2019 (CONTINUED)
cHmaes Financial liabilities
178 £
ARG E
SREE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
AREETF T
RMB’000
SFAEMEMSRERETSERAN Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals
Ea= =R 480,312
SFERITREEMMER Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 1,486,829
1,967,141

37. €M ITEMNATFERAFEEHR 37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

AEEERMIANKREERATFE (REE The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial instruments,
BREEMATFEFEZE)OT for those with carrying amounts that require recurring fair value

measurement, are as follows:

REME AF¥HE
KE Group Carrying amounts Fair values
20205 20195 20205 2019%
8H31H 12A31H 8H31H 12A31H
31 August 31 December 31 August 31 December
2020 2019 2020 2019
ARETR AR®T T AR¥T R ARBET R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
CHEE Financial assets
BEAFEFTABEN Financial assets at fair value
CREE through profit or loss 118,041 = 118,041 =
CRBEE Financial liabilities
STEETERREMMBER  Interest-bearing bank loans and
other borrowings 1,895,798 1,486,829 1,895,798 1,486,829
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SRIANAVERAFEER
(#&)

ERECTMG BeRBSZEY CERE
HEEE G AT RIE  HERRER
HhEENSMEE S ALLENRER
EHEANSBABEN A FEEEEEER
® O ITEEMABRZTIENBRE-

AEBUMBRAESENYBREETR A
TENAFVEFAEBEERRRERF BHE
BEoEFEMBERETZESEEER P
EREAY BHEBHIFMERITANEE
CHYTBEETARGENTIEDARE -EHE
HEFEMNBEETEHARYE-BFREES
EEFTMEEBERERMANETHE
FEEMNBER-

TMEEREENATVEUAZIAENRBRER
SHFEBANRS (REFBEEHFHERIN) &
MXZEEAR - TXHIARGTAFE
M ERBRR

SFEERTREMERFENHATIHN A FER
BEEHERR - FERREKTFHIAN
R ALERUBFERARBESREFTE
LA AE > 20208 A31TH R AEEFTE
ROREMERNTHEARBRMERN A
AREEEBHHIEAMTRE-

AEEBRENFLTRE  BIhEAMRIT
BRITNWEMER - AEBERABRAESRE
HEEX REASMUGIARABROHNTAN
MENR A ZEFRLHTREN A FE.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, the current portion of pledged deposits, financial assets
included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets, and financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.

The Group’s finance department headed by the chief financial officer is
responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. The finance manager reports
directly to the chief financial officer and the audit committee. At each
reporting date, the finance department analyses the movements in the
values of financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied
in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief
financial officer. The valuation process and results are discussed with the
audit committee twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at
the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the
fair values:

The fair value of the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings has been calculated by discounting the expected future
cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The changes in fair value as
a result of the Group’s own non-performance risk for interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings as at 31 August 2020 was assessed to be
insignificant.

The Group invests in unlisted investments, which represent wealth
management products issued by banks in Mainland China. The Group
has estimated the fair value of these unlisted investments by using a
discounted cash flow valuation model based on the market interest rates
of instruments with similar terms and risks.
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3. EMIEMAFERAFEREH 37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

(#&) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
AFEER FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
TERHAPAEESHRIANQAFEFEBR: The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the
Group’s financial instruments:
BEATEFENEE: Assets measured at fair value:
AFEGEFMABE
202068 A31H As at 31 August 2020 Fair value measurement using

RER EATBER BEAFUEE
mE KN RE BARE BARE

(£—-%) (£=%) (=) &5t
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARETT AR¥ T AR¥ T ARET R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BEAFEFABEN Financial assets at fair value
tREE through profit or loss - 118,041 - 118,041
WEAFEHNWERS: Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:
AR EFEMREE
202058 H31H As at 31 August 2020 Fair value measurement using

RER EATBR BEAFTUEE
mENEE BARE BARE

(E—#) (B=#&) (E=#&) =)

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARET R ARETR ARBT R ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

STEETERNREMMBEI  Interest-bearing bank loans and

other borrowings - 1,895,798 - 1,895,798
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WEAFENEE: (F)

37.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (CONTINUED)

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: (Continued)

20195128318 As at 31 December 2019

FRBRTERRHMBER
other borrowings

Interest-bearing bank loans and

AV EFEAARE

Fair value measurement using

RAE R BEAUEE BEATUHE
TS HNBRE WASE WAE
(F—%) (B=&) (B=H) Bt
Quoted prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARBTR ARBTRT ARBETRE ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
- 1,486,829 - 1,486,829

HERABEEEERBR

B ZE2020F8A3HILHE - cREBENAF
Bt EYEAEF—FEF_FoBEL K
BEAREHE=FK (BZ2019F128318 1t
FE |-

AEENTESRMTABGEFRRITRAEM
B RERASEEY EHRERRCIER
FR-ZEERIANTIEABRALER
MEEERES - ARERRTEHBER
EEREE MELEEEELENHEMBRER
RE - HMENRERETER-

AEEERTITATRNEIER BASFIRER -
SRR - FERREADESER -EFT
R E %R A b 2 B R 1 E A9 BSR40
—FO

38.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

During the period ended 31 August 2020, there were no transfers of
fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into and out of Level 3 for financial liabilities (during the year ended
31 December 2019: Nil)

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings, cash and cash equivalents, time deposits
and pledged deposits. The main purpose of these financial instruments
is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as other receivables and other
payables and accruals, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest
rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks
which are summarised below.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates
relates primarily to the Group’s bank borrowings with a floating interest
rate. The interest rates and terms of repayments of the borrowings are
disclosed in note 25.

The Group has not used any interest swaps to hedge its exposure to
interest rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonable possible
change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings)
as follows:

EHA(TFE) R B B0 R
2E (R2) /18 m
Increase/(decrease)  (Decrease)/increase
in basis points in profit before tax

AREEF T
RMB’000

B E2020F8831HE\@A Eight months ended 31 August 2020
AR RMB 50 (2,179
ARME RMB (50) 2,179
HZE2019F12831BLEE Year ended 31 December 2019
ARME RMB 50 (2,344)
ARM RMB (50 2,344
I BE 2 Bex FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

AEEHHAERESRBESEEY S ERT
REMERELENEERR-

The Group has currency exposures from its cash and cash equivalents and
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK (CONTINUED)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the reporting
period to a reasonably possible change in the exchange rate of RMB
against USD and HKD, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group’s profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary
assets and liabilities).

EnRBRLER R B AR R
(T) EH (R 2) /1
(Decrease)/

increase in  (Decrease)/increase
USD and HKD rate in profit before tax

% AREET T

% RMB’000
B E2020F8A31H1E\AA Eight months ended 31 August 2020
MARBRETRE If RMB weakens against USD (5) -
MARMEEETAE If RMB strengthens against USD 5 =
MARBEEBIRE If RMB weakens against HKD (5) (17,080)
MARBEEBTAE If RMB strengthens against HKD 5 17,080
BZE2019F128318LLEE Year ended 31 December 2019
MARMEEETIRE If RMB weakens against USD (5) 72
MARBRETHE If RMB strengthens against USD 5 (72)
MARMEEBIRE If RMB weakens against HKD (5) (24,783)
MARMEEBTAE If RMB strengthens against HKD 5 24,783
EERR CREDIT RISK

FEEERNEZEFERFNE=ZFTETX
S ARENERRBUREFEERTET
SHNRBERERGEERETFERYRERF
o BRFRBEEBRREEEEERZAARE
EEHRNEREFER-ZERLFUAEEE
EEUYREMEBITENRZ AEEER
BRI ENTEREGEES -

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It
is the Group’s policy that all students and cooperative schools who wish
to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In
addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the
Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. For transactions that are
not denominated in the functional currency of the relevant operating unit,
the Group does not offer credit terms without the specific approval.
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FERR (%)
BERRNERDH

TRETRBEAEENEHABREREHNER
RENMEREARBHO ZBREETEER
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DHE-FIEYMNEHEASHEELREMAE-

720208 831H
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure to
credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on
past due information unless other information is available without undue
cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31 August 2020
and 31 December 2019. The amounts presented are gross carrying
amounts for financial assets.

As at 31 August 2020

SPATENFIE M EW  Financial assets included in prepayments,
HEREMEEAN other receivables and other assets*

-EE" - Normal™*
BEARS Pledged deposits

-ERaH — Not yet past due
ReRESEEY Cash and cash equivalents

-k aH — Not yet past due
REBARE Prepayment for investments

-EE" - Normal™*
BEAFEFABRN Financial assets at fair value through

SREE profit or loss

-k aH — Not yet past due

TR
BHEEER EERBGERR
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
F-KE& FZRR EZRE LA % &5t
Simplified

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
ARBT T ARBT T ARBTR ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
98,309 - - 39,101 137,410
271,796 = = = 271,796
608,234 - - - 608,234
472,355 - - - 472,355
118,041 = = = 118,041
1,568,735 - - 39,101 1,607,836
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

As at 31 December 2019

TR
EHEERSE EEEGEESR
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
E-Ra E_RE ERE kb3 M@t
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
ARBT T ARBT R ARBTRT ARBTR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
STATENFIE  HABFEW  Financial assets included in prepayments,
HEREMEEAN other receivables and other assets
~E&* ~ Normal* 54,242 - - 40,983 95,225
BEARS Pledged deposits
—-HREH — Not yet past due 380,832 = = = 380,832
EHER Time deposits
-k aH — Not yet past due 107,500 S 107,500
HeRBEEEY Cash and cash equivalents
- REH ~ Not yet past due 559,007 - - - 559,007
REBMAHE Prepayment for investments
-EF* - Normal* 548,013 - - - 548,013
— - Doubtful* - - 117,018 - 117,018
1,649,594 - 117,018 40,983 1,807,595
* Bt ATEARE HMERFERKNEBR For financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets to

ABZAEENEMEEANEREEMS
LR 13 7 45 1 10 B 8 B B S R R Y RE 20 B

=o

o HRFABRCRE HMBWREREGBE
E-REBANREANEREE WRFAE
B BYEERRAZETHEEBNHER
URERRRBEEREN IZSEGHESR
ARIEF] B eRMEENEREZRA
BIagEl-

which the Group applies the simplified approach for impairment, information based on
the provision matrix is disclosed in notes 20 to the financial statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables
and other assets, and prepayment for investments is considered to be “normal” when
they are not past due and there is no information indicating that the financial assets
had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit
quality of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.
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38.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties, there is no requirement for collateral. Concentrations of credit
risk are managed by customer/counterparty, by geographical region and
by industry sector. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk
within the Group.

LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring
liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of both its
financial investments and financial assets and projected cash flows from
operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and lease liabilities.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments, is as
follows:

20208318 31 August 2020

FERTREMER Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings

FARMEMRER Financial liabilities included in other
EirERNERERE payables and accruals

2019%12A431R 31 December 2019

FERTRAMEN Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings

FARMEMRER Financial liabilities included in other payables
EiERNSREE and accruals

RERE AR =ZT=fEA —ERf &t
Less than 31012 1105

On demand 3 months months years Total

ARBTR ARBT ARBT T ARBT T ARBTR

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

- 302,307 451,673 1,369,407 2,123,387

865,249 - - - 865,249

865,249 302,307 451,673 1,369,407 2,988,636

- 234,788 484,953 982,530 1,702,271

480,312 - - - 480,312

480,312 234,788 484,953 982,530 2,182,583
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it
in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics
of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any
externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the eight
months ended 31 August 2020 and the year ended 31 December 2019.

The debt-to-asset ratios at the end of the reporting periods were as

follows:
202068 H31H 20195128318
31 August 2020 31 December 2019
AR®T T AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
BERE Total liabilities 3,353,904 3,049,709
EELE Total assets 5,856,629 6,001,365
EESEBLER Debt-to-asset ratios 57% 51%
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

39. REMBHRER

(1) RE\EARDFMA2020F98168 MK A
HE ARQABARARQGANEENE QT
Goldensep Investment Company Limited ([ 3%
TANEEBETEFEE(FEB)EBRAF
(TB/ADTLRBEHZ B #17
ACREZITARESHEA100,000,000%
THHTBREESR ([TBRRES]) M
AARREABRITARBERETERRE
SRR RGEHZAEREARERMS
RE RERACRBERBERIMSFRE
FRBARBRISTERES

ARRESFTRESBEANEERER
ASREBEINIETHNAATHMEE
BR - SHEFTHIBE AREN202
F11A10BH 2 & 220215 9828H Al
+TH(TEHA] (BFERWB)NE
EREERFE (RNERERESFNES
HEEGFENFERNBE) RIS
BRESRKRISETEBRAESREE
0.0001ETHALTHBEEBR (KR
ZACERL ERhNBERGH) B
BRETES THRABRKEERTHELS
B-E5HABETEH (BEZA)ERE
REBARSHEERNR1.00% T8 THAR
20213830 R EIHAE X 1 o

BITE 2020598308 B - B {TEE
HANADT BHEA20020F9817TEH D

HAe

BIEADTR2020690816B B W
NEARRQ T EARRD T E AR RKAspire
Education Management Co., Ltd. ([ 1)
RAHBEBRITRBD T ([RERE])
AR Q) A $£44,000,0008% B & IR 5 5T
YRERRBHZ B - BEFRAEE
ARERE MEEREREEAES
W —-—RE EFEARABE (REHE
BETRE RERD EEASRE
E IR 55.358 7T °

(1)

39. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

As per the Company’s announcement made on 16 September
2020, the Company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
Goldensep Investment Company Limited (the “Issuer”) entered
into a subscription agreement with Credit Suisse (Hong Kong)
Limited (the “Manager”), pursuant to which the Issuer has agreed
to issue convertible bonds at an aggregate principal amount of
U.S.$100,000,000(“Convertible Bonds”), and the Company has
agreed to guarantee payment of all sums payable by the Issuer
in accordance with the terms and conditions in relation to such
Convertible Bonds, and the Manager has agreed to subscribe and
pay for, or to procure subscribers to subscribe and pay for, the
Convertible Bonds.

The Convertible Bonds can be converted into fully paid ordinary
shares of the Company with a par value of USD0.0001 each at
the option of the bondholders. Each bond will, at the option of
the holder, be convertible (unless previously redeemed, converted
or purchased and cancelled) on or after 10 November 2020 up
to the close of business (at the place where the bond certificate
evidencing such bond is deposited for conversion) on the date
falling ten days prior to 28 September 2021 (the “Maturity Date”)
(both days inclusive) into fully paid ordinary shares with a par value
of USD0.0001 each of the Company at an initial conversion price of
HKD6.313 per share. The conversion price is subject to adjustment
in the circumstances described under certain terms and conditions.
The bonds bear interest on their outstanding principal amount
from and including the issue date at the rate of 1.00 per cent per
annum, payable in arrears on 30 March 2021 and the Maturity
Date.

The issuance was completed on 30 September 2020. Details of
the issuance are set out in the Company’s announcement dated
17 September 2020.

As per the Company’s announcement made on 16 September 2020,
the Company, and the Company's corporate shareholder, Aspire
Education Management Co., Ltd. (the “Seller”) and the Bank of New
York Mellon, London Branch (the “Placing Agent”) entered into a
placing and subscription agreement for an aggregate of 44,000,000
placing shares of the Company, pursuant to which the Seller has
agreed to appoint the Placing Agent, and the Placing Agent has
agreed to act as the sole agent for the Seller, to procure places to
purchase, or failing which to purchase itself, the placing shares at
the placing price of HKD5.35 for each placing share.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBER AT
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B 78 3} & MY 3T BZE20205E8831H 1L )\{E B HARS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

39. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(CONTINUED)

2) (Continued)

Pursuant to the placing and subscription agreement, the Seller
has conditionally agreed to subscribe as principal for, and the
Company has conditionally agreed to issue, the 44,000,000 shares
at HKD5.35 each share (“Subscription Shares”). Assuming the
44,000,000 shares are placed in full, the Subscription Shares
represent approximately 2.85% of the existing issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of this announcement and
approximately 2.78% of the issued share capital of the Company
as enlarged by the subscription (assuming that there is no change
in the issued share capital of the Company from the date of this
announcement to the completion of the subscription (including no
Convertible Bonds are converted into ordinary shares) save for the
issue of the Subscription Shares).

The Company further announced that the placing was completed on
25 September 2020 in accordance with the terms and conditions of
the placing and subscription agreement. The net proceeds from the
subscription (after deducting all fees, costs and expenses properly
incurred in connection with the placing and the subscription)
amounted to approximately HKD232.79 million.

(3)  As previously reported that the outbreak of COVID-19 in January
2020 has caused certain impact on the education business of
the Group, mainly due to domestic travel restrictions and various
precautionary measurements undertaken by the respective local
authorities which, inter alia, include temporarily closure of schools
and delays in classroom commencement during the outbreak
period. The Group has put in place certain alternative action plans
during the outbreak period, which include implementation of on-line
modules and website distance learning activities, postponement of
extra lessons in summer vacation and refunds of boarding fees.

Subsequent to the balance sheet date, the Group assessed and
concluded that, in view of the implementation of the above-
mentioned action plans, there has been limited impact on the
financial position of the Group during the period from January 2020
and up to the date of the report. The Group will keep continuous
attention on the development of COVID-19 situation and react
actively to its impacts on the operation and financial position of
the Group, and in the event that there are any significant financial
impacts, the Company will release further announcement as and
when appropriate, and reflect it in the Group’s 2021 interim and
annual financial statements.
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40.

EANYNECTRB S

RRAFRBERROBBERRR Z2ERAOT

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY

the end of the reporting period is as follows:

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at

HRBEE
N £
EREEE

FRBEERE

RBEE
BEeERBETEEY
[EF: ELEERN

FE UL Fff /B 2 5]

REBEEAE

REBRE
SFERITRAEMER
HBENREREAER

REEERE

REBEEFE

REERRBAR

ALY
HERTREMER

FRBEERE

EERE

R
fig A<
#% (Bat)

i

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Interests in subsidiaries
Right-of-use assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Pledged deposits

Due from subsidiaries

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
Other payables and accruals

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings

Total non-current liabilities

Net assets

EQUITY
Share capital
Reserves (note)

Total equity

20205 20195
2020 2019
ARET T AR¥ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
446,239 446,239
2,446 1,275
448,685 447 514
2,800 450
4,073 4,122
1,425,454 1,575,792
1,432,327 1,580,364
85,543 237,408
71,213 7,209
156,756 244,617
1,275,571 1,335,747
1,724,256 1,783,261
260,021 260,332
260,021 260,332
1,464,235 1,522,929
1,056 1,056
1,463,179 1,521,873
1,464,235 1,522,929
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EIGHT MONTHS ENDED 31 AUGUST 2020

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

201951 B 1R &8k

B EIR018ERER L
FREZEKZALE

BITRMG

B EETEX

LA AT R BB R A = B
2019 R EA R B

R2019FE 128318 R

2020F1A1H

BEEIR2019FREB 2
HREHEKREEE

BITRHD
BREX N EREZ

2020F R EARR B

720208 H31H

Balance at 1 January 2019

Final 2018 dividend declared

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Issue of shares

Share issue expenses

Equity-settled share option
arrangements

Interim 2019 dividend

At 31 December 2019 and
1 January 2020

Final 2019 dividend declared

Total comprehensive income
for the period

Issue of shares

Equity-settled share option
arrangements

Interim 2020 dividend

At 31 August 2020

B 5 ORE
R EE EXEE BRERE BERER =4 @t
Share Exchange
Share Capital option Retained fluctuation
premium reserve reserve profits reserve Total
ARBTRT AR®BTRT ARBTRT AR¥BTRT AR¥®TR AR%®T:R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
669,471 446,239 5,772 30,212 (8,793) 1,142,901
- - - (27,191) - (27,191)
- - - 102,005 22,546 124,551
335,521 - - - - 335,521
(2,879) - - - - (2,879)
- - 4,450 - - 4,450
- - - (55,480) - (55,480)
1,002,113 446,239 10,222 49,546 13,753 1,521,873
- - - (49,315) - (49,315)
- - - 64,591 (9,175) 55,416
347 - (71) - - 276
- - (345) - - (345)
_ - = (64,726) - (64,726)
1,002,460 446,239 9,806 96 4,578 1,463,179

1 B B R

B E B A2020FE 11 B3 0B EEE S I E

41. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the

board of directors on 30 November 2020.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
HZ8A31H
gekE BZ12ANALEE ENEA
Eight months
ended
Results of operations Year ended December 31 August 31
20165 201745 20184 2019F 20205
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
ARET ARETT ARBTT ARETT AR¥TT
RMB in RMB in RMBin RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands thousands thousands thousands
U % Income 340,996 414,405 561,450 1,089,221 721,644
EA Gross profit 163,587 227500 286,421 542,639 288,647
ERER Profit for the year 112,197 233,322 254,268 430,354 197,095
SRER (HEET) Adjusted net profit (nofe 7) 130,051 259,443 285,243 430,354 197,095
BAREREAAEN Attributable to equity holders
of the parent 111,755 233,368 242 530 386,446 174,909
Kt RPABAFDERFEANZRIEH EHBIZ (BIA  Note7: The adjusted net profit as calculated based on the adjusted profit for the year and listing
FEFLEMHER) AERTESH- expenses (the non-recurring expenses of the year).
HZ8A31H
B L & BENANALEE ENEA
Eight months
ended
Financial ratios Year ended December 31 August 31
20165 20175 2018 2019F 20205
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
ERZE ) Gross profit margin (%) 48.0% 54.9% 51.0% 49.8% 40.0%
R (%) Net profit margin (%) 32.9% 56.3% 45.3% 39.5% 27.3%
R BRI & (%) Adjusted net profit margin (%) 38.1% 62.6% 50.8% 39.5% 27.3%
CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HE#HSHEEERAT
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
Bz
BEREE BZ12A31B L 8A31A Lt
As of
Assets and liabilities As of December 31 August 31
2016%F 20175 20185 20195 20205
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
ARETT ARETRT ARETRT AR®TR AR%®Tn
RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands thousands thousands thousands
FRBEE Non-current assets 1,727,133 2,326,642 4,103,810 4,849,628 4,719,048
REEE Current assets 285,465 243,261 549,699 1,151,737 1,137,581
V=R Current liabilities 563,442 667,996 1,632,355 2,124,500 2,057,933
FBEEFE Net current liabilities (277,977) (424,735) (1,082,656) (972,763) (920,352)
EELAERADAR Total assets less current liabilities 1,449,156 1,901,907 3,021,154 3,876,865 3,798,696
E =L Non-current liabilities 506,640 177,052 741,943 925,209 1,295,971
AR Total equity 942,516 1,724,855 2,279,211 2,951,656 2,502,725
ME BERR Property, plant and equipment 867,240 985,301 2,116,119 3,089,932 3,100,669
BeRELEEN Cash and cash equivalents 178,785 118,648 349,630 559,007 608,234
EEWBA Deferred revenue 217,047 249,599 472,928 725,363 274,029

TEETREMER Interest-bearing bank and

other borrowings 578,628 352,259 1,286,847 1,486,829 1,895,798
BE
B & BZENAMAL 8A31B Lt
As of
Financial ratios As of December 31 August 31
20165 201745 20185 20195 20205
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
ARETT ARETRT ARETR ARETT ARET T
RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands thousands thousands thousands
REL = Current Ratio 05 0.4 03 0.5 0.6
BIRL = (fH2) Gearing ratio (Vote2) 61.4% 20.4% 56.5% 50.4% 75.7%

Hato: RBELLZRZEREREELBRUAEZRS -BEHLEIE M2 Gearing ratio equals total debt divided by total equity as of the end of the year. Total debt

STRRITERRHEMERK refers to all interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings.

HZ28A31H
BERE BZENANBLEE ENEA
Eight months
ended
Cash flows Year ended December 31 August 31
20165 20175 20184 2019F 20205
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
ARETT AR¥TR AR¥TR AR%Tx ARET T
RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in RMB in
thousands thousands thousands thousands thousands
RETHHREHRLFEH Net cash from operating activities 225,100 287,060 456,736 830,909 45,526
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DEFINITIONS

[BEAL

“affiliate(s)”

[AAEERMA =48]

“Articles of Association” or “Articles’

['Aspire Education Consulting |

“Aspire Education Consulting”

['Aspire Education Management |

“Aspire Education Management”

[ Aspire Education Technology |

“Aspire Education Technology”

(B A
“associate(s)

»

[ A |

“Ba Mu Pu”

[eZEnH]

“Bei Ai Company”

BRAEMBEALIMS BEESIFEEFIZBEATIIZEE A T Z 65 E
ZREATHEEREES I AEZSNEMEMA L

with respect to any specific person, any other person, directly or indirectly, controlling or
controlled by or under direct or indirect common control with such specified person

R2017E3A20B B HRHRMN A QA RAEBERME (KTEEET)
the articles of association of the Company conditionally adopted on 20 March 2017, as
amended from time to time

Aspire Education Consulting Co., Ltd.» —RIMA2015F 1015 RBEREBER RS
EEEMRIMNERAR  AEEEEF79.19%

Aspire Education Consulting Co., Ltd., a limited liability company incorporated under the laws
of the British Virgin Islands on 15 October 2015 and owned as to 79.19% by Mr. Li

Aspire Education Management Co., Ltd.» —BIH2015F 108158 RIE R B HE R =EF
EEXEEMAYNERAR AZAE2EHRR

Aspire Education Management Co., Ltd., a limited liability company incorporated under the
laws of the British Virgin Islands on 15 October 2015 and wholly owned by Mr. Li

Aspire Education Technology Co., Ltd.» —RH2015F10B15BRIBEEBHEB D
EERFMBNERAT  HEEEHEFC.48%

Aspire Education Technology Co., Ltd., a limited liability company incorporated under the
laws of the British Virgin Islands on 15 October 2015 and owned as to 61.48% by Mr. Li

BEELLMRBIMETHESE
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

ERERBREERAT  —ER2010F8248RBEHPBEEERLINER 2
T HEEEERT9.19% ELEEB0.80% ERHEE0.98%  HEEIHEHF0.40%
EEHER0.59%  BEFIHEH0.15%  ZIEAEBI2% R B L T HEB14.37% c lr =
EERBLZET (EEEZF)INBRAENERRYABYE=F BKH
ARFTERRZ—EBEEEESER5.7305% K #

Kunming Bamupu Technology Co., Ltd.* (EBBEARHERIFLER 2 F) , a limited liability
company established under the laws of the PRC on 24 May 2010, which is owned as to
79.19% by Mr. Li, 0.80% by Qin Hongkang (Z=Z B ) , 0.98% by Pan Yi (&) , 0.40%
by Yang Junxiong (#38#) , 0.59% by Wang Lei (3EE ), 0.15% by Yao Li (ki) ,
3.52% by Liu Fengming (2I/E 87 ) and 14.37% Ms. Yang (# Z £ ) . Except for Mr. Li and
Ms. Yang (# Z £ ) , the spouse of Mr. Li, all shareholders of Ba Mu Pu are Independent
Third Parties. Ba Mu Pu is one of the New Registered Shareholders and holds 5.7305%
equity interest of Yun Ai Group

TRBREREREEREE AT —ER2012F108 168 RIEBEPBIEAER L
NERAT HEEEEZEHE - LELCABREERERENEBETHESE
P BB &

Beijing Aiyinsheng Education Investment Co., Ltd* (It RERAEHBEREBRETA
Al) , a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 16 October 2012,
and wholly owned by Yun Ai Group. Bei Ai Company will act as the school sponsor of the
Gansu College upon the official establishment of the Gansu College

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBER AT



[ERAESE

“Beijing Daai Gaoxue”

x5

“Beijing Fangzhi”

-

“Board” or “Board of Directors”

[¥EKEEwHZE (2019F) ]
“Business Cooperation

Agreement (2019)”
(&[]

“Business Day” or “business day”

ELEEY

“Central China School”

[HERE]

“Chengxin Investment”

[ E
“China” or “PRC”

[BFEBE A
“close associate(s)”

PGS

“Companies Ordinance”

Bx
DEFINITIONS

TEAESEHBEREERAT —ER2018F3A2BEFEK LN ER D
AOCHEEEEZEHEE

Beijing Daai Gaoxue Education Technology Co., Lid* (t EZAESEBHERKE AR
A®)) , a limited liability company established in the PRC on 23 March 2018. It is wholly
owned by Yun Ai Group

TRFEEROEXEERERAR —BR2020F48208 RIBEPBEEERILZ
BRAF

Beijing Fangzhi Yuanlue Corporate Management Co., Ltd.* (It R A EEM X SEAR
A®)) , alimited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 20 April 2020

KATBESE
the board of Directors of the Company

BEAR - REVTEGEHBERRITCERRITLNERSIEHZE
the business cooperation agreement entered into by and among Huihuang Company, the
Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities and the New Registered Shareholders

ERRIT—ROARHANEXENBF (EHA EHARETEARBERK
M)

a day on which banks in Hong Kong are generally open for business to the public and which
is not a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday in Hong Kong

HMAERKAEBRFER —BR2003FRETEEZENINSSH KB -E
FERARATNGREHESE

Science and Technology College of Hubei Minzu University* (GBidt R iR KR BRI %) |
an institution of higher education established under the laws of the PRC in 2003. Central
China School is a consolidated affiliated entity of the Company

BHAEHREREEESBLE (BRER)  —BR2015F128 128 RIEF
BEERINEREBEE TELEERAHEBERARTREBAKRES
ReaBA BEGEEH (ZEEZTFIRK RREERRRE -HEREB2019
F8AHETBARAEEREEMNTERE

Kashi Daai Chengxin Investment Management Limited Partnership* (B K 2HERE
EEAEBLE (BREH)), alimited partner established under the laws of the PRC on
12 December 2015 with Mr. Li as its general partner and ten individuals acting as its limited
partners, including Yang Xuwei (#3JB#E) , the sister-in-law of Mr. Li, and the Principal
of Northeast School. Chengxin Investment ceased to be a Registered Shareholder of Yun Ai
Group since 26 August 2019

FEARANE RAREMS TEEEB BRMABSITHRERAE
the People’s Republic of China excluding for the purpose of this report, Hong Kong, the
Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan

AEBEEMRBFEFHIEE
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

DNEMEG (BBEGIH622E) (AR &R ER] - WA KB TIER)
the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as the same may be
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
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Bx
DEFINITIONS

(D8 (B8R MBI R

“Companies (WUMP) Ordinance”

(A28 ]

“Company”

[BEE AL
“connected person(s)”

M2 RRR ]

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

[(ZOBEAL]
“core connected person(s)”

(BRI
“Corporate Governance Code”

[REHE]

“Daai Education”

[REEE]

“Daai Partnership”

[ REH A

“Daai Shuren”

[E=
“Director(s)”

B

AT CEBRRMBEMGRI)GRE (BEBEHENE) (HUREREET #am
BT1EK)

the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) as the same may be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified
from time to time

FEFSHREEERAT —ER016F7ASHEHEHETMALNERR
BRAF

China New Higher Education Group Limited (Bl &2 EBER 2 7)) , an exempted
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 8 July 2016

BB LHRBFETRE
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BEELTRAFMBTHERER REXEZERE BRRREARAAANZERRKRER
Bl Aspire Education Technology * Aspire Education Management » Aspire Education Consulting
RERE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules and unless the context requires
otherwise, refers to the controlling shareholders of the Company, namely Aspire Education
Technology, Aspire Education Management, Aspire Education Consulting and Mr. Li

EELLMRBIMETFHEE
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

FHRAM ST IR EEERERTA
Code on corporate governance practices contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

ERAEBMALEZABTRAT  —BR2018F3[ 4B EFER LN BR D
ACHEEREEZEHRS

Beijing Daai Shuren Education Consulting Company Limited* (1t R AEH AR B BAE
PR E)) , a limited liability company established in the PRC on 14 March 2018. It is wholly
owned by Yun Ai Group

BHAEREEECRLE (BRERE) —ER2015F1288ARIBPEEE
RIMNEREELE BESFAEBERBAUREZAEREESEAER
EBA - REEABENVESABETHAEZEEEENTERE

Kashi Daai Investment Management Limited Partnership* (Bt AEREEE S H
% (BRE%)), a limited partnership established under the laws of the PRC on
8 December 2015 with Ma Chongliang ( B 5= 5 ) acting as the general partner and Mr. Li
and Ma Chongliang ( 5 52 %) acting as the limited partner. Daai Partnership ceased to be
a Registered Shareholder of Yun Ai Group since 26 August 2019

ERAEBMAREZABTRAT  —BR2018F3[ 4B EFEK LB BR D
A-HHEEEER2EHE

Beijing Daai Shuren Education Consulting Company Limited* (It R K BRI A K BEBHE
FRXE)) , a limited liability company established in the PRC on 14 March 2018. It is wholly
owned by Yun Ai Group

RABESE

the directors of the Company

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIH X EBER AT
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DEFINITIONS
[EEEEE (2019%F) ] 15 BHEEEERESEERTELINERESRES
“Directors’ Powers of Attorney (2019)” the school directors’ power of attorney to be executed by each of the directors of each PRC
Operating School
[BEATR] & REBRAMNESHAERRERETLT  —ER2014F11B13EREFEEE
RINERAT HEZEEREELERE -RELARAETERNERERE
“Enchang Company” Enshi Autonomous Prefecture Changqing Education Development Co., Ltd.* ( B B &M

EEHEREEMREME AT, alimited liability company established under the laws of
the PRC on 13 November 2014. It is wholly owned by Yun Ai Group. Enchang Company is the
school sponsor of Central China School

[REBEHHZE (2019F) | CERR - EZEEREBEELNASERAITLNREZ T iHRE
“Equity Pledge Agreement (2019)” the equity pledge agreement entered into by and among the Registered Shareholders, Yun Ai

Group and Huihuang Company

[IRfEeEsE ] & M2019F8H26H R2019F12H6H T x4 - HERE - AEE¥ BERER
FEBAESENEHEEEZEEEBRE
“Equity Transfers” the transfer of equity interests in Yun Ai Group from each of Mr. Li, Chengxin Investment,

Daai Partnership, Huihuang Investment and Shanghai Taifu to Songming Dexue on 26 August
2019 and 6 December 2019

[BRABEBHERGZE (20195F)] 18 BEAR BETEAECHBERETCARRIT LN ERABHEGE

“Exclusive Call Option the excluswe call option agreement entered into by and among Huihuang Company, the
Agreement (2019)” Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities and the New Registered Shareholders

[ B REAMRBE R & BEAFREBETFESAECHBEERIT YN EREMREREEZAHZ
EEZBAWZE (2019F) |

“Exclusive Technical Service and the exclusive technical service and management consultancy agreement entered into by and
Management Consultancy among Huihuang Company and the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities

Agreement (2019)”

[REPEHEEER] & AL IRBEEBMEEGHNRNSREHBER NEHER -EMNBER TREER
REER BEARZERRERER
“Existing PRC Operating Schools” the consolidated affiliated entities as at the time of the entering into of the Existing

Structured Contracts, namely, Yunnan School, Guizhou School, Henan School, Northeast
School, Guangxi Schools and Central China School

[BEFEGEHESE] & REEREBRERREPEEEER
“Existing PRC Consolidated namely, the Existing Schools Sponsors and the Existing PRC Operating Schools

Affiliated Entities”

[RESRENE] 18 AR LR EABEESANNNREERENREEETEE TMER KELQT
BMHEE - BEQAARAREREHRELELF
“Existing School Sponsors” the current school sponsors, Yun Ai Group, Henan Rongyu, Haxuan Company, Qinzhou

Yinghua, Enchang Company and the future school sponsor Bei Ai Company as at the time of
the entering into of the Existing Structured Contracts
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[REEBHEEN]

“Existing Structured Contracts”

[HEZ6k

“Gansu College”

[ Greenwoods 3z B B &T |

“Greenwoods Jia Xin Rui Xuan”

(A [ AM]

“Group", “we” or “us”

[EAEER]

“Guangxi Schools”

[EMNER]

“Guizhou School”

=3 SNl

“Haxuan Company”

BRERGTFAEENEEERREMNERNEBMEESH - NO T HEA2018F
10ABHMAEREEN TEEREBEESHN - RAT BEA20185F12810
AWASEFAMBEENRIEREBEEAN KA AAHA2019F1A1EANAD
EREENEAEREBEEARA NG AEA2019F8H268 M A E R AT
BENEPEREBUEEY

namely, the structured contracts for Yunnan School and Guizhou School as disclosed in the
prospectus, the structured contracts for Henan School as disclosed in the announcement
of the Company dated 8 October 2018, the structured contracts for Northeast School as
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 10 December 2018, the structured
contracts for Guangxi Schools as disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
11 January 2019 and the structured contracts for Central China School as disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 26 August 2019

EMNEIREEMIBER  —BEAR20UERBEVELAERINBISEHE
B

College of Technology and Engineering* (B MEB T RERK T TEEPT), an
independent institution of higher education established under the laws of the PRC in 2004

EERHRESECE (BRER) —HREBHTEEERIZEREELE
Jia Xin Rui Xuan Tou Zi He Huo Qi Ye (You Xian He Huo) (= Bl IxEf R ES B ¥ (R
&%) ), alimited partnership established under the laws of the PRC

AR HEFBNHEAR FEEEERRFAEHBER SR FXEME
BRAATKNBEAMBARNEZERAR ZAINEEMEREEKELE R
SEBAEKNER

the Company, its subsidiaries, the PRC Operating Schools and the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities from time to time, or, where the context so requires in respect of the period before
the Company became the holding company of the present subsidiaries, the entities which
carried on the business of the present Group at the relevant time

EREEFEERELSR EARMNAEEARBERNTERREA EEHERE
¥ERNBTRECAB EORERALRATANGEHBEEE

together, Guangxi Yinghua International Occupation College* ( B 7H S B R B £ 225k ) |
Guangxi Qinzhou Yinghua International Occupation and Technology School* ( J& 78 &% 22
R PRE R MTE2 AR ) and Guangxi Yinghua International Occupation Middle School* ( &
PHSEEEPRE E E PR M B 2 ) . Guangxi Schools are consolidated affiliated entities of
the Company

EMNIEBEZR —BR012F7AERBEFEEZERNINRPSEEREH
AHE HERENEERAZESEE2EHE AKX ATNAKEHESE
Guizhou Technology and Business Institute* ( & /N TR H% £ 2% ) , a private institution of
formal higher education established under the laws of the PRC on 3 July 2012, of which the
school sponsor’s interest is wholly owned by Yun Ai Group and a consolidated affiliated entity
of the Company

KEEHEMNEARLT —BR2016F4F19BRBAIBEEERLNERL
B HEREEEASINRERBEE AT EE26.09%RE-KEATAR
TERNE —SRERE

Harbin Xuande Technology Co., Ltd.* (W R BEFERIILER QT ), a limited liability
company established under the laws of the PRC on 19 April 2016, and owned as to 73.91%
by Yun Ai Group and as to 26.09% by Ningde Company. Haxuan Company is the sole school
sponsor of the Northeast School
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BOISES -3

“Henan Rongyu”

CAEER]

“Henan School”

[Tl sk [l
“HK$”, “Hong Kong dollar(s)”,
“HKD” or “cents”

[ ]
“Hong Kong” or “HK”

[EEeaa ]

“Huihuang Company”

[(BYE=5
“Independent Third Party(ies)”

[t
“Listing”

[ B
“Listing Date”

[EmR A

“Listing Rules”

[ &&= (2019%F) J
“Loan Agreement (2019)”

[2F 584 |
“Mr. Li"

=

“Main Board”

Bx
DEFINITIONS

R BBERABRLT —BR2017F3A2BRFERIZERAT B
TR ARESEZERE  THEABRATHERNERERE

Henan Rongyu Education Consulting Co., Ltd.* GRS BB EZXHABRLAT), a
limited liability company established in the PRC on 2 March 2017, and wholly-owned by
Beijing Daai Gaoxue. Henan Rongyu is the school sponsor of the Henan School

BEREBEZR —BR20BFARBFIEEENINRISSEREHNE
BB THEERARAAZAEHESE

Luoyang Science and Technology Vocational College* (G& IS RI R BEZE 2285 ) | a private
institution of formal higher education established under the laws of the PRC in June 2013.
Henan School is a consolidated affiliated entity of the Company

DRIRBIRBI BEERENEEEY
Hong Kong dollars and cents respectively, the lawful currency for the time being of Hong
Kong

HEEEBFRITHERE
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

FARAZBEEEREERLRE  —BER2016F8ASARBEFEEERINEG
RAG AEAEEN2ENRE X

Tibet Daai Huihuang Information and Technology Co., Ltd.* (A A ZEEREEREH
BR-XF]) , a limited liability company established on 5 August 2016 under the laws of the
PRC, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group

BIRAQATRRHEBEATHHEFENRBEENE=
third party(ies) who is/are independent of and not connected with the Company and its
connected persons

RO BRI EMR £
the listing of our Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

2017548198
19 April 2017

G ETE S LR A (BREEET)
The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as amended from time
to time

BEAR -REPEHEEEREEZFRET INERGZH
a loan agreement entered into by and among Huihuang Company, the Existing PRC Operating
Schools, and Yun Ai Group

EZHELE CAQTNAPRA - EP—BERRR EEZSTERITES
Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (Z=Z%F) | the founder, one of the controlling shareholders, chairman of
the Board and an executive Director of the Company

HEXMEENESZM (TERFHEMS) - B M8 FTGEMI B~
BHTERE

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock Exchange which is
independent from and operated in parallel with the GEM of the Stock Exchange
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[ZEZ<pAl]
“Model Code”

#4520
“MOE”

[(mzt]
“Ms. Yang”

[ #75C & RR

“New Registered Shareholders”

[HEBMESH

“New Structured Contracts”

_,
8
EES
]
ull
—

“Ningde Company”

[RICER ]

“Northeast School”

FHRAINE T RN L mBITAZESETESISNWELESE
the model code for securities transactions by directors of listed issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules

Pl A B
the Ministry of Education of the PRC

BESZt =EENER
Ms. Yang Xuqing (# /B3 ) , the spouse of Mr. Li

EEEENERTAREEZRANRR  DERAFHEKEFEEEATRAR -
EREREREERLAR EHEEREATRCEEEZAREERAA
the shareholders of Yun Ai Group immediately after the completion of the Equity Transfers,
namely Kunming Paiduipai Economic Information Consultancy Co., Ltd., Kunming Bamupu
Technology Co., Ltd., Songming Dexue and Songming Zhongyi Enterprise Management and
Consulting Services Co., Ltd.

EBEERRE (2019F) BREMBBEREEZ AR (2019F) - BRIAB
EARET & (20195F) - IREBE R K3 (20195F) - RREF Z-EHZH (2019F) -
EREREREZRANEZTNZE (2019F) ERVEWRERESE (2019F) -
EEREEE QUIFE) BREEEE (2019F) - EXREHZE (20195 ) REBEE
(2019 ) 2B HFBHR AR T BHR2019F8 26BN A EH [#HiEBM
el —&

collectively, the Business Cooperation Agreement (2019), the Exclusive Technical Service and
Management Consultancy Agreement (2019), the Exclusive Call Option Agreement (2019),
the Equity Pledge Agreement (2019), the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement
(2019), the School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement (2019), the
School Sponsors’ Powers of Attorney (2019), the Directors’ Powers of Attorney (2019), the
Shareholders’ Powers of Attorney (2019), the Loan Agreement (2019) and the Spouse’s
Undertakings (2019) details of which are set out in the section headed “The New Structured
Contracts” in the announcement of the Company dated 26 August 2019

BEFEBMURABTBEELIERECHCE (BRER) —BER2016F4A87AR
BHEZERINERERLE HE¥ERTHRELERRRERAERKRE
HE - EEAREB KA TH26.09%M

Ningbo Meishan Bonded Port Area Deshida Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership)*
(ZEEBLUATBEELERESCRCE(BRESE)), a limited liability
partnership established under the laws of the PRC on 7 April 2016, of which the
partnershipinterest is owned by the principal of the Northeast School and his family
members. Ningde Company owns 26.09% equity interest of Haxuan Company

BREEEER —HR004FREFPEEZERINBYIKE RIELERAR
AAMNGEHEEE

Harbin Huade University* (M EEBZE/EEFT ) |, an independent institute established under
the laws of the PRC in 2004. Northeast School is a consolidated affiliated entity of the
Company
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[ BE% 5k |

“Pai Dui Pai”

[FEGREHEERE]

“PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities”

[FREEERBER”
“PRC Legal Advisors”

[TEREESR]

“PRC Operating Schools”

(BRER]
“Prospectus”

[k B2 |

“Qinzhou Yinghua”

[5C & MR ]

“Registered Shareholders’

[ & HIRE
“Reporting Period”

AR
“RMB” or “Renminbi”

Bx
DEFINITIONS

EHSHELESEERBAERLE —BR2010F6 828 IRIEPEEER LY
BRAT AR EHEEC1.48% FRAEE384% BESHEEI06% HEHE
B5.43%  STIBHEE1.45% B L L HE1556% R HEHE1.06% B EHEF2.67%-
BEESHEBSTY RYEEB054% KREBYHEHR053% HBEFEF02%K 5
BEEFEHI28%  BREXE - BLLT (FTEEZEF) BEF(=ZLEEEZFHAE
H) ZERA(ZRENRY)RGES (X4 FWEB) N IEALH
ABBUE=F HHEAFRERRZ —REFEEEES£E20.0568%M &
Kunming Paiduipai Economic Information Consultancy Co., Ltd.* ( 2 BB HE I HEEEE B
ZHAMRAT), a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on
2 June 2010, which is owned as to 61.48% by Mr. Li, 3.84% by Li Yaohong ( Z=#BAL)
3.06% by Miao Qiongfen (B ¥8%5) , 5.43% by Huang Wei (ZE4&) , 1.45% by Wang Yan
(3E48) , 15.56% by Ms. Yang (#Z L), 1.06% by Yuan Song (RS ) , 2.67% by Liu
Yun (B1E ), 0.57% by Lv Xuerui ( B EFE) , 0.54% by Wu Shiyi (Rt ) , 0.53% by
Zhu Wanzhen ((RE®') , 0.52% by Yang Xufen (#3 B%) and 3.28% by Yang Xuyan (#3
JELE) . Except for Mr. Li, Ms. Yang (the spouse of Mr. Li), Yang Xufen (#2fB%) | the sister
in-law of Mr. Li, Li Yaohong ( ZE#BAL) , the sister of Mr. Li, and Yang Xuyan (#2/B%4) |
the sister-in-law of Mr. Li, all are Independent Third Parties. Pai Dui Pai is one of the New
Registered Shareholders and holds 20.0568% equity interest of Yun Ai Group

MERERERFELEZR TEARQANGEHEER
namely, the School Sponsors and the PRC Operating Schools, each a consolidated affiliated
entity of the Company

BEAEMBEN AR RAAETEARZEERER

Commerce & Finance Law Offices, the Company’s Legal advisors as to PRC Laws

FEHBER NEHER BEMNER ITHER RIEBR BAEERRESF
EBRURBEABEAYN (BETABET)HAREENHEMER

the consolidated affiliated entities, namely, Yunnan School, Guizhou School, Henan School,
Northeast School, Guangxi Schools and Central China School and other schools which were
consolidated to the Group by virtue of the Structured Contracts, as amended from time to
time

AAR BHR017F4ABENERER
the prospectus of the Company dated 5 April 2017

BIMNREREHREREBRAT ) —BNR2017F8B2B RBEHPEEREN L 2
BRAB YHSHHFEZERF - RMNREREAERNERERE

Qinzhou Yinghua Datang Education Investment Company Limited* ( #X/NHEZE X EH B R E
BPFR2AT]), a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 25 August
2017 and wholly owned by Songming Xinju. Qinzhou Yinghua is the school sponsor of the
Guangxi Schools

EFEEMNRR (BTEEEH)
the shareholders of Yun Ai Group, as updated from time to time

B Z2020F8A31HIENEA
the eight months ended 31 August 2020

AR® HERBNEETER
Renminbi, the lawful currency for the time being of the PRC
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[KEERT ]

“Rongyaojia Company”

EL

b
3

BnrAl

all

“Rongrui Shangyu Company’

[ERERE

“School Sponsors”

[ERENER ESER

L= (20195 )

“School Sponsors’ and

Directors’ Rights Entrustment

Agreement (2019)”

[EREMWERES (20195F) ]

“School Sponsors’ Powers of
Attorney (2019)”

[ 78 % & 33 & 15k 451
“SFO”

[0
“Share(s)”

[ ]
“Shareholder(s)”

[IRREESE (20195F) ]

“Shareholders’ Powers of
Attorney (2019)”

5

REFERBERBRERE PO —ER2020F28 138 RBFEEER LN
REZRKRAA

Xianfeng Rongyaojia Network Technology Service Center* (il % 8% s5 MR (£ 48 /X R R R 7%
A/ ), an investment holding company established in accordance with the laws of the PRC
on 13 February 2020

HEBESEHERBRERBE AL —BER2020F 28138 RIBEPEEER L
HEEER QA

Xianfeng Rongrui Shangyu Network Technology Service Center* (/52 B4 s & 14 B 4 & &}
FARFE AL ) |, an investment holding company established in accordance with the laws of
the PRC on 13 February 2020

REERENPEEZEE TEEHR KEAR HMHEE . BELT KRB
REREFLXEQNTURRBRELEBEESN (BFARET) HAALRERNEMER
HEyrE

the current school sponsors, Yun Ai Group, Henan Rongyu, Haxuan Company, Qinzhou
Yinghua, Enchang Company, the future school sponsor, Bei Ai Company, and other school
sponsors which were consolidated to the Group by virtue of the Structured Contracts, as
amended from time to time

REERERE RETELEER REERENEZINEHRESRIER
AREITNERBRERESRANETHE

the school sponsors’ and directors’ rights entrustment agreement entered into by and among
the Existing School Sponsors, the Existing PRC Operating Schools, the relevant directors
appointed by the Existing School Sponsors and Huihuang Company

REERERBZUEBEATASREARITNERBREERES
the school sponsors’ power of attorney executed by the Existing School Sponsors in favor of
Huihuang Company

BERBERG (EBEMENE) (BRTABEITRER)
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended
and supplemented from time to time

RABRAFEREE01ETHEBR
ordinary share(s) of US$0.0001 each in the share capital of the Company

BHFEEA
holder(s) of the Share(s)

FRERRAREZEEURREFEBESHNHAREENE MR ERUER
DNABIRABINRREEESE

the shareholders’ power of attorney executed by the New Registered Shareholders and Yun
Ai Group and other shareholders which were consolidated to the Group by virtue of the New
Structured Contracts in favor of Huihuang Company
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[BRREFNZEHZ (2019F)] 18

“Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement (2019)”

TN

r

i

=

i ]

48

“Songming Dexue”

[SHFE]
“Songming Xinju”
[Be B eE (20195 )
“Spouse’s Undertakings (2019)”
[EERATls (BB
“Stock Exchange” or

“Hong Kong Stock Exchange”

[EBHan

"Structured Contracts"

(ML=
“subsidiary(ies)

[FERF]
“substantial Shareholder(s)”

El
“USD” or “U.S.$”

Bx
DEFINITIONS

FEERR REERENERBEAREITNRRERNZTHE
the shareholders’ rights entrustment agreement entered into by and among the New
Registered Shareholders, the Existing School Sponsors and Huihuang Company

EREEHAERRERARAT —BER010F4B17TERBFEEERILZE
RAR HEEE2EHB S HEEAFRERR 2 ULBEEELRE
70.8305% 2 IR #&

Songming Dexue Education Development Co., Ltd.* (EFHEEHBHERAERAT), a
limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 17 April 2019 and wholly
owned by Mr. Li. Songming Dexue is one of the New Registered Shareholders and owns
70.8305% equity interest of Yun Ai Group

ERFECETERRLT —ER2016F10827AREBEPBEEERK L ZER
A

Songming Xinju Enterprise Management Company Limited* (EHHFELXEEER A
Al) , a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 27 October 2016

BBt (FRENERMB) FLNEBHAE
the spouse undertakings executed by Ms. Yang, the spouse of Mr. Li

EBBARZAERLDA
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

REZBUESHARTEBEESHORBEH2020F588H ~ 202057290 %2020
FRAHMEHEENZOE R IHRENAE

collectively, the Existing Structured Contracts, and the New Structured Contracts and the
various supplemental agreements in relation thereto dated 8 May 2020, 29 July 2020 and
27 August 2020

EELLMRBIMETHEE
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

EELLMRBIMETHERE
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

En EBNEEEY
United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
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[FEBER] b
“Xinjiang School”

(EE5EH] |
“Yun Ai Group”

[EEmER] |

“Yunnan School”

[EEREER B

“Yunnan Vocational School”

k=N B

“Zhongyi Company”

[% J B

“op”

MEPERINEER XN N EHEALRX
FEREARA—BZE BUPXERBRE LD
AREEEENPUREAMEETNRAIELNE
Al MARSERRANEBNFIXERUESR

M1 RIEHRERZ -

FEMRREFKER
Xinjiang Institute of Finance and Economics* ( ¥ 58 B &8 K B2 pg 75 2 b )

EHERARHNEREEEER LT —ER2005F98 198 RIBERBEEER L
HWERAR HERHHFEKESEEZHAEBRLAR  EHBANHEMEERAT
SHEERSHIECXEEZARKEER A T2 BI#E20.0568%  5.7305% *
70.8305% 5 3.3822%

Yunnan Einsun Education Investment Group Co., Lid* (EEEE KB EREEBER
A®]) , alimited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 19 September
2005, which is owned as to 20.0568% by Kunming Paiduipai Economic Information
Consultancy Co., Ltd., 5.7305% by Kunming Bamupu Technology Co., Ltd., 70.8305% by
Songming Dexue and 3.3822% by Songming Zhongyi Enterprise Management and Consulting
Services Co., Ltd.

EHIHER (AIBEEEERABMABESR  [BH28k])  —BR20055F
IAVHMRBEIEEERYINENSSLERHNERE HEREBRERLZRE
BEEEZ2ERE ARLATINGREHESRE

Yunnan Technology and Business University* (2 ® TR EBx ) (formerly known as Yunnan
Einsun Software Vocational College* ( E 58 B A R4 B £ 2T ) (“Software College”)),
a private institution of formal higher education established under the laws of the PRC on
29 September 2005, of which the school sponsor’s interest is wholly owned by Yun Ai Group
and a consolidated affiliated entity of the Company

EREEAMEEEKER
Einsun Science and Technology Vocational College* (Em 2 R AR L ZEIE 28 )

EHAECXEEEAREERLE —ER2016F7A12BRIBPBEEERK
YHNERAR HBEYE=ZL28#E Ha A ERRc— 1#HF
EZ & E3.3822% 0% &

Songming Zhongyi Enterprise Management and Consulting Services Co., Ltd.* (& B8 Fr &%
TEBFRZXHRFEER 2T ), alimited liability company established under the laws of
PRC on 12 July 2016 and is wholly owned by an Independent Third Party. Zhongyi Company
is one of the New Registered Shareholders and owns 3.3822% equity interest in Yun Ai
Group

ERalne
percent

If there is any inconsistency between the Chinese names of entities or
enterprises established in the PRC and their English translations, the Chinese
names shall prevail. The English translation of company or entity names in
Chinese or another language which are marked with “*” and the Chinese
translation of company or entity names in English which are marked with “*” is
for identification purpose only.
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